Our Environment

How We Adapt Ourselves to It



Health and Happiness.—Outdoor exercise makes us happy and healthy. Science tells us why and shows us how to use our environment for activening good health.

ADVENTURES IN SCIENCE

CARPENTER & WOOD'S OUR ENVIRONMENT How We ADAPT Ourselves to It

REVISED BY

Paul E. Smith

DIRECTOR OF CURRICULUM ROCHESTER, NEW YORK

1955

ALLYN AND BACON, INC.

EOSTON NEW YORK CHICAGO ATLANTA DALLAS SAN FRANCISCO

 H_{ABRY} A CARPANTER (1878-1942) was one of our nation's outstanding proneers in the teaching of general scence. His work un Rochester, New York, with duldren at all levels in the currentum, in the classroom, out in the field, and over the arg gaven new significance and purpose to the teaching of science. He made science a subject of living interest to thousands of school children everywhere

By reason of his knully spirit and genual leadershop, Mr Carpenter had a way of hringing into his work young people who could see the far horizon. Mr Paul E Smith in partrutilar worked very closely with Mr Carpenter. As a former student and teaching colleague, Mr Smith learned at first hand the method of senteen instruction as successfully presented in this series of books. To him was entrusted the task of carrying on the work so well begun by Mr Carpenter. Thus teachers who know and depend on these books have the assurance that the good work will continene.

Preface

This new edition of OUR ENVIRONMENT: How WE ADAPT OURSELVES TO IT features the latest developments in the field of science. The new format, larger pictures, simplified diagrams, clear typography, and readable text high-light the upto-date quality of this revision.

Along with its many new features, teachers will recognize the time-proven pattern of basic content which has made this book and its companion volumes so popular in their field. There is the same soundness of unit structure built around everyday factors of the environment, the same cumulative development from topic to topic, and the same simple emphasis of scientific attitude and method which makes science practical and real to the pupil.

Readability is a special feature of this book. Special attention has been given to the reading level to insure easy readability for the grade concerned. New science terms which have become commonplace within the past few years have been introduced and fully explained to insure accuracy of meaning concepts. Sentence structure and paragraph structure are very simple and every advantage has been taken of visual materials, pictures, and diagrams to aid in understanding.

Today's pupils are increasingly concerned with the everyday applications of practical science. This interest is turned to good account in this book's new unit, "Magnets and Electricity." This unit contains simplified but scientific explanations of the electric motor, the generator, radar, teletype, radio, and television. Its new experiments provide for the development of related principles, and its discussion of atomic energy is at a level which girls and boys of junior high school age can understand. Thought is directed toward the peacetime use of this source of energy. Unit IV, "Community and Personal Health," another new unit, focuses the interest of the pupil on the uses of water as an ad to health. This unit includes also such recent developments as sulfa drugs, antibiotics, ACTH, and cortisone. Throughout the unit emphasis is placed on the pupil's responsibility for his own health and the health of his community

Wherever context indicates, the latest related findings of science are introduced. These new items of interest cover a wide range of development and discovery featuring topics like the Hale and Schmidt telescopes, most recently discovered star distances, a new theory of the origin of the earth, and up-to-date information on air masses, rain-making, burneane-chasing, detergents, incinerators and suck disposal units for food wastes, dehumidifiers, weed killers, garden dusts and spray formulas, conservation, burning of unmined coal underground, and taconite as a new source of iron

The method of teaching science determines to a large extent the success in attaining desired outcomes. Our ENVIRON-MENT How WE ADART OURSELVES TO IT has been built upon cortain foundations with respect to the teaching of science to pupils of jumor high whool age. These foundations are:

1 Science education at this level must be for the purpose of general education, and not for the training of specialists in science.

2. The most significant outcome of the teaching of science is the development of scientific attitudes and increased competence in the method of science.

3 Scientific knowledges and skills are most valuable when the puph is led to organize the knowledges and skills into scientific principles or generalizations which may be applied to new problem situations.

4. Facts of science are indispensable to the formulation of science principles. Knowledge and organization of relevant and pertinent facts are essential to an understanding of the environment in this Age of Science.

The text as heretofore is divided into Units, each unit presenting a unified picture of some phase of the student's environment. Each unit is composed of a series of *Topics*, developed in logical order, an understanding of which comprises a complete grasp of the larger unit division.

VI PREFACE

Problem-solving abilities are cultivated by the General Problems which comprise a psychological development of each topic. Each general problem may include a number of Experiments (laboratory work) or Field Research problems for independent choice and individual or group solving.

The problem method involves both a realization of the problem on the part of the student and a foundation on which to base his solution. To these ends the student's everyday experiences must be reinforced by carefully directed observation in the classroom and by out-of-school experiences designed to crystallize the habits of careful, accurate observation and judgment. For this reason, an *Observers' Club Calendar* is included in the Appendix as a stimulus to initiative and independence in the use of the scientific method.

Characterizing the presentation of each unit are the following features:

1. The material of each unit is developed as a number of related topics. The general problems of each topic lead toward minor generalizations that provide a framework for the building up and fitting in of the principles that are discovered, observed, and learned for the unit as a whole.

2. Each *Topic* is introduced by an informational picture. This feature, together with the *Do You Know* questions, relates present experiences and knowledge to new problems.

3. Within each topic will be found *Field Research* problems and Science Discovery Book *Projects*. These offer an opportunity for taking care of individual differences and are closely allied to the extra-class activities of the *Observers' Club Calendar*.

4. Key Words are found at the end of each topic. They are valuable both for preview and review work. As an oral exercise, their exact meaning may be brought out in short sentences or paragraphs, thus supplying drill in the formation of general concepts.

5. A group of *Key Statements* follows the key words in each topic. These sentences are summarizing statements, and may be used for topical, oral, and written exercises to provide training in the use of careful, exact expression.

6. A series of *Thought Questions* at the end of each topic tests the ability of the pupil to apply his science to new situations.

PREFACE vii

7. The Bibliography has been selected with special regard for the interests of the pupils using this book.

8 The Glossary provides simple understandable definitions of the key words and other science terms

9 Experiments are numerous. The fundamental experiments are labeled Key Experiments, because they are especially important in the organization of the subject matter. They pin-point facts for discussion and encourage the scientific attitude of mind. They should be used as individual student experiments or at least should be demonstrated to the class by pupils. Since some classes may find it impossible to perform all of the experiments, the text has been made completely coherent without dependence upon the experiments in any way.

10. Illustrations have been selected in the belief that every picture and diagram should increase interest in science, amplify and interpret the text, present a problem for study, and be easy to understand. Every picture carries an explanation and often questions requiring close study of the picture and direct association of it with its context

This preface would not be complete without expressing appreciation to the thousands of teachers and hundreds of thousands of boys and prib who have used previous editions of this text Their letters, comments, suggestions, and experiences have played a significant part in the development of this new edition. This esgerness to exchange ideas is a hallmark of the true scientist and hence doubly gratifying to author and pubhsher, because it shows the growth in scientific attitude and thought which is the basic arm of this book.

Contents

Unit I. WEATHER

TOPIC	PAGE
I. WEATHER SIGNS AND SUPERSTITIONS	. 5
1. Are Weather Superstitions Based on Evidence?	. 5
2. Are There Scientific Weather Signs?	9
II. WEATHER FACTORS	21
1. What Is Temperature?	21
2. How Are Temperatures Measured?	24
3. What Causes Differences in Air Temperatures?	36
4. How Can Air Pressure Be Measured?	40
5. What Is Wind?	44
6. WHAT IS THE HUMIDITY OF THE AIR?	51
7. What Causes Precipitation?	55
III. STORM AREAS	69
1. What Are Local Storms?	69
2. What Are General Storm Areas?	80
IV. FORECASTING THE WEATHER	89
1. What Will the Weather Be?	89
2. How Are Official Weather Forecasts Made?	92
3. How Are Water and Climate Related?	102
4. What Adaptations Are Made to Weather and Climate?	107
Unit II. THE HEAVENS	
W THE BOOF OF OUR ENVIRONMENT	192

				С	02	Ť	E٢	T	S	i	x
	2. What Causes Eclipses?	•	•	•	•	•	٠	·	·	•	153
	1. What Is the Sun?	-	•	•	•	•	•	•		•	145
VI.	OUR SUNAND MOON	•	•	•		•	•	•	•		145
	2. How Far Away Are the Stars?	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	133
	1. WHAT ARE STARS AND CONSTELLATIONS?			•	•						123
Υ.	THE ROOF OF OUR ENVIRONMENT	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	123

VII THE PLANETS AND OUT BEYOND .							177
1. WHAT ARE THE FAMILY TRAITS OF THE PLA	NETS	•					177
2 WHAT IS BEYOND OUR SOLAR SYSTEM?							187
3 WHAT HOLDS THE UNIVERSE TOGETHER?		•			•	•	194
VIII DAYLIGHT, DARRNESS, AND SEASONS	5						203
1. WHAT CAUSES THE LENGTH OF DAY AND N	IGRT	то	Сн	43	GE	1	203
2 WHAT CAUSES THE CHANGING SEASONS? .		•					210
IX. EARTH MEASUREMENTS		• •					227
1 HOW ARE PLACES LOCATED ON THE EAPTH*							227
2 How ARE LONGITUDE AND TIME RELATED"				Ť		÷.	233
3 HOW CAN NAVIGATORS FIND THEIR WAY?					•		240
				-		•	~

Unit III MAGNETS AND ELECTRICITY

·.	USING MAGNETS	247
:	1. WHAT ARE MAGNETS" 2 How Are Magnetism and Electricity Related" 3. How Is Electricity Generated"	253 263 274
XI	ELECTRICITY AND COMMUNICATION 1 How Are Messages Carried by Telegraph and Tele- vents ² 2. How Are Messages Carried bythout Weres ²	287 287
	Unit IV, COMMUNITY AND PERSON HEALTH	AL
хц	COMMUNITY HEALTH AND SANITATION 1 How 15 Safe Warks Stream to the Hoat? 2. How Can Safe Warks Br Provided. 3. How Mar Safe of Distorts of Profession 3. How Mar Safe and Remeins Br Distorts of Safe of Sa	315 315 329 339
xm	PERSONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY 1. How Do Soap and Water And Cheansing* 2. And Yoor Hlatts Health Hants* 2. What Are Sour Schnittle Diresters adured Disease? 4. What Is York Responsement for Short on Personal 4. What Is York Responsement for Short on Personal	359 359 350 391
x	CONTENTS CONTENTS	397

Unit V. FARM AND GARDEN

XIV	GARDEN PLANTS AND PLANTING								раде 409
	1. How Is Soil Prepared for Planting?								409
	2. Why Have a Planting Plan?								414
	3. How and When May Seeds Be Planted? .	•	•		•		•		419
	4. How Should the Garden Be Cared For? .	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	430
XV.	FARM AND GARDEN FRIENDS AND EN	E	MI	E:	S			•	439
	1. How Can Weeds Be Controlled?		•	•	•		•	•	439
	2. How Do Insects Harm the Garden?	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	443
	3. How Does Nature Help Control Harmful	, II	NSI	EC'	rs	?	•		450
	4. How CAN PLANT DISEASES BE CONTROLLED?	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	464
	5. How Does Plant Life Continue?		•					•	470

Unit VI. CONSERVATION

XVI. FOOD CONSERVATION	483
1. How Are Foods Conserved by Storing?	483
2. What Are Some Home Conservation Methods?	487
3. What Keeps the Refrigerator Cold?	494
4. Why Is Food Protection Health Protection?	501
XVII. CONSERVATION OF NATURAL RESOURCES	509
1. How Can Land and Water Be Conserved?	509
2. How Can Wild Life and Vegetation Be Conserved? , .	515
3. How Can Minerals Be Conserved?	518
4. How Can Fuels Be Conserved?	522
OBSERVERS' CLUB	529
APPENDIX	547
Table of Relative Humidity in Per Cent.	547
Nutrient Solution for Plant Growth.	548
Comparison of Boiling Points of Water, Atmospheric Pressure, and	
Altitude.	548
Millibars and Inches of Air Pressure.	549
Table of Melting and Boiling Points.	549
Control of Insect and Fungus Plant Diseases.	550
Control of Fungus Diseases.	550
Some Rules for Weather Forecasting.	551
The Morse Code.	552

xi CONTENTS

GLOSSARY .				-				•	-	•	·	553	
BIBLIOGRAPHY										•		563	
INDEX .											•	569	,

FAGE

EXPERIMENTS

1 1	25
1. How can metall be used to show complete in completations	27
2 Do liquids expand when heated	29
3. Do hquids contract when cooled	
4 How may a thermometer be tested by its fired points, on and	22
212", to determine its accuracy? (Key Experiment)	-0
5 How does atmospheric pressure affect a harometer? (hey LX-	
periment)	24
6 How can the direction and velocity of the wind be determined?	43
7 Does an evaporating liquid absorb heat?	55
8. What is the relative humidity of the au? (Key Experiment)	54
9. How does dew form [*] .	56
10. How can static electricity be made*	72
11. Does statue electricity have more than one kind of charge? (Key	
Experiment) .	74
12 Does water have a greater or less heat capacity than soil? (Key	
Experiment)	104
13 How does the moon give light?	154
14 What esures an eclipse of the moon?	160
15 What esures an eclipse of the sun?	161
16. What causes the phases of the moon?	168
17. What esuses unequal lengths of day and night?	208
18. What causes the changes of reasons? (Key Experiment)	216
19. What is the latitude of your home"	244
20. How do magnets affect each other?	258
21. Are there magnetic lines of force around a magnet?	262
22. How may the strength of an electromagnet be increased?	266
23 How does the telegraph operate? (Home Experiment)	290
24. What happens to the current in a telephone circuit when sounds	
enter the transmitter?	296
25. Does water exert a downward pressure and does its pressure vary	
with its depth? (Key Experiment)	318
26 Does water exert a lateral (ndewise) pressure?	321
27. Does water seek its own level?	322
23. How does a model gravity water-supply system work? (Key Ex- periment)	
29 How can compressed air be need to any to any the	323
30 Are some substances more saluble in out of the some substances more saluble in	326
Experiment)	
	33.
(1)) TENTE	

	PAGE
31. How can pure water be obtained from a salt solution?	337
32. How can fat be dissolved from garbage?	352
33. Can temporary hard water be softened by boiling?	362
34. Can hard water be softened by the use of washing soda? (Key	
Experiment)	364
35. How can soap be made?	368
36. How does soap remove dirt?	374
37. Will seeds grow better in soil that is finely grained than in unbroken	
soil?	413
38. What per cent of my garden seeds will germinate?	420
39. Will germs and molds grow best when cold (40°-50° F.), warm	
(90°-96° F.), or hot (212° F.)? (Key Experiment)	466
40. Will heated (pasteurized) milk keep longer without souring than	
unheated milk?	490

•

,



Unlocking Nature's Resource - The field pump, pipe lines, and storage tanks thing ha mind one of our nost valable notural resources - J. Many scenitists are warking to discover visuable of using our resources so that there will be anough for future generations. There is no room for worke in using our resources.

Introduction

Have you ever thought how important science is in your life? Have you ever thought how fast science moves ahead? There was a time when the electric light bulb was considered a "wonder of the age." But you know that giving light is just one of the hundreds of modern uses of electricity. Other uses are electric motors, telephone, radio, television, radar.

While many scientists work with electricity, others are studying the sun and the planets. Some are using the 200-inch Hale telescope to study the vast space out beyond our solar system.

Weather scientists are recording the weather factors, such as air temperature, winds, and moisture. Their weather forecasts are becoming more and more accurate. Some scientists are even experimenting at making weather. It has been discovered that some clouds can be made to give up their moisture in the form of rain. It has also been discovered that clouds can be made—clouds that hold on to their moisture and prevent rain from falling.

Still other scientists are working to keep our communities sanitary and our own lives healthy. They have discovered ways to give us safe water and milk. They have discovered ways to help us fight diseases. They have given us soap for cleaning, which is so important to health. They have given us sulfa drugs, penicillin, ACTH, cortisone, vaccines, and serum. But with all these scientific defenses against disease, scientists still tell us that health is something each of us must work for. So scientists have told us the best kind of health habits to form.

Many more scientists are working with the soil, crops, insects, and plant diseases. The scientists tell us what kind of crops the soil can best support. They tell us how to plant the crops and take care of them. They study plant diseases and make chemicals which will prevent the diseases. They learn about the

INTRODUCTION XV

habits of insects which eat the crops, and make poisons which will control the insects.

Equally important are the scientists who study our natural resources. They explore to find new deposits of vital materials. They experiment to find better ways of gathering our natural resources and using them. They study new ways to prevent waste. And they tell us that conservation is everyone's job.

There is little in our lives which is not affected by science. But do you know how scientists work to make their discoveries? If you can work and think like a scientist, you will be able to do your own job better, no matter what it is.

WORKING SCIENTIFICALLY.—The scientific attack starts with a problem the scientist wants to solve. He learns what he can about the problem from the reports of others. Next he puts down what he has discovered and then tries to learn some new facts.

New facts are usually learned by trying experiments. Sometimes experiments are tried over and over again to see if the same results are always obtained. A place where experiments are tried is often called a *laboratory*. It has apparatus and materials for experiments and often some reference books.

Experimenting requires good judgment and straight thinking. First, one must try to avoid dangerous experiments. Next the experimenter must watch very carefully to see just what happens. And he must think hard to figure exactly why it happens.

Of course a good scientist keeps a notebook record of what he does, how he does it, and what he discovers. Most records are helped by drawings. His next step is to look over all he now knows about the problem, organize his material, and try to get an answer. This he writes down as a temporary conclusion or theory. A scientist tries to learn the truth whether it agrees with what he would like to know or not

The temporary conclusion or theory must be double-checked by other scientists as well as by himself before it is accepted. Even then the experimenter is ready to change his opinion if new facts are discovered that challenge his statement. This is the way scientists work. It is the way you will want to work, not only in science, but in all the things you do.

xvi INTRODUCTION

Our Environment How We Adapt Ourselves to It

5-8-2

A Real Twister — We don't know if man will ever control the weather to any extent. However, our scientists learn more about weather every day, and their forecasts warn us of coming danger, like this formada.

UNIT I Weather



A Silent Weatherman.—The direction of the wind has always been important as an aid in forecasting the weather. Some weather vanes are very plain, others, as this and, are artistic. Can you tell which part of this weather vane is stationary? Can you tell which part is moved by the wind?

TOPIC I

Weather Signs and Superstitions

DO YOU KNOW-

1. How weather sayings started?

2. A weather sign that seems to be true?

3. Whether the moon controls the weather?

4. Whether animals can tell whether the winter will be unusually cold?

5. Some of the common clouds?

GENERAL PROBLEM 1

Are Weather Superstitions Based on Evidence?

How WEATHER SUPERSTITIONS STARTED.—From earliest days, man has been interested in the weather. The food supply, in all parts of the world, has always depended on the weather. Would the rains come in time to save the crops? Would the rains stop in time to allow the crops to be planted? These are questions farmers have always thought about and worried about.

Sometimes we think that modern people are not so dependent upon the weather. But is this so? Long periods without rain still mean less wheat from the fields. Too much rain will harm the corn crop. Unusually heavy snows on the cattle ranges will cause many cattle to die from lack of food. In the winter of 1949–1950, many of the western states were blanketed with a heavy snowfall. Only "Operation Haylift" saved the cattle.



A Good Weatherman?—Some people think that the robin has a rain song which tells of a coming storm. Would you trust his judgment?

In Operation Haylift, huge Air Force transport planes flew in tons of hay for the starving cattle.

Because people have always been interested in the weather, they have tried to tell what the weather would be They have watched for signs which would tell them something about the weather Sometimes they have tried to forstell the weather by observing animals. Sometimes they have though the shape or position of the moon would tell them about the weather. Sometimes they have used clouds, or wind, or rainbows as weather signs. Are these useful weather signs? Or are they just superitions?

FORTELLING WEATHER BY ANIMALS.—Do animals with heavy fur in the fall indicate a cold winter to come? Do heavy feathers on burds tell anything about the coming winter? Do geese flying south foretell oncoming winter? Do crickets tell the temperature? Does the groundhog's shadow on February 2 have anything to do with the weather? These and many other questions are not new to you. But unless you understand the science of weather, you cannot answer them correctly.

6 WEATHER

Careful observation and experiment have shown that the coat of fur on animals depends upon the food supply during the spring and summer. When there is plenty of food, the coat is usually heavy. When food is scarce, the coat may be thin. Actually the coat does not depend at all upon the animals' sense of coming changes in the weather.

It is true that animals of all kinds make preparations for changes of seasons. We know that they lay up food, or prepare a den. But animals do not know any more than you do whether the season is to be normal or otherwise. Certainly fur-bearing animals have heavier coats of fur during the winter than in the summer. This is part of nature's way of adapting them to the colder weather. Also, these animals shed a good deal of their fur in the summer. But these are normal preparations. They do not involve any "knowledge" of an unusual season.

NINNIN FIELD RESEARCH

Make observations of your own on the preparations birds and animals make for the winter. Compare your report with others.

MINIMUM IN INTERNATION IN INTERNATION IN INTERNATION IN INTERNATION IN INTERNATION IN INTERNATION IN INTERNATION

Winter's Coming.—This bear does not know that the weather will turn cold, but Nature does. How will she protect him?





Ring around the Moon.—A ting around the moon often foretells rain ar snow. What causes the ring to form? Why should the ring indicate a coming storm?

We know that geese and other migrating birds nest and raise their young in the north. They stay near their nests until their young are strong and able to fly long distances. By this time ponds and lakes usually begin freezing over. There is less and less food to be found, and the birds begin moving southward.

Some birds, like geese, cruise leisurely southward. They by now in one direction and now another, searching for food on their journey. Some fly by night and feed by day. Others fly great distances without stopping until they reach their destination. No one really knows exactly why birds migrate, except that they follow the food supply. But certainly the migrations of birds do tell us of the changing seasons.

LIBRARY RESEARCH ----

Investigate the migration of birds to discover reasons for their movements other than that, as people say, "They know cold westher is commg" The robin's rain song, the dry fog, and low-curling smoke are but a few of many weather signs. They come to us out of the nature-lore which generations of farmers, hunters, and other outdoor folk have built up. Our job is to learn to distinguish among those signs which are based on scientific sense and those that are not. Careful, long-range observations of nature and weather changes will disprove many weather superstitions. What we learn in our science experiments will also help us decide which signs are true, and which are superstitions. We will get the scientific knack of searching out the facts. We may also find fun in some of the foolish but still quite commonly accepted superstitions and misbeliefs.

THE MOON AND THE WEATHER.—There are many weather signs and superstitions relating to the moon. The weather does not depend upon the moon. Therefore, the moon cannot indicate the weather. Such sayings as, "When the crescent moon can hold water it will be dry," and, "Fish bite best as the moon grows full," are just not true.

Statements relating to the moon and weather probably result from observations of the moon during certain kinds of weather. However, if the observations are continued long enough, the study shows that the moon has no influence upon the weather. The motions and changes in shape of the moon occur and recur with clocklike precision. Do weather changes occur with that same regularity?

www.www.FIELD RESEARCH

Talk with your friends to learn as many sayings as possible about the moon and weather. Give your reasons for thinking the sayings have or have not any facts behind them.

GENERAL PROBLEM 2

Are There Scientific Weather Signs?

FACT AND FANCY.—Although many weather sayings are superstitions, some are accurate scientific statements. Some conditions that we observe can be used to help foretell the weather. In general, winds, humidity, clouds, and rainbows



H B Analin-Desplas Arizant

Cloud Forms—These beautiful pictures show the sky with more than one cloud form appearing In both pictures we can see stratus clouds near the battom, circuitations in the middle, and allocannulus above. The picture befow was taken about fifteen minutes after the other ane

H B' Antih-Daugles, Arizand



often give some information about the coming weather. These are conditions of the air. Hence we might expect them to be more scientific than, for example, the amount of fur on an animal.

RINGS AND RAIN.—A ring around the moon may indicate the approach of a storm. The ring is caused by the action of light on ice crystals or water particles in the air. As the ice or moisture-laden air moves toward us, the ring often grows larger. Hence there is some truth in the old saying: "The bigger the ring, the nearer the storm."

We should remember that the moon is about 240,000 miles from the earth. The icy or watery clouds are only a few miles about the earth. Light from the moon shines on the ice particles causing the ring appearance.

Sometimes a large ring of color is observed about the sun. It is caused by the light shining through a cloud of ice particles, high above the earth. Such rings probably have little, if any, influence on the weather.

A Weather Sign.—This is how a rainbow looks in the Grand Canyon National Park, Arizona. Rainbows are not only beautiful to see, but may serve as weather signs. Do you know how?

Fred Ragsdale





Stratus Clauds.—"Stratus" means "spread out," for these clouds are large, fag-like, and formed near the earth. They are usually seen early in the morning or late in the evening when the air is still.

A colored ring close about the moon or sun is called a corona, while the larger rings are called *kalos*. The first is usually caused by water particles and the latter by ice particles.

RAINBOWS AND RAIN -- "Rainbow at morning, sailors take warning; rainbow at night, sailors delight." There is some scientific reason in this "sailor's warning." There are some facts we must know in order to understand why it is so.

A rainbow is caused by the sun shining on particles of moisture in the air. In order to see a rainbow, the observer must be between the sun and the rainbow Another fact we must know is that the usual course of a storm is from west to east.

Now, how does a rainbow tell about the weather? If a rainbow is seen in the morning, it must be seen in the west. This is because the sun is in the east in the morning. If a rainbow is seen, it means that there is moisture in the µr. Therefore, a randow in the morning tells us that there are rainclouds or moisture-laden air in the west. And we know that thus moisture will probably be carried eastward to us.

The rainbow at "mght" will be in the east, not the west. The sun's rays are passing through clear sur in the west Thus we can be quite sure that the storm clouds are now in the east. Only clear ekies will be brought to us from the west. Thus the old saying has some basis of fact.

12 WEATHER

"Rain before seven, stop before eleven" is often true, but not because "seven" rhymes with "eleven." It is usually true because the heat from the sun during the middle of the day warms the clouds. This causes their moisture to evaporate. Also, most storms do not last more than four hours. If it is raining before seven o'clock, the chances are that the storm will be over by eleven o'clock.

CLOUDS.—You know that there are fair-weather clouds and storm clouds. While study of clouds alone will not give reliable weather forecasts, still a close observer of clouds is able to tell some things about approaching changes in weather. This is because different kinds of clouds are due to changing air currents, temperature, and amount of moisture in the air.

Some clouds are well known as fair-weather clouds. You have seen them, the white billowy clouds. They look like great piles of fluffy cotton with flat bases moving slowly along in the sky. These *cumulus* (hillshaped) clouds float at a height of about a mile above the earth, where the air is cool. They are fair-weather clouds when the air is dry. But when warm air, filled with moisture, rushes upward, it cools rapidly. This causes condensation of the moisture. The front edge of the cloud assumes a dark, threatening appearance. The peaceful cumulus cloud thus becomes a threatening thunderhead.

Cirrus Clauds.—These are the "mare's tails" which aften cause "lafty ships ta carry law sails." Composed of ice particles, cirrus clouds are the highest af the cammon clouds. Often they are advance warning of a storm.

Courtery National Youth Administration





Fair-Weather Friends.—These cumulus clouds floating above a Cape Cad sand dune suggest good swimming weather.

Pink Puffs.—Among the many children of the cumulus family are altocumulus clauds.



Contrasted with the cumulus clouds are the fleecy, feathery clouds that are often observed high in the sky. These are the *cirrus* (curl) clouds. Highest of all clouds, cirrus clouds often float five or six miles above the earth. Seldom are they nearer than three or four miles. They are near the top of the *troposphere*, the cloud-bearing part of our atmosphere. Above this is the *stratosphere*, a region without clouds. The upper troposphere is a region of very cold air and the clouds there consist of ice crystals. These cirrus clouds are usually the advance guard of a storm. They travel with rapidly moving air currents, sometimes nearly 100 miles an hour.

As the storm nears, the cirrus clouds may change to lowlying stratus (layer) clouds. Stratus clouds can change into stratocumulus clouds. They are called *nimbostratus* if rain falls from them. Stratocumulus clouds hang low in the sky and are wide in extent. These are the clouds often seen at sunset, just above the horizon.

Each of the common kinds of clouds mentioned often combines with others or changes into one of the other three forms. Frequently more than one kind of cloud can be observed in the sky at a time.

All told, there are over twenty-seven kinds of clouds which are combinations of the simple cloud forms. Nine of these

Nature's Anger.—Peaceful cumulus clouds can easily change into black thunderheads. Then we may see an exhibition like this.



Ost Co (V J) Pieto by Reteters

Nimbostratus Clouds—These numbostratus clouds are over the Mussissippi River at Natchez, Muss These are rain clouds which were probably formed from stratus and cumulus clouds. Notice the rain falling in the left half of the picture.

cloud forms, based on the cumulus cloud, are low (L) clouds. Another mne, also having cumulus characteristics, occur at higher altitudes in the air and are referred to as middle (M)clouds

A third kind occurring at high altitudes is grouped as high (H) clouds. They are the various kinds of cirrus clouds. Weather observers often use symbols in reporting the different forms of clouds. The symbols for some of the common clouds are shown on page 98.

------ FIELD RESEARCH --

Take pictures of clouds and label them with the proper symbol. Not only will you get some besutiful cloud pictures, but you will have pictures to mount in your Science Descovery Book to illustrate your discussions

ARE You SCIENTIFIC?--We have learned that there are many scientific weather signs. We know also that there are many weather superstitions. Superstitions of any kind always

16 WEATHER

indicate ignorance on the part of people who believe them. People who accept superstitions either are not careful, accurate thinkers, or they have never had the opportunity to learn the facts.

You have the opportunity to study science. You will be able to discover the facts about your environment. But you must also be a careful, accurate thinker so that you can use the facts. The scientific study of nature has revealed facts which disprove many superstitions. Yet there are some people who have refused to accept the scientific evidence. You as a scientist should know the difference between evidence and guesswork, between fact and superstition.

Most of all, as a scientist, you should always have an open mind. You should be ready to accept knowledge that is based on facts. The true scientist is a seeker after truth.

THINKING THINGS OVER.—The scientific forecasting of the weather requires a knowledge of the weather factors, their causes and effects. Weather signs are often based upon observations that are not fully explained by the principles of science. Usually the observer does not take the trouble to check his prediction of the weather with what actually follows. Often he does not consider the weather that precedes his observation. The weather of tomorrow grows out of the weather of many yesterdays and of today.

As we continue our study of the weather, we shall learn how weather scientists use a vast amount of accurate information. They record wind, air moisture, temperature, air pressure, and the movements of great air masses across the country. These are the weather factors.

KEY WORDS

Words are useful to convey our ideas to others. Proper choice of words will lead to the clearness and understanding which are so necessary to successful work in science. It was the custom of certain ancient philosophers to use words to express ideas without the foundation of proof by experiment. Hence they "confounded their ideas with words." In science, words are used to express ideas based upon facts and their relationships.

Your science study provides you with an opportunity to discover facts and their relationships. You will need the right words to indicate these facts. The Key Words at the end of each topic deserve your special study in this respect. Be certain that each Key Word has a real meaning for you so that you can use it without "confounding your ideas". Always complete the Key Word cerescies in your Science Discovery Book to the best of your ability.

cirrus	evaporate	rambow
cloud	facts	reason
corona	foretell	ring
crescent	halo	stratus
cumulus	mgrate	superstition

KEY STATEMENTS

Key Statements appear at the ends of topics throughout this book. They express key thoughts based on facts learned in each topic. The Key Statements will help you to express your understanding of these facts and the relationships between them.

More memory of these statements, honever, will be of little use. To be of value they must have real meaning for you Test your understanding by discussing each Key Netwent in some detail. Your Scence Discovery Book, too, will give you good suggestions for lesting your understanding of these important Key Statements.

1. The sun, the earth, and the earth's motions are closely related to weather.

2 Superstitions are not founded on fact.

3 Only people who are ignorant of the facts are superstitious. Their superstitions tend to keep them ignorant

4 One cannot foretell the weather by observing animals

5 The moon does not influence the weather

6 Certain natural phenomena, such as rings and rainbows, do have some significance with regard to the weather

7 Cloud formations indicate coming weather to some extent.

8 Scientific weather forecasting depends upon exact knowledge of many weather factors

THOUGHT QUESTIONS

1. How can you distinguish between a superstition and a fact?

2. Why is it that a ring around the moon may indicate certain weather conditions*

3 Explain why "sailors take warning" when they see a "rainbow in the morning "

4 Why is the rambow method of predicting weather less satisfactory than getting information from a weather bureau?

18 WEATHER

5. How can one overcome a superstition?

6. Do you think there is any truth in the following rhyme?

When the wind is in the north, you should not venture forth.

When the wind is in the east, it is bad for man and beast.

When the wind is in the south, bait is blown into the fish's mouth.

When the wind is in the west, then the fishing's best.

PROJECTS FOR YOUR SCIENCE DISCOVERY BOOK

These projects are for your own scientific investigation and report. They should be completed as directed by your teacher. This is your opportunity to do some original and independent work, and to prove your ability as a scientist. Be sure to enter your findings on each project which you complete in your Science Discovery Book. The projects may be worked out on notebook paper and inserted at the proper place. Use drawings wherever you can for illustration.

1. Keep a record of the changes of the moon and changes of the weather for a few months. Use your records to discover whether or not there is any relation between them. How many sayings do you know about moon and weather?

2. Try to discover how some superstition about the weather started.

3. Experiment with a glass prism and sunlight to discover how rainbows are formed.

4. At what time of day would a rainbow show the largest curve? The smallest curve? Why does one never see a complete circular natural rainbow in the United States?

5. Report on what you can discover about the reasons for the migration of birds.

6. Make a rainbow by spraying water into the air when the sun shines. Remember the spray must be viewed from a particular angle.

7. Collect as many weather statements as possible relating to rings, rainbows, and other atmospheric conditions. Examine each statement to determine whether or not it has any foundation in facts.



Marris Raten/eld

Racing the Wind.—A bright sun, sparkling water, warm air, and a spanking breeze—perfect salling weather. Weather is not always as perfect as this. As the weather factors change, they bring about different weather conditions.
TOPIC II

Weather Factors

DO YOU KNOW-

- 1. What weather is?
- 2. How a thermometer works?
- 3. What air pressure is?
- 4. What a barometer is?
- 5. What causes winds?
- 6. How to tell the amount of moisture in the air?

GENERAL PROBLEM 1

What Is Temperature?

NATURE'S WEATHER-MAKERS.—Nature's principal weathermakers are *air temperature*, *air pressure*, *air motion*, and *air moisture*. Temperature is important because a change in temperature affects the pressure, the motion, and the moisture of the air. Varying pressures are the cause of the winds, which are simply air in motion. Finally, the moisture in the air is seen in clouds, fog, rain, mist, and snow. The shapes of clouds depend on air pressure and temperature. The speed and direction of clouds follow the motion of the air. Thus each of these weathermakers affects the others. Together they are the weather.

WHAT IS TEMPERATURE?—It is easy to say, "It is hot" or "It is cold." But what do these expressions "hot" and "cold" really mean? Changes in heat and cold in our bodies, in the liquids we use, in the air about us, and in the fires which we build make us very familiar with this weather factor, temperature. Every one of us knows what it is to feel hot or cold. But to be real scientists we need also to know exactly what temperature is.

Temperature is the intensity of heat energy in a body. Or we may say more simply that temperature is the degree of heat of a body Note carefully that temperature is not the amount of heat in a body. Heat and temperature are not the same thing. Heat (energy) is a cause of temperature. Energy, which causes a feeling of narmth in a body, tends to move from a body of higher temperature to one of lower temperature. One body is hotter than another, if it can give heat to the other.

Perhaps you will understand this better if you think of a glass of water and a boiler of water If both are heated to the same temperature, the boiler of water will have more heat energy because there is more water. The boiler will not give off heat to the glass though, because they are both the same temperature. The difference between heat (energy) and temperature is shown in the diagram



Temperature and Heat - The temperature of the water in each container is 150°. Does the water in each contain the same heat energy?

All of these statements merely tell us some facts about temperature. They do not tell us what temperature is. Do you remember that all substances are made of molecules in rapid motion? We cannot see molecules with the naked eye-

Some of them, however, have been photographed by means of high-powered microscopes and special cameras. Thus earlier beliefs about molecules have been proved true.

If two substances are alike in all respects except temperature, the molecules in the one with the higher temperature are moving faster than the molecules in the one with the lower temperature.

You know that when water is heated hot enough, the liquid changes to steam. We believe this happens because the molecules move so fast they fly out of the liquid. Thus they form a gas. Of course the molecules continue to move faster than they did in the liquid state.

When heat is taken away from the steam, the molecules move more slowly and form the liquid state again. If still more heat is taken



Courtesy Radio Corporation of America

Electron Microscope.—Microscopes like this one have revealed the smallest things ever seen. These microscopes use a beam of electrons (negative charges of electricity) instead of light rays. Single molecules have been photographed by means of the electron microscope.

away, the liquid freezes, or becomes solid. In the solid form of a substance the molecules move more slowly still.

These examples are given to help you understand that temperature is really the state of motion of molecules. The faster the motion, the higher is the temperature.

How Hot Is IT?—Now that we have considered the meaning of temperature, we are ready to think about its measurement. Not only can the temperature of objects on the earth be measured, but scientists even have ways of measuring the temperature of stars. The temperature of stars many trillion trillions of miles from the earth has been measured

You have noticed at times that when you enter a room, the air feels colder or warmer than it does at other times. This is often true even though there has been no actual change in the temperature Can you explain the apparent difference? It may have to do with the amount of mousture in the air, or the motion of the air, or both Or perhaps you are not a good temperature measurer

Place one hand in hot water and the other in cold water for two or three minutes, and then place both hands in lukewarm water. Explain you sensations

Such experiences with air temperatures and hot and cold water prove that our sense of feeling is not a good measure of temperature. Therefore, scientists have invented certain instruments, called thermometers, which will measure temperature accurately.

CENTRAL PROBLEM 2

How Are Temperatures Measured?

METALLIC THERMOMETERS. -- Many common household thermometers contain no hquid They are usually circular in shape The temperature is indicated by a pointer which moves across

Inside the thermometer is a bi-metal strip, made of two different metals fastened together The hi-metal strip 13 attached to a pointer When the metals are heated, one expands faster than the other This causes the bi-metal strip to curve or bend. Thus the pointer attached to it moves.

When the bi-metal strip is cooled, one metal contracts faster than the other. This causes the strip to straighten. The pointer then moves in the opposite direction than it did when the bimetal strip was warmed.

A metallic thermometer is better than a liquid thermometer for many purposes Frequently a metallic thermometer is easier

to read. It is not so delicate as a liquid thermometer. Thus metallic thermometers are being used more and more at home.

The mercury-containing liquid thermometer gives a higher degree of accuracy. It is usually employed in scientific work.

How can metals be used to show changes in temperature?



Before you start this experiment and other experiments, be sure you know exactly what you want to find out, and have everything ready to use.

Have a reason for what you do, and watch everything that happens, so that you can explain it. For instance, why must the brass and iron strips be riveted together? Why does the wood handle not get hot?

WHAT TO USE.—Two strips of metal, one brass and one iron, riveted together; a Bunsen burner or some other means of heating the metals.

WHAT TO DO.-Heat the strip hot, and then cool it.

WHAT HAPPENS .--- 1. Does the strip curve when you heat it?

2. If it bends, which metal is on the outside of the curve?

3. Does it straighten out when it gets cold again?

CONCLUSION.—Can you think of an explanation of the bending? When metals are heated, they expand. Suppose one of the metals expanded faster than the other. Does that help explain your observation?

APPLICATION.-Secure a discarded oven thermometer. Take it apart and find the two metal strips.

FIELD RESEARCH

Visit a watch repair mair and find out how the balance wheel helps to regulate a watch

There are many derives which you can find out about, all using double strips of metal as a metalia, thermometer One of them is the thorma-tat used to control the temperature of houses and boilers. Thermostats are also used to regulate the flow of water in an automoble rainitor

THERMOMETERS CONTAINING LIQUES.—Liquid thermometers consist of a glass bulb and stem They are nearly filled with a liquid, called mercury, or with red-colored alcohol or a similar liquid. The stem of the thermometer has a very fine bore (lengthwise hole) The stem is sealed at the top and broadens into the bulb at the bottom.

In order to understand how a liquid works in a thermometer, you must remember what happens when a liquid is heated. Any hquid, such as mercury, alcohol, or water expands when it is heated That is, heat causes it to increase in volume. Mercury and alcohol expand uniformly. They expand equal amounts with equal changes in temperatures, at least for ordinary changes.

The freezing and boling points of mercury and alcohol occur at convenient temperatures Thus these liquids make splendid indicators for use in thermometers For example, if a liquid freezes at 20° F, it could not be used for temperatures below 20° F. On the other hand, a liquid to be used in a thermometer must have a boling point higher than the temperature it is to measure Mercury (quicksiver) has a freezing point of -37° F, and a boling point of 0.75° F. It can therefore be used between those temperatures. Alcohol freezes at -170° F. and bolis at above its boling point, namely, 172° F.

You have seen examples showing that liquids expand when heated and contract when cooled This is to be expected if what we think about the motion of molecules is true. As the molecules more faster they take up more room.

Experiments 2 and 3 will help you to prove what happens when liquids are heated and cooled.

Do liquids expand when heated?



You could do this experiment without putting the flask of water in a beaker of water, by applying heat directly to the flask itself. Why do you think it is better to do it as shown in the diagram?

If the hole (bore) in the glass tube were smaller, would the water level in it move up and down more than in this size tube? Why?

What is the need for the wire gauze?

WHAT TO USE.—A small (50 cc.) flask: a one-hole rubber stopper to fit the flask; a glass tube 12 inches long to fit the hole in the stopper; a large glass beaker or basin of water; a Bunsen burner; a clamp support for the flask; and a ring support, wire gauze and ring stand to support the beaker.

For home experimenting a pickle bottle partly filled with water can be heated in a double boiler on the stove.

WHAT TO DO.—1. Fill the flask brimful with water and insert the stopper with the glass tube just sticking through it. The water will probably fill the flask and a little of the glass tube. The top of the water in the tube should be marked by tying a string around it at that point or by some other means.

Support the flask with the bulb immersed in cold water in the beaker. The beaker should be placed on a wire gauze on the ring.

2. Heat the water in the beaker for a few minutes, and mark the new level of the water in the tube as before.

WHAT HAPPENS.—1. When the stopper was inserted in the flask, did some water go up into the glass tube? Why?

2. When you heated the water in the beaker, did the water in the flask get hot? How?

3. Did the level of the water in the glass tube go up or down as you heated the water in the beaker? How much did it change?

COVELESION ---Why did the level of the water in the tube change? Did the water in the first take up more room when it became bot than when it was cold? Why?

APPLICATION -- How does the liquid in a thermometer indicate higher temperatures?

If the radiator of a car 1- filled to the bram with cold water, will some water overflow when the radiator gets hot? Why?

When the bulb of a thermometer containing mercury or alcohol or any other hquid is heated, the liquid in the hulb expands (takes up more room). This causes the liquid in the stem to rise higher. If the hquid in the bulb of the thermometer is cooled, it contracts and the liquid in the stem goes down.

Perhaps you are wondering why thermonicters have bulbs. The bulb is to hold the liquid. The bore in the stem is small so that when the large amount of bquid in the bulb expands even a little, the top of the liquid in the stem moves a good deal. The bore is sometimes so small that the thread of liquid in it is difficult to see unless it is magnified in some way.

Let us try Experiment 3 to prove that hauids contract when cooled.

WITH FIELD RESEARCH

If you have an netwise freezer in your refrigerator at home or at school, try the following. Fill a tray as nearly level with water as you can. Then put it in the refrigurator and let the water freezer. When it is frozen solid, note if the net takes up more room than the water. Does water expand then it freezers

THE FAHRENHEIT SCALE.—One of the first thermometer scales was made by a scientist named *Fahrenheit* who was born in Danzig in 1686

The continon house thermometer has a Fahrenheit scale. When the built of a mercury thermometer is placed in melting snow arice, the top of the mercury will drop to a certain level in the stem and stay there. This place on the stem is marked 32° on the Fahrenheit scale. If the bull of a mercury ther-

Do liquids contract when cooled?



When you look over the apparatus for this experiment, do you see a good reason for putting the flask in a beaker' of water? What is used in this experiment to cause the water in the flask to change in temperature? What was used in Experiment 2 to cause a change in temperature? Is the wire gauze needed here for the same reason it was used in Experiment 2?

WHAT TO USE.—Use the same equipment as in Experiment 2 except the Bunsen burner.

WHAT TO DO.—Fill the flask so full that, when you put the stopper in, some water rises in the tube. Place the bulb of the flask in cold water in the beaker, and add cracked ice. At home the pickle bottle can be placed in the refrigerator.

WHAT HAPPENS.-Describe just what changes you observe.

CONCLUSION .- Do liquids contract when they are cooled?

APPLICATION.—Why does the level of the water in an automobile radiator drop as it cools?

How does the liquid in a thermometer indicate lower temperatures?

mometer is placed in boiling water or steam at standard air pressure, the liquid will rise to a certain level. This place on the stem is marked 212°.

The stem between the 32° mark and the 212° mark is divided into 180 equal divisions. Each one of these divisions is degree. The 32° mark is the temperature at which ice water freezes The 212° mark is the temperature at which water boils under stundard arr pressure. These two marks are sometimes called the "fixed points" of a thermometer. They can be used for testing the accuracy of a thermometer.

You can test the accuracy of a mercury thermometer by following the plan in Experiment 4



Temperature Scales.—Compare the fixed points on each scale. Which is lorger—one degree Fahrenheit or one degree Centigrade? The Fahrenheit reading squadt the Centigrade reading multiplied by 18 plus 32. Try it. 30 WFLETHER

Consult your librarian for information about Fahrenheit. Find out how his first thermometer was marked and how the changes to the present markings happened to be made.

THE CENTIGRADE SCALE.—The Centigrade thermometer scale differs from the Fahrenheit scale in divisions and the numbers for the "fixed points." On the Centigrade thermometer, the point at which the liquid in the stem should stand when the bulb is in melting ice is marked 0° C. The level for boiling water is marked 100° C. The space between 0° C. and 100° C. is divided into 100 divisions, hence the name *centi* (hundred) grade (marks). A thermometer with a Centigrade scale may be tested in the same manner as the Fahrenheit.

The Centigrade scale is the most commonly used scale in seience. Measurements on the Centigrade scale can be divided into tenths, hundredths, and thousandths by changing the position of the decimal point. The meter is also divided into tenths, hundredths, and thousandths. The meter belongs to the metrie system, which is used by scientists the world over. Compare this with our yard, which is divided into 3 feet and 36 inches.

NUMBERSON RESEARCH NUMBERSON NUMBERS

With the help of your librarian and your science teacher look up the metric system and learn its advantages over the English system for use in science.

COMPARING THE FAHRENHEIT AND CENTIGRADE SCALES.— You can compare these two common scales by studying the diagram. Notice that the bulbs and the stems are exactly the same. Note also that both use the same kind of liquid. For a given degree of heat, the liquid in each stands at the same height. But the *markings* on the stems are different. Thus 100° C. is just as hot as 212° F. Compare the readings shown on both scales. Then try to answer the question under the diagram.

(KEY) EXPERIMENT 4

How may a thermometer be tested by its "fixed points," 32° and 212°, to determine its accuracy?



Why is it a good thing in this experiment to heat the flask of water directly with the flame instead of in a beaker of water as in Experiment ?? What use has the wire gauge?

Why do you suppose the thermometer bulb is plated just above the boing water and not in 12 Suppose you try it both ways In the part of the experiment with ice, why would you have to have the thermometer bulb in the ice longer if the bulb were larger? Thes is a "Key" or expectively undortant. Experiment

WHAT TO USE -- A glass mercury thermometer that has a 32° and 212° mark, cracked ne, a beaker, a flask nith 2-hole rubber stopper; a ring stand with ring support, wire gauge, Bunsen burnet, glass tube.

What to Do -1 Test the position of the 32° mark by placing the bulb in a small beaker filled with cracked ice and a little water. The temperature of a mixture of melting we and a little water is 32° F.

Leave the bulb in the melting ice statil you are certain the mercury in the stem will drop no lower. All the mercury in the bulb is then at the same temperature as the melting ice.

2 Non carefully observe the 32° mark on the stem to determine whether it is exactly on a level with the increase in the stem. If it is, the thermometer is accurate as to this fixed point. If it is not, make a note of the amount of difference, above or below. 3. To test the 212° mark on the thermometer, place the bulb in the steam of boiling water. Insert the thermometer through one hole of the 2-hole rubber stopper and place the stopper in the flask about $\frac{1}{4}$ full of water. The bulb of the thermometer should be just above the surface of the water. In the extra hole in the rubber stopper place a tube to allow steam to escape from the flask; otherwise it will burst. Support the flask and heat the water to boiling.

The temperature of the boiling water increases with increased air pressure and lowers with reduced air pressure. Therefore, results may not be as accurate as for the other test but will be accurate enough for your purpose. The steam from boiling water for a given pressure stays at the same temperature as long as the water boils.

Check the position of the 212° mark with the top of the mercury. What does it show?

WHAT HAPPENS.—1. In the first part of the experiment, did some of the ice melt?

2. Was the 32° mark exactly opposite the top of the mercury? If not, how much was it in error? + or -?

3. In the second part, was the 212° mark exactly opposite the top of the mercury in the stem of the thermometer? If not, how much was it in error? + or -?

CONCLUSION.—State how accurate you found the thermometer as indicated by the 32° and 212° marks.

APPLICATION.—Commercial thermometers are calibrated (marked for reading) by placing them in constant temperature baths and marking the mercury (or liquid) level for certain temperatures. Then with a dividing machine the stem is marked off into equal spaces with these marks as starting places. Or the spacing of the marks is transferred to the metal back.

Use a tested thermometer to check one that may be inaccurate.

Notes.—1. A thermometer with a wooden back should not be placed in boiling water, for the hot water may injure the finish on the wood.

2. A thermometer that does not register as high as the 212° mark should not be used, since placing it in boiling water might cause it to break.

THERMOMETERS FOR SPECIAL NEEDS.—The doctor uses a small thermometer of special make to "take" (measure) the temperature of a sick person. The normal temperature of a healthy body is 98.6° F. A slight difference above or below normal indicates trouble. It is necessary therefore for the doctor's thermometer to be very accurate.



House Thermometer

This thermometer does not read beyond 130°. Is that sotisfactory for its purpose?

Con you test this thermometer by the boiling-point fest?

Can you check its accuracy by the freezing-point test?

The doctor's thermometer is called a *clinical* thermometer. Τt has a short stem with a much smaller bore than ordinary thermometers Thus a slight change in temperature will cause a considerable change in the level of the mercury in the stem.

The front part of the glass stem is chaped in such a way as to act hke a lens It magnifies the small thread of mercury in the bore so that it may be seen more readily. The face of the stem is marked off in units of one fifth of a degree. Between the long slender bulb and the stem, the bore is made even smaller than the bore above or below (see the picture on page 35). Because of this, once the mercury gets above the squeezed-in part, it is not drawn back into the bulb when the thermometer cools. Such a device allows the doctor time to read the temperature accurately. Perhaps you have seen him "shake" the mercury back into the bulb after he has read the temperature. Some other special thermometers

are used for making candy, deep-fat

cooking, making maple sirup and sugar, cooking meats, and for a great many industrial processes. The special thermometers may contain liquid or they may consist of two metal strips called metallic thermometers

As you have learned, mercury is not the only liquid used in thermometers. Some contain colored alcohol or similar hquids. One point to remember is that different hquids have different boiling temperatures Alcohol, for example, boils at about 172° F. Therefore an alcohol thermometer may not be used



Thermometers.—How mony of these thermometers do you recognize? Which one hos the greatest ronge? Which one reads the highest? Why? Which do you think is most accurate? Why wouldn't an oven thermometer make a good cooking thermometer?

safely for temperatures as high as that. On the other hand, alcohol must be cooled to a much lower temperature than mercury to freeze. This means that alcohol thermometers can be used to measure much lower temperatures than can mercury thermometers.

Have you ever noticed that many types of thermometers in use around you? Select a committee to survey and report on the thermometers in use in your school. Ask the committee to list all the different ones. If possible, have the committee bring the thermometers into class for your inspection. If this cannot be done, the committee may prepare large drawings of the thermometers.

GENERAL PROBLEM 3

What Causes Differences in Air Temperatures?

DIFFERENCES IN AIR TEMPERATURES --Latitude, wind direction, altitude, and large bodies of water are the principal regulators of air temperatures over the earth. We shall learn later that the sun has very little *direct* heating effect on the air.

EFFECT OF LATITUDE —Latitude influences air temperatures because the farther a place is from the equator, the more the earth slopes away from the sun's rays. Or to put the fact another way, the more slanting the rays of the sun, the less heat the rays supply Thus the Frigid Zones are much colder than the Temperate or Tropic Zones

But we must be careful not to tlunk that a place will have a uniform temperature because of the zone or latitude in which it les The other regulators of temperature cause it to change a good deal For example, ar temperatures in the Temperate Zones range from 60° below zero to 10° above.

We should remember, then, that the temperature zones shown in the diagram on page 30 represent only general conditions of temperature. Their real purpose is to show the changes in the direction of the sun's mys caused by seasonal changes. We shall consider the heating effects of these changes in more detail when we study the seasons.

Semi-tropical Climate — Winds from the Gulf Stream blaw across the Bermuda Islands. How daes that fact help explain Bermuda's climate?





Winter Wonderland.—Although snow may cause great damage and much inconvenience, it also paints beautiful pictures. Why is a scene like this common in northern United States but rare in the South?

EFFECT OF WINDS.—The temperature of the air of a place is affected by the direction of *winds*. Wind coming from the north is usually a current of cold air, and consequently the temperature of a place in its path will drop. Also, air moving over a body of cold water is cooled and will cool the localities over which it passes.

EFFECT OF ALTITUDE.—Altitude above sea level has a marked effect on air temperature. Even though the top of a mountain is nearer the sun, the air is cooler there than at its base.

Many people wonder why the air becomes colder with increase in altitude. All your experiences show that the nearer you are to a hot stove the warmer you feel. How can it be, then, that it is colder above the earth, which is nearer to the hot sun, than at the lower levels of the earth's surface?

Air near the earth gets more heat from the earth than air above it. Also the upper air does not absorb (take in) as much heat from the sun as the lower air. This helps to make the air near the earth warmer than the air above. Actually, the sun has little effect in warming the air. It warms the earth. The earth in turn warms the air near it.

We know that warm air rises. As the warm air rises, the pressure on it becomes less and less. The molecules spread



Courtesp Los Ingeles Chember of Commerce

Climate and Alfilude.—This picture was taken in southern California. In the foreground is a circui grove. In the background is Mount San Bernadino. What two different climates do you see? Haw can you explain the two climates?

farther and farther apart. The air gets lighter, going higher and higher, farther and farther away from the warm earth. As it rises, it gets "thinner" and cokler.

If you apply heat to air, you make it expand If, on the contrary, air is allowed to expand by lessening the pressure on it, it cools off.

Thus the narm air ruses, expands, and becomes colder. It ruses gradually to about 6 or 7 miles, getting colder all the time by expansion. At that height it is so cold it does not rise any higher. It begins to settle hack toward the earth's surface. For this reason air gets colder up to about 6 or 7 miles.

Above the height of 6 or 7 miles, air temperature remains about the same, 60° to 70° F. below zero, for several miles. This region of constant temperature is called the stratosphere.

Above the stratosphere the temperature of the air is thought by some scientists to increase as the natural result of being closer to the sun.

Since rising currents of air contain moisture which conderses and forms clouds, the highest clouds are not higher than 6 or 7 miles. As we read on page 15, the layer of air containing moisture and clouds is called the *troposphere*. It reaches about 6 or 7 miles above the earth. Above the troposphere is the cloudless stratosphere.



First Day of Summer.—On the first day of summer in the northern hemisphere the sun is directly overhead at the Tropic of Cancer. What is the northern limit of the sun's rays at this time? the southern limit? What changes would have to be made in this diagram to make it represent the first day of winter? What are the limits of the sun's most direct rays from season to season?

EFFECT OF NEAR-BY WATER.—The temperature of the air of certain places near the ocean is also affected by the great ocean currents. These currents are like huge rivers flowing in the ocean itself. If the current comes from the Tropical Zone, as the Gulf Stream does, its waters are warm and will heat the air of places near it. On the other hand, if the current comes from the north, its waters are cold and will make the air of near-by places colder.

..... LIBRARY RESEARCH -

Ocean currents one their motion partly to the fact that cold water is heavier than warm water avel partly to winds. The direction of ocean currents is influenced by the rotation of the earth as well as by wind direction. Follow up these hints by further reading to determine why a particult ocean current takes the course it does.

GENERAL PROBLEM 4

How Can Air Pressure Be Measured?

THE AR AROUND US.--The earth is covered with an ocean of air called its atmosphere. There is really no "top" or upper surface of the atmosphere, as there is to the water ocean. The atmosphere merely thins off mic space.

In your earlier science study perhaps you experimented and found that air is composed of oxygen, carbon dioxide, and moisture. Can you recall how you tested for these three substances? From your reading you learned also that air contains nitrogen and several rare gases

The air has about the same composition up to an altitude of saxty to eighty miles, except for zone. However, without special aids to breathing most men cannot live long above three and one-hall miles from the earth. Above this beight the air pressure is too low for normal breathing. It is possible that above 100 miles the atmosphere contains slowly decreasing gen above 100 miles. Nitrogen is the principal gas at all beights.

With a Is Am Pressure?—We know that air is matter and that all matter has weight. The weight of the air is called air pressure. A column of air one square inch an area, and as high as the air extends upward, weights 147 pounds at sea level under normal conditions. There is a similar column of air over every square inch of ground and every square inch of water. Thus we may say that the atmospheric pressure on the earth is 14.7 pounds to the square inch at the level of the sea.

To help you understand about air pressure, think of a large pile of loose straw. It would be pressed more tightly at the

The pressure of the air against this one square inch of white surface is 14.7 lbs. bottom than at the top, wouldn't it? All the straw at the bottom would bear the weight of all the straw above it. The same is true of air. The lower part of the atmosphere is the most compact or *dense*. The molecules are more closely packed together. As one goes up from the earth, the air becomes thinner (less dense). Therefore,

the air pressure decreases very rapidly as one leaves the earth. At a height of about three and a half miles, approximately half

of the weight of the air is below one. That is, at that altitude the pressure is approximately 7.3 pounds per square inch.

MEASURING AIR PRESSURE. —Air pressure is measured by instruments called barometers. There are two types of barometers in general use, mercurial (or liquid) and aneroid (without liquid) barometers. The mercurial barometer was invented by two scientists, Galileo and Torricelli (tôr'rê-chěl'lē), about 250 years ago.

Galileo knew that water would not rise in a pump higher than about 33 feet. He reasoned that the fact had something to do with the pressure of the atmosphere. He asked one of his pupils to solve the problem. The pupil, Torricelli, by his now famous experiment proved that Galileo's idea about atmospheric pressure was correct.



Mercurial Barometer.—The tube is 34 inches lang. Would a 36inch tube be satisfactary? Would a 30-inch tube? The height of the mercury in the tube is measured fram the surface of the mercury in the dish. Why doesn't the mercury run out of the tube?

WEATHER FACTORS 41

(KEY) EXPERIMENT 5

How does almospheric pressure affect a barometer?



What new materials are used in this experiment? Why must the glass tube be more than 30 inches long? Why must it be closed at one end?

Mencury is very heavy and easily spitted. Be careful because it is expensive If mercury gots on a gold ring, the gold will turn white but will be all right again if it is kept warm a while Try not to get mercury into a cut on your finger. It might make it sore

This is another "Key" Experiment.

WHAT TO UNE -A thick-sailed glass tube 34 inches long, with a bore of 1 inch and scaled at one end, mercury; a ring stand and two elamps, a yardstick, a small, fist-bottomed dish; and a small funnel with small glass tube attached to transfer mercury to the tube.

WHAT TO Do -1 Set up the barometer as Torricelli did and fasten it in an upright position on the ring stand

2 At a certain time each day for one week measure the distance from the surface of the mercury in the dish to the top of the mercury in the tube. Record your readings in a table

WHAT HAPPENS -1 Did the mercury stay in the tube at a level about 30 mches high? What kept it from flowing entirely out of the tube?

2 Did the height of the column vary from day to day? How much?

CONCLUSIONS --- What is the effect of atmospheric pressure on the mercury column of a barometer?

APPLICATION - Keep a record of the air pressure and air temperatures for a few days Note differences or similarities in their readings Torricelli used a tube about a yard long, and closed at one end. He filled it with mercury. Placing a finger over the open end, he inverted it, putting the open end in a dish of mercury. On removing his finger, he noticed that not all the mercury came out of the tube. It settled down and came to rest with the top of the mercury in the tube about 30 inches above the surface of the mercury in the dish. (See the diagram of a mercurial barometer on page 41.)

Torricelli reasoned that there was no air in the tube above the mercury. (The tube had been filled with mercury and no air was allowed to enter.) Therefore the column of mercury must be held up or balanced by the pressure of the air on the surface of the mercury in the dish.

You can try Torricelli's experiment by following the directions on page 42. Be sure you can explain why the mercury drops so far in the tube and stays there.

THE ANEROID BAROMETER.—The aneroid barometer is decidedly more convenient for general use than the mercurial barometer. It is a small and light instrument. Moreover, containing no liquid to spill, the aneroid may be carried from place to place easily. Also its readings may be recorded automatically.

The part affected by changes in air pressure is a flat metal box with flexible top and bottom. It contains practically no air. *Increasing* pressures squeeze the top and bottom together.

Aneroid Barometer. — The parts are: (a) Metal box, (b) Shaft on which pointer is attached, (c) Thread, (d) Movoble bar. The cover and pointer of this borometer hove been removed. What is the purpose of the metal box? What causes the shaft to turn?



Decreasing pressures let them spring apart again. These movements are passed along to a pointer on the face of the aneroid by little levers and chains.

UNITS OF AIR PRESSURE —For years, air pressures have been expressed in inches The inches refer to height of the column of mercury in a barometer

In recent years another unit has been used. This unit is called the *millibar* A column of mercury 30 inches high is equivalent to 1015 9 millibar. One tenth of an inch of mercury equals 34 millibars. Beenviewe most haronneters are marked off in mehes, a table showing both inches of mercury and millibars has been placed in the Appendix of this book. Weather maps now use the millibar, so this unit of pressure will be discussed again under weather maps.

GENERAL PROBLEM 5

What Is Wind?

FROM BREZE TO TORNADO --On a hot summer dny you may be enjoying a gentle breze. In other sections of the comtry a wind may be blowing with such terrific force that it tears down buildings, pulls up trees, and destroys currything in its path. Such a destinctive wind is called a *tornado*. The velocity of a tornado may reach 200 or 300 miles per hour. Wind of ordinary velocity moves from 3 to 15 miles per hour. Wind is are in motion.

In order to understand the cause of this moving air, called wind, let us consider some common observations. Almost everybody knows that hot air rices. Do you know why? Perhaps you will be able to prove your answer by experimenting at home.

Warm air rives because the heavier cool air settles and pushes the warm air up II air over the earth is heated more in some places than m others, the air will move. The cold air is heavier than warm air and therefore settles, pushing the warm ar out of its way. For this reason air will move from a coller region to a warner region.

Two KINDS OF WINDS.-Some winds are caused by unequal heating of the air locally. The light summer breeze and the

ANNION FIELD RESEARCH ANNIONISTIC STREET, STRE

If you have a hot-air furnace in operation, place a tuft of cotton or a feather over the hot-air register. Does the cotton move up or down? Which way does it show that the air is moving? If you have no furnace but have a stove, make a little smoke near the stove pipe. Does the smoke go up along the hot stove pipe? Which way is the air moving, up or down?

Open a window a bit at top and at bottom, when it is rather cold outdoors and there is no wind blowing Test the air movement. Does the air come in through the open window at top or bottom? Does it go up or down after it gets in?

heavy wind that blows before a thunderstorm usually are of this type.

On the other hand, winds may be a part of a great mass of moving air. Such large masses of air move because of unequal temperatures over large portions of the earth's surface. Great masses or blocks of air may measure many miles in width at the front and hundreds of miles in thickness. They are called air masses.

AIR MASSES.—Some air masses move from the cold polar regions southward. If they come from over the continent, they are called *continental polar* air masses. They are referred to by the abbreviation cP.

Tornado Damage.—The tornado that did this damage traveled only a short distance and spent its force in thirty minutes. This destruction, however, was done in only a few seconds.

U. S. Weather Bureau



Other great masses of cold air which begin over polar seas are called maritume (sea) polar air masses. This name is abbrevented MP. If the air mass comes from the continent where the temperature is warm or tropical, it is called a continental tropical (cT) air mass. If it comes from a warm sea, like the Gulf of Merceo or South Atlantic or Pacific, it is called a maritime tropped (MT) air mass

These large masses or blocks of air move over the land without being mixed very much unless a cold miss meets a warm mass. Then the front of the warm mass may ride up over the front of the cold mass, owing to the fact that warm air is lighter than cold air. Where two fronts meet in this way, storms are very likely to occur as a result. The is shown in the diagram below.



When Warm Air Meets Cold Air.—This diagram shows what happens when a mass of warm air meets a mass of cold air. What happens to the worm air? Explain why clouds and tain result.

Sometimes the two masses rub shoulders so to speak. This results in the sides of the air masses being mixed up so that storms occur. The diagrams on page 47 explain how this hap-

Il a warm mass moving northeasterly meets a cold mass moving southward and to one side, a counter-clockwise whirl of air is produced. This whirl of air is called a low. Such a low is in most cases a storm center and is many miles across.

WINNING FIELD RESEARCH

One result of this whirling movement of air currents can be illustrated by whirling water in a glass. The water will whirl with the glass but will pile up at the sides of the glass and will be shallow in the center. Try it.

The whirling mass of air (low) acts the same way as the whirling water. The center portion of the whirling mass is shallow



Birth of a Low.—Study these diagrams in the order 1, 2, 3, 4. The white strips show that masses of warm and cold air do not mix. Black arrows represent cold air; gray arrows represent warm air. Scientists now believe that low pressure areas are formed in this way at the boundary of warm air masses and cold air masses.

Other great masses of rold air which begin over polar seas are called maritime (sea) polar air masses. This name is abbreviated vP. If the air mass comes from the continent where the temperature is warm or tropical, it is called a continental tropical (CT) air mass. If it comes from a warm sea, like the Gull of Mexico or South Atlantic or Pacific, it is called a maritime tronged (MT) air mass

These large masses or blocks of air move over the land without being mixed very much, unless a cold mass meets a warm mass. Then the front of the warm mass may ride up over the front of the cold mass, owing to the fact that warm air is lighter than cold air. Where two fronts meet in this way, storms are very likely to occur as a result. This is shown in the diagram below.



When Warm Air Meets Cold Air.--This diagram shows what happens when a mass of warm air meets a mass of cold oir. What happens to the warm air? Explain why clouds and rain result.

Sometimes the two masses rub shoulders so to speak. This re-ults in the sides of the air masses being mixed up so that storms occur. The diagrams on page 47 explain how this hap-

If a warm mass moving northeasterly meets a cold mass moving southward and to one side, a counter-clockwise whirl of air 1s produced. This whirl of air is called a low. Such a low is in most cases a storm center and is many miles across.

WINNING FIELD RESEARCH

One result of this whirling movement of air currents can be illustrated by whirling water in a glass. The water will whirl with the glass but will pile up at the sides of the glass and will be shallow in the center. Try it.

The whirling mass of air (low) acts the same way as the whirling water. The center portion of the whirling mass is shallow and has a low air pressure. That is why it is called a low.



Birth of a Low.—Study these diagrams in the order 1, 2, 3, 4. The white strips show that masses of warm and cold air do not mix. Black arrows represent cold air; gray arrows represent warm air. Scientists now believe that low pressure areas are formed in this way at the boundary of warm air masses and cold air masses. - EXPERIMENT 6

How can the direction and relocity of the wind be determined?



This experiment calls for you to use your eyes out-of-doors. If you can observe a weather vane, why do you not need the compase? Could you tell the directions without either a weather vane or compass? How?

WHAT TO USE .-- A weather vane (or a magnetic compass); a flag on a pole, and smoke from a chimney

WEAT TO Do -Determine the points of the compass-North, East, South, West, and the middle points between-eight in all. Observe and record the direction of the wind as indicated by the weather vane, flag, or smoke

In your notes you can use the words "North," "North-East," "North-West," etc., to record the durections from which the wind comes, or you can use symbols like those found on the weather maps-macircle with a short line pointing in the direction from which the wind is blowing.

Refer to the table of velocities on page 49 to estimate the velocity of the wind at each observation.

WHAT HAPPENS -- Record your observations

Covcrusson -- Tell how you determined the direction and velocity of the wind

APPLICATION —Keep a record of the wind direction and velocity for a few days Discover whether there is any relation between a high wind and a particular direction

WIND VELOCITIES

(From Civil Aeronautics Bulletin No. 25, September, 1940, United States Department of Commerce, Civil Aeronautics Administration, Washington, D. C., "Meteorology for Pilots," by B. C. Haynes.)

Beaufort Number	MAP Styibol	Descrip- tive Word ¹	Velocity (Miles per Hote)	Specifications for Estimating Velocities
0	0	Calm	Less than 1	Smoke rises vertically.
1	`₀		1 to 3	Direction of wind shown by smoke drift but not by wind vanes.
2	∕	Light	4 to 7	Wind felt on face; leaves rustle; ordinary vane moved by wind.
3	<u>\</u>	Gentle ·	8 to 12	Leaves and small twigs in con- stant motion; wind extends
4		Moderate	13 to 18	Raises dust and loose paper; small branches are moved.
5	<u>I</u>	Fresh	19 to 24	Small trees in leaf begin to sway; crested wavelets form on in-
6	M 0	•	25 to 31	Large branches in motion, whis- tling heard in telegraph wires;
7	<u> </u>	Strong	32 to 38	Whole trees in motion; incon- venience felt in walking against
8	<u>I</u>		39 to 46	breaks twigs off trees; generally impedes progress.
9	<u>III</u>	Gale	47 to 54	Slight structural damage occurs (chimney pots and slate re-
10			55 to 63	Trees uprooted; considerable structural damage occurs.
11	11110	Whole gale	64 to 75	Rarely experienced; accom- panied by widespread damage.
12	IIII	Hurricane	Above 75	

¹ Except "calm," these terms are not to be used in reports of velocity.

MOVEMENT OF LOWS.—Lows move in paths across the United States Nome lows begin in the southwest and move in a curred northeasterly path over the United States toward the St Lawrence River At the same time, other lows are being formed far out in the Pacific Occau. These pass over the United States in a curved path from the state of Washington and out the St Lawrence River region. When we study weather forecasting, we shall learn more about the movements of the lows and the corresponding highs

The low is often called a cyclone A cyclone has a slower speed of air (wind) and should not be confused with a tornado.

WIND VELOCITIES --The speed with which air moves is an important factor in forecasting the weather. You can learn to estimate wind velocity by using the table on page 40. In making wind observations, it is important also to notice the direction

Winds are named from the point of the compass from which they come. Hence a weather vane, a flag on a pole, or smoke from a chimney will indicate wind direction.

An interesting way to represent wind directions and velocities is found on modern weather maps The location of a weather station is indicated by a circle A short line is drawn to the circle from the direction in which the wind is coming. This indicates the wind direction Velocity is indicated by "feathers" on the end of the line, as shown in the table on page 49 A short "feather" equals 1 and a long "feather" equals 2 on the standard wind scale. Two long and one short "feather" would equal 5 ands oon. There are twelve standard wind velocities on the Beaufort wind scale.

WIND PRESSURE —You know that it is difficult to walk against a strong wind This difficulty in walking is caused by a characteristic of wind which is called *wind pressure*. Wind pressure changes in proportion to the square of its velocity. For example, if a wind of 5 miles per hour increases to 10 miles per hour, the wind pressure becomes four times as great as it was formerly. Here is how such a change in wind pressure is worked out. The square of 5 is 25 (5 x 5). The square of twenty-five.

WINNING FIELD RESEARCH

A wind blowing 10 miles per hour exerts pressure of about 0.27 pound per square foot. What would be the total pressure on a window of your school or house? (Height and width \times 0.27 pound.)

GENERAL PROBLEM 6

What Is the Humidity of the Air?

MOISTURE IN THE AIR.—You know that the moisture in the air is really water. Usually it is in the form of an *invisible* gas. It is referred to as the *humidity* of the air. The invisible moisture is the gaseous state of water. You have, however, *seen* fogs, clouds, and rains. Thus you have had first-hand evidence of the presence of those forms of moisture in air. The amount of gaseous moisture in the air varies from time to time. The air very rarely, if ever, is *saturated* with moisture; that is, it rarely contains all the moisture it can hold. The actual amount of moisture required to saturate the air depends upon the temperature of the air.

Warm air can absorb more moisture than cold air. The amount of moisture in the air at any one time is always *relative* to the amount which the air would hold if completely saturated at the same temperature. For example, if the air contains three fourths as much moisture as it could possibly hold at a given temperature, the *relative humidity* is 75 per cent.

HYGROMETER.—Hygrometer is the name of the instrument used to measure the relative amount of moisture in the air. It usually consists of two thermometers. The bulb of one thermometer is dry. The bulb of the other thermometer is covered with a wick which dips into water. The wick soaks up water and wets the bulb. The liquid water on the bulb changes into gaseous water (evaporates) and escapes.

As the water on the bulb changes from the liquid state to the gas state, it absorbs heat from the mercury in the bulb. This causes the liquid in the bulb to contract. The other thermometer bulb, which is kept dry, indicates the real air temperature.

The evaporation of water from the wet bulb absorbs heat from the mercury in that bulb Thus it reads lower than the actual air temperature as shown by the dry bulb thermometer. The drier the air, the greater will be the difference in readings between the wet bulb and the dry bulb. This is because, in the drier air, the water on the wet bulb will evaporate faster and therefore absorb heat faster from the mercury. If the air could be saturated with moisture, no water could evaporate from the wet bulb. Then the wet bulb and dry bulb would read alike, and the relative humidity would be 100 per cent.

Now we can see how the humidity of the air affects our comfort When the relative humidity is low, perspiration on our skin evaporates randly, cooling the skin. When the relative bumidity is high, the air contains much moisture. Perspiration cannot evaporate rapidly, and the skin is not cooled.

Experiments 7 and 8 deal with relative humidity.



Make a hygrometer using a length of human hair. The amount of moisture in the air affects the length of hair. First soak a long length of hair in carbon tetrachloride to remove any oil Then make the hygrometer, using the diagram as a guide Attach the hair to the pointer very near the pin holding the pointer Make the pointer of cardboard just heavy enough to hold the harr taut. You can calibrate your hygrometer by obtaming several readings on different days from a commercial hygrometer.

Does an evaporating liquid absorb heat?



The caution says not to have any flame about while you do this experiment. This is because two of the liquids catch fire easily. Which two?

Be careful when pouring the liquids into the watch glasses not to spill any. Someone with a steady hand should do the pouring, with the watch glass close to the neck of the bottle.

Do you think you could use water instead of any of these liquids and show the same thing? Try it.

WHAT TO USE.—Alcohol; carbon tetrachloride; ether; a large flat cork; a small watch glass and a little water.

CAUTION: Do not have any flame or fire near by.

WHAT TO Do.--1. Put a few drops of alcohol on the back of your hand and let it evaporate.

2. Repeat, using a few drops of carbon tetrachloride or ether.

3. Place a few drops of water on the cork. Set the watch glass in the water and fill it with ether. Fan the ether briskly,

WHAT HAPPENS.—1. Did the alcohol on your hand dry up (evaporate)? Did this make your skin feel cold?

2. How did the other liquids act when used in the same way?

3. Did the ether in the watch glass evaporate? Did fanning make it evaporate faster? What happened to the water under the glass?

CONCLUSION .--- Do liquids absorb heat when evaporating? Explain.

APPLICATION.—Why does fanning make you feel cooler? Why is it colder in a wind than out of the wind?

A LAW.—When any liquid evaporates (turns to the gaseous state), it takes in or absorbs heat.

Assessments and a second s

What is the relative humidity of the air?



In this experiment you will use the principle you discovered in Experiment 7 Can you repeat that principle?

If you do not have two thermometers, you can get along with just one, although not as convenently. If you have only one thermometer, use it first to get the air temperature before wetting the bulb. Then put on the wick and use it as a "wet bulb" thermometer.

If you should use ether instead of water to wet the wick, would the mercury in the thermometer be higher or lower than when water is used?

What TO Use -Two thermometers, a ring stand, a lamp wick; and a besker of water

WHAT TO DO -- Place the wick ou one of the thermometers, supported so that the wick will hang in the beaker of water as in the drawing.

Hang the second thermometer alongude the first, as in the drawing. If you observe closely, you will see that the bulb of the thermometer with the work on it is wet all the time. This is called the "wet bulb" The other bulb that is dry all the times is called the "dry bulb."

Allow the apparatus to stand a few numites, and then fan both hulbs. Record the temperature of the air shown by the dry-bulb thermometer. Record the temperature shown by the wet-bulb thermometer.

WHAT HAPPENS -- Does the wet-bulb thermometer register lower than the dry bulb? What causes the difference?

Use the table of relative humidity in the Appendix to calculate the
relative humidity. The directions will tell you how to use the dry bulb and wet bulb readings. These you should repeat in your own words in your written report.

CONCLUSION.---What did you find the relative humidity to be? What principle or law is involved in your finding?

APPLICATION.—What is the relation between health and relative humidity? Between relative humidity and wet things drying?

GENERAL PROBLEM 7

What Causes Precipitation?

DEW AND FROST.—As the sun drops below the horizon, the land begins to cool rapidly. When the air touches the cold earth, it too becomes cooler. The water vapor which the air contains is then condensed. It forms little particles of water on cold objects, such as sticks, leaves of plants, and blades of grass. This condensed moisture on the cold objects is called *dew*. You may have shown by experiment in earlier science work how moisture will condense.

Certainly you have seen dew that has formed on pitchers of ice water or on blades of grass.

Warm air holds more invisible water than cold air. But if the air becomes cold enough, some moisture must separate from the warm air and become visible. When water separates from air and falls as rain, snow, sleet, hail, or forms dew or frost, the process is called *precipitation*.

The formation of dew is illustrated by Experiment 9. If you have a thermometer at home that will not be harmed by putting it into water, you can do this experiment at home.

If, during the night, the temperature of the earth and the air touching it drops down to 32° F. or below, *frost* is formed. Frost is not frozen dew. Frost is formed when the moisture freezes as fast as it separates from the air. This results in ice crystals we call frost.

CLOUDS AND FOG.—Clouds are known to all of us. You will understand clouds, fog, rain, and snow better if you know what clouds are and how they are formed.

EXPERIMENT 9

How does dev form?



In Experiments 7 and 8 you made use of the principle that when liquids exports, they about heat. This might be stated by saying that when heat a added to liquids, they exports in this experment, the principle of condensation is used. What is this principle? What other experiment have you done that uses lice for the same process as in the exercised?

What ro Use -A tin cup, cracked ice, a stiring rod, and a thermometer

What to Do -1. Parily fill the cup with water at air or room temperature. Put the thermometer bulb in the water Add ice, a little at a time, sturge constantly with the storing rod Do not stir with the thermometer Way?

2 Watch the outside of the tin to note the first appearance of a film of mosture on the tin surface. At that instant read the temperature of the water.

Repeat the experiment three times,

WHAT HAPPENS -- I. Did the ree melt* Did the temperature of the water become lower? What caused it to get colder? Why did the temperature not show 32° as m Experiment 4?

2 Did moisture form on the outside of the cup? At what temperature each time? Was the water at the same temperature each time when the monsture formed?

What was the average temperature for the three trials? Where did the moisture come from?

What was the temperature of the layer of air touching the tin dish when its moisture condensed?

CONCLUSION.—The air temperature at which its moisture condenses is called its *dew point*. What was the dew point of the air during your experiment?

What was the advantage of making three trials?

APPLICATION.—What makes the cold water pipe or water pitcher "sweat" some days in summer more than on other days?

Why do windows in the house "steam" some days and not other days?

You have learned that clouds are really particles of water that left the earth because of evaporation.

It is strange, but true, that water vapor in the air will not readily change from a gas to a liquid unless it has something to condense "on." In the formation of dew, the moisture condenses on a cold dish, a window, a leaf, or even the ground.

In the air tiny dust particles act as so many cold objects on which the water of the air can collect as little drops. Some

Fog.—This picture shows clearly that fog is law-lying cloud. What causes a fag such as this? What will cause the fog to disappear? How wauld this fog appear to a person walking along ane of the streets?





Nature's Art.—The designs on the left ore made up of millions of intry ice crystals. Fatterns such as these may be formed when a find of mostive freezes on a window pane. The dew drops on the rose tell us that the rose was colder than the surrounding air. Naw complete the story of how the drops were formed.

scientists think that charges of electricity in the air, called electrons, also may act as tiny objects for condensation. Clouds consist of nullions of tiny drop- of water. They may be only about one thousandth of an inch in diameter. They are so light that they are held up by the air. When these masses of tiny water particles float high above the earth, we call them clouds When they rest near the earth's surface, we call them fogs The only difference between a cloud and a fog is whether it is high not the sky, or near the earth.

Two things are necessary, then, to form a cloud or a fog-Warm moist ar must be cooled. And there must be something for the moisture to condense on.

BIRTH OF A RAINDROF.—Once the water particles are formed, they may grow larger. More and more water may condense on their surfaces. Finally they may become large enough to fall as ram.

A raindrop may be half a million times larger than a cloud particle. Some raindrops may be as small as one fiftieth of an inch. Others may be as large as one fifth of an inch. Raindrops fall more than 10 feet in a second. One inch of rainfall amounts to over 100 tons of water per acre.

Drizzle consists of particles of water that are less than one fiftieth of an inch in diameter. They are so small they seem to float along in the air and fall very slowly.

MININI FIFLD RESEARCH MININIMUM

1. Make a fog in a milk bottle. Fill the bottle with hot water. Let it stand for a few minutes. Pour out all the water except for about two inches. Set an ice cube on the top of the bottle. Observe the formation of fog in the bottle. Explain how the fog formed.

2. With the aid of a large glass bottle with a one-hole rubber stopper. a glass exit tube, an exhaust air pump, a heavy-walled rubber tube and some chalk dust, try forming a fog. The air in the bottle may be cooled by quickly taking out air by means of the exhaust pump, which causes rapid expansion of the air left in the bottle. If the air in the bottle contains dust when the air is suddenly cooled as above, a fog will form. If there is no dust, put in some chalk dust and exhaust again.

RAIN-MAKING.—During the past five years scientists have been experimenting with rain-making and rain prevention.

Snow Flowers .--- it would be hard to guess exactly what these unusual blossoms are. The picture is a close-up of snowflakes which have just fallen on ice.

Steiner from Black Star



Some scientists had the idea that often rain would not form because there were not enough particles in the clouds. If they could add more particles, there would be something for the moisture to condense on. Then drops would form, and it would rain.

Thus scientists got the idea of "seeding" clouds. There are two ways of seeding clouds

1. By using an airplane to sprinkle tiny bits of dry ice throughout the cloud

2 By sending up a special kind of smoke from smoke generators on the ground. This smoke is usually tiny bits of the chemical suber rodice.

Are these really useful ways of making rain? Scientists do not agree on the answer as yet Some scientists say that if there is enough moisture in the clouds, and if other conditions are right, seeding will produce rain. Other scientists say that it would have rained anyway.

Even though it has not been completely proved yet, there are several "ran-making" companies. Most of them are in the west where there are frequent droughts. However, in 1950, New York City hired some ram-makers. Rain did fall on the New York City water-hed. But no one knows whether the rain would have come even if the rain-makers had not come to work!

PREVENTING RAIN.—The idea of seeding clouds can also be used to keep clouds in the sky and to prevent rain. Often a heavy bank of clouds will prevent a frost from forming. Clouds over hot wheat fields will also help keep the soil from losing too much moisture.

For cloud-making and rain-preventing, the air is overseeded. So many particles are put in the cloud that no one particle can get enough moisture to become large enough to fall. Thus many tiny droplets are formed, but no rain.

It will be interesting to follow the reports of the rain-makers and rain-preventers. Perhaps this will be one of the greatest descoveries of the century. One scientry, has already said that it is more important than atomic energy. On the other hand, further experiments may show that rain-making is not practical.

Certainly, if ram-making and rain-preventing should be-



Horold Orne

Frost Feathers.—The wind atop Mount Washingtan, New Hampshire, has blawn these frost crystals into a fantastic yet beautiful formation. The instrument at the top of the picture is used to recard the amount af heat fram the sun.

come common, we shall need new laws. Otherwise, some people might get too much rain, and others not enough!

WHY IS THE AIR COLD AT HIGHER ALTITUDE?—In order to complete our knowledge of how it rains, we must review what makes the air above the earth get cooler as it rises.

When a gas is compressed into a smaller space, it gets hot. You remember that temperature really has to do with how fast molecules move about. When a gas is squeezed into a smaller space, the molecules are squeezed together and move faster. This makes the gas get warmer. On the other hand, when a gas expands, it gets cooler. (Refer to the Field Research on page 59.) When the molecules are allowed more room, they use up some heat and so the gas gets cooler.



Winter's Designs.—Snowflakes (left) are water crystals Can you explain that statement? The crystals are always six-sided, and no two have ever been found that are alike. How do snowflakes differ from sleet crystals (right)?

Remember, then, that gases become heated when they are compressed, and cooler when they expand This helps to explain the cooling of air at increasing altitudes above the earth

Another thing to remember is that the air gets most of its heat from the earth. Air is not heated directly from the sun. Therefore it is reasonable to expect that air farther from the earth will be colder than air nearer the earth. As you know, heat from the sun warms the earth, but it does not heat the air through which it passes very much

EFFECT OF RELYS AIR.—Warm air expands as it rises above the earth, therefore it cools. If the rising current of warm air contains considerable mosisture, the molisture will be cooled and condense to form a cloud That is just what causes cumulus clouds

If the expansion is great enough, the cooling may result in the formation of drops of water large enough to fall. The large drops fall in spite of the rising current which keeps the smaller cloud drops dancing in the air. When a gentle drizzle takes place, it shows that the rising current of air is so slow that even

tiny drops can break away from their clouds and fall down through the air.

SNOW AND SLEET.—A blanket of snow is made up of snowflakes, just as rain is made up of raindrops. But is the snow that falls always the same? If you ever made a snow man or a snow fort, or if you are a skier, you know how differently snow packs. Sometimes it is so dry it will not pack at all. Then sometimes it is so wet it makes the best of snowballs.

MINIMUM FIELD RESEARCH

On a cold, crisp day examine snowflakes with a magnifier. You will marvel at their beauty. Wilson A. Bentley, in Jericho, Vermont, photographed thousands of snowflakes and maintained that there are no two alike.

Whenever the air is cooled to a temperature of 32° F., or somewhat lower, its moisture will freeze into tiny crystals.

Sleet Storm.—This is what happens when rain freezes as it reaches the ground. How can you explain that rain falls as liquid water and freezes as it lands? How does a storm such as this differ from a hail storm?



More crystals form on the first crystal, and so a snowflake is built up

Snow us measured by finding its average depth, but as "precipitation" it is reported in inches of water obtained when it is nelted some snow is heavier than other snow because it contains less air, in other words, it is more packed. It usually takes about twelve inches of snow to make one inch of water.

Some people think that snow is frozen raindrops. That is not the case Frozen raindrops form what is known as sleet. Steet is also founde when snowflakes much in the air and become frozen again. Even though sleet consists of little ice particles, these ice particles differ from hall in their structure and manner of formation.

How HAIL IS FORMED --Snow and sleet occur in the winter. Hail almost always occurs in warm weather. Hail often comes with thunder-torms. It is formed by raindrops being tossed high mto the air by the upward currents of air. At the high altitude the air temperature is below freezing. There the drops freeze into hitle balls of ree. If the hail drops, it may melt before it reaches the earth. Or it may become covered with an additional layer of water condensed on its surface. If it is hurled up again, a new layer of ice will form on it. In this way a hallstone is made up of layers of ice. When it gets too heavy for the nsing currents to keep it up, it falls to earth.

THINKING THINGS OVER.-There are many weather factors you must know before you can get a really good idea of what weather is. These factors are all closely related to each other. Therefore, a change in one weather factor affects most of the others.

When you realize the importance of each weather factor and the need to observe or measure it, you can understand why animals cannot be good weather forecasters. Predicting the weather is a job for scientists.

Our next few problems will deal with storms and weather forecasting. You will need to apply what you know about weather factors. If you are doubtful about your understanding of the weather factors that have been discussed, make a quick review right now.

KEY WORDS

air mass	evaporate	relative humidity
air pressure	Fahrenheit	saturated
altitude	"fixed points"	sleet
aneroid	fog	snow
atmosphere	frost	temperature
Centigrade	hail	thermometer
clinical	humidity	tornado
clouds	hygrometer	Torricelli
cold front	mercury	velocity
contract	millibar	warm front
cyclonc	precipitation	wind
dew	rain	
electron	rain-making	

KEY STATEMENTS

1. Our senses are poor indicators of temperature.

2. Metals expand at different rates.

Erf.

ių Lieto Res

4.7 (-?

tr

. العام ا

5

ł

÷!

e. C

A

31

ų į

e,

j.

نيز مر

ŗ

• 3

; į 3. Mercury and alcohol are used in thermometers because they expand uniformly and because their freezing points and boiling points occur at convenient temperatures.

4. Most solids (including metals), liquids, and gases expand when heated and contract when cooled.

5. The Fahrenheit thermometer scale has 32° for the temperature of freezing water (or melting ice) and 212° for the boiling point of water at sea-level air pressure.

6. The Centigrade thermometer scale has 0° for the temperature or freezing water (or melting iee) and 100° for the boiling point of water at sea-level air pressure.

7. Air pressure (atmospheric pressure) is due to weight of the air.

8. The air pressure decreases as the altitude increases.

9. Air pressure can be measured with a barometer.

10. Wind is caused by the unequal heating of the air.

11. Great masses of air move across the country from cold regions to warm regions or from warm regions to cold regions.

12. The front edge of the cold mass of air is called a *cold front*. The front edge of a warm mass of air is the *warm front*.

13. Sometimes when a warm front meets a cold front, a counterclockwise whirl of air is produced. These great air whirls are called cyclones.

14. The pressure of the wind increases as the square of its velocity.

WEATHER FACTORS 65

15. Relative humdity is the ratio of the amount of moisture in the air to the amount that would be needed to saturate the air at a given temperature

16 Evaporating liquids absorb heat

17 Dew forms by condensation of the moisture of the air by contact with cold objects Frost occurs if the cold object is below freezing

18 Rain results from the condensation of the water particles on dust or electric charges

19 Rising air currents expand and become cooler

20 Snow is composed of ice crystals formed by the freezing of the mosture of the air

21 Sleet forms from the freezing of raindrops.

22 Hail is made up of little halls of ice in layers.

THOUGHT QUESTIONS

1 What happens when milk in a bottle freezes? Why does freezing water break up rocks?

2 Why does not an alcohol thermometer have temperatures marked as high as 212° F ?

3 Why are the freezing point and the boiling point of water taken as "fixed" points on thermometers?

4 Why does the mercury stay up in the tube of a barometer?

5 How can a harometer be used to determine altitudes?

6 Why must the top ol a barooteter tube be sealed?

7 Why is it necessary to remove some of the air from the hox of an aneroid barometer?

8 Why does the wind blow?

9 Why will sprinkling a street with water cool the air?

10. Why is dew or frost less likely to form on a cloudy night than on a clear night? Or under a tree than in the open?

11 Why do we use more gasoline to drive a given distance at 60 miles an hour than at 40?

12. When would the wet bulb and dry bulb thermometers of a hygrometer read the same?

13 What is the relation between relative humidity and comfort?

14 Explain why snowflakes are made of crystals and hail is not.

PROJECTS FOR YOUR SCIENCE DISCOVERY BOOK

1. List all the uses of thermometers you can discover

2 Record the extreme temperatures for your town Do you be-

lieve that summers are cooler and winters warmer than they used to be? Investigate by means of weather bureau reports to find the facts.

3. Keep a daily weather record for two weeks. Make observations at the same time each day. Include reports of wind direction and velocity, temperature, precipitation, and cloudiness.

4. Keep a special record of wind direction for one month to determine the prevailing wind direction of your locality.

5. Make a report on the direction and effects of ocean currents.

6. Make an air thermometer and compare it with a house thermometer.

7. Using Magdeburg hemispheres and an exhaust air pump, prove that the atmosphere exerts a pressure.

8. Make an anemometer (wind meter).

9. Make a wind vane.

10. Make a hygrometer and use it to determine the relative humidity of the air.

11. Find out why water is not a suitable liquid to use in a barometer.

12. To show air pressure, place a pint of water in a gallon tin can and heat the water so that the steam will drive out most of the air. Discontinue the heat and close the opening of the can so that it is air tight. Pour cold water over the can to condense the steam. What happens? Explain.

13. Dissolve 10 grams of cobalt chloride in 100 cc. of water. Soak small strips of cloth in the solution. Remove them and let them dry thoroughly. Mount the strips so that they hang in the air. Notice the color change with changing humidity of the air.

14. List some of the problems of high altitude flying. For example, problems of intense cold, problems of low air pressure.



Winter Fury.—A blizzord like this forces man and beast to find shelter With the temperature down to zero or below, the wind may whip the snow into twenty-foot drifts

TOPIC III

Storm Areas

DO YOU KNOW-

1. What lightning is?

2. What makes thunder?

3. Whether lightning ever strikes the same place twice?

4. What a thunderhead is?

5. How to tell when a cold front passes?

GENERAL PROBLEM 1

What Are Local Storms?

LOCAL WEATHER.—When the weather man predicts rain and the day continues fair, do you laugh at the mistake and say, "That is another weather joke"? Or do you realize that the prediction referred to a much larger area perhaps than your home town? Sometimes the mistake is due to the "train being late." Railroad trains run on schedule, and yet they are late once in a while. So it is with the weather. Born maybe in the far north, the Pacific Ocean, or Gulf of Mexico, storms move across the United States in fairly well-defined paths. But the speed of storms does not depend upon a well-controlled engine. Rather, storms follow the laws of nature. And nature doesn't always work on an exact time schedule.

So it is that storms may be late or early. The "weather," as it moves along, is affected by many local conditions. Mountains, hills, valleys, deserts, lakes, forests, amount of sunshine all affect the air temperatures and moisture. In other words,



Thunderhead—As more and more maisture condenses, the fairweather, cumulus clauds change into thunderheads. Very soon now are may expect to hear thunder rumbling in the distance.

they affect the weather So, even though the forecast may be "fair and warmer," sometimes your locality will have thunderstorms or other local storms.

THENDERSTORMS.—The thunderstorm is one of the most interesting of local storms What causes a thunderstorm? If moist air is lifted fast enough and far enough, a thunderstorm results.

Weather scientists believe that the air is usually lifted in one of two ways

1. Frontol thunderstorms. A cold air mass pushes in under a warm air mass The warm air mass is forced up. We read about this when we studied winds. See the diagram on page 46.

2. Air mass thunderstorms. A mass of air is heated so hot that it rises due to the air crowding in on all sides. See the diagram on page 71.

In either type of thunderstorm, you know that the rain which falls is cold. In fact, cometimes hail occurs. This tells us that a thundershower is caused by a very sudden and severe cooling of the air above the earth.

70 WEATBER

You can tell whether a thunderstorm was the frontal or air mass type. If the air is cooler after the storm, it probably was a frontal storm. This is because the cold air mass has replaced the warm air.

An air mass thunderstorm usually occurs like this. Early in the morning the sky would be clear. Humidity would be high. Toward the middle of the morning, scattered cumulus clouds would appear. By afternoon the temperatures would be very high. The clouds would by this time have developed into great giants of *cumulonimbus*, and late in the afternoon the storm would break.



Air Mass Thunderstorm.—Can you describe the conditions that probably existed before and after this thunderstorm?

As soon as the sun sets, the storm will begin to disappear. This is because it is the sun which is warming the mass of air and causing the air mass thunderstorm. After the storm has passed, the air will be just as hot and just as humid as it was before.

Most thunderstorms are of the frontal type. These are the storms which freshen and cool the air.

The thundershower is so named because of the noise caused by lightning. It is also called an electric storm because of the electric discharges it produces. Benjamin Franklin, as you How can static electricity be made?



to all the experiments so far, you have used the energy called "heat" In this experiment you will use a different form of energy --electricity

Most of you can try this experiment at home by rubbing sitk, bannel, or tur en hard rubber combs or lountain pens, and by rubbing your deat on the rug. This experiment works better on a cold day when the air is dry, so il it doesn't work well one day, try it on another day.

WHAT TO USE --Pieces of fur and silk, a glass rod, a hard rubber rod; bits of paper.

WHAT TO Do -1 Rub the fur briskly on each of the rods for a moment As soon as you wop rubbing hold the rubbed end of the rod near your finger Repeat the test, using the silk with each rod.

2 Again rub each rod with the fur and silk in turn, and each time pick up small bits of paper. Notice which combination works best

WHAT HAPPEVS.-- 1 Did you bear a slight cracking as you rubbed the rods? Did a spark occur when you held each of the charged rods near your finger? Was there a noise when the spark occurred?

2 Did the rods attract the bits of paper after being subbed? Which combination seemed to work best?

Concretion .--- Did you make electricity by rubbing two substances together? Did the electricity form on the rods?

Arriacartox.-Brakly rub a cat's or dog's for with both hands. If you feel an electric shock explain why. remember, discovered the relationship of lightning and electricity by means of his famous kite experiment, conducted during a thunderstorm.

Read an account of Franklin's experiment with the kite to refresh your memory.

WHAT MAKES LIGHTNING?—In order to understand about lightning, you must have some knowledge of electricity. In general, there are two kinds of electricity: *static electricity*, and *current electricity*. Later on in our study we shall discuss current electricity. Right now we are interested in static electricity. This is the kind which causes lightning. Experiments 10 and 11 will help you to know more about the subject of static electricity.

Have you ever scuffed your feet across a carpet and then touched another person? If it was a cold dry day, you may have felt a "shock." Or perhaps you saw a spark, or heard a slight snap. If you have had this experience, you already know that friction can cause static electricity.

In Experiment 10, fur is used to rub on a hard rubber rod. Silk is used on a glass rod. These materials are good producers of electricity when rubbed together. Of course, many other substances could be used. If you have plastic seat covers on your automobile, perhaps you have already learned that just sliding across the seat will produce electricity! A silk lining of an overcoat rubbing against woolen trousers will produce electricity.

The rubbing (friction) doesn't really make the electricity. Scientists believe that things are actually made up of electricity, that is, electric charges. In fact the molecules about which you have learned are made up of atoms. And atoms are made up of positive and negative particles or charges of electricity.

Ordinarily the + and - charges are equal in a body, but friction causes them to separate. That is why you have a

- EXPERIMENT 10 .

How our static electricity be made?



In all the experiments so far, you have used the energy called "heat" in this experiment you will use a different form of energy -electricity

Most of you can try this experiment at home by rubbing silk, lannel, or fur on hard rubber combs or foundain pers, and by rubbing your feet on the rug. Thus experiment works better on a cold day when the air is dry, so if it doesn't work well one day, try it on another day.

WHAT TO USE -- Pieces of fur and silk, a glass rod; a hard rubber rod, bits of paper

WEAT TO Do -- I. Rub the fur briskly on each of the rods for a moment As soon as you stop rubbing hold the rubbed end of the rod near your finger Repeat the test, using the silk with each rod

2 Again rub each rod with the fur and silk in turn, and each time pick up small bits of paper Notice which combination works best.

WEAT HAFFEXS.-- Did you hear a slight crackling as you rubbed the rods? Did a spark occur when you held each of the charged rods near your finger? Was there a noise when the spark occurred?

2 Did the rods attract the bits of paper after being rubbed? Which combination seemed to work best?

CONCLUSION -- Did you make electricity by rubbing two substances together? Did the electricity form on the rods?

APPLICATION.-Birskly rub a cat's or dog's fur with both hands. If you feel an electric shock explain why, remember, discovered the relationship of lightning and electricity by means of his famous kite experiment, conducted during a thunderstorm.

AND AND LIBRARY RESEARCH

Read an account of Franklin's experiment with the kite to refresh your memory.

WHAT MAKES LIGHTNING?—In order to understand about lightning, you must have some knowledge of electricity. In general, there are two kinds of electricity: *static electricity*, and *current electricity*. Later on in our study we shall discuss current electricity. Right now we are interested in static electricity. This is the kind which causes lightning. Experiments 10 and 11 will help you to know more about the subject of static electricity.

Have you ever scuffed your feet across a carpet and then touched another person? If it was a cold dry day, you may have felt a "shock." Or perhaps you saw a spark, or heard a slight snap. If you have had this experience, you already know that friction can cause static electricity.

In Experiment 10, fur is used to rub on a hard rubber rod. Silk is used on a glass rod. These materials are good producers of electricity when rubbed together. Of course, many other substances could be used. If you have plastic seat covers on your automobile, perhaps you have already learned that just sliding across the seat will produce electricity! A silk lining of an overcoat rubbing against woolen trousers will produce electricity.

The rubbing (friction) doesn't really make the electricity. Scientists believe that things are actually made up of electricity, that is, electric charges. In fact the molecules about which you have learned are made up of atoms. And atoms are made up of positive and negative particles or charges of electricity.

Ordinarily the + and - charges are equal in a body, but friction causes them to separate. That is why you have a

STORM AREAS 73

Does static electricity have more than one kind of charge?



What kind of energy is used in this experiment? What are you trying to discover that you did not discover in Experiment 10?

The force of gravity is mentioned. While it acts in some ways like electrical charges and like magnetism, it is really different from either one. Can you tell how it is different?

WHAT TO USE -A piece of fur, a piece of silk, a glass rod, e hard rubber rod, two pith balls-one on each end of a short thread, and a support for the thread

WHAT TO DO-1 Hang the pith balls with the thread over the support so that the balls touch each other :

2 Rub the fur on the glass rod and at once hold the rubbed end of the rod near the balls but without touching them

3 Repeat, only jouch each ball with the glass rod (this is called charging the balls), and then keep the rod near the balls. Now bring the fur near the balls but do not touch them.

4 Again charge the balls with the glass rod rubbed with fur, and then bring the hard rubber rod, which has now been rubbed with the silk, near the balls. Now bring the silk near the balls

WHAT HAPPENS -- I. Did the balls touch each other when hanging naturally and not influenced by anything except the pull of gravity?

2 Were the balls attracted to the glass rod at first?

3. After the balls were touched (charged) with the glass rod, were they shill attracted to the rod? Did the fur attract them? Did they hang away from each other?

4 When the balls were charged from the glass rod rubbed with fur, were they attracted or repelled by the hard rubber rod rubbed with silk? By the silk?

CONCLUSION .- How many charges of electricity have you made?

How do they act toward each other? That is, do like charges repel or attract each other?

When an electric charge formed on a rod, did a different charge form on the fur and on the silk?

When glass and silk are rubbed together, one charge of electricity forms on the glass and another charge on the silk.

When glass is rubbed with fur, the glass has the same charge as the silk had when rubbed on glass. This happens too when rubber is rubbed first with silk and then with fur.

There are two charges of electricity. They are called positive and negative. Glass is charged with positive (+) when rubbed with silk and negative (-) when rubbed with fur. Hard rubber appears to act just the opposite, negative (-) with silk and positive (+) with fur.

APPLICATION.—Rub a comb or a fountain pen with silk or fur. Hold it near tiny bits of paper to attract them, then if they jump away after a second or two, explain what happens.

spark. When the + and - charges are separated they try to get together again, and this they do when the spark occurs.

So it is that we have two charges or forms of electricity. The negative charges of electricity are often called *electrons*. We shall use the word electron to mean negative electricity. The positive charges of electricity are for convenience called *protons*. We shall use this word, too, in our talks about electricity.

A thundercloud is a dense mass of water particles containing electric charges. There are many theories as to how lightning is formed. According to one theory, raindrops get so big that rising currents of air split them into two unequal size drops. When this happens, it is thought that the larger drops lose electrons and so they are left with too great a number of protons. They are said to be positively charged. The smaller drops gain the electrons lost by the big drops and so they are negatively charged. If a large number of raindrops become split and then separated into two clouds by the air currents, the electric charge may jump across from one cloud to the other. This discharge is lightning.

Another explanation of lightning is as follows. Sometimes the charged particles separate so that the upper part of the



Man-made Lightning —This spark is made by a charge of electricity passing through the air Experiments of this type help scientists learn more about the nature and cantrol of hightning. Compare the size of the instruments with the figures of the two men.

cloud is made up of the smaller negatively charged particles. The lower part of the cloud has the larger positively charged particles. Then the discharge, lightning, takes place between the two parts of the same cloud.

Sometimes the lightning discharges between the earth and a cloud. An explanation for this appears in the diagram, page 77.

We should remember that there is still much to be discovered about lightning. Many scientists are photographing and studying lightning flashes. As they discover new facts, we shall have to change our theories.

Chain lightning occurs when the flash or discharge is from cloud to cloud The flash may be several nules long,

The tendency of unlike (positive and negative) electric charges to come logether is measured in rolts. It requires a charge of a thousand volts to jump one twenty-fifth of an inch through the air. Can you imagine, then, the enormous number of volts represented by lightning when the distance between clouds may be a mile or more?

WHAT IS THUNDER?—When the electric discharge passes through the air, it heats that air very hot. That is why you see the flash. The rapid heating of the air causes it to vibrate, resulting in sound. Just as a vibrating string sets the air vibrating in waves which reach your ear, so too lightning results in air sound waves that reach your ear. The rumbling roar of thunder has an explanation which you can think out. Start with the idea of an echo. Give your answer to the class.



Lightning Explained

Top.—Cloud A breaks into two clouds, 1 and 2, so that claud 1 is positively charged and cloud 2 is negatively charged. After o spark of lightning jumps between the twa, each cloud has on equal number of pasitive and negative charges (claud B).

Middle.—In cloud C the pasitive and negative charges have separated so far that lightning jumps from ane part of the cloud to another part. This distributes all the chorges evenly again (cloud D).

Bottam.—When the positive chorges in cloud F callect at the battom of the cloud, an excess amount of negative charges are formed on the steeple. Lightning jumps, which agoin equalizes the charges in the claud and on the steeple (cloud G). Is LIGHTNING DANGEROUS²---Lightning causes damage, but few people are injured or killed by it. The greatest damage is due to fires, especially in forests. This is one of the very few causes of forest fires that man cannot prevent.

Some places seem more likely to be struck by lightning than others. For example, a barn filled with straw or hay seems more likely to be struck than a house A tree or a person in an open field are more likely to be struck than a tree or person in a wood. Hills, heng nearer cloud masses, are more likely to be struck than valleys. If you are caught in an open field during an electric storm, he down. Avoid lone trees

It is probably safer in the center of a room than along the walls Inside an automobile with a steel body is a safe place.

Certain it is that if you see the electric flash, you need have no fear, for that particular flash has done its work and is gone. If you count the number of seconds between the time of the flash and the sound of the thunder, you can estimate the distance of the storm. Here is a scheme for doing this:

The light of the flash reaches the eye almost instantiy because hight travels 186,000 miles a second. The resulting sound travels

lightning Fingers.—Skyscropers in New York City ore struck by lightning repeatedly. The buildings ore made of steel Thus each building acts as a giont lightning or of The lightning stroke is carried harmlessly to the ground,





J. W. Enger

Lightning on the Plains.—Three strokes of lightning reached the ground ot the same time during a storm ot Oakes, North Dakota. The electricity of one stroke ron olong a wire fence, moking the streoks of light as it jumped gops in the wire.

only about one fifth of a mile a second. By slowly saying the words one thousand one, one thousand two, one thousand three, etc., you can mark off approximately as many seconds as you continue to count. By counting in this way, you can determine the number of seconds between the flashes and the thunder. This will tell you how many fifths of a mile away the storm is.

LIGHTNING PROTECTION.—Many devices and schemes have been invented for protection against lightning. Of them all, lightning rods are best. Lightning rods properly installed with good ground connections are a real protection to buildings. Lightning rods collect the charges from the earth and allow them to pass off into the air. This prevents too many charges from building up and attracting lightning. If, however, a discharge does take place near a building equipped with lightning rods, the charge will usually pass through the rods to the earth. Thus the building is saved from damage. It is a law of electricity that an electric current will follow the easiest path—in other words, the best conductor. Lightning rods and

STORM AREAS 79

Is LIGHTNING DANGEROUS²—Lightning causes damage, but few people are injured or killed by it. The greatest damage is due to fires, especially in forests. This is one of the very few causes of forest fires that man cannot prevent.

Some places seem more likely to be struck by lightning than others. For example, a barn filled with straw or hay seems more likely to be struck than a house. A tree or a person in an open field are more likely to be struck than a tree or person in a wood. Hills, heng nearer cloud masses, are more likely to be struck than valley. If you are caught in an open field during an electric storm, be down. Avoid lone trees.

It is probably safer in the center of a room than along the walls. Inside an automobile with a steel body is a safe place.

Certain it is that if you see the electric flash, you need have no fear, for that particular flash has done its work and is gone. If you count the number of seconds between the time of the flash and the sound of the thunder, you can estimate the distance of the storm. Here is a scheme for doing this:

The light of the flash reaches the eye almost instantly because light travels 186,000 miles a second. The resulting sound travels

Lightning Fingers—Skyscrapers in New York City are struck by lightning repeatedly. The buildings are mode of steel. Thus each building acts as a giant lightning to the lightning stroke is carried harmlessity to the ground.

File Told





J. W. Enger

Lightning on the Plains.—Three strokes of lightning reached the ground at the same time during a storm at Oakes, North Dakata. The electricity of one stroke ran along a wire fence, making the streaks of light as it jumped gaps in the wire.

only about one fifth of a mile a second. By slowly saying the words one thousand one, one thousand two, one thousand three, etc., you can mark off approximately as many seconds as you continue to count. By counting in this way, you can determine the number of seconds between the flashes and the thunder. This will tell you how many fifths of a mile away the storm is.

LIGHTNING PROTECTION.—Many devices and schemes have been invented for protection against lightning. Of them all, lightning rods are best. Lightning rods properly installed with good ground connections are a real protection to buildings. Lightning rods collect the charges from the earth and allow them to pass off into the air. This prevents too many charges from building up and attracting lightning. If, however, a discharge does take place near a building equipped with lightning rods, the charge will usually pass through the rods to the earth. Thus the building is saved from damage. It is a law of electricity that an electric current will follow the easiest path—in other words, the best conductor. Lightning rods and

STORM AREAS 79



Umbrella-Type Lightning Rod —Con you see the similarity between these two "umbrellasi"? The lightning-tod arcongement protects the haute because lightning may strike either rod or the cross wire and thus be sofely grounded.

wires connecting them to the ground are good conductors of electricity

Scientists are all the time learning more about lightning. They construct machines that will produce great discharges of electricity that imitate lightning. As they learn more about it, we shall be better able to protect ourselves and our property.

GENERAL PROBLEM 2

What Are General Storm Areas?

CYCLONES ON LOWS.--We should remember that there are both local and wide area storms. Local storms cover only a small area--a city or town, or perhaps even just a part of a city. Wide area or general storms, on the other hand, may cover thousands of square miles

The factors which cause local storms are often closely related to the more widespread or general storms. Therefore we should become familiar with the characteristics, causes, and

results of general storms. We may think also of general or widespread fair weather areas.

General storm and fair weather areas are often known as cyclones and anticyclones. Like most weather conditions they are the result of unequally heated areas of land. In the center of the cyclone area the air pressure is *low* because of the rapidly rising warm air. Hence they are called *lows*. Cool air rushes in from all sides to push up this expanding warm air. The warm air carries much moisture up with it. As it rises and expands and cools, condensation takes place. Often the result is precipitation.

You have learned that the air in the cyclone area is moving counter-clockwise. You should recall that the word cyclone as used here does not mean a tornado. Cyclone is the name given to a great mass of whirling air. It may be many miles across, perhaps several hundred miles in diameter. That is why it is called a general storm area.

ANTICYCLONES OR HIGHS.—"What goes up must come down" is quite truc even of air. Air that is pushed up because it is lighter than other air gets cooler as it rises. It spreads out and

Dark Skies.—A billowy cumulus cloud has turned into a cumulonimbus cloud. Nimbus is o roin cloud. Rain can be seen falling from the cloud. What would cause a cumulus cloud to become o roin cloud?





Flood Waters —A storm moving over an area may drop so much rain in the region that a flood results. Then homes and belongings are left to the mercy of the flood waters.

falls back to the earth again. As this air settles toward the earth, it pushes harder on the earth than the rising air. As a result the an pressure is higher So this downward pushing air is called a high.

As you might expect, cold regions are the birthplaces of many masses of cold, high pressure air Highs are continually forming in the arctic regions. The air in a high is moving in a circular clockwise direction. This is just the opposite of the air in a low.

As you know, when gases are compressed they tend to get warmer, just the opposite of expanding aur. Air that is warming up a little does not give up its moisture. So it is quite natural that this mass of air shall be a fair weather air. And so it is. The area called a *high* is generally a fair weather area.

CROSS-COUNTRY PATHS OF HIGHS AND LOWS.—If you examine a number of weather maps, you will discover that a low is often followed by a high Tbe air that settles in the high spreads out and pushes toward the center of the low. There it rises, cools, and settles again. It is a real circulation of the air caused by unequal heating of the air in different parts of the world.

The lows and highs move in fairly well-defined paths across

the country. You can see this by studying the map on page 97. They may not always follow the same paths but on the average they do. There is some advantage in this fact for the weather forecaster, as you will learn in the next topic.

WARM FRONTS AND COLD FRONTS.—We have learned that great masses of cold air move from the north and northwest down over the United States. Great masses of warm air move from the southwest, south, and southeast toward the north and northeast. (See the diagram on page 46.) The front edge of the cold mass is called a polar or cold front. The front edge of the warm mass is called a tropical or warm front. The highs and lows are really parts of these cold and warm masses of air.

It often happens that a mass of cold air overtakes a mass of warm air. When this happens, the cold mass wedges in under the warmer air. (Again see the diagram on page 46.) Perhaps you can remember some day when the temperature dropped several degrees in just a couple of hours. That was caused by the cold front pushing in under a mass of warmer air.

When the warm masses of air come from over the ocean or Gulf of Mexico, they usually contain much moisture. Therefore, when this warm mass meets a cold mass, storms often occur resulting in winds, rain, or snow.

Most weather troubles are found along the line where cold fronts and warm fronts meet. Back of the front lines the air conditions are fairly stable.

HOT AND COLD WAVES.—Can you recall a long, hot, dry spell? Or perhaps a few days of continued cold? Such weather may happen behind the lines when a cold front and warm front meet and neither gives way. The two fronts just stand still. Whatever air conditions are behind the fronts last as long as the fronts hold their positions.

If the standstill happens when a cold mass has covered quite a bit of the country, it may be that the land will be colder than normal. If the warm front has moved quite a way to the north, the temperatures of some places may be a good deal warmer than normal.

Such a hot wave may linger for three or four days, or even longer. Locally the humidity sometimes becomes very high until, finally, cooling thunderstorms result.



Tropical Climate — This picture suggests a kind of life in the tropical regions. In what ways are the homes and clothes related to the climate?

 $C_{LMATT} \rightarrow Tt$ is natural for us to think of climate whenever we speak of weather. As in the case of weather, we all know what climate us, but we should agree upon a definition of it. *Climate us the average of weather conditions for a particular area ner a long period of time*. The elimate of a certain region may be dry, hot wet, cold, windy, mild, changeable, and so on.

Special climatic conditions are required to produce the various kinds of life in the world. Tropical climates produce abundant plant and animal life. The Arctic regions produce a scarcity of both. Man scems to be the only living thing nble to adapt to any of the various climates on the earth.

Our pleasures, crops, industries, and our health are all closely related to meather conditions. Understanding the weather, its causes and effects, gives man the information to help him plan and adjust to nature's laws. Our next topic, therefore, is about weather forecasting.

THINKING THINGS OVER. - In this topic we have been thinking about local storms and general storms. We know now that local storms wually affect dualy small areas. They may be caused by the particular conditions in that locality. Thunderstorms, for example, are seldom widespread. They result from very rapid rising and cooling of air in a rather small area.

S4 WEATHER



Ewing Galloway

Life in Nature's Ice-Box.—All the cold air on the earth comes from the polar regions. Although there is little plant life in these regions, there are enough fish and other animals to support the Eskimos.

On the other hand, we know that great masses of air move across our country. These are the air masses. Some are cold. Some are warm. Some are moist. Some are dry. As warm and cold air masses meet, lows may be formed which bring certain weather to large areas. In back of the front of the air mass, great regions are covered with warm air or cold air, depending upon the particular mass. And this air determines the weather for all the land it passes over.

Thus we can understand that all our weather is made by the air. More than that, it is the movement or circulation of the air which brings us our weather. And what causes the circulation of the air? The direct and indirect cause of all our weather is the sun, which gives unequal heat to different parts of the world.

KEY WORDS

anticyclone - charge (electrical) - climate cold wave - conductor cyclone - electron	- general storm area high hot wave lightning local storm area - low	polar front positive proton static electricity storm paths —thunder tropical front	
-electron	~negative	tropical front	
-climate cold wave -conductor cyclone -electron	hot wave lightning local storm area <i>- low</i> negative	static electricity storm paths 	

STORM AREAS 85 Local storms include electric (thunder) storms, rain, sleet, snow, hail, and windstorms

2 A general storm area includes the air conditions over a large evtent of territory. General storia areas move along rather definite naths across the country

3 Weather condutions in a general storm area or cyclone are rather constant as the storm moves along

4 As air uses it expands and becomes colder.

5 Thundershouers (electric storms) are caused by sudden and rapidly ryang currents of warm, most air Expansion, due to ryang, causes sudden cooling of the air, condensation, and precipitation of the an mosture

6 Lightning is an electrical discharge between near-by clouds or between a cloud and the earth

7 The rapid heating of the air from an electric discharge causes it to vibrate, which results in the noise called thunder.

8 Properly installed lightning rods on buildings are a protection against lightning

9 Great masses or blocks of air move aero's the country The front of a cold mass is called a polar front The front of the warm mass is called a tropical front

10 Storms often occur where a tropical front meets a polar front.

11 In a cyclone area the air moves counter-clockwise in the northern hemisphere and clockwise in the southern.

12 Hot and cold waves in the northern section of the country occur when a polar front and tropical front come to a temporary standstill

13 Climate is the average of weather conditions for a particular region over a long period of time

THOUGHT QUESTIONS

1. Why do hailstones often form during a thunderstorm?

"2 What kind of cloud form becomes a thundercloud?

8. How big is a raindrop?

"4 Why is a person more likely to be struck by lightning when standing in an open field than when standing in the woods?

-5 What does the phrase "best conductor of electricity" mean?

 Tall objects in the open are more likely to be struck by lightning than are short objects. Why?
-7. Where do most of the masses of cold, dry air come from?

-8. Where are the warm, moist air masses born?

9. Why are cold air masses usually regions of high air pressure? -10. Where in the world are general regions of rising air? Where are the regions of settling air?

11. Why do storms frequently occur where warm fronts meet cold fronts? Are these local storms or general storms? Give reasons for your answer.

-12. What is the general direction of movement of storms across our country? What is the reason for this?

PROJECTS FOR YOUR SCIENCE DISCOVERY BOOK

1. Study U. S. Weather Maps for a two-week period and report on cyclone movements. Sample maps may be obtained for a small charge from the U. S. Weather Bureau, Washington, D.C. Many local newspapers print an official weather map daily.

2. Keep a record of the movements of cold fronts and warm fronts on daily weather maps for a two-week period. Note particularly the direction of movement.

3. Make a labeled drawing of the formation of a thundercloud, studied from observation.

4. If possible, take air temperatures and relative humidity before and after a thundershower.

5. Investigate the artificial lightning experiments carried on by the General Electric Company at Pittsfield, Massachusetts.

6. Explain why sometimes in the winter you get a discharge of electricity on touching another person who has just walked across a rug or carpet.

7. Prepare a class report on the various climates of the world, ineluding a discussion of their effects on civilization.

Т.<u>т.</u>,



U. S. Novy Weatherman.—Captains of ships and planes must have accurate and complete forecasts. The Navy maintains weather stations an shore as well as an larger ships of the fleet.

TOPIC IV

Forecasting the Weather

DO YOU KNOW-

- 1. How accurate the "weather man" is?
- 2. How far in advance forecasts may be made?
- 3. Why weather forecasts are important?
- 4. The information needed to forecast the weather?
- 5. Why it is cool near a large lake in the summer?

GENERAL PROBLEM 1

What Will the Weather Be?

Do You BELIEVE IN SIGNS?—The following lines were written over 100 years ago. They were learned by school children to help them "foretell" the weather.

SIGNS OF RAIN¹

The hollow winds begin to blow, The clouds look black, The glass is low. Hark how the chairs and table crack! Old Betty's joints are on the rack. How restless are the snorting swine! The busy flies disturb the kine. Puss, on the hearth, with velvet paws, Sits wiping o'er her whiskered jaws. My dog, so altered in his taste, Quits mutton bones on grass to feast. And see von rooks-how odd their flight! They imitate the gliding kite And, headlong, downward seem to fall As if they felt the piercing ball. 'Twill surely rain. I see with sorrow Our jaunt must be put off tomorrow.

¹From a collection of weather doggerel usually attributed to Dr. Edward Jenner and written from memory by a pupil of 1850.



Contine For Alberton Bartel Average

Scientific Teamwark.—Schind every cirplane flight there is scientific teamwork. Weather reports are radioed and teletyped to forecast centers where maps are made. These maps are then studied by the pilots before their planes take off.

Do you think there are any points in the poem that are true? Are there any which you think are just superstitions?

Of course you now know that weather results from natural law Any weather signs then must be based on natural laws if they have any truth In any locality an observing person soon learns that a certam wind direction indicates good or had weather. Some clouds are dark with moisture and indicate ran or, if the temperature is low, snow. Other clouds indicate fair weather. A changing air pressure shown by the barometer tielts us that the weather is changing.

The flight of birds and habits of insects and small animals are believed by some to indicate changes in the weather. However, weather signs are not, for the most part, very accurate means of forctelling the weather. Most people nowadays depend more on newspaper and radio reports than on weather signs of sayings.

NEWSPAPER REPORTS. - Many newspapers print the weather reports of the United States Weather Bureau. The weather predictions are based upon: (1) a knowledge of the weather

conditions all over the country; (2) exact knowledge of how general storm areas travel across the country; (3) knowledge of the air masses and their movements; and (4) the positions of the warm and cold fronts. The forecast is made for a rather large region and, therefore, is sometimes incorrect for a particular locality.

Keep a record of the newspaper weather reports for one week. Opposite the forecast for each day record the actual weather. Note which weather factors are included in each report.

RADIO AND TELEVISION REPORTS.—Weather conditions and weather forecasts are made known to many people by radio or television. Most stations give a weather report several times a day. In cases of emergency, when unusual weather is about to happen, radio and television are especially important. Forewarning of the probability of violent windstorms is important to mariners. The possibility of killing frosts is important to shippers and gardeners. Airplane pilots are kept con-

Weather Farecast by Television.—Daily weather reports are broadcast by most television stations. This is how ane television station helps us "see" what the weather will be.

FAIR-COOL NEAR 40 ISUNNY-MILD₆₅ stantly informed about weather conditions ahead. They use the reports to decide whether to proceed to their destination or make for the nearest landing field.

THE WORK OF I WENTHER PROFHET. —Temperature, air pressure, air monstance, used direction, and usind relocity are factors to be con-dered in forecasting the weather. To forcell succe shilly the local vectore related relations must be determined very accurately. Furthermore, the observer must know how local conditions are related to the more general weather conditions

GENERAL PROBLEM 2

How Are Official Weather Forecasts Made?

WEATHER OBSERVATION STATIONS.—There are more than 400 neather observation stalions which record weather information. These stations are located in cities and towns of the United States, Alaska, in other possessions, in Canada, Mexico, and Cuba. At most of these stations, weather observers determine all the weather factors each hour.

OBSERVING THE WEATHER FACTORS.—At each weather station the observer determines the weather conditions by instruments or direct observation. Special instruments record hours of sunshine, wind velocity and direction, amount of preceptation, if any, air temperature, and relative humidity. The kinds and heights of clouds and their movements are noted, also.

Every day at 10 00 A M. and 10.00 P.M. at about 100 stations, ballooms are sent up to high altutudes. Each balloon carries instruments that send back by radio a continuous record of temperatures, pressures, and humidity. At some of these stations the travel of the balloons is followed by directional radio. Thus wind direction and velocity can he determined at high altutudes. This is important for learning about air masses. At many more stations kite balloons are sent up They are watched by eye to determine the wind direction and velocity at different levels.

All these records tell the weather conditions not only at the earth's surface, but also up to several thousand feet. This additional information makes much more accurate forecasts possible than surface observations alone. Added to the observations by United States Weather Bureau observers are the weather reports made by air pilots during their flights.

Recently a new instrument has been used for recording weather information. *Radar* is being used to track storms and hurricanes. Radar is an electrical instrument which sends out certain types of radio waves. When these waves strike a rain squall or very dense clouds, they bound back. The radar set records the time it takes for the waves to travel out and back. Knowing how fast the waves travel, it is possible to tell how far away the storm is. Airplanes equipped with radar may be sent out to track storms and find out which way they are going.

Snowbound.—This weather station is located on the summit of Mount Washington, in New Hampshire. What reasons can you think of for locating a weather station on top of a mountain?

A. Deveney, Inc.



claudy informed about weather conditions ahead. They use the reports to decide whether to proceed to their destination or make for the nearest handing field.

THE WORK OF C WEATHER PROPHET.—Temperature, air pressure, air machair wind direction, and wind relocity are factors to be one-dress in forecasting the weather. To foretell successfully in bus it weather changes, these factors must be determined over a oursitely. Furthermore, the observer must know how the dominions are related to the more general weather conditions.

GUNERAL PROBLEM 2

How Are Official Weather Forecasts Made?

WLATHER ON-ERVATION STATIONS, --There are more than 100 wether discretation stations which record weather infurmition. These stations are located in entire and towns of the United States, Maska, in other possessions, in Canada, Mexico, and Chub. At most of these stations, weather observers determine all the weather factors each hour.

Obstaving THE WEATHER FACTORS.—At each weather statum the observer determines the weather conditions by instaturents or direct observation. Special instruments record hours of sun-line, wind velocity and direction, amount of pre-uplication, if any, air temperature, and relative humidity. The kinds and heights of clouds and their movements are noted, also.

Every day at 10:00 a.s. and 10:00 r st. at about 100 stations, bullous are sent up to high altitudes. Each balloon carries instruments that send back by radio a continuous record of temperatures, presures, and humidaty. At some of these stations the travel of the balloons is followed by directional radio. Thus wind direction and velocity can be determined at high altitudes. This is important for learning about air masses. At many more stations kite balloons are sent up. They are watched by eye to determine the wind direction and velocity at different levels.

All these records tell the weather conditions not only at the earth's surface, but also up to several thousand feet. This additional information makes much more accurate forecasts possible than surface observations alone. Added to the observations by United States Weather Bureau observers are the weather reports made by air pilots during their flights.

Recently a new instrument has been used for recording weather information. *Radar* is being used to track storms and hurricanes. Radar is an electrical instrument which sends out certain types of radio waves. When these waves strike a rain squall or very dense clouds, they bound back. The radar set records the time it takes for the waves to travel out and back. Knowing how fast the waves travel, it is possible to tell how far away the storm is. Airplanes equipped with radar may be sent out to track storms and find out which way they are going.

Snowbound.—This weather station is lacated an the summit of Mount Washingtan, in New Hampshire. What reasons can you think of for locating a weather station on top af a mauntain?





A Radiosande Bolloon.—These pictures shów the balloon, parachule, and instruments An observer follows the Right with radio directionfinding device to determine upper air wind directions and speed. The box an the radii candians the instruments.

REFORTING TO GENERAL FORECAST CENTERS.—Once each hour the weather stations send their weather information to a General Forecast Center At present there are 17 General Forecast Centers. Some of these centers are located at Albuquerque, Chicago, Denver, Jacksonville, Kansas City, New Orleans, San Francisco, Seattle, and Washington, D. C. In addition to the General Forecast Centers, there are 21 Airway Forecast Centers. The Airway Forecast Centers are concerned with making forecasts for the airlines.

USING CODE MESSAGES — In addition to the hourly reports, weather stations send a coded report four times each day. The coded reports are sent at 1.30 A.M., 730 A.M., 730 P.M. and 7 30 P.M. These coded reports are very complete. If each weather condition were described in ordinary language, it would take a long message to report the weather. The use of a code makes it possible to send all the information by using num-

groups A coded weather message may look like this:

40530 83220 12716 24731 67220 67228 74542 94 WEATHER

۰,

This code means:

405	is the station sending the report—Washington, D.C.
30	is the temperature of the dewpoint-30° F.
8	is the amount of cloud-completely covered.
32	is the wind direction-northwest.
20	is the wind speed in knots—20 knots.
$\overline{12}$	is the visibility in miles $-\frac{12}{8}$ or $1\frac{1}{2}$ miles.
71	is the present weather-continuous slight snow.
6	is the past weather-rain.

The message continues in the same way. Each number or group of numbers has a definite meaning depending upon its position in the code.

THE WEATHER MAP.—Most of the larger weather observation stations make their own weather maps. They usually make a new map four times each day. This is done at the same time that they send their coded reports. The station may make a new map every hour if the weather conditions are changing

United States Weather Bureau.—Here (left) weather reports are being decoded and the information placed on maps. The man in the foreground is typing a forecast. Every six hours a new weather map is made. These maps (right) are posted in airway weather stations and in the forecast centers of the Weather Bureau.



rapidly. These maps are used for making local weather fore-

Four times each twenty-four hours the General Forecast Centers also make weather maps. These maps are used for predicting the weather for larger areas

The weather map is a map of the United States with weather conditions written on it. These weather conditions are all the acather items you have been reading about and many others. It would take a very large map if this information were to be written out, so a "weather shortland" has been devised. Some of the weather symbols used are shown on page 9S. Thete are symbols for all weather conditions.



A Statum Model—Only the kness, dots, and figures in the center are put on the weather mop. The explanations are given here to explain each symbol A completed weather map will have docens of station madels like this—one for each station reporting the weather.

Often even these symbols take up too much space, so the Weather Bureau uses many of the code numbers as sent by the stations The diagram above shows how the weather at one station is represented on the man. Each number and its position around the center dot tells something about the weather at that station

When all the weather information has been recorded, black lines are drawn through places having the same air pressure. These lines are called *isobars*, meaning equal pressure. The locations of cold fronts and warm fronts, too, are marked on the map, as well as their direction of movement. It is a marvelous map because it gives so much information. It is changed at least every six hours. During periods of unusual weather it is changed more often. You will be interested to study the copy of part of the weather map printed on page 96.

The weather forecaster studies the facts shown on the map, and from these data he forecasts or predicts the weather for the next 12 to 36 hours.

LONG-RANGE FORECASTS.—In addition to the regular forecasts, long-range forecasts are now being made. Every Tuesday and Friday, the Forecast Center at Washington makes a fiveday forecast. These five-day forecasts are most helpful for fuel

A Weather Map.—This is the type of weather map which is often published by newspapers. This map does not contain all the weather information recorded by each weather station. Name the weather factors shown on this map. Find the cold front over the north-central United States.



so people may protect themselves. Fruit growers and farmers, in general, profit by taking advantage of advance information of unexpected fronts.

DISTRIBUTING WEATHER INFORMATION.—The Weather Bureau publishes a daily weather map which shows the weather conditions all over the country. The weather maps may be had for a small charge by any citizen who writes for them to the nearest Weather Bureau station. Thou-ands of postcards stating the probable neather conditions and possible occurrence of frost- and storms are sent out every day all over this great country. The information on one of these eards may save thousands of dollars. In addition to these methods of distributing weather information, we must remember the use of new spapers and radio and itelevision. Many newspapers publish a weather map, weather report, and weather forecast prepared by the local weather station. Most newscasts on radio and

WEATHER FORECASTING AS A SCHENCE.—Accurate weather predicting 19 not an easy job. There are a few rules which can be used to make locat weather predictions. These are stated in the Appendix of this book. If you are interested in trying your hand as a "weather man," study the rules, and then make some predictions.

One of the most important rules in weather forecasting is the fact that storms usually move across the country as shown on the map on page 101. The prediction of movement of storms is usually made according to these paths. Sometimes storms do not follow these paths. Then the prediction may be very prong. One of the biggest storms in history fooled weather forecasters by not following the normal path This happened toward the end of November, 1950. A mass of cold air met a mass of moist warm air in the region of North and South Carohna. The masses swirled into a low pressure area, a storm center. The storm was expected to follow the normal path (see map), and move northeast and out into the ocean But there was a high pressure area to the east. This forced the storm center north and northwest. Thus the storm moved from the east coast, west to Lake Erie, and then east again. The storm brought raging winds and snow and rain to all regions within 600 miles

of its center. New York City had gusts of wind over 100 miles per hour and heavy rains. Farther west the storm brought blizzards and 23 and 24 inches of snow. By the time the storm moved out to the sea it had destroyed most electric and telephone service. It had probably caused over 100 million dollars' worth of property damage.

How Accurate Are the Weather Forecasts?—Although weather forecasts are sometimes wrong, nowadays most of them are accurate. It is harder to forecast the weather in some regions than in others. Thus in southern California, where the climate is even, forecasts are about 95% accurate. In northern Michigan, however, forecasts are about 85% accurate. This is the lowest record. Forecasting the weather is difficult in this region because it is here that many of the cold air masses from Canada meet the warm moist masses from the south.

Even the thirty-day outlook forecasts are accurate 75% of the time. Thus we can understand that knowledge of the

Movement of Storms.—This mop shows the average beginnings and paths of storms across the United States for the entire year. The width of the line shows the camparative frequency of storms travelling the paths indicated. Where do most storms stort? In what direction do they move?



weather factors has made it possible for scientists to foretell the weather with a high degree of accuracy.

GENERAL PROBLEM 3

How Are Water and Climate Related?

WEATHER AND WITER - Water and heat are closely related in weather-making. Both must be taken into account when considering the problems of weather forceasting. When heat is added to water, the temperature of the water rises. The more water there is, the greater the amount of heat needed to cause the same rise in temperature. If enough heat is added, the water boils. Then there is no further rise in temperature as long as any hquid water remains. At boiling temperature the haud water changes to water vapor or gas.

In nature, the energy from the sun is the source of heat for water and for the land $\Lambda \sim 0$ has a certain capacity for absorbing water, a fact that every successful gardener well understands. You can see examples of this yourself, any spring or



Heat Capacity —Heat capacity is the ability of a substance to absorb heat. In this diagram both the wolver and iron start at 70°. They are heated with the interparatures reach 212°. Which are was heated longer? Which are absorbed more heat? Which are has the greater heat capacity? Why wan't a higher upper temperature selected instance of 212°?

summer day after a shower. In about the same way-land, water, and all other substances have certain capacities for absorbing heat. In this respect, water has a greater capacity than any other common substance. This means that it takes more heat to raise a pound of water to a certain temperature than is required by the same weight of any other common substance. The rate at which a given weight of a substance heats indicates its heat-absorbing capacity. The more slowly it heats, the greater its heat capacity.

A pound of iron, a pound of brass, a pound of soil, a pound of air, or any other substance will heat faster than a pound of water if the heat is added at the same rate.

Experiment 12 is a very important one because it tells you how to discover for yourself the different effects of heating water and sand.

Temperature of Water and Soil. — When the same amount of heat falls upon water and soil, the soil heats faster. Compare the increases in temperature shown in this diagram. Does this help explain why water temperature at the lake or seashore during the day is lower than the air temperature?



THE HEATING AND COOLING OF LAND AND WATER.—Experiment 12 explains how heat affects land and large bodies of water on the earth. When the heat (energy) of the sun strikes the land, the land heats up more rapidly than near-by water. The temperature of the land becomes higher than that of the weather factors has made it po ible for scientists to foretell the weather with a high degree of accuracy.

GENERAL PROBLEM 3

How Are Water and Climate Related?

WEATHER AND WATER.—Water and heat are closely related in weather-making Both must be taken into account when considering the problems of weather forecasting. When heat is added to water, the temperature of the water rises. The more water there is, the greater the amount of heat needed to cause the same ne in temperature. If enough heat is added, the water bolls. Then there is no further rise in temperature as long as any liquid water remains. At boiling temperature the hould water changes to water vanor or cans.

In nature, the energy from the sun is the source of heat for water and for the land A soil has a certain capacity for absorbing water, a fact that every successful gardener well understands. You can see examples of this yourself, any spring or



Heat Capacity — Heat capacity is the ability of a substance to absorb heat. In this diagram both the water and wan start at 70°. They are heated with their temperatures reach 212°. Which are was heated longer? Which are absorbed more heat? Which are has the greater heat capacity? Why wan't a higher upper temperature selected instead of 212°?

summer day after a shower. In about the same way-land, water, and all other substances have certain capacities for absorbing heat. In this respect, water has a greater capacity than any other common substance. This means that it takes more heat to raise a pound of water to a certain temperature than is required by the same weight of any other common substance. The rate at which a given weight of a substance heats indicates its heat-absorbing capacity. The more slowly it heats, the greater its heat capacity.

A pound of iron, a pound of brass, a pound of soil, a pound of air, or any other substance will heat faster than a pound of water if the heat is added at the same rate.

Experiment 12 is a very important one because it tells you how to discover for yourself the different effects of heating water and sand.

Temperature of Water and Soil. — When the same amount of heat falls upon water and soil, the soil heats faster. Compare the increases in temperature shown in this diagram. Does this help explain why water temperature at the lake or seashore during the day is lower than the air temperature?



THE HEATING AND COOLING OF LAND AND WATER.—Experiment 12 explains how heat affects land and large bodies of water on the earth. When the heat (energy) of the sun strikes the land, the land heats up more rapidly than near-by water. The temperature of the land becomes higher than that of the

(KEY) EXPERIMENT 12

Does water have a greater or lesser heat capacity than soil?



In this experiment we use heat energy again. What is the source of the energy in the experiment? In nature?

In some other experiments and in this one you measured temperatures. What did you use? What other measurements do you make in this experiment?

WEAT TO USE.-- A pound of water; a pound of dry soil, two iron or tin dishes, two thermometers, one googeneck lamp with reflector shade and 60 watt lamp; a ring stand and clamp; a balance; and a measuring glass.

WHAT TO DO.-1. Place the pound of water in one dish and the pound of soil in the other. Set each dish on the table. Support the thermometers so that the bulb of one is in the water and the bulb of the other is in the soil.

Adjust the lamp so that the bulb is the same distance from the top of the soil and the water, about three or four inches. Turn on the electrivity and heat the soil and water for filteen minutes. Record the changes in temperature every two or three minutes.

Turn off the ismp and record the cooling temperatures every two or three monutes as before for fifteen minutes.

WHAT HAFFEVG--I Did each material receive the same amount of heat? Was it radiant heat, like that from the sun?

Which material heated up the faster?

Which was hotter at the end of the fifteen minutes?

2. Which cooled off the faster when the lamp was turned off? What was the temperature at the end of fifteen minutes? Did the materials cool off as fast as they were heated up?

CONCLUSION.—Which material has the greater heat capacity? Explain.

APPLICATION .- Why is water used in automobile radiators?

water. Study the drawing on page 103. When the sun goes down, the land cools off (loses heat) faster than the water.

These facts about the unequal heating and cooling of land and water are true not only from day to night, but from season to season. As spring advances, the land away from a large body of water becomes warmer a little faster each day than the body of water. If the body of water is large enough, the summer may be far advanced before the water becomes as warm as the land some distance away.

You know that the air is not heated directly by the energy from the sun. It must get its heat from land and water which it touches. For this reason air temperatures over the land and the water change with temperature of land and water. As the summer advances, the water of lake and sea gradually absorbs more and more heat. As fall comes on, the land away from the water quickly loses its heat. The air over the land becomes cooler. On the other hand the heat stored in water is given off very slowly, keeping the air warmer.

LAND AND SEA BREEZES.—The unequal heating and cooling of land and water causes air movements between neighboring land and water. You have learned that air currents move from places of high pressure to places of low pressure. Warm air is lighter and therefore exerts less pressure than the same volume of cold air. Another fact to consider is that air has a very low heat capacity. It therefore heats up rapidly and cools off rapidly. Still another fact to remember is that air gets its heat from the land or water. With the help of the drawings on pages 106 and 107 you are ready to explain the occurrence of land and sea breezes.



Day.—Because land and water da not heat equally fast, there are aften sea breezes from bodies of water during summer days. Explain this diagram.

FIELD RESEARCH

Sometime when you are at the lake, with permission and caution build a small fire on the shore at night and aguin during the day. Do not try this experiment if there is any wind to speak of

Each time notice the direction taken by the smoke from the fire.

As the land heats up rapidly, the air touching it heats up even more rapidly It becomes lighter because it expands. At the same time the air over the cooler water continues cool. Hence it is heavier than the warm, lighter air over the land. The cool, heavier air moves from the water to the land and pushes the warm, lighter air up out of the way. The cool air, in turn, becomes warm and is pushed up by more cool air from the sea. The air current thus set up is called a set breeze.

At night the land becomes cool more rapidly than the water. The air over the land becomes cooler than the air over the water. In other works, the air pressure is now greater over the land than over the water. The result is an air eurent moving from land to the water. This kind of air eurent is called a *land* breeze.



Night.—Unequal cooling of land and water causes land breezes at night during the summer. Explain how gravity is related to the land breeze shown in this diagram.

GENERAL PROBLEM 4

ć

4

What Adaptations Are Made to Weather and Climate?

THE GROWING SEASON.—The length of a plant growing season is often determined by the number of days between the last killing frost of spring and the first one of fall. Crops that require longer time to mature than the time between these two dates are better grown where the growing season is longer.

It is important for a farmer or gardener to know the length of the growing season where he lives and the crops adapted to it. It is a valuable study for us as students of science to determine what causes affect the length of a growing season in a locality.

In your investigation and discussion of the length of the growing season, you will need to consider many things. The dates of killing frosts, latitude, altitude, nearness to large bodies of water, and the length of daylight are all important. In Alaska, for example, a short growing season is made up for by long hours of daylight.

The maps on page 108 show the length of the growing season

FORECASTING THE WEATHER 107





Flood Damage.—The warm weather of spring often brings dangerous floods. These Kansas farmers lost forty acres of corn.

in different parts of the United States. Study the maps carefully. Try to explain some of the differences.

CROPS AND RELATED INDUSTRIES.—Successful growing of certain crops requires not only special soils, but also a sufficiently long growing season. In the case of perishable crops, it is natural to expect that canning and preserving industries will be developed near by. Likewise, raising of cattle, pigs, and other livestock will develop to take advantage of products that would otherwise be wasted or shipped away. It will be a good test of your understanding if you can describe other examples of the relation of crops and industries.

WEATHER AND INDUSTRIES.—No doubt many of you can recall an occasion when the weather conditions over a large area were such that crops were completely destroyed. Such a case happened in western New York, during the spring of 1945. Early in the spring, a spell of warm weather made the apple trees blossom. Then came an unexpected cold spell, and the blossoms were killed. Without blossoms there could be no fruit.

Every year agricultural industries are very largely dependent

FORECASTING THE WEATHER 109



U B Department of Agriculture

Rugged Wheat.—This wheat was especially developed by scientists to withstand cold climates The patient work of men of science results in more and better craps for our formers.

upon weather conditions. Every individual is concerned, because this industry furnishes our food.

Many industries depend upon weather conditions. The canning industry, for example, will fail unless conditions are such as to produce an abundance of *frants* and regetables. The milling industry will fail unless there is a sufficient amount of wheat, corn, and other grains.

Even such industries as the leather and clothing industries are affected by the weather Can you explain how?

SCIENTITIC FARMING.—Science has done much to help farmers and gardeners meet the problems of the weather. In the case of wheat, for example, some varieties have been developed which will withstand very cold climates Other varieties have been developed which have a shorter growing season Varieties of corn, peas, beans and other vegetables which need shorter growing seasons are also available. These are examples that show how man with increasing knowledge is able to make adaptations to natural conditions which he cannot change.

Of course, there is a limit to the adaptations which can be made. Such crops as oranges, lemons, grapefruit, and cotton cannot stand the freezing temperatures of the north. Thus these crops, and others, must be grown in the south or southwest where the climate is mild. So it happens that crops throughout the United States are grown where they are best adapted to the climate.

Practically all industries make some adaptation to weather and climate. Houses and factories are built differently in the north than in the south. Stores provide clothing adapted to the climate and season. Ways are discovered to make building easier during the winter months when work is scarce. For example, the chemist has found what to add to mortar and cement to let it set and harden without freezing. Roads are built to withstand the extremes of temperatures which occur in various parts of our country.

Madern Oasis.—This irrigatian ditch is part of the Columbia Basin Project in Washington State. The praject will create 17,000 small farms in land that nature left dry and unpraductive.

Bureau of Reclamation



CLIMATE AND HEALTH.—People with some discases are able to have more comfortably and oftentimes longer in one climate than in another. On the other hand, people who are blessed with good health are able to adapt themselves to almost any kind of climate. Men accustomed to the south can, by wearing suitable clothing and eating the right kinds of food, live and work in the far north. The healthy Eskimo can adapt himself to the southern climate. However, keeping well in localities where the weather is changeable is somewhat more difficult than adapting oncell for extremes of climate.

CLEMATE, HEALTH, AND CLOTHING.—To some extent, our he dth depends upon our ability to adapt ourselves to changes in durate or weather. Our success in adapting ourselves may depend upon our knowledge of how to control the loss of heat he the body

Some heat is lost from the body by radiation just as any hot object loses heat. Any matter also loses heat by conduction when colder objects touch it and take heat away. When cold art touches the hody, it absorbs liest. If its motion is not hindered, the warmed air is pushed away because colder air pushes in for its share of the heat. This way of taking heat away from anything by a moving or circulating gas or bonuit is convertion.

Magnified Woolen (Left) and Cotton Fobrics.—These pictures show why dofting made of wool is warmer than that made of cotton. Note that the cotton fibers are twisted together tipply and that the wool fibers are furfy. What relation does this difference bear to the transfer of heat?





Hotcaps.—These waxed cups protect tomatoes and cucumbers from an early spring frost in California.



So the body all the time loses heat by these three methods: reduction, conduction, and convection.

You have already learned that when liquids evaporate, they absorb heat from objects which they touch. Therefore, when the sweat of the hody evaporates, it absorbs heat from the body. The water vapor thus formed mixes with the air and is carried away by the moving air currents. This explains why you feel colder in a wind than in a sheltered place on a cold day.

Controlling body heat by proper use of clothing depends upon our knowledge of how the body loses heat. Winter clothing should prevent, to some extent, the loss of heat from the body Woolen and silk fabrics are poor conductors of heat. A woolen garment contains many air spaces among its fibers. Therefore it retards the loss of heat, because the fibers prevent the circulation of air and so convection losses are prevented. Wool also absorbs moisture and keeps it near the skin. This prevents rapid evaporation of sweat

Summer clothing should help to remove heat from the body. Cotton and linen fabrics contain fewer air spaces than coarser woolen fabrics. Thus they allow free air circulation, which removes heat from the body. Cotton is also a better conductor of heat than wool. So it allows heat to escape by that method, too. Cotton, linen, and silk absorb moisture and allow it to evaporate quickly. Hence these fabries promote the loss of heat from the body by evaporation of sweat. Light colors of smooth cotton, linen, and silk also reflect the sun's rays. Such reflected rays do not heat the body.

You can understand now that there are scientific reasons for wearing different kinds of clothing during the winter and summer. These reasons depend upon (1) how the body loses heat, (2) how heat is transferred, and (3) the properties of different kinds of fabrics.

-----FIELD RESEARCH

Using a hand magnifier, examine samples of woolen, silk, linen, and cotton fabrics to discover differences in weave and air spaces.

ALCOROL AND THE WEATHER .- Correct clothing, food, rest, and exercise are all necessary to help you adapt yourself to

changing weather conditions. The use of alcoholic beverages is a handicap to successful adaptation. It may be true that small amounts of alcohol supply a slight amount of heat for the body. But it is also true that alcohol causes the blood capillaries of the skin to become larger, allowing an extra amount of blood to enter. Thus, heat loss from the body is increased. This more than offsets any heat obtained from the alcohol.

The fact that alcohol injures many body cells results in a lowering of general body efficiency. The body is therefore likely to be affected by diseases related to weather changes, such as colds and pneumonia. Alcohol is a habit-forming, narcotic drug. Like other narcotic drugs it should be used only when prescribed by a competent doctor.

THINKING THINGS OVER.—Weather forecasting is becoming almost an exact science. As such we may expect forecasts to be more and more reliable. Even now, short-range forecasts are about 90% accurate. Long-range forecasts are accurate about 75% of the time.

Accurate forecasting of weather demands great knowledge of all the weather factors. Weather conditions are observed near the surface of the earth, and high above. Reports of weather conditions are used to make the weather map. The weather map is the forecaster's most important tool.

When you try your hand at forecasting, be sure to make a record of the prediction and what actually occurs. Then try to explain any differences.

Changing weather and different climates make it necessary for man to make adaptations. Many industries are dependent upon climate. Homes and clothing must be adapted to the type of climate of a region. Man cannot change the climate, but science teaches him how to adapt his life to it.

Key Words

adaptations climate conduction convection forecast forecast center	growing season heat capacity isobar land breeze radar radiation	 storm paths thirty-day outlook weather Weather Bureau weather code weather map weather station
∽frosts	-sea breeze	weather station

FORECASTING THE WEATHER 115



Colifornia Orange Grave -- Note the smudge pots. Their dense warm smake forms a blanket which protects the fruit against a killing frost.

Irrigation at Work ----Madem scientific farmers aften succeed where nature failed Irrigation can make even a borren desert flaurish.



KEY STATEMENTS

1. Scientific prediction of weather depends upon the collection of accurate weather information, and a knowledge of its cause-andeffect relations.

2. Weather predictions based upon weather signs are not likely to be accurate.

3. Weather forecasting involves a knowledge of the weather factors all over the country.

4. Weather forecasts sent out by the United States Weather Bureau are of great money value to industries of all kinds.

5. Substances differ in their capacity to absorb heat. Water has the greatest heat-absorbing capacity of any common substance.

6. Land has a smaller heat capacity than water. Land therefore warms faster and cools faster than water.

7. A land breeze (blowing from the land) occurs when the air pressure over the water is less than over the land.

8. A sea breeze occurs when the air pressure is less over the land than over water.

9. The difference in air pressure over land and water is due to the unequal heating of the air over each.

10. Because of the heat-storing capacity of water, regions near large bodies of water have a longer growing season than regions farther away.

THOUGHT QUESTIONS

1. If water has eight times the heat-absorbing capacity of iron, how many pounds of iron would be required to contain as much heat, at a given temperature, as one pound of water?

2. Which would keep a person's feet warm longer, a hot brick or a hot water bottle with an equal weight of water at the same temperature?

-3. Explain how the unequal heating of land and water results from their different heat capacities.

4. Why are official weather observations made at a given hour?

-5. Why can one not make an accurate weather prediction using only a barometer?

6. How can a frost prediction be made? What factors must be known?

7. Why do weather stations use a code to send their reports to forecast centers?

8. Where is the weather forecast for your region made?

FORECASTING THE WEATHER 117

9 Is white cotton a sensible material for summer wear? Give

10 Why are woolen gloves warmer than cotton gloves?

11 Name one industry near your home that is dependent upon weather or climate. Evaluat how,

12 Explain why it may be warm and uncomfortable at the seashore in the evening after a warm day. Is the land breeze of the sea breeze likely to be cooler and more refreshing after a warm day?

PROJECTS FOR YOUR SCIENCE DISCOVERY BOOK

 List all the ways you can determine in which weather reports by rathe are useful

2 Practice making weather predictions until you become proficient Keep careful records of the weather factors, your prediction, and the final outcome

3 Select a locality near one of the Great Lakes From Weather Bureau reports determine the latest average date of killing frost in the spring and earliest average date of killing frost in the fall, within two miles of the lake shore and 25 miles to 30 miles from the shore What is the average length of the growing season in each location? How is thus related to land as a breezes? Record all your findings

4 Make a list of the important crops of your vicinity and the industries related to them Explain the relationships

5 Discuss the ways in which unusual weather conditions, such as late frosts in spring and too much or too little rain, may determine the abundance or scarcity of food

6 List the principal occupations in your community and tell how each is related to the weather conditions and what adaptations are made to meet these conditions

7 List the weather hazards to health in your community. Tell how you can adapt yourself to these conditions so as to keep well

8 At night sink a shallow glass dish in the earth so that the top is level with the surface of the soil Full it with water. It should be located where the sun will shine on it next morphic.

Early in the morning place one thermometer in the dish of water and stick one in the soil near it

Note the temperatures of each, and after the sun has shone on them for two hours, again note the temperatures Explain your observations

Put two shallow dishes of water out overnight in a place where they will receive sonlight in the morning In the early morning place

a thermometer in each and cover one with a white cloth and one with a black cloth. Note the temperatures at the beginning and the end of one hour of the sun's heating. Explain your discoveries.

10. Determine the relation between wind direction and air temperature.

11. Make a study of four different industries to determine their dependence on the weather.

12. Study the effect of weather and climate on six leading crops.

13. Find out how it happens that many fruits, flowers, and vegetables can be grown successfully north of the Arctic circle, in spite of the very short growing season of that region. *Hint*: Consider the influence of sunlight on plant growth; also, the varying lengths of day and night in the Arctic region.



Blown Mountain Observatory, California.—Here the great, 2000inch telescape, largest in the world, is used by astronomers to study the heavens. The domed top of the observatory revolves, so that the telescape may be trained on any part of the sky.
UNIT II The Heavens



Polomar Mountain Observatory, California — Here the gravity, 200inch telescope, largest in the world, is used by astronomers to study the heaven. The domed top of the observatory revolves, so that the telescope may be trained on any part of the sky.

UNIT II The Heavens



A Rada Telescope —Ordinary telescopes use mirrors or leases to focus light fram distant objects. This telescope picks up radio weves from the un. The opportuse follows the sun and records conditions an it which interfere with certain types of radia reception.

6

TOPIC V

The Roof of Our Environment

DO YOU KNOW-

- 1. Why stars shine?
- 2. What a constellation is?
- 3. What the Milky Way is?
- 4. What a light year is?
- 5. Whether the stars control your fortune?

GENERAL PROBLEM 1

What Are Stars and Constellations?

STAR-LORE.—Do you think that the stars in the heavens are on the inside of a great hollow globe which turns about the earth? Or do you know that the earth turns, making the stars appear to move?

Long, long ago, before men became scientific, a man named Ptolemy told the people that the earth was the center of the universe. He said that all bodies in the universe revolved about the earth. To him the earth was the most important part of the solar system. It is to us, too.

But Ptolemy was wrong about what turned. It is the earth that turns. Even so, the ancient people learned much about the stars. They knew how to use them for finding directions and for telling time and the seasons. After a while they discovered that stars, planets, the sun, and the moon rise and set because the earth turns. They observed that the stars in the north

THE ROOF OF OUR ENVIRONMENT 123

appeared to move in circles around one particular star we call the North Star.

Some of the stars are so arranged as to form interesting shapes or figures, such as the Big Dipper. Not only do the stars that circle about the North Star form figures, but stars in other parts of the heavens form groups, too Ancient people gave



Ptolemy's System,—Study this diagram and see how Ptolemy thought that the planets and the sun all revolved around the earth. We know teday that this is not true. Try drawing a picture of your awn to show the proper relation of the sun and the planets.

names to these groups and made up queer stories about them. You can see some of these star groups and learn the old stories about them.

For your study of the stars you will need a starry night, the star maps in this book or magazines, and your Field Research Notebook. The stars and star groups you learn to know will prove to be objects of interest as long as you live. They are not merely fart-weather friends. Even though the sky should be stormy, you will know just where they are, up above the storm. If you could ride in an airplane above the storm clouds, you would see them shimng

WINNING FIELD RESEARCH

On a clear, moonless evening, you and a friend or two should stargaze awhile. Go out into an open field, or on a hilltop, or out on a lake away from city lights. Just look, look, look. Here and there you will come to recognize a star, or a group of stars, by certain characteristics of brightness, position, or color which set it off from other stars in the heavens. It will help if you begin your star-gazing with the last fading twilight so as to see the first star that is bright enough to show. One by one other bright stars will appear. It is easier to learn to recognize the stars this way than when the sky is filled with "diamonds." Perhaps someone with you may know the name of a star group. Make notes of your first impressions of stars and drawings of star groups in your Field Research Notebook.

WHAT ARE THE STARS?—The stars are great suns like our sun, only some of them are much larger. For example, Betelgeuze (bět'el-gûz') is over a million times larger than our sun. But it looks smaller because it is about 18,000,000 times farther away. These great hot bodies send out heat and light as does our sun. Because they are so far away, most of the heat is lost before it reaches us. But the light comes to us undimmed except by our own atmosphere. This light does not seem so bright and widespread as that from our own sun. It seems dimmer for the reason that the farther away you are from a glowing lamp, the smaller it appears and the fainter is its light.

The light from the faintest stars and the light from the brightest may be compared to the light from a firefly and the light from a powerful searchlight.

The twenty brightest stars or suns are called *stars of the first* magnitude. They are not the largest, but the brightest stars. It is these stars that are first seen as dusk deepens in the evening. They differ in *size*, color (blue, red, white), composition, and position. There are about 6000 stars that are bright enough to be visible to the naked eye although not from one position. Actually, only about 2000 stars are visible to the naked eye from one place of observation. It will be a good test of your eyesight to compare the number of stars you can see with what a companion can see. In ancient times ability to see certain stars was a test one had to pass to become a soldier. With appeared to move in circles around one particular star we call the North Star.

Some of the stars are so arranged as to form interesting shapes or figures, such as the Big Dipper. Not only do the stars that circle about the North Star form figures, but stars in other parts of the heavens form groups, too. Ancient people gave



Ptolemy's System —Study this diagram and see how Ptolemy thought that the planets and the sun all revolved around the earth. We know today that this is not true. Try drawng a picture of your own to show the proper relation of the sun and the planets.

names to these groups and made up queer stories about them. You can see some of these star groups and learn the old stories about them

For your study of the stars you will need a starry night, the star maps in this book or magazanes, and your Field Research Notebook. The stars and star groups you learn to know will prove to be objects of interest as long as you live. They are not merely fair-weather friends Even though the sky should be stormy, you will know just where they are, up above the storm. If you could ride in an airplane above the storm clouds, you would see them shining.

On a clear, moonless evening, you and a friend or two should stargaze awhile. Go out into an open field, or on a hilltop, or out on a lake away from city lights. Just look, look, look. Here and there you will come to recognize a star, or a group of stars, by certain characteristics of brightness, position, or color which set it off from other stars in the heavens. It will help if you begin your star-gazing with the last fading twilight so as to see the first star that is bright enough to show. One by one other bright stars will appear. It is easier to learn to recognize the stars this way than when the sky is filled with "diamonds." Perhaps someone with you may know the name of a star group. Make notes of your first impressions of stars and drawings of star groups in your Field Research Notebook.

WHAT ARE THE STARS?-The stars are great suns like our sun, only some of them are much larger. For example, Betelgeuze (běťel-gůz') is over a million times larger than our sun. But it looks smaller because it is about 18,000,000 times farther away. These great hot bodies send out heat and light as does our sun. Because they are so far away, most of the heat is lost before it reaches us. But the light comes to us undimmed except by our own atmosphere. This light does not seem so bright and widespread as that from our own sun. It seems dimmer for the reason that the farther away you are from a glowing lamp, the smaller it appears and the fainter is its light.

The light from the faintest stars and the light from the brightest may be compared to the light from a firefly and the light from a powerful searchlight.

The twenty brightest stars or suns are called stars of the first magnitude. They are not the largest, but the brightest stars. It is these stars that are first seen as dusk deepens in the evening. They differ in size, color (blue, red, white), composition, and position. There are about 6000 stars that are bright enough to be visible to the naked eye although not from one position. Actually, only about 2000 stars are visible to the naked eye from one place of observation. It will be a good test of your eyesight to compare the number of stars you can see with what a companion can see. In ancient times ability to see certain stars was a test one had to pass to become a soldier. With

THE ROOF OF OUR ENVIRONMENT 125 powerful telescopes and by aid of photography countless mil-

THE MILKY WAY—Across the heavens, nearly dividing it into two parts, is a broad white path. It is one of the most striking things in the sky. It is called the Milky Way. Ancient Egyptians called it Pharaoh's River. They believed it was the river over which the spirits of dead Pharaohs sailed their boats. Before astronomers used high-power telescopes, the Milky Way was thought of as a mass of gas. It is now known to be made up of countless distant stars. The "milky" appearance is due to the fact that the stars of this group are so numerous and distant. Then "feeble" hights form only a lacy pattern. A good time to observe the Milky Way is during the fall and winter evenings when it is high in the sky. We shall learn later why it is now believed that the stars of the Milky Way are part of a great rotating system.

THE BIG DIPPER -Can you see resemblances to kings and

Our Galaxy.—The Mulky Way reaches entirely around our heavens. Our earth and he solar system are part of it. The densets part of the Mulky Way is made up of the largest callection of heavenly bades in our universe. Each whate speck is a sun like ours. The lorge white spots are beleved to be masses of suns.





The Big Dipper.—This constellation can always be seen from aur cauntry. Note the dauble star second from the end in the handle. These two stars can be observed in the sky without a telescope.

queens and to animals as did the ancients when they studied the star groups in the sky? One ancient race gave us the name "constellations" for these star groups. One you know is the *Big Dipper*. Because it is so close to the North Star it never passes below the horizon as do star groups farther away from the North Star. It is called "the Dipper" because its seven stars are arranged in the shape of a dipper. Four stars mark the corners of the bowl, and three form the handle. If your eyes are good and the night is clear, you may be able to see a faint star near the second star of the "handle" of the Dipper. This star is shown in the picture above. With an opera glass you can see some other stars in the Dipper too faint to see with your naked eye.

The Big Dipper is a good place to start to learn other constellations. Cassiopeia ($k\check{a}s'\check{1}-\bar{o}-p\bar{e}'y\check{a}$) can be seen across the North Star from the Big Dipper. The Northern Cross and Peg'asus are higher in the sky. They can be seen in the summer and fall months. Orion (o-rī'on) can be seen during the winter months.



Orion the Hunter—Orion is quite near another constellation, Taurus the Bull. The ancients imagined that Orion was pursuing Taurus across the sky. Around the middle star of Orion's sword handle is a great nebula.

How IMAGINATION NAMED THE CONSTELLATIONS.—All of us have let our magnations form fancilal pictures in the flames of the firsplace, or in the delicate tracery of forst on the windowpane, or in the changing cloud forms of a glorious sumet. In the same way, the people of long argo drew mind pictures on the sky heaven with star groups as outlines. The names of many of their mythological heroes were placed on pictures of the star groups. As time went on, stories, or *legends*, were made up about the stars and star groups. If ourse, the legends are not true. But they are interesting, and they do tell us much about these early people.

You will want to read about some of the star legends. Different people had different stories about the same stars. A

good project for your Science Discovery Book would be to write down some of the different stories about the constellations. Some of the books listed in the Bibliography will tell about these ancient myths.

INNININ LIBRARY RESEARCH

Whenever you learn of a new constellation, go to a good book on mythology or to some similar reference book to see if you can discover the reason for its name. This will not only reveal many an interesting story, but will also help you to become better acquainted with the star groups.

The seven stars of the Big Dipper always appear in exactly the same relative position or pattern. The positions of the stars of this constellation are fixed with respect to each other. But the constellation as a whole seems to swing around a point in the northern sky like the hand of a great clock, only in the opposite direction.

Annum FIELD RESEARCH Annumentation

Observe the position of the Big Dipper soon after dark in the evening, and again two or three hours later. Repeat the observations several nights later. In your Field Research Notebook record the time of night and dates when you make each observation and make a star map of that part of the heavens, showing especially the Big Dipper. Did you notice that the point in the sky about which it appears to turn is marked by a bright but lonesome star? Did you know that the Big Dipper is always above the horizon in the north temperate zone?

THE NORTH STAR.—You have probably guessed by now that the lone star about which the Big Dipper appears to turn is the North Star or Polaris. It is easy to find the North Star. Sight along the line of the two stars which form the outer edge of the bowl of the Big Dipper. (See the diagram on page 130.) These two stars are called *pointers*. At a distance from the top of the bowl of about five times the apparent distance between the two stars themselves, you will always find the North Star. It is a fairly bright, lone star of the second magnitude.



After you have studied this diagram, go out on a clear night and locate the Big Dipper Follow the Line shown and find the North Star and Cassiopeia The distances of the North Star from the Big Dipper and Cassiopeia have been shortened in this diagram.

FIELD RESEARCH

If you can obtain an old umbrells, open it up and on the inside parts paper stars to represent the Big Dipper. Parts a star about the rod or handle mether it goes through the umbrells. This will represent the North Star Turn the umbrells counterclock was and you can illustrate the apprent motions of the stars. Each complete turn will represent 24 hours. Can you also represent the Little Dipper and Gassiopela's

FINDING OTHER CONSTELLATIONS.—On the opposite side of the North Star from the Big Dapper are five conspicuous stars forming a rather flattened W. These five stars are part of the constellation *Cassiopsia*.

On a clear summer evening look overhead to see six stars in the form of a cross, lying nearly along the Milky Way. The Latin name of this constellation is Cygnus (sigrus), meaning "swan." Its popular name is Northern Cross. It lies in the heavens nearly at nght augles to a line from the Big Dipper to the North Star. (See star maps, pages 130, 137.) The bright star at the bead of the "Cross" is Deneb. The "Cross" is not always above the horzon, as is the Big Dipper. It is visible only during the evening hours of the summer and autumn months.

In the fall try to locate Androm'eda, and Pegasus. These are also shown on the star maps.



Yerkes Observatory

The Seven Sisters.—(Left) Six stars in this constellation can be seen with the naked eye. Some people can make out a seventh star (upper left). (Right) Here are the nebulae surrounding the Pleiades, which is actually made up of many, many stars. Most of the stars of the Pleiades can be seen only with a telescope.

The Little Dipper can be seen every month of the year. The North Star (Polaris) is the end star of the handle of the Little Dipper.

The Pleiades (plē'a-dēs), sometimes called the Seven Sisters, is a part of the constellation Taurus—the Bull. Look for the Pleiades during the winter months. The seven stars form a very "little dipper."

One of the most beautiful winter constellations is Orion, the Hunter. Look for the three bright stars of the "belt" high in the southeastern sky or where shown on your star map. The bright reddish star to the left and above the belt is the great sun Betelgeuse. Do you remember how far away Betelgeuse is?

The constellations have no scientific importance except that they serve as a means of locating and naming various stars. For convenience, the astronomer calls the brightest star of each constellation *Alpha*. The Alpha star of the Big Dipper happens to be the one nearest the North Star. The second brightest star is called *Beta*. Often, the Greek letters α , β , and so on are used instead of the words. It must be remembered that the brightness of a star depends mostly upon its distance away from us. The Alpha star of one constellation may therefore be brighter than the Alpha star of some other constellation.

WINTER FIELD RESEARCH

In the fall months we to identify the following stars, which are the first to appear as diskness comes on: Vers of Lyra almost overhead, Deneb of the Cross, Are turns of Boltes, Alkier of the Lagle, Antares of the Scorpan, and of ourse the stars of the Big Dapper and other groups you have subted in the northern sky

If your observations are made during the winter months, look for Betelgeuse and Rigel in Orion, Aldebaran in Taurus.

Perhaps to the entered that a particular star with which you are sequanted, b, is for example, is overhead about 9 o'clock in August In Spetcaher at the same time you find Vegs has moved from overhead toward the uset. The reason for this is that the stars rise about four minute sather sch might. Therefore, in a mouth a star will gain about it to hours by your astch. In twelve months a star will gain about bours or one day. So you see a star each August in the mean periform. However, in set months the star would be overhead about non, and so you could not see it. Mnorm, about the early rising of the stars will help you to understand why clar maps have the names of the months around the crefe.

STAR SUPERSTITIONS - The movements of stars are governed by the laws of nature. There are some people, however, who do not know this fact.

> Star light, star bright, First star I've seen tonight, I wish I may, I wish I might, Have the wish I wish tonight.

Of course you have said these magic words and wished many a time. But your study of science will convince you that the stars have nothing to do with the outcome of your wishes

There was a time when man thought that his fate was somehow fixed by the stars. The astrologers of old thought they could read the future in the stars. This was merely superstition. Even today there are people who study the stars to learn the fate of nations and of men. You will find articles by astrologers in the newspapers. Read them and test the statements scientifically to find if they are **true** or imaginary. Science has dis-

placed such superstition by a true knowledge of the stars and of their actual relation to our sun and our world.

GENERAL PROBLEM 2

How Far Away Are the Stars?

MEASURING DISTANCE.—How many inches is it from New York to Chicago or San Francisco? You could calculate the distance in inches, but the number would be too large for convenience. The mile is a better *unit of measure* for distances between towns and cities. You would use inches in telling the size of this book, or feet to measure the length or width of your room. In other words, to speak of distances it is necessary to have a convenient *unit of length*. A few of the common units of length are the *inch*, the *foot*, the *yard*, and the *mile*.

The distances between the earth and the stars are very great. They are so great that we must have a special unit of length to measure them. It must be a very long "yardstick" so that we can represent the distance of a star in numbers easy to use.

Try to imagine a table 186,272 miles long. At the far end stands a boy with a powerful electric light. Suppose at a given signal the boy turns on the light. Just one second later the light will reach your eye. The light has traveled the full length of the table, 186,272 miles, in a single second.

Light actually travels at this tremendous speed of 186,272 miles in one second. To get an idea of this speed, recall that the earth is about 24,000 miles in circumference at the equator. Therefore, 186,272 miles is nearly eight times the distance around the earth. Light, then, travels in a straight line in one second a distance equal to nearly eight times the circumference of the earth. (For ordinary calculations the even number 186,000 is accurate enough.)

THE LIGHT YEAR.—When the astronomer measures the distance between the earth and a star, his unit of measure is the *light year*—about six trillion miles. One light year is the distance light travels in one year. Alpha Centauri is a star of the

first magnitude, vasible in southern latitudes. It is the nearest bright star that we know. Yet it is so far mway that it takes four years and four months for its light to reach us. Another and fainter star in Centaur, called *Proximus Centauri* ("proximus" means "nearest"), is a little nearer. Light from it takes four years and two months to reach us. It is the nearest star. To write the distance of either star in miles would mean a long string of numbers. So astronomers use the astronomical unit, the light ver, to measure these distances from us.

How can we understand the great distances of the stars? A train traveling at the rate of a mile a minute would take 47,000,000 years to make the journey to Alpha Centauri. To make this journey on a mile-a-minute train, you would need to here 670,000 times the ordinary length of life. And remember, Alpha Centauri is the second nearest stor of all!

AN ARITHMETIC PROBLEM

Write down on your paper the number 185,000 and multiply this by 60. Your answer will be the distance that tight travels in one minute. Multiply this number by 60 (60 mutues in an hour), then multiply by 23 (24 hours in a day), and then by 365 (the number of days in one year), and your answer will be the sumber of miles that light will travel in one year. This will be 5,865,696,000,000. You may have trouble in reading this number useles you recall the order—hundreds, thousands, millions, thildes, trailing a straight have. This number can be read but is too vast for us actually to ensee. It is the distance no miles that light travels 'yard/tick' of the heavens. In round numbers we may use are trillion males. first magnitude, visible in southern latitudes. It is the nearest length star that we know. Yet it is so far away that it takes four years and four months for its light to reach us. Another and fainter star in Croinni, called *Proximus Centauri* ("proximus" means" means"), is a little nearer. Light from it takes four years and two months to reach us. It is the nearest six. To write the distance of either star in miles would mean a long string of numbers. No astronomers use the astronomical unit, the hight very to measure these distances from us.

How can we understand the great distances of the stars? A train traveling at the rate of a mile a minute would take 47,000,000 years to make the journey to Alpha Centauri. To make this journey ou a mile-a-minute train, you would need to have 670,000 these the ordnars length of life. And remember, Alpha Centauri is the second nearest star of all?

AN ARITHMETIC PROBLEM -

Write down on your paper the number 1>0.5(400) and multiply thus 100 for answer will be the dostance in an hour), then multiply thus Multiply this number by 60 (60 moutes in an hour), then multiply by 24 (21 hours in a day), and then by 36.5 (the number of days in one year) has value will be the number of multiply thight will travel in new year. Thus will be 55.65(200),000,000. You may have two hide in reading this number unders you recall the order—hundred, thousands, millous, billions, trilhous, quadralines, etc. This number can be read hold is to vast for us actually to store. It will end be the *Light 1* will be 5 bound in one year in a straight here. This is earded the *Light 1* is the "yandwick" of the heavens. In round numbers we may use six trilhon miss.

STAR DISTANCES. -- The diagram on page 135 shows how far away some of the familar stars are. It will help to remember that a mile-a-minute train would take more than 10,000,000 years to travel one help year.

Though such distances are hard to understand, mathematics, photography, and the telescope make it possible to measure the distances of stars with great accuracy. They are measured by observing a star's position against a background of more distant stars. Six months later, the star's position is again ob-

served against the background stars. During the six months, the earth has moved half way around its orbit. Thus the star is observed from two points 186,000,000 miles apart. The difference in observing from these two points causes the star



Star Distances.—Try to adjust yaur mind ta the tremendous distance that is indicated by just one "light year." Da you understand how astranomers can study a subject so far fram their reach?

to appear to change its position. The distance of the star is calculated from this apparent change of position. The more distant the star, the more difficult it is to measure its distance accurately. New measurements are constantly being made by astronomers. If you find that the distance given for a particular star differs in books of different dates, it may be because new measurements have been determined. Scientists are always trying to make measurements more accurate, and so you must expect new figures from time to time.

RED HOT STARS.—Stars are great suns. They are huge quantities of matter, extremely hot and probably gaseous. The temperatures of the stars vary from 41,000° F. for blue stars and



Winter Sky Map-Face south and hold the map over your head so that the letter "N" is in the direction of due North. The map will then show the location of the stars in the heavens.

12,000° F for those like our sun, to 2800° F. for red stars. Here also new measurements are being made as instruments are improved.

Where one star was known by the aucients, now a million stars tell their stories to the scientist who knows how to study them. The color of the stars has helped the scientist determine their temperatures.

STARS REALLY MOVE.-The stars appear to maintain fixed patterns in the sky. Yet scientists know that stars change their relative positions at rates of 10 to 20 miles per second. Some move much faster. Arcturus is thought to be changing its position at the rate of about 75 miles per second. In 800 years



The American Museum of Natural History

Summer Sky Map.—The constellations near the North Star are visible in summer as well as in winter. Note the new constellations that appear in this map and not in the previous one.

ANNOUND FIELD RESEARCH

To understand how a star seems to change its position against a background of stars, try the following:

Hold a finger at arm's length. Close one eye and sight at the background. Then close that eye and open the other, and again sight at the background. Do not move your finger. Note that your finger seems to "jump"!

Your finger is the "star" whose distance is to be measured. The distance between your eyes is the "diameter of the earth's orbit." The "jumping" of your finger corresponds to the star changing its position against a background of other stars.

This "jumping" or change is called parallax.



Wide World Panies

Mt Wilson Observatory, California.—Mountains are cansidered good places to build observatories. This is because the air is more transparent there than it is at sea level and there are fewer cloudy nights.

this will change its location only about the width of the moon. So in our lives it is practically true that the stars do not change their locations.

FIELD RESEARCH

Repeat the preceding Field Research, page 137. This time compare the amount of "jump" when your finger is held at arm's length, about 12 inches from your eye, and about 3 inches from your eye.

How does this help explain why it is more difficult to measure the distance of more distant stars?

METTORS, VISITORS FROM SPACE.—Have you sometimes looked up at the sky on a summer's creaing and seen a "star" shoot across the hearens? Milbons of these shooting stars, most of them no larger than a grain of sand, are moving about the sun and earth all the time. But we never see them until they enter the earth's atmosphere. By that time they can do no harm for they are heated to hot by the friction with our pro-

tecting atmosphere that most of them are burned up before they reach the earth.

Such "shooting stars" or meteors are not stars at all. They are bits of rock or dust. There seem to be clouds of such material scattered throughout our solar system.

Once in a while a shooting star (meteor) bigger than the others does reach earth. When a meteor actually reaches the earth, it is called a *meteorite*. Some of our museums have great pieces of meteoric rock which have been found in various places in our country. In Arizona there is a huge hole in the ground where a meteor fell thousands of years ago. The rocks on the sides of the hole are burnt. This tells us how hot the meteor must have been when it struck.

Records of ancient times and those of today tell of great displays of meteors. In November, 1833, it is recorded that the sky was full of "shooting stars." It must have looked like a Fourth of July celebration. Is it any wonder that primitive man feared such displays, when he could not understand them?

One star in this universe of ours is of more importance to us than all of the others put together. This star is the sun. Its relation to our world and to us will be our chief interest in our next topic—"Our Sun and Moon."

THINKING THINGS OVER.—Probably you have been interested in the stars for several years. You have often looked at the North Star, the Big Dipper, and other stars. By now you should be able to find your way among the stars as each

Solar Visitars.—This salar rock (left), a stone meteorite which weighs 745 paunds, was found in Arkansas. Such a large metearite is very unusual. A tremendous meteor crater (right) in Arizona is 600 feet deep and nearly three quarters of a mile across. The metear that caused it is believed to have struck at least 30,000 years aga.





Sky Photography.—This especially designed meteor comera (left) will photograph farry times as many meteors of once as older sky comeras. The new 5000-pound comera can even photograph meteors as small as buckshot. The "shooting star" (right) is shooting across the lower port of the constellation Orion. (This picture was not taken with the new meteor camera)

season comes along. Can you show your friends the "forgetme-nots of the angels" and call them by name?

But, more than all this, has your study of the stars helped you to realize that our earth is just one tmy part of the great universe? Has the study helped you to appreciate great distances? Has your study of the vast roof of our environment helped you to realize that stars really differ in temperature, size, and distance?

Does the saying, "'Hitch your wagon to a star," mean more to you now than before? A post once described the sky as "powderd with stars." Do you think that is a good description? If your answer is yes to some of these questions, you will be able to appreciate better than ever before the majesty of our solar system.

KEY WORDS

Arcturus Betelgeuse Big Dipper Cassiopeia constellation Deneb

light year magnitude meteor meteorite Milky Way North Star pointers Polaris shooting star Sirius star suns Vega

Key Statements

1. Stars are great suns.

2. Stars always appear in the same relative positions or patterns.

3. Certain groups of stars are called "constellations."

4. The stars are very far away from us, the distances varying for different stars.

5. The special unit of length used by astronomers is the "light year," the distance light travels in one year.

6. The stars have nothing to do with one's fate.

7. Superstition about the stars and how they control the life of man is being overcome by scientific truths about the stars.

8. The twenty brightest stars are called "stars of the first magnitude."

THOUGHT QUESTIONS

1. How are stars like our sun?

2. By what means do astronomers measure the distances and count the number of the stars?

3. What facts prove that the stars do not have any effect upon your fate?

4. Why can you ordinarily see the stars only after it has become quite dark?

5. How can you locate the North Star?

6. Why do astronomers use the light year instead of miles when telling the distance of stars?

7. Would you give the distance from New York to San Francisco in inches or miles? Why?

8. How have astronomers by their constant study of the heavens added to our knowledge?

9. Of what value are the vivid and colorful old myths about the constellations?

THE ROOF OF OUR ENVIRONMENT 141

PROJECTS FOR YOUR SCIENCE DISCOVERY BOOK

1 Locate and name at least three stars and three constellations new to you.

2 Draw a map of the highter stars near the North Star. Indicate the constellations that are visible to you in this region. Allow space to enlarge the area covered by the map. You will be called upon to add to the map from time to time. This will be your own star map.

3. On the next clear evening, locate and observe the Milky Way. Write a brief description of it Why has it been called the Milky Way? Where is it found in the sky? Include in your report the value of telescopes in helping you understand what the Milky Way is.

4 If possible, visit a museum to study metcontes. Make a report on the composition of meteorites. If you have visited the Meteor Crater in Arizona, write a report describing the size and shipe of the Crater. If there are no meteorites available for your study, read about some of the larger ones which have been found on the earth. Use your encyclopedia or other books in your hibrary for reference

5. Ask your librarian for help in locating National Geographic magazines and other periodicals that tell about melcor craters which have been discovered recently. Compare these craters with the Meteor Crater in Arzona

6. Look up the bugraphy of one of the great astronomers. Some famous astronomers are Johann Kepler, Pierre Simon LaPlace, Copernicus, Galico, Perera I Lowell Find out when the astronomer ined, where he inved, and has most famous discovery.

7 On the next clear evening, locate the constellation Cassiopera. Observe the position of Cassiopera in relation to the Big Dipper and the North Star Record Cassiopera on your star map.

8. Go to the library and look up some stories about Cassiopcia-Prepare an account of one story for your class. Include a brief report of the story in your Science Discovery Book.

9. Study the star maps on pages 136 and 137 to locate the position of Cygnus. (Cygnus, you remember, means "The Swan.") By what other name is this constellation known? On a clear night, search for Cygnus. Then make a map of Cygnus and its near-by stars.

10. Vega is one of the brightest stars in the summer sky. If possible, locate Vega by sky observation and indicate its location on your star map. Vega is the brightest star in the constellation Lyra (The Harp) shown in the maps on pages 136 and 137.

11. Locate the bright star Arcturus. It is the brightest star in the constellation Boötes (The Herdsman) shown in the star map on page 137. After you have observed Arcturus in the sky, show its position on your star map.

12. Locate Pegasus and Andromeda by sky observation. Find as much information as you can about these constellations. Then write your own story in your Science Discovery Book. Use the star maps in this topic to help find these constellations in the sky.

13. Try to identify the Pleiades with the naked eye. The Pleiades is a loose cluster of faint stars in the constellation Taurus (The Bull). See the star map on page 136 to help you locate Taurus. If there is someone with you when you observe the Pleiades, find out which of you can see the greater number of stars in the Pleiades. The number of stars you can see is a test of your eyesight.

14. On any clear night, study the stars of the Big Dipper with field glasses. Record how many "new" stars you can see with the glasses. Locate these stars on a drawing of the Big Dipper.

15. Prepare a report of the Hale telescope. Tell where it is, how it received its name, and what it is used for. Or perhaps you will want to report on the history and manufacture of the Hale telescope. How large is the lens? What problems were there in the manufacture of the lens? How was it transported? How long did it take to build the telescope?

16. Record in your Science Discovery Book a comparison of the Hale and Schmidt telescopes. How do they compare in size? What is each used for?

TOPIC VI

Our Sun and Moon

DO YOU KNOW-

1. How big the sun is?

2. What gravity is?

3. That all life depends upon the sun?

4. What causes an eclipse of the sun? Of the moon?

5. How far away the sun is?

GENERAL PROBLEM 1

What Is the Sun?

THE CENTER OF OUR SKY SYSTEM.—Have you ever wondered how big the sun is, how far away it is, and what its purpose is? Is it only to give us light and heat and to serve as a timepiece? Or does it serve us in still other ways?

Our solar system consists of nine known major planets (and their moons) and over one thousand smaller celestial bodies. All these revolve in fixed courses around the sun. These planets are at varying distances from the sun. They differ from each other in size, color, and the number of their moons. We shall study several of them in some detail a little later. Right now we are concerned with their "guiding star," the sun.

SUN FACTS.—The sun is a great mass of matter, heated white-hot. The temperature at the center is possibly as high as $40,000,000^{\circ}$ F. It is wrapped in dense clouds of hot gases. These surface gases have a temperature of about $10,000^{\circ}$ F. The sun is about 870,000 miles in diameter, or nearly 110 times the diameter of our earth. In volume, the sun is 1,300,000 times as large as the earth. In other words, 1,300,000 earths could be "poured into the sun.

GRAVITY ON THE SUN You are held to the earth's surface by the force of gravity This same force causes an apple to fall from a tree It causes the water in the rivers to flow to the sea This force of gravity is the force which a heavenly body exerts on objects on or near it. We do not know what gravity is. We only know what it does and how it behaves. The effect of this unknown force extends to the farthest star.

The force of gravity of the earth tends to draw all objects on or near its surface inwards the center of the earth. Because of this "drag," you must have strong muscles to jump over a bar three or four feet high. Because of the great mass of the sun, the force of gravity at its surface is 2S times as great as the force of gravity of the earth If you were on the surface of the sun, you would have hard work to jump over this textbook. (Can you give two reasons why no one could live on the

There is another interesting comparison of the force of gravity of the earth and of the sun. A man weighing 150 pounds on the earth would weigh nearly 4200 pounds, or more than two tons, on the sun These numbers are given to help you appreciate what an enormous object the sun 13-1,300,000 times as

WHAT IS THE DISTANCE TO THE SUN?-This great white-hot body is vast in size as compared with the earth. It is still more vast as compared with our moon. Yet it looks no larger than the moon itself. This is because the sun is so far away. Our mile-a-minute train running day and night could reach the moon in about six months if such a trip were possible. It would require about 177 years to reach the sun.

Such distances are tremendnus, and yet we must try to realize what they mean. The average distance of the sun from the earth is about 93,000,000 miles. Traveling at the speed of light, about 186,000 miles a second, one could make the journey from the earth to the sun in about cight minutes. Compared with the distances of ather suns or stars about which we have studied, the sun is very close to us. And because it is comparatively close, it affects nur lives in many ways.

THE SUN AS A POWERHOUSE.—We think of energy to run our machines, heat our homes, and cook our food as coming from burning coal, oil, or gas. We are interested in the great power projects in Tennessee, Hoover Dam, and others. But do you think of the sun as the greatest powerhouse of all? Study the diagram below.



Our Chief Source of Energy.—Use this diagram to tell the story of how we get our ortificial light, heat, and power from the sun.

Can you think of any other kinds of power we receive indirectly from the sun? The sun sends forth energy which plants use to grow and manufacture food for animals. Green leaves store the sun's energy as food energy for the use of the animals. Every square yard of the earth's surface receives energy from the sun at the rate of $1\frac{1}{2}$ horsepower continuously.

Nevertheless the whole earth receives less than one billionth part of all the energy given out by the sun. Some of the energy of the sun, stored up through the ages in coal-forming plants,

OUR SUN AND MOON 147

is now tied up in our coal. As we burn the coal this solar energy is given off as heat to keep us warm and to supply us power.

Heat from the sun causes the evaporation of water from land and sea into the simosphere. Exaporation is the process by which water change- from the bouid to the gaseous state. It rises into the atmosphere as an invisible gas. When the gas rools, the water again becomes liquid by condensation. It forms clouds from which the moisture falls as rain or snow. This water eycle carries water from oceans, lakes, and rivers to mountain slopes and hillsides. As it flows downward, it may be used to drue water wheels and turbines, as is shown in the drawing Hence water power really comes from the sun.



Electricity from the Sun-un a "round-about" Way.-Explain how it is that the sun really drives the electric generator.

Also certain rays of the sun's energy give us light. This is our sunlight which makes possible so many of our daytime occupations. The sun is the source of energy on which our activities and our very lives depend. A great astronomer said, "We are children of the sun."

Scientists are trying to discover the cause of the energy of the sun. Is the sun gradually cooling off as a hot iron cools? Or are forces at work in the sun itself that serve to produce more energy? The answer seems to be that the sun is producing



Courtesy Mt. Wilson Observatory

The Sun and the Earth.—This photograph was taken from Mt. Wilson Observatory. The curve across the bottom of the picture is the surface of the sun. Compare its size with that of the earth, represented by the white disc. The flames are really hot gases, 140,000 miles high!

more energy all the time. Most scientists now believe that the sun's energy comes from a splitting and rearrangement of atoms. It is a kind of atomic energy on a gigantic scale. Although carbon, nitrogen, and hydrogen are involved, scientists are not yet sure just how the process takes place.

SUN SUBSTANCES.—Man has not always known what elements make up the sun. Little more than a lifetime ago the composition of the sun was not known. Now, by means of the *spectroscope* and other measuring instruments, much is known, especially of the outer gaseous portion of the sun.

When certain substances are heated very hot and looked at through a spectroscope, combinations of colored and dark lines are seen. The same combinations of colored and dark lines are given off only by the same substances. By applying this principle, it has been found that the sun has the same elements



Official U & Sary Philippent

U.S. Nary Airubp —Patient scientific work has made dirigible service safer for the crews. Once hydrogen gar, highly explosive and inflammoble, was used to fail dirigibles. Now, however, the non-inflammoble helium is available for this purpose, and many disatient are availed.

as the earth and the other planets. This is a fact which makes it seem reasonable that the sun and its planets were once a single mass of matter

FIELD RESEARCH ---

With the help of a physics or chemistry teacher, arrange to observe the bright, colored lines in a spectroscope

Elements may be metals, such as uron, zinc, and tin. Elements may also be non-metals, such as oxygen, carbon, nitrogen, hydrogen, and the like. The metals magnesium, iron, silicon, and sodium are very common in the sun's outer portion. Of course they are in the form of gases, heated very hot. These same elements, in the form of solids, are found in the rocks that make up the earth.

Scientists are not too certain about the proportion of the 150 THE HEAVENS different elements in the sun's atmosphere. It is estimated that hydrogen makes up 90% to 95% of the total volume. Oxygen and helium may form only 2% to 4%. The rest is probably made up mostly by magnesium, iron, silicon, and sodium.

Helium has an interesting story. It was first discovered in the sun's atmosphere. Some time later an English chemist discovered that it existed also in the earth's atmosphere in very small quantities.

About 35 years ago helium was discovered in some kinds of natural gas. Scientists found out how to separate it from the gas. But it was very expensive. Scientists kept at the problem until great quantities could be obtained cheaply. The gas helium is so very light it is used to fill dirigibles. It will not burn. Therefore it is much safer to use for this purpose than hydrogen.

SUN SPOTS.—The outer portion of the sun is the sun's atmosphere. It consists of very hot gases. These gases are made up of molecules which move about constantly. When gases are heated very hot, the molecules move very fast. Toward the interior of the sun, where it is still hotter, the violence of the motion probably increases.

In some unknown way, the violent motion of the molecules produces great whirls of gases on the sun's surface. These whirls seem to be terrific storms. In comparison, our tornadoes

Sun Spots.—These pictures were taken during the same period of sun spot activity. The picture on the right is a close-up. Each sun spat is about half again as large as our earth.

Courtery SIL. Wilson Observatory



are a mere triffe These whirling gases form dark spots in the sun's atmosphere They look like dark holes in the sun's white surface These dark spots are called sun spots. They are a few thousand degrees rower than the sun's surface. Sun spots vary from 500 miles to 50 000 miles in diameter.

Just as thunder-torms in our atmosphere occur more frequently at certain cosons and in certain zones, so it seems that sun spots occur more abundantly in certain zones of the sun. Also, the sun spots increase and decrease in number quite regularly, approximately every eleven years. A minimum of sun spot activity occurred in 1933. About 11 years later, 1943–1944, sun spots were again at a minimum. There was a maximum of sun spots in 1937–1938, and again in 1945–1944. If sun spots continue to behave with the same regularity as they have an the past, it is expected by astronomers that there will be many sun spots again about 1960.

The Aurora Boreals over New York—Here is how the dazzling northern lights look from Manhattan. In the foreground is part of New Yark City, Behind that is the Hudson River, and on the other side is New Jersey Can you find the George Washington Bridge?
During sun spot activity it is believed that electrons are hurled like bullets toward the earth's atmosphere. This may help to explain the northern lights (Aurora Borealis) which are more frequent and brilliant at times of great sun spot activity.

Radio transmission and reception appear to be related to the height of the layer of air called the Kennelly-Heaviside layer. The position of this layer is known to be related to sun spot activity. This helps us to understand why local radio reception is better at times of sun spot activity and why long-distance radio is helped by fewer sun spots. Even one large sun spot, however, seems to have the power to interrupt, or "black out," most of our international radio communication throughout the world.

There is still much to be learned about sun spot activity. Some scientists now believe that the positions of the planets may influence sun spots. It is also believed by some that the size of the sun spot is not as important as once thought. The age, activity, type, and position of the spot seems to be much more important.

Many observers have tried to discover relationships between sun spot activity and the weather. There is some evidence that weather is related to sun spots. However, much more research is needed before we shall know how the spots affect the weather.

GENERAL PROBLEM 2

What Causes Eclipses?

FIRST STOP: THE MOON.—"First stop, the moon." This would be the announcement by the stewardess of an imaginary sky ship if we were starting on a visit to members of the solar system. Of all the objects in the heavens, the most familiar one is the moon. It is the body most looked for, and the one about which the greatest number of stories have been written. When visible, the moon is the most conspicuous object in the evening sky. It always attracts our attention.

The moon is strictly our property. It belongs to our earth and revolves around it once in about twenty-nine days. It is a solid ball about 2160 miles in diameter and is nearly 240,000

EXPERIMENT 13

How does the moon give light?



In this experiment we meet another form of energy. We have used heat and electrical energy. Now we use light energy Light energy reality results from heat energy.

The important idsa in this expension is to diustrate what many of you already know-that we can see things only because they are lighted out (turk is diumnated). But do you know it that is how we see the moon? Does the moon make sts own light or does some other object light it up?

WHAT TO USE -A golf ball to represent the moon; support for the ball, a flashlight to represent the sun; a piece of black cloth; and a room that can be darkened

What To Do.--Mike the room so dark that you enhand see the ball when it is held across the room with the cloth behind it Of course you can do the experiment at might by turning out the lights. Then let a pupil behind the class turn the beam of light from the fisshight on the ball.

WHAT HAPPENE-Does the ball become light enough to be seen when the beam of light strikes it? What does the ball do to the light? Does the cloth appear as vesible as the ball? Explain.

Covert-iox .- Explain how you were able to see the ball. Where did the light come from?

Why did the ball show light while the cloth did not do so?

APPLICATION .- Explain how light from sutomobile headlights makes objects alongside the road visible. How do sutomobile headlights make cats' eyes appear? Why? miles from the earth. Although the moon seems to be the largest object in the night sky, it is, nevertheless, very small when compared with the sun or the planets.

THE LIGHT OF THE MOON.—On a clear night the moon glows with much brilliance. Yet the moon really gives out no light of its own. The moonlight that you see is sunlight reflected from the surface of the moon. Most objects we see are made visible because light from some source falls upon them and is reflected to our eyes. A black object is black because it does not reflect light that reaches it. If it is really black you only see lighter objects or backgrounds around it. Black cloth does not reflect much light. A white ball would be invisible against it unless the ball were lighted up by light falling on it and being reflected from it. If the ball were really black, you would not be able to see it even if light were thrown on it.

If you try Experiment 13 you will be able to prove these statements. Even though you pretty well know in advance how some experiments turn out, it is worth while doing them. Almost always the experiment will help to clear up doubts or partly understood principles.

HIGH JUMPING ON THE MOON.—How high can you jump? When you jump up from the earth's surface, you jump against the force of gravity. Most people can jump upward in this way only a few feet. On the moon, however, you could jump over a train. This is because the force of gravity exerted by the moon is only about one sixth that of the earth. Therefore, a person could jump six times higher on the moon than on the earth. The 150 pound earth-man who would weigh 4200 pounds on the sun would weigh only 25 pounds on the moon.

Solids, water, and the gases of the air of the earth are held to our earth by the force of gravity of the earth. The moon, on the other hand, is so small that its force of gravity is not great enough to hold water vapor or other gases on its surface. That is why today it is a barren waste of rock—airless and waterless. The history of the moon is written in its craters, its long, barren valleys and high rugged mountain peaks. They have remained because there has been no leveling action of rain and snow, rivers, glaciers, and wind.



Moon Craters —The rough areas in the picture are mountain ranges, the smooth areas are plans. Why are the edges of the craters so sharp and clean cut?

DAY AND NIGHT ON THE MOON —Another curious thing about the moon is that it turns on its axis only once in about trenty-nine days. Hence a whole day on the moon is nearly as long as our month. At any one place on the moon there would be continuous daylight for a little more than fourteen days. Then utter darkness for another two weeks of our time. Now it so happens that the moon's time of rotation on its axis is nearly equal to its time of revolution around the earth. Thus we see only one side or portion of the moon. This explains why we always see the same "main in the moon. Actually, 59 per cent of the moon's surface has been observed at one time or another. Forty-one per cent has never been seen.

TEMPERATURES .-- Daylight on the moon lasts a little more than fourteen of our days. The night is the same length.

156 THE HEAVENS

During this long day of two weeks of our time, the rays from the sun, undiminished by any atmosphere, beat upon the surface of the moon. As a result of this long-continued heating, it is probable that the temperature of the rocks is raised as high as 244° F. But when the moon turns on its axis so that this same surface is away from the sun, its temperature drops rapidly to about -250° F. During an eclipse of the moon its temperature fell 335° F.

In like manner, if our earth had no atmosphere, we should be baked by day and frozen by night. Fortunately for us, we have an atmosphere. The atmosphere and clouds about the earth act as a blanket which prevents rapid heating by day and rapid loss of heat by night.

We have learned that a warm body or object always tends to lose heat by *radiation* to colder objects or gases. For example, when you stand near a fire, the part of you toward the fire receives energy radiated (sent out in all directions) from the fire. The rest of your body does not receive any of this radiated energy. When the radiant energy strikes your body, it is changed to heat energy. It is radiant energy that is given off by the sun. It is changed to heat when it strikes our earth and moon and helps to keep them warm.

SEEING ON THE MOON.—Our atmosphere, with its moisture and dust, diffuses (scatters) light from the sun. This is what happens when sunlight passes through air with smoke or other dust in it. It is what you see when the light from the head lamps of a car shines through fog. The tiny particles of water diffuse or scatter the light. Since the moon has no atmosphere, the sun illuminates only those objects in its direct or reflected light. Where the light does not strike, there is darkness.

For example, suppose you had a house on the moon, a house with non-reflecting inside walls. In the rooms facing the sun, only those portions in direct line with the windows would receive light. The other portions would be darker than any nights we know. The rooms on the opposite side of the house would receive only that light which might be reflected from surfaces in the paths of the sun's rays.

The moon's surface is not so good a reflector of light as that of our earth. It is about equal to that of ordinary sandstone. Shadows on the moon are very sharp. This is due to the absence of diffused light When there is an atmosphere such as our earth possesses, light is diffused. Thus an object held in a bright light on the earth does not east nearly so sharp a shadow as that east by any of the mountain peaks on the moon.

The monsture and dust particles in our air also give us our blue sky and colored summes and sumsets. On the moon the sky is black and there are no beautiful sunsets or summes.

FIELD RESEARCH

Hold an object between a bright light and the wall. Do you observe two depths of shadows—one darker than the other? How could there be any light behind the object, if it did not come in from the sides as diffused rays?

SILENCE AND THE MAN IN THE MOON.—When a person on the earth speaks, his voice is carried in all directions by wavebke motions of the air. The waves are somewhat similar to the waves spread from a shone thrown into water. On the moon there must be absolute silence, for there is no air to carry sound.

FIELD RESEARCH

If there is a physics teacher in your school, ask him to help your class prove that ar earnes sound. He will need a bell jar, exhaust air pump, and an airm clock. If the clock is phered in the bell par conlaming air and the alarm sounds, it can be heard. If the air in the bell are is taken out by means of the air pump and the alarm rings, the sound can be heard family or not at all, depending on how much of the air has been removed

We are conscious of air because it fans our faces, blows dust into our eyes, carnes clouds along with it. It carnes sound to our cars. It sometimes tears down buildings and trees. Yet to realize fully all that air means to us, we must bear in mind other work of air. Without air there would be no sound, places would be either very bright or very dark, and the temperature would be very hot or very cold.

158 THE HEAVENS

AN ECLIPSE OF THE MOON.—The moon is visible by the reflected light of the sun. You can understand, therefore, that if an object passes between the sun and the moon, some of the light of the sun will be cut off. The moon will then be only partly visible.

This is just what happens during an eclipse of the moon. The earth itself gets in between the sun and the moon. When the sun, earth, and moon get into a straight line the shadow of the earth falls upon the moon. This is a *total eclipse* of the moon. Study the diagram on this page so that you may understand the positions of the earth and moon during a total eclipse of the moon.



Eclipse of the Moon.—Compare this diagram with the one explaining the eclipse of the sun (page 162). Can there be an eclipse of the moon at any phase of the moon? Explain.

The shadow of the earth frequently covers only a portion of the moon's face. Then we have what is known as a *partial eclipse*. The edge of the earth's shadow on the moon's face is always circular. This must prove that the earth is shaped like a ball, for only a ball can make a circular shadow if it is turning on an axis all of the time.

Experiment 14 tells you how to set up a model eclipse of the moon. Of course you must keep in mind that the objects you use are only models. They do not accurately represent the sizes or distances of the sun, moon, and earth, nor will the motions be exact.

FXPERIMENT 14



What causes an eclipse of the moon?

Actually the diameter of the earth is about four times that of the moon, and the sun's diameter is about one hundred ten times thet of the earth's diameter Before trying this experiment, you might draw lines on the blackboard to represent these diameters. Let onehalf inch equal the moon's diameter, two inches the earth'e diameter,

and two hundred twenty inches (how many feet?) the sun's diameter. This experiment will require patience-several triels to show clearly the schose of the moon

WHAT TO USE -- A golf ball (moon); an indoor baseball (earth); and a flashlight (sun).

(The flashlight is not a true illustration of the sun, for the sun should be many, many times larger than the earth. Also if an indoor baseball represents the earth, the golf ball is much too large to represent the moon proportionally. With these differences in mind, however, these objects will serve for the experiment.)

WHAT TO DO-1 Make the room as dark as possible From behind the class let a pupil turn the light on the golf ball held in front of the class and rather high Let another pupil slowly carry the "earth" between the "sun" and the "moon "

If the room cannot be made quite dark, it may be necessary to set up the golf hall, baseball, and flashight as in the drawing on a table.

2 Find a location for the earth so that the shadow of the earth just covers the moon. This will represent a total eclipse

3. Now start over again and move the earth so as to cause its shadow to appear first at the right of the moon Make the shadow cross the face of the moon from right to left, passing off the moon on the other sule. The total eclipse occurs when the whole moon is covered.

160 THE HEAVENS

4. Try to find a path for the earth so that only a portion of the moon will be covered as the earth is moved. Watch the shadow cross the moon without at any time covering the whole moon. This represents a partial eclipse.

5. Again place the earth so that its shadow covers a part of the moon. Turn the earth on an axis and note the shape of the shadow as the earth turns. Is it always circular?

WHAT HAPPENS.—1. Could you see the shadow of the earth on the moon?

2. Could you cause the whole moon to be covered by the shadow of the earth?

3. When the shadow moved across the moon was there a short time when the whole moon was covered?

4. What did you do to cause the partial eclipse?

5. Was the shadow circular? Did it continue circular in shape as the earth turned on its axis?

CONCLUSION.—What causes an eclipse of the moon? Why is the eclipse total sometimes and partial at others? How does an eclipse of the moon help to prove that the earth is round?

APPLICATION .- Explain how the moon might eclipse a star or planet.

Lunar Eclipse.—These pictures were taken every seven and a half minutes during an eclipse of the moon. The eclipse begins at lower right as the earth swings between the moon and sun. At upper left

the earth has shut off most of the sunlight from the moon.

Wide World Photos

AN ECLIPSE OF THE SUN .- Sometimes the moon gets between the earth and the sun and cuts from our view a portion of the sun's face This canses an eclipse of the sun.

The most recent total eclipse of the sun visible in the United States (Idaho and Montana) occurred on July 9, 1945. Not again until July 20, 1963.1 will another total eclipse of the sun he visible in any part of the United States. The eclipse of 1963 will be visible in its totality in Vermont. New Hampshire, and Mame. In 1970, on March 7, a total eclipse will be visible in Florida Others will occur in 1979, 2017, 2022, 2045, visible as total eclipses in various parts of the United States.



Solar Eclipse.-When the moon moves into position so that it blocks sunlight caming to the earth, there is a solar eclipse. In this diagram, the dark band across Canada and the United States represents the region where there is a total eclipse. How would the sun look to an observer in that region?

Eclipses are predicted by astronomers many years in advance. Not only are the date and year predicted, but the hour, minute, and exact second when they will start and end. In 1950, a total eclipse took place Its path and timing were

¹Data from Science Neura Letter, July 30, 1932.

162 THE HEAVENS

known in advance. Government scientists set up a laboratory on Attu, an island off Alaska. This eclipse was thoroughly studied with radio equipment. The equipment, called *radar*, measured the amount of radiation cut off as the shadow of the moon moved across the sun. One great advantage of radar equipment is that it can record information even though the sky is cloudy. Telescopes can be used only in clear weather.

Although the 1950 eclipse lasted only 73 seconds, scientists spent months in setting up and testing their equipment. Each observation was practiced, so that the timing would be just right. Much new knowledge was to be gained in that brief time, so not one second could be wasted. The careful planning produced excellent results.

The 1950 eclipse was not even seen as a partial eclipse in the United States. Its path was far out in the Pacific. The 1945 eclipse, however, was seen by many people. Those who did not see it as total were able to see it as a partial eclipse. This is shown in the diagram below.



Cause af a Partial Eclipse.—A person in the band marked "Path af Total Eclipse" would see a tatal eclipse af the sun. The figure in this diagram sees a partial eclipse. Study the diagram, imagine this happening, and then explain how a partial eclipse is caused. EXPERIMENT 15

What causes an eclipse of the sun?



Compare this drawing with that for Experiment 14. In this case it is the smaller body-the moon-that shuds off the light of the sun That is why the shadow is cons-chaped, making a small shadow on the sarth. Notice the darker shadow and the lighter studow on the darwing As in Experiment 14, the suss and datances of the objects are out of proportion. Try to situate the distance on the blackboard. Lat next shall such equal 240,000 miles (earth to moon), and one hundred ninety-four inches equal 93,000,000 miles (earth to sun).

WHAT TO USE .-- Use the same apparatus as in the preceding experiment.

WHAT TO DO --Think out for yourself how to arrange the golf hall, haveball, and flashlight to cause a shadow of the "moon" to be cast on the "earth"

WHAT HAPPENS .- Make a drawing to elustrate what happens.

Concrusion -- What causes an echose of the sun?

APPLICATION --- Using a pencil, an electric light bulb, and a piece of paper, demonstrate the cause of the shadow's having a darker and lighter portion

As the moon, invisible in the bright light, comes between the observer and the sun, it appears through a smoked glass as a

164 THE HEAVENS

dark circular object. It makes a curved nick in the edge of the sun. As the moon covers more and more of the sun, the world grows dark with a weird disappearing light. The shadow of the moon moves across the earth at a speed of 2000 miles per hour. Animals prepare for the night, stars and planets shine. When the sun's disk is all covered, flames of hydrogen and other gases flash from behind and form a lighted corona.

ANNONNA LIBRARY RESEARCH

Look up some records of early eclipses. Try to find out about the one which brought an end to a five-year war on May 28, 585 B.C. How can we be so certain about this date?

Report your findings to the class.

You will be interested to try Experiment 15 to demonstrate just how the sun is eclipsed or hidden by the moon. Recall also what was said about Experiment 14.

Solar Eclipse.—An eclipse of the sun always goes from its west side to its east side. (Left) At top, the moon begins sliding in front of the sun. (Right) At totality, only the hot gases surrounding the sun can be seen.





New Moon

First Quarter (two stages) Where is the sun in relation

FIELD RESEARCH

If you are fortunate and witness an eclipse of the sun, you may try the following. Observe the eclipse of the sun through a suncked plass. New took directly at the suns with the naked eq. because of the danger of mury to the eyes. Sincks a piece of glass by setting first to a rey multipure of campbor guin placed on a piece of sheet iron on rabeiton. Campbor guin hurns with a low temperature and produces a very dense sucks: The fiame can be estinguished by blowing on it. You may also use a burning candle to such the burness of the such as th

Look at the sun through the smoked glass during the cellpse. You will see the shape of the moon subouelted against the face of the sun. The shape will be circular. What does this prove?

Another observation to make before and during an eclipse of the sum to note, as the sunlayki almost through timy openings of the leaves of trees, the shape of the highted areas where the sunlayki fails. Usually these areas are circular an shape. During a solar eclipse, the shape is rescent. Thus because part of the hight is set of by the moon and the spaces through the leaves are small enough to act thice a hole of a pinhole camers to reproduce an image of a height object.

The PLASES OF THE MOON. —Why is the moon full? Why is there a half moon? Have you wondered about these things on elear moonlin tights and tried to think out the answers? They are not difficult to answer, if you will do some straight thinking

The bright side of the moon is always toward the sun-166 THE HEAVENS



Full Moon to each phose of the moon?

Contern Mt. Wilson Observetory Third Quarter (two stages)

Now, since the moon travels around our earth, some of the time the whole lighted face is toward us and sometimes only part is visible. As you read about the phases of the moon in the next paragraph, be sure to refer to the diagram on page 170.

These apparent shapes of the moon are called *phases*. The *phases of the moon* in order of appearance are called: *new moon*, *first quarter, full moon*, and *third quarter*. These names really tell us how much of the moon's journey around the earth is completed each month. Starting with the thin crescent of the new moon, the completion of the first quarter of the journey is indicated by a half moon. The full moon tells us the journey is half over. The third quarter marks the finish of the third quarter of the journey. With the next new moon the complete journey has been made and a new one started. The whole journey, as you know, takes nearly 29 days.

New Moon.—As the earth and moon move, the sun, moon, and earth regularly fall into a nearly straight line, with the sun beyond the moon as we look at it. At such times the bright face of the moon is away from us. This phase is the new moon. Usually the moon cannot be seen now. (Diagram, page 170.) With certain atmospheric conditions, however, the new moon is faintly visible. It may be lighted by sunlight reflected from the earth. This is sometimes called the "dark of the moon."



In this experiment you will need to watch carefully to see just how it illustrates the phases of the moon. As the experiment is fried, keep the sun and moon in your mind as you have seen them. Do you youally see the sun at the same time you so the moon? Why?

In all of these experiments with the "sun," "earth," and "moon," keep in mind what kind of energy is being used

WHAT TO USE -A darkened room, table, golf ball with support; and a flashlight

WHAT TO DO.--1. In the darkened room place the golf ball on its support on a table in front of the class With the flashlight behind the first flashlight so that the light shares on the ball and 2. Keeping the light shining on the golf ball, move the flashlight to the left (counter-clockwise) until it is at the left of the ball and shines on it parallel to the front of the class.

While moving the light, notice how much of the lighted part of the golf ball you can observe—first a narrow crescent and then a half of the ball.

3. Continue moving the flashlight counter-clockwise until it is in front of the class and shines directly on the ball. Again notice how much of the lighted surface is visible.

4. Continue moving the flashlight around the ball, keeping its light falling on the ball until it is at the right of the ball and finally at the place of beginning.

Make a labeled drawing to illustrate each step in the experiment.

WHAT HAPPENS.—1. What part of the golf ball was lighted? Could you see that part from where you sat? What phase of the moon did this position illustrate?

2. How much of the ball's surface was lighted? Could you see that much or only a smaller portion of it was lighted? What shapes did the lighted portion take? What phase of the moon did this position illustrate?

3. How much of the surface of the ball was now lighted? Could you see all of the lighted surface? What phase of the moon did this position illustrate?

4. Describe what you saw. What phase of the moon did this position illustrate?

CONCLUSION.—How much of the ball's surface was lighted all of the time? Could you see that much of the lighted surface all of the time or only portions? Why?

What is the cause of the apparent change in shape of the moon?

As the earth and moon journey on, the sun's rays strike the moon at an angle from our right, and we see a small strip of crescent-shaped light on the moon. This thin crescent is often called the new moon. Actually the moon is already past the new moon phase when a crescent is seen. When the thin crescent appears on a clear night, we can often see a faint outline of the entire moon. Some people call this the "old moon in the arms of the new moon." The crescent is that part of the moon lighted by rays coming directly from the sun. The faint outline of the rest of the moon is the part lighted by the sun's rays reflected from the earth.



What causes the phases of the moon?

In this experiment you will need to watch carefully to see just how it illustrates the phases of the moon. As the experiment is tried, keep the sun and moon an your mind as you have seen them. Do you usually see the sun at the event

usually see the sun at the same time you see the moon? Why? In all of these experiments with the "sun," "earth," and "moon," keep in mind what kind of energy is being used

WHAT TO USE - A darkened room, table; golf ball with support; and a flashlight

What To Do -1 in the darkened room place the golf ball on its support on a table in front of the class. With the flashight behind the golf ball, point the flashight so that the light shines on the ball and toward the class

168 THE HEAVENS

2. Keeping the light shining on the golf ball, move the flashlight to the left (counter-clockwise) until it is at the left of the ball and shines on it parallel to the front of the class.

While moving the light, notice how much of the lighted part of the golf ball you can observe—first a narrow crescent and then a half of the ball.

3. Continue moving the flashlight counter-clockwise until it is in front of the class and shines directly on the ball. Again notice how much of the lighted surface is visible.

4. Continue moving the flashlight around the ball, keeping its light falling on the ball until it is at the right of the ball and finally at the place of beginning.

Make a labeled drawing to illustrate each step in the experiment.

WHAT HAPPENS.—1. What part of the golf ball was lighted? Could you see that part from where you sat? What phase of the moon did this position illustrate?

2. How much of the ball's surface was lighted? Could you see that much or only a smaller portion of it was lighted? What shapes did the lighted portion take? What phase of the moon did this position illustrate?

3. How much of the surface of the ball was now lighted? Could you see all of the lighted surface? What phase of the moon did this position illustrate?

4. Describe what you saw. What phase of the moon did this position illustrate?

CONCLUSION.—How much of the ball's surface was lighted all of the time? Could you see that much of the lighted surface all of the time or only portions? Why?

What is the cause of the apparent change in shape of the moon?

As the earth and moon journey on, the sun's rays strike the moon at an angle from our right, and we see a small strip of crescent-shaped light on the moon. This thin crescent is often called the new moon. Actually the moon is already past the new moon phase when a crescent is seen. When the thin crescent appears on a clear night, we can often see a faint outline of the entire moon. Some people call this the "old moon in the arms of the new moon." The crescent is that part of the moon lighted by rays coming directly from the sun. The faint outline of the rest of the moon is the part lighted by the sun's rays reflected from the earth.

First Quarter. -- As days pass, a night comes when the sunhight strikes the moon squarely from our right as we look toward it. We see the half circle of light (half moon). The first quarter of the moon's sourney about the earth is completed.



Phases of the Moon.—This diagram shows the earth, light from the sun, and two rings of moons. The inside ring shows what the moon would look like if you were viewing it from some place off in space. Note that half af the moon is always lighted -the half facing the sun. The outside ring of moons shows the portion of the moon's lighted face you see when on the earth. These are the phases of the moon. The dark portion of the moon (the part you cannot see) is represented by shading in the diagram. According to the diagram, you cannot see the new moon. Why not?

Full Moon.-When the sun is shining on the opposite side of our earth, leaving us in darkness, you may, at the right time of the month, see the full face of the moon. It is lighted by the light rays from the sun which pass by and beyond our earth and strike the moon. As you stand facing a full moon, the sunshine is coming from behind you, passing a little above or below

THIRD QUARTER --- When the sunlight comes from your left as you face the moon, half of its lighted face is visible. This

marks the third quarter of the moon's journey. Here the sun

and moon are again at right angles to each other with reference to the earth. Whether the moon looks "full," "half," "quarter," or crescent-shaped, actually half of it is lighted by the sun. You see only part of the lighted surface. This is why the moon appears to change shape, although you know now that it really does not.

If you see all of the lighted surface of the moon, it is circular in shape and called the full moon. If you see only half of the lighted surface from one side, it looks like a half circle (half moon). You cannot see the part not lighted. With the change from "new" to first quarter, the moon appears crescent-shaped. You can tell where the sun is in relation to the earth and moon because the horns of the crescent point away from the sun.

Study the diagram on page 170 carefully. Then try Experiment 16 to demonstrate the phases of the moon.

THE ORBIT OF THE MOON.—In making your outdoor observations of the phases of the moon, the earth on which you stand appears to stand still. The moon and the sun seem to move. Is this what really happens? In Experiment 16 the "moon" was kept in the same place. You stood in the same place while the "sun" was moved. Of course actually the moon and the earth both move. The earth moves around the sun, while at the same time the moon moves around the earth.

The path of the moon about the earth is called the *moon's* orbit. Likewise the path of the earth about the sun is called the *earth's orbit*. The moon's orbit is nearly circular. The earth's orbit, however, is elliptical; that is, one diameter is

longer than the other. The path itself forms an *ellipse*, that is, a somewhat oval figure. (It would be well to practice drawing an ellipse, using a string, two pins, your pencil, and paper as shown in the diagram.)

The orbit of the moon and of the earth are not perfectly straight with respect to each other. If we could look at both



How to Draw an Ellipse.—Be careful to keep your pencil straight up and down. Why?

orbits from far off in space, we should see that they cross each other. In other words, part of the earth's orbit is a little above part of the moon's orbit. And the other part is a little below a part of the moon's orbit.

Eclipses are due to the fact that the orbits of the earth and the moon are tipped with respect to each other. This is also why the moon rises and sets at different positions along the horizon during the year.

THINKING THINGS OVER.—In this topic we have been studying about the largest and one of the smallest bodies in our solar system Can you picture in your mind's eye how large the sun 10° Can you picture it as a tremendous mass of hot swirling gas² Can you understand how much energy the sun sends out? And how little of it reaches the earth? Yet this little bit means the difference between life and death on the earth. Can you explain that?

The moon is not a very large body. Its diameter is less than the distance across the United States. Yet, even though small, it is perhaps the most familar of all the heavenly bodies. We know that conditions on the moon are much different than on the earth. Without air, the moon is a barren mass of rock. It is very, very hot by day, and very, very cold by night.

The motions of the moon around the earth, and the earth around the sun, cause echip-es. Can you explain how an eclipse of the sun happens? Do you know what eau-es an eclipse of the moon?

In our next topic we shall visit some of the planets of the solar system Then we shall go beyond the planets, far out into space.

KEY WORDS

atmosphere horizon Crescent reflect lumnate eclmse resolution moon ellipse Intation orbit energy solar system Dhase force EDace Danet gravitation sun spot radiation telescope

KEY STATEMENTS

1. The sun is the largest body in our solar system.

2. The planets revolve around the sun in the same direction, all in fixed courses, but at different distances from it.

3. The force of gravity is greater on a large, heavy body than on a small, light one.

4. Directly or indirectly, practically all of the energy used on earth comes from the sun.

5. The sun, the nine known planets, and the many small bodies revolving about the sun make up the solar system.

6. Sun spots are caused by terrific storms in the atmosphere of the sun.

7. Radio, Northern Lights, and world weather conditions are related to sun spot activity.

8. Moonlight is sunlight reflected by the moon.

9. The moon belongs to and revolves about the earth.

10. The moon is a small, cold body without an atmosphere.

11. An eclipse of the moon occurs when the earth is directly between the sun and the moon. The shadow of the earth passes over the face of the moon.

12. The shadow of the earth on the moon is circular. This helps to prove that the earth is round.

13. An eclipse of the sun occurs when the moon is directly between the sun and the earth.

14. Eclipses can be predicted many years in advance because scientists know the paths taken by the sun, moon, and earth and how fast they move.

15. The different phases of the moon are due to the different amounts of the moon's lighted portion we see.

16. The four phases of the moon are called new, first quarter, full, and third quarter.

17. The new moon occurs when the moon and sun are in line with the observer,—the sun behind the moon.

The full moon occurs when the sun and moon are opposite each other, that is, when the moon is in front and the sun is behind the observer.

The first and third quarters occur when the sun and moon in their revolutions take up positions at right angles to each other with reference to the earth.

18. An orbit is the path traveled by a planet or other celestial (heavenly) body around a central object.

orbits from far off un space, we should see that they cross each other. In other words, part of the earth's orbit is a little above part of the moon's orbit. And the other part is a little below a part of the moon's orbit.

Eclipses are due to the fact that the orbits of the earth and the moon are tipped with respect to each other. This is also why the moon rises and sets at different positions along the horizon during the year

THINKING THINGS OVEN —In this topic we have been studying about the largest and one of the smallest hodies in our solar system. Can you picture in your mind's eye how large the sun is? Can you picture it as a tremendous mass of hot swiring gas? Can you understand how much energy the sun sends out? And how little of it reaches the earth? Yet this httle hit means the difference between hife and death on the earth. Can you explain that?

The moon is not a very large body. Its diameter is less than the distance across the United States. Yet, even though small, it is perhaps the most familiar of all the heavenly bodies. We know that conditions on the moon are much different than on the earth. Without air, the moon is a barren mass of rock. It is very, very hot by day, and very, very cold by night.

The motions of the moon around the earth, and the earth around the sun, cause echaess. Can you explain how an eclapse of the sun happens? Do you know what causes an eclipse of the moon?

In our next topic we shall visit some of the planets of the solar system. Then we shall go beyond the planets, far out into space.

KEY WORDS

horizon iltiministe incou orbit plase planet rodut	reflect revolution rotation
	solar system space sun spot
	nonzon illuminste inoon orbit phise planet radiation

KEY STATEMENTS

1. The sun is the largest body in our solar system.

2. The planets revolve around the sun in the same direction, all in fixed courses, but at different distances from it.

3. The force of gravity is greater on a large, heavy body than on a small, light one.

4. Directly or indirectly, practically all of the energy used on earth comes from the sun.

5. The sun, the nine known planets, and the many small bodies revolving about the sun make up the solar system.

6. Sun spots are caused by terrific storms in the atmosphere of the sun.

7. Radio, Northern Lights, and world weather conditions are related to sun spot activity.

8. Moonlight is sunlight reflected by the moon.

9. The moon belongs to and revolves about the earth.

10. The moon is a small, cold body without an atmosphere.

11. An eclipse of the moon occurs when the earth is directly between the sun and the moon. The shadow of the earth passes over the face of the moon.

12. The shadow of the earth on the moon is circular. This helps to prove that the earth is round.

13. An eclipse of the sun occurs when the moon is directly between the sun and the earth.

14. Eclipses can be predicted many years in advance because scientists know the paths taken by the sun, moon, and earth and how fast they move.

15. The different phases of the moon are due to the different amounts of the moon's lighted portion we see.

16. The four phases of the moon are called new, first quarter, full, and third quarter.

17. The new moon occurs when the moon and sun are in line with the observer,—the sun behind the moon.

The full moon occurs when the sun and moon are opposite each other, that is, when the moon is in front and the sun is behind the observer.

The first and third quarters occur when the sun and moon in their revolutions take up positions at right angles to each other with reference to the earth.

18. An orbit is the path traveled by a planet or other celestial (heavenly) body around a central object.

THOUGHT QUESTIONS

1 You have learned that the weight and size of the sun are tremendous in comparison with those of the earth. What are some of the results of the creat size and weight of the sun?

2 About how heavy do you think this book would be if the earth were as large as the sun? How heavy do you think the book would be if the earth were as small as the moon?

3 Our sun is the great powerhouse upon which all life on the earth depends Explain how the electric energy which is produced at Nagara Falls and at other great waterfalls really comes from the sun

4 You know that the moon is a cold and lifeless body with absolutely no light of its own Yet the hright moon is one of the most beautiful sights in the sky. How is it that we can see the moon at might?

5 Do you believe that our earth reflects the light which comes to it from the sun? Collect the facts carefully, for the any good scientist you should be able to give good evidence for your statements.

6 Why is the force of gravity so much less on the moon than it is on the earth? What are some of the conditions on the moon which result from the small force of gravity there?

7 The thick, protective atmosphere on our earth is very important to us in a great many ways What do you think would happen if there were no atmosphere on the earth?

8. There are no absolutely black or dark shadows to be found on the earth Can you explain why this is so? Again he able to support your answer with good scientific reasoning

9. Most of us love to take imaginary journeys through the great spaces of our solar system How long do you think it would take a rocket traveling at 3600 miles per hour to reach the moon?

10. You should now be able to explain very clearly what causes an eclipse of the moon Of course, you can also explain just how it is that an eclipse of the sun occurs

11. You have a good understanding now of the movements of the sun, moon, and earth through the heavens On the basis of thus knowledge, explain why there is not an eclipse of the moon and sun every month.

12 It's fascinating to watch the nightly changes in the shape of the moon as it waxes and wanes However, does the shape of the moon really change? Explain your answer carefully.

PROJECTS FOR YOUR SCIENCE DISCOVERY BOOK

1. Make a list of the activities that would be impossible if the earth were as large as the sun, and tell why.

2. List six ways in which you are dependent directly or indirectly upon the energy from the sun.

3. Through a small telescope or powerful field glass observe the moon when it is crescent-shaped and when it is full. Make drawings of what you see.

4. Observe the phases of the moon over a month's time and record drawings and observations.

5. Learn how to make a pinhole camera to demonstrate the shape of images of bright objects.

THOUGHT QUESTIONS

1 You have learned that the weight and size of the sun are tremendous in comparison with those of the earth. What are some of the results of the great size and weight of the sun?

2 About how heavy do you think this book would be if the earth were as large as the sun? How heavy do you think the book would be if the earth were as small as the moon?

3 Our sun is the great powerhouse upon which all life on the earth dependa Explain how the electric energy which is produced at Nagara Falls and at other great waterfalls really comes from the sun

4 You know that the moon is a cold and lifeless body with absolutely no light of its own Yet the bught moon is one of the most beautiful sights in the sky. How is it that we can see the moon at mgirt?

5 Do you believe that our earth reflects the light which comes to it from the sun? Collect the facts carefully, for like any good scientist you should be able to give good evidence for your statements.

6. Why is the force of gravity so much less on the moon than it is on the earth? What are some of the conditions on the moon which result from the small force of gravity there?

7 The thick, protective almosphere on our earth is very important to us in a great many ways. What do you think would happen if there were no atmosphere on the earth?

8. There are no absolutely black or dark shadows to be found on the earth Can you explain why this is so? Again be able to support your answer with good scientific reasoning

9 Most of us love to take imaginary journeys through the great spaces of our solar system. How long do you think it would take a rocket traveling at 3600 miles per hour to reach the moon?

10 You should now be able to explain very clearly what causes an eclipse of the moon. Of course, you can also explain just how it is that an eclipse of the sun occurs

11. You have a good understanding now of the movements of the sun, moon, and carth through the heavens On the basis of this knowledge, explain why there is not an eclipse of the moon and sun every month

12. It's fascinating to watch the nightly changes in the shape of the moon as it waxes and wanes However, does the shape of the moon really change? Explain your answer carefully.

PROJECTS FOR YOUR SCIENCE DISCOVERY BOOK

1. Make a list of the activities that would be impossible if the earth were as large as the sun, and tell why.

2. List six ways in which you are dependent directly or indirectly upon the energy from the sun.

3. Through a small telescope or powerful field glass observe the moon when it is crescent-shaped and when it is full. Make drawings of what you see.

4. Observe the phases of the moon over a month's time and record drawings and observations.

5. Learn how to make a pinhole camera to demonstrate the shape of images of bright objects.

OUR SUN AND MOON 175



Courtery Mt. Wilson Observatory

Saturn and its Rings.—Modern telescopes bring our solar neighbors close for abservation and study. This is how Saturn looks through a telescope. The rings of Saturn are made up of millions of tiny bits of mother or moorilets. Each one reflects sunlight.

TOPIC VII

The Planets and Out Beyond

DO YOU KNOW-

1. How far the 200-inch telescope can "see"?

2. How to tell a planet from a star?

3. That the Evening Star is not a star?

4. What causes the tides?

5. What a galaxy is?

GENERAL PROBLEM 1

What Are the Family Traits of the Planets?

THE SUN'S FAMILY.—Anyone who watches the constellations, from night to night, has occasionally discovered a visitor in this or that group. These visitors shine with a clear, steady light in contrast to the twinkle of the surrounding stars. They seem to move across the constellations, sometimes from east to west, sometimes from west to east. Their name, *planet*, comes from an old Greek word meaning "wanderer."

The real stars of the heavens do not visibly change their positions in relation to each other. That is why they are sometimes called *fixed stars*. The planets, on the other hand, do change their positions in relation to each other and in relation to the stars. The paths (orbits) of the planets are as well known to astronomers as are the orbits of the sun and moon.

THE PLANETS AND OUT BEYOND 177

- ANDER

These scientists can tell you just when and where you can observe them. Some planets are visible in the summer months, others in other seasons

Some of the planets look much brighter than the stars. That is because they are so much nearer and because their surfaces are good reflectors of light. All of the planets are cold bodies They can be seen only because they are illuminated by light from the sun In this respect the planets are like the moon.

In the order of their distance from the sun, the nine known planets in the sun's family are Mercury. Venus, Earth, Mars, Jupiter, Saturn, Uranus, Neptune, and Pluto. There are also about one thousand very small bodies called planetoids (little planets) revolving around the sun. They are of little importance

LONG AND SHORT JOURNEYS -- In ancient times men thought that the sun and all the other bodies in the heavens revolved about the earth. But we know this is not so. Instead, the earth and the other planets move around the sun. It takes 3651 days for the earth to make its journey around the sun. Mercury, the smallest of the planets and the one nearest to the sun, completes its revolution in SS days. Neptune, nearly 2500 million miles from the sun, requires 165 of our years for one revolution In other words, Neptune's year is 165 times longer than a year on the earth Plnto, the most recently discovered planet, requires almost 248 times as long to make one complete revolution about the sun as does the earth. These planets are all revolving around the sun in about the same plane as the

"The Rep PLANET."-Mars is the planet about which we hear most. It is about one and one-half times as far from the sun as the earth. It takes 687 days for Mars to revolve once around the sun. This means that a year on Mars (reckoned m our time) is nearly twice as long as a year on the earth.

In some respects the earth and Mars are alike. It is probable that Mars has a thin layer of gases or atmosphere. It is known as "The Red Planet" because of the color of light which it sends out. There seems to be plant life on Mars, but just what kind is not definitely known by scientists. Both the earth and Mars are cold bodies, receiving heat and light from the sun. Since

178 THE HEAVENS



Solar Neighbors.—The planet Uranus (left) has five moons. The ring is nat like the rings of Saturn, but was caused in taking the picture. Mars (right) shows dark areas which may be vegetation. The color of these areas seems to change regularly with the changing seasons on Mars.

Mars is farther from the sun than is the earth, it receives less heat than the earth. Its surface temperature ranges from 90° F. below zero to about 60° F. above zero. Plant life therefore, if any exists there, must be unlike that of the earth. Since it has less atmosphere than our earth and probably little oxygen or water vapor in it, animal life, if there is any, would also differ from that on earth.

Mars rotates on its axis once in a little more than $24\frac{1}{2}$ hours; so the length of day is not very different from our day. Mars has two moons while our earth has only one.

THE KING OF PLANETS.—Jupiter is a planet a thousand times larger than the earth. Although Jupiter is 88,392 miles in diameter, it is so far away that it looks like a small star. The moon, on the other hand, looks large, even though it is only 2160 miles in diameter. This is because it is so near only 240,000 miles away.

Twelve moons have been discovered revolving around Jupiter. The moon nearest to Jupiter takes only about eleven hours These scientists can tell you just when and where you can observe them. Some planets are visible in the summer months, others in other seasons

Some of the planets look much brighter than the stars. Some of the planets look much brighter than the stars. That is because they are so much nearer and because their surfaces are good reflectors of hight. All of the planets are cold bodies. They can be seen only because they are illuminated by hight from the sun. In this respect the planets are like the moon.

In the order of their distance from the sun, the nine known planets in the sun's family are Mercury, Venus, Earth, Mars, Jupiter, Saturn, Uranus, Neptune, and Plulo. There are also about one thousand very small bodies called planetoids (little planets) revolving around the sun They are of little importance.

Long AND SHORT JOURNENS.- -In ancient times men thought that the sun and all the other bodies in the heavens revolved about the earth. But we know this is not so. Instead, the earth and the other planets move around the sun. It takes 3034 days for the earth to make its journey around the sun. Mercury, the smallest of the planets and the one nearest to the sun, completes its revolution in SS days. Neptune, nearly 2500 million miles from the sun, requires 105 of our years for one trevolution. In other words, Neptune's year is 105 times longer than a year on the earth. Pluto, the most recently discovered planet, requires almost 248 times as long to make one complete are all revolving around the sun in about the same planet as the earth.

"The RED PLANER."—Mars is the planet about which we hear most. It is about one and one-half times as far from the sun as the earth. It takes 657 days for Mars to revolve once around the sun This means that a year on Mars (reckoned un our time) is nearly twice as long as a year on the earth.

In some respects the earth and Mars are alike. It is probable that Mars has a thin layer of gases or atmosphere. It is known as "The Red Planct" because of the color of light which is cends out. There seems to be plant life on Mars, but just what kind is not definitely known by scientists. Both the earth and Mars are cold bodies, receiving heat and light from the sun. Snee



Solar Neighbars.—The planet Uranus (left) has five moans. The ring is not like the rings af Saturn, but was caused in taking the picture. Mars (right) shaws dark areas which may be vegetation. The color of these areas seems ta change regularly with the changing seasons on Mars.

Mars is farther from the sun than is the earth, it receives less heat than the earth. Its surface temperature ranges from 90° F. below zero to about 60° F. above zero. Plant life therefore, if any exists there, must be unlike that of the earth. Since it has less atmosphere than our earth and probably little oxygen or water vapor in it, animal life, if there is any, would also differ from that on earth.

Mars rotates on its axis once in a little more than $24\frac{1}{2}$ hours; so the length of day is not very different from our day. Mars has two moons while our earth has only one.

THE KING OF PLANETS.—Jupiter is a planet a thousand times larger than the earth. Although Jupiter is 88,392 miles in diameter, it is so far away that it looks like a small star. The moon, on the other hand, looks large, even though it is only 2160 miles in diameter. This is because it is so near only 240,000 miles away.

Twelve moons have been discovered revolving around Jupiter. The moon nearest to Jupiter takes only about eleven hours to make one revolution Four of these moons can be seen with a small telescope. Galileo discovered them first with his new telescope in 1610. The twelfth moon was discovered in 1951.

FIELD RESEARCH

Secure a small telescope or good field glass. Arrange to steady it on a support. Then when Jupiter is in a good position for observation, try to discover the four moons that Galileo saw.



The Solar System.—How many known planets are there? Which one is hearest to the sun? Which planet do you think is caldest? Do you know which planet is the "earth's twin"? Is there life on Mars?

There is evidence that Jupiter has a dense, deep atmosphere, full of yellow and red clouds. The atmosphere is different from ours in that it contains aumonia and methane. You are familiar with animonia, as it is used for household cleaning. Methane is a gas that is sometimes formed by decay of vegetation under water. It is given off as bubbles when the mud at the bottom of the pond is disturbed.

1SO THE HEAVENS
clouds. It is nearer the sun than the earth, being only about 67,000,000 miles from the sun We rarely see Venus overhead in the night sky, for i unever gets very far from the sun It appears at twilight in the western sky, or just before dawn in the eastern sky. You will understand these statements better if you turn back to the dagram on page 180. Notice how Venus will always be close to the sun. When Venus is on the same side of the sun as the earth, and nearer to the earth, it shines with great hrillancy It is so bright that at times it can be seen for awhile even after sunrise, or before sundown.

Abke as Venus and the earth are, their atmospheres are very unlike. Water and oxygen, so necessary to earthborn creature, are very rare on Venus. That fact seems to prove that there is no life there. Lafe, as we know it, must have oxygen.

MORNING AND EVENING "SPURS."—Parading ahead to herald the rising sun, Venus is a sight well worth our getting out before sump to see. At certain seasons this beautiful planet seems to be leading the sun arrows the sky. We cannot see it in the evening sky, because it sinks below the horizon before the sun does Built it rises in the east just before the sun in the morning. At these times, Venus is called the Morning Star.

Then, as the planets change their positions, Venus may follow the sun across the sky Then it can be seen in the west soon after surset. At this time it is called the Evening Star. But Venus appears to lose a little in the race every day. Thus it sets later and later after the sun until it becomes a Morning Star again.

It will help to understand this if you again refer to the diagram on page 180. Venus is revolving about the sun inside the orbit of the earth. Therefore we see it part of the time to the right of the sun, that is, west of the sun. From the earth it seems to move ahead of the sun in its path. Thus it rises ahead of the sun and is a Morning Star. However, a lattle later Venus appears to the left of the sun, that is, east of the sun Then it seems to follow the sun and hence sets later than the sun. It is then the Evening Star.

MERCURY .- There is another Evening Star which may be seen in the spring, very soon after sunset. It is Mercury, the

planet closest to the sun. Mercury is so near to the sun that it is only seen near the horizon soon after the sun sets or just before the sun is up in the morning. In February of 1940 Mercury led Venus, Jupiter, Saturn, and Mars in a sky parade not seen before for many hundreds of years. Because of its nearness to the sun, the Greeks believed that Mercury was a close friend of Apollo, the sun-god.

Mercury is much smaller than the earth. It is only about the size of the moon. Because of its nearness to the sun and lack of atmosphere, it would be an uncomfortably hot place in which to live. It turns on its axis at about the same rate of speed that it moves around the sun. This means that the same side is always exposed to the sun's heat. The side toward the sun may be 660° F. This is hot enough to melt lead. The side away from the sun may be almost 460° F. below zero.

SATURN, THE RINGED PLANET.—One of the most beautiful sights of the heavens through a telescope is Saturn with its famous rings. Saturn is about ten times larger than our earth. But it is about as heavy as an equal volume of cork.

There are three rings around Saturn that make it look so different from the other planets. The middle ring is about 16,000 miles wide. The outside rings are about 10,000 miles wide. These rings that look flat and thin are really made up of vast numbers of small moons revolving around the planet. Besides the countless little moons of the rings, Saturn has nine regular moons.

It takes Saturn about twenty-nine times as long as the earth to make one revolution. Sometimes the planet is tipped so we can see the rings on edge. Most of the time, however, we can see the surface of the rings.

While a year on Saturn is about twenty-nine times as long as a year on earth, day and night are much shorter. This is because Saturn turns on its axis once in about ten hours instead of our twenty-four hours.

Is there life on Saturn? Saturn is more than 880,000,000 miles from the sun. The earth, you know, is only about 93,000,000 miles from the sun. How cold do you think it would be on a planet that is nearly ten times farther from the sun than the earth?



The Newest Planet —The arrow points to Pluto. The picture on the right was taken six days ofter the afther. The fact that Pluto had changed its position in the meanime proved that it was a planet, not a star, as airconners previously believed.

Ptoro.-The planet Pluto is the most recent addition to the solar family It was discovered in March, 1930 Its existence and position, however, had been predicted fifteen years earlier by Professor Pereval Lowell of the Flagstaff Observatory, Anzona

Pluto is nearly forty times as far from the sun as is the earth. It is so far away from the earth that it takes from four to five hours for its light to reach us It requires almost 248 of our years for Pluto to make one revolution about the sun. In size Pluto is thought to be about 3,550 miles in diameter.

About a hundred years ago the planet Uranus was thought to be the most distant planet of the sun's family. However, scientists knew the paths planet should take as determined from their size, weight, distance from the sun, and other properties. They found that Uranus, for some reason or other, did not move in the particular path they thought it should. Two young scientists decided there must be another planet outside of Uranus which exerted gravitational forces upon Uranus. This, they believed, was cauving Uranus to move in a different path than it would otherwise. Therefore, they assumed the presence of such a planet and calculated where it would be.

Later the planet Neptune was discovered almost exactly where these young scientists had predicted.

However, even the existence of Neptune was not enough to explain entirely why Uranus did not travel the path that it should. This led Professor Lowell to assume another planet still farther from the sun than Neptune. He calculated its position and how it would move. His calculations resulted in the discovery of Pluto.

The discovery of these two planets is an excellent example of the way in which scientists work in making new discoveries. Based on the motions of the planets already known, it depended on the laws of gravitation. It is striking evidence of the accuracy of the method of science.

ANOTHER PLANET?—Have all the planets of the sun's family been discovered? Or is there still another one? In 1950 some scientists predicted that there was still another planet, far out beyond Pluto. From a study of the orbits of the planets, they believe that this undiscovered planet is 77 times as far from the sun as is the earth. Are these scientists correct? No one knows right now. But the tenth planet may be discovered just as the Sth and 9th were.

MERRY-GO-ROUND.—Everyone knows that the sun and moon rise and set with perfect regularity. "As certain as the sun will rise" is an expression all of us have heard. As scientists, though, we should realize that the rising and setting of the sun and moon are apparent rather than real motions.

Have you ever had the experience on a train or automobile of thinking that a nearby car was moving when all the time the movement was that of your own car? In much the same way we can understand the *apparent* movement of the sun, the stars, the moon, and the planets from east to west in our sky.

The earth rotates (turns) on its axis west to east. Hence an object in the sky that is stationary in the sky pattern is seen first at the eastern horizon. As the earth continues to turn toward the east, the horizon line, where the sky and earth seem to meet, changes. The object appears to move upward through the sky, until it reaches a position directly overhead. As the earth turns still farther, the object appears to move closer to the western horizon. Thus the sun and the moon

THE PLANETS AND OUT BEYOND 185

appear to move. Actually it is the earth which moves and thus causes the march of these bodies across the sky.

For the same reason, the stars at night appear to rise above our eastern horizon. They march across the sky, and finally simb below, since the earth during our night completes it's rotation about its axis.

Pilarcis are in almost the same plane with the sum and the properties of the almost the resone plane in the same position on the horizon as do the sum and the moon. They take ion on the horizon as do the sum and the moon. They take another the stars each have then own parallel paths across carry. The stars each have then own parallel paths across out sky. Some, as you know, one above the northern horizon above the southern horizon and are seen by people living south above the southern horizon and are seen by people living south above the southern but are seen by people living south above the southern but are seen by people living south above the southern horizon and are seen by people living south above the southern but are seen by people living south above the southern but are seen by people living south above the southern but are seen by people living south above the southern but are seen by people living south above the southern but are seen by people living south above the southern but are seen by people living south above the southern but are seen by people living south above the southern but are seen by people live the second above the southern but are seen by people living souther above the southern but are seen by people living souther above the southern but are seen by people living south above the southern but are seen by people living souther but are above the southern but are seen by people living souther but are above the southern and are seen by people living souther people living southern but are seen by people living southern but are above the southern but are seen by the second southern but are seen by people living southern but are seen by but are seen by the second southern but are seen by the second southe

Star Trait—To mote this prome, a convera was pointed toward the Marth Star and the fens left open for sight hours. The convera and with the rotating earth, and this converae each star to leave a trait on with the rotating earth, and this films.

Caling & while Long and Contract



Over a period of several months keep track of the place on the horizon where the sun and the moon rise or set. Try to explain why they do not rise and set at the same places on the horizon all year.

CATCHING UP WITH THE MOON.—You have learned that the moon not only turns on its own axis, but that it also revolves about the earth from west to east. Therefore, the motion of the moon is due to two causes: (1) apparent motion due to the rotation of the earth, and (2) the moon's real revolution about the earth. Most of the moon's motion is apparent, due to the earth's rotation. The stars and the sun, however, do not revolve around the earth. Thus the moon's motion will be different from that of the sun and stars.

The stars rise about four minutes (exactly 3 minutes 56 seconds) *earlier* each night. The moon rises about fifty minutes *later* each night. It takes twenty-four hours plus that fifty minutes for an observer at a given place on the earth to catch up with the moon and see it again at the eastern horizon. It is, therefore, fifty minutes later by the clock each night when the moon rises.

minimum FIELD RESEARCH minimum minimum

Note the times given on a calendar for the rising of the moon each night and compare with your own observations.

GENERAL PROBLEM 2

What Is Beyond Our Solar System?

A TASK FOR YOUR IMAGINATION.—How far will your imagination reach? Are you satisfied to think of our own solar system with its planets? Or would you like to think on and on and out still farther beyond them into space? Will your imagination carry you out 1000 light years into space? A million light years? A billion light years?



Elbow Grease—These men are paishing the 200-inch pyrex glass disk of the Mt. Palamar telescope After the disk had been palished, it was coated with alumnum to make the mirror for the telescope.

THE ASTRONOMERS' TOOLS.-"How," you ssk, "can anyone know what is a billion light years away from the earth?" And that is a good question. When we remember that one light year is about six trillion miles, we are staggered with the distance of a billion hight years.

It is only in the last few years that astronomers have been able to explore these vast distances In 1924 a new 100-incb telescope at Mt Wilson opened up vast distances beyond the earth. But rather than solving the problems about the universe, this telescope merely showed that an even more powerful one was needed! Now, after more than twenty years of preparation, the new 200-inch Hale telescope on Palomar Mountain is reaching out a bilion light years into space. The 100-inch and 200-inch refer to the size of the mirrors in these telescopes. Light from distant stars is gathered by the mirrors and focused onto a photographic plate. Thus astronomers do not see the far distant objects. They take pietures of them.

Mapping the Skies.—This is the 48-inch Schmidt telescape at Mt. Palamar. The astranomer is taking a sky picture for a photographic map af the universe. The "sky map" will take faur years to complete and will guide astranomers for the next half century.



Wide World Photos

The 200-inch Hale telescope has a new team-mate also. It is the 48-inch Schmidt telescope. The Schmidt takes very clear pictures of a wide area of the sky. It is being used to map the entire sky, a job which should be completed by 1954. The sky maps are then studied. Any interesting objects are next photographed with the 200-inch Hale telescope. The Hale sees far; the Schmidt sees wide.

Our GALAXY.—The stars that you see are suns, many of them thousands of times larger than our sun. Scientists believe that all these suns and many more, too, form a great group, shaped like a huge lens, or perhaps like a wagon wheel. This group of stars, or island universe, is called a *galaxy*. A galaxy is a great system of suns having an orderly motion and development. The diameter of our galaxy is about 200,000 light years. Its thickness is about 20,000 light years. If you recall that one light year is almost six trillion miles, it will help you understand how huge our galaxy is. These dimensions are approximate only. So far it has been impossible to measure them accurately.

Our solar system is only part of our galaxy. The outer rim of this galaxy is the Milky Way. It is the same Milky Way

THE PLANETS AND OUT BEYOND 189



Great Spiral in Andromeda,—Pholographs like this have helped autonomers moke their wonderful discoveres about the universe. Golaxes like this were ance thought to be goscous nebuloo. Now we know that many of them are really golaxies made up of great mouses of stars.

we see as a band of faint stars across the sky. Our galaxy probably contains several hundred thousand million stars. One of these stars is our sun. It is important to us but in the galaxy it is just another star The entire galaxy is rotating like a great wheel once in about 200,000,000 years. On this basis, our sun with its family of planets is traveling about 200 miles per second in its journey through space.

Ornea GALAXIES. - Our Milky Way galaxy is not the only galaxy. Far out in space are other galaxies. These other galaxies are so far away that even the Hale telescope cannot photograph their separate stars.

The new 200-inch telescope has given us fine pictures of the



Two Kinds of Nebulae.—The "spiral" nebula on the left looks like a great whirlpool in space. On the right is a "ring" or "planetary" nebula. Ring nebulae probably get their light from stars.

different kinds of galaxies in space. One kind is the *spiral* galaxy, such as our Milky Way galaxy. Another kind is the *globular* galaxy. Still another kind of galaxy is in the shape of an *ellipse*.

The brightest of our neighboring galaxies is the great Andromeda galaxy. On a clear moonless night you can see this galaxy with your naked eye. It is in the constellation Andromeda shown in the star maps, pages 136, 137. For a long time it was thought to be a mass of gas among the stars. Now, however, photographs have proved that it is a galaxy. This galaxy is about 800,000 light years away. It is probably about 40,000 light years from side to side. As a matter of fact, our own Milky Way galaxy and the Andromeda galaxy are really quite similar.

All told, thousands of galaxies have been discovered. Each one is an island universe in itself. Each one contains millions and millions of stars.

MASSES OF GAS.-We have learned that our galaxy and all

THE PLANETS AND OUT BEYOND 191



Courters MI 9 Harn Charrysing

A Spiral Nebula in Virgo.—This photograph was taken with the 200inch telescope at the Palomar Observatory. The picture shows the nebula edge on. The word "nebula" means "mist" in Latin.

other galaxies are made up of many, many stars. Galaxies also have great masses of glowing gas called *nebulao* (singular, *nebula*) One such nebula can be found in the constellation Orion. The ring nebula (picture, page 101) is also in our galaxy. Astronomers beheve that there are millions of nebulao. Many are in our galaxy. Many are in other galaxies. Some may be outside of any galaxy. However, nebulae are not systems of stars. They are masses of glowing reas.

How Was THE UNIVERSE FORSTEN?-No one knows how the universe was started, or how old it is. However, from what astronomers have learned about the stars, they have developed scientific guesses or theories. Thus the past history of the stars is reasoned out from the happenings of the present. As a science pupl you are learning to distinguish fact from theories or guesses. As scientists discover new facts, they often have to change their theory. You, too, must be ready to change your opinions as new facts are learned. As scientific instruments are improved and new ones invented, new facts are discovered.

We have already mentioned two new telescopes now being used. It is possible that they will discover new facts and cause some theories to be changed. Earlier we read about the use of radar in studying eclipses of the sun. Who knows, perhaps radar will someday be a tool as important as the telescope in astronomy.

AN ORDERLY DEVELOPMENT.—We know that nature's activities today are carried on with systematic order. Many of these activities or happenings are known as natural laws. So it is thought that there has always been an orderly development throughout the ages. If this is true, it may very well be possible to reason out the happenings of the past from our knowledge of the happenings of today.

To tell the story of the development of the universe in a few simple sentences is impossible. It is like trying to paint a great

The 200-inch Telescope.—This shows the inside of the Palomar Observatary and its great telescope. With such instruments astronomers constantly learn more about the heavens. Scientific curiosity, however, will never be satisfied, and this telescope searches the sky every clear night far more knowledge.



picture with one color or one line. All details and supporting evidence must be omnited. However, as you go on with your study of science you may find the evidence and detail for yourself Perhaps you will discover the divine guidance in it all.

A DEVELOPING UNIVERSE.—According to one theory, about 34 billion years ago all the universe was one large mass of material—a sort of superatom. For some reason, this tremendous superatom exploded. The explosion may have produced millions of nebulae at great distances from each other. Or perhaps the explosion produced globular galaxies made up mostly of gas and dust. The nebulae started out as fluffy balls of gas, and gradually changed into clusters of stars or galaxies.

Another theory holds that the galaxies themselves are of different ages. The explosion of the superatom may have produced globular galaxies made up mostly of gas and dust. As tnev rotated, the dust formed into stars, and the galaxy flattened out. The continuing whirling caused streamers to be thrown off, and hence soural galaxies were formed.

How did it all begin? How did it develop? Where will it all end? No one knows. But certainly it is a task for our imaginations And as we think about the smallness of our own earth in this tremendous system, can we help but marvel at the order of it all?

GENERAL PROBLEM 3

What Holds the Universe Together?

UNIVERSAL GRATITATION.—Each one of the billion or more sume has a particular place in its own galaxy. Each one has some relation to all the other suns in that family. Out beyond, each galaxy has its place in the universe. The rules which produce this law and order in the universe. The rules which produce this law and order in the universe. Larky scientifis there that a stome falls to the earth because there is a *force of attraction* between the earth and the stone. They knew that unless the stone and earth are held apart by some equal or greater force they will come together. You know this to be true from your own experiences.

Archimedes knew this fact, and Galileo knew it. In fact Galileo made a special study of falling bodies. He learned that all bodies, large and small, fall at the same rate of speed for each second of time. He found, too, that they fall faster and faster each second. The farther they fall, the faster they fall.

Sir Isaac Newton went much farther in his studies of gravitation. He proved to other scientists that the attraction which the earth has for the stone is a *universal attraction*. By that he meant every body in the universe attracts every other body. This is called Newton's law of universal gravitation.

All of the galaxies have an attraction or pulling force for each other. All of the suns have an attraction for each other. Our sun has an attraction for our earth and all the other planets. Our earth and all the other planets have an attraction for their moons.

HOLDING THE EARTH IN PLACE.—Newton's law helps explain how it is that the earth and the other planets maintain their positions in space while they travel about the sun.

The drawing below will help you to understand the forces that hold the planets in their orbits. As long as the string does not break, the apple will continue in its circular motion about your head as a center. Once it does break, the apple will fly off in a straight line.

In the same manner mud flies from the wheel of a rapidly



Balancing Forces.—Have you ever tried this experiment? Tell how the forces illustrated here work opposite each other to keep the earth in its orbit.

moving automobile or bacycle. The mud sticks to a slowmoving wheel. So long as the "sticking" force is greater than the "throwing" force, the mud will stay on the wheel. But as the wheel goes faster, the force which tends to throw the mud from the wheel increases. The mud will fly off. The fact that the earth is revolving about the sun gives it a tendency to fly away from the sun puts as the mud flies from the rotating wheel.

This force acting away from the center of a rotating body is known as centrifugal force. The earth, revolving around the sun, is therefore acted upon by two balancing forces: gravitation and centrifugal force. Gravitation tends to pull the earth and the sun together Centrifugal force tends to force the earth farther away from the sun. Because these forces are balanced, the earth mantain sits position in its orbit.

All the other placets are also held in their places by a balancing of these two forces These same forces are also actiog to maintain the orderly balance throughout the universe.

THE TUES AND THE MOON.—One Interesting result of the force of attraction and of centrifugal force is the ocean *lides*. The moon attracts and actually pulls the water of the ocean ocearest it toto a kind of heap or wave. See the diagram on page 197 As the earth turns on its axis, this wave follows the mooo but lags behind about 200 miles each hour. Of course, heaping the water in one place must make it shallower in another. Thus we have high lides and lows tides.

Another curious fact about tides is that high tides occur in the ocean at the same time on the opposite side of the earth. This is due to the fact that the water, being farther away, is not attracted as much as the earth. The earth is actually pulled away from the water. The high tide on the side far from the moon is also partly caused by entrilingal force pushing the water away from the earth.

The sun, too, causes tides, but not as high as those caused by the moon That is because the sun is much farther away.

Since the earth turns on its axis once every 24 hours, a high tide occurs about every 12 hours. Each high tide at any given place is followed by a low tide 6 hours later.

THINKING THINGS OVER.-Can you now appreciate the gigantic scale on which our wonderful solar system is built? Yet

you must not forget that the distances in our solar system are very small when we consider the distances to other suns in our galaxy. For example, you have read that Alpha Centauri is



Tides.—(A) Both the sun and moon are causing tides on the earth. The moon, being nearer, produces the greater effect. (B) Although an opposite sides of the earth, the moon and sun are still working together to produce the tide shown. (C) The moon and sun are pulling at right angles "against" each other. Note that the tide caused by the moon is greater than that caused by the sun. Explain why the forces of the sun and moon are added together in B. Why don't they, being an opposite sides of the earth, bolonce each other?



Low Tide.—At a time like this all a fisherman can do is repair his boat and get ready for the rext soil. This low tide is at St. Ives, England. Where else in the world is there a low tide at the some time?

over four light years away. The North Star 13 1085 light years away. The galaxy in Andromeda is nearly one million light years distant

Your study of the universe reveals to you a law and order in nature almost beyond human understanding. As a student of science, you value facts. These facts should help you develop power to understand this gigantic universe of which our carth is such a little part. How small we humans are when compared to the universe! Yet we possess something that is greater, more wonderful, and nore difficult to understand than all else in the universe. We have minds with which to think, and wills to direct our actions. And we have souls to appreciate the grandeur of it all. With all this as a background, we can appreciate more than ever how thing things must adapt

themselves to life in the solar system. And we can understand why our world is probably the only planet to support life as we know it.

KEY WORDS

centrifugal force	Mars	planet
elliptical	Mercury	radar
Evening Star	Morning Star	Saturn
galaxy	nebula	solar system
Galileo	Neptune	tide
gravitation	Newton	universe
Hale telescope	orbit	Venus
Jupiter		

Key Statements

1. The nine known major planets are, in order of distances from the sun, Mercury, Venus, Earth, Mars, Jupiter, Saturn, Uranus, Neptune, and Pluto.

2. Planets change their positions with respect to the stars, but nevertheless follow true courses.

3. The rising, the moving across the sky from east to west, and the setting of the heavenly bodies are apparent movements. The apparent movement is due to the rotation of the earth from west to east.

4. Celestial bodies are held in their paths by a balancing of forces.

5. Great groups or families of stars are called galaxies.

6. Our sun is one of a billion or more suns which make up the Milky Way galaxy.

7. Our galaxy rotates once in about 200,000,000 years.

8. The Andromeda galaxy is similar to ours. It is about 800,000 light years away.

9. Great masses of glowing gas in space are called nebulae. There is a nebula in the constellation Orion.

10. The universe is thought to consist of millions of nebulae and galaxies in various states of development.

11. Ideas as to how the universe developed are expressed as theories.

12. The Law of Universal Gravitation states that every body in the universe attracts every other body in the universe.

13. The main cause of ocean tides is the force of attraction between the earth and the moon.

THOUGHT QUESTIONS

 $^{\prime}1$ How can you tell a bether an object in the sky is a planet or a starf

2 What are some differences between a planet and a star?

3. Does the sun rise, move across the heavens, and set? Explain.

4 What do we mean by Evening Star and Morning Star? Why are Venus or Mercury usually the Evening Star or Morning Star?

5 Why does not the moon rise four minutes earlier each night as do the stars?

6 What is the difference between a nebula and a galaxy?

7 Arrange the following in order of size, beginning with the smallest galaxy, solar system, moon, sun, earth, universe, light year.

8 Explain why galaxies and nebulae remain in their relative positions

9 Why doesn't the earth drift away from the sun?

10 Is the high tide in any one locality always the same height? Explain your answer

11. Explain why the moon is more important than the sun in causing tides

12 How far have astronomers explored space?

PROJECTS FOR YOUR SCIENCE DISCOVERY BOOK

1 Make diagrams to illustrate the positions of the earth and the moon during high and low tides There is a time of year when high tides are higher than at other times. How is it explained?

2 Make a list of the names of men and women who have contributed largely to our theories of the development of the universe.

3 Write a story of Copernicus and how his theory differed from that of earlier philosophers.

4 Construct a telescope and try to discover the moons of Jupiter.

5. If you ever listen to a broadcast telling about "space ships" or other means of travel to other planets, try to separate the facts from the fiction

6 Show how the work of Gableo and that of Newton were endeavors to find the truth.

7 Look up and resid American Indian legends relating to the sun and planets

8 Investigate, through library references, theories concerning life on Mars

9 Collect pictures of galaxies and nebulae Name each one Tell how far away each is, and its approximate size.

10. If you live near the ocean, keep a record of the times of the high tides for a month.

11. List some ways in which tides are useful. List also ways in which tides may be dangerous.

12. Try your hand at taking star trail pictures. Most interesting ones will be made by pointing the camera to the north and keeping the shutter open for three hours or more.

THE PLANETS AND OUT BEYOND 201



Sumet in Florida —Of oll our states Florida extends the formation south. These paths trees give us an ela of its semi-trajucid climate. Do you know how the revolution of our earth around the sun gives Florida at warm, same (timet?

TOPIC VIII

Daylight, Darkness, and Seasons

DO YOU KNOW-

1. Why day and night are equal only twice a year?

2. What causes summer and winter?

3. Why there is long twilight in the arctic?

4. Why there is no winter near the equator except on high mountains?

GENERAL PROBLEM 1

What Causes the Lengths of Day and Night to Change?

REVOLUTION AND ROTATION.—"Revolution" and "rotation"—do these words mean endless journeys to you? Our "air space ship" is the earth that hurries us along around the sun at the rate of about sixty-six thousand miles every hour. That speed is beyond our understanding. Moreover our "air space ship" itself is turning round and round on its axis once in twenty-four hours. This adds almost another 1000 miles an hour to our speed. Thus there are two motions—round and round the axis of the earth called *rotation*, and round and round the sun called *revolution*.

Our earth is not alone in its journey around the sun. There are known to be at least eight other planets revolving about the sun in the same direction as the earth. Mercury and Venus

DAYLIGHT, DARKNESS, AND SEASONS 203

have orbits or paths m-ide that of the earth. Mars, Jupiter, Saturn, Uranus, Neptune, and Pluto travel in orbits out beyond the earth.

The revolution of all the planets about the sun is from treat to east. Imagine yourself looking down upon our great solar system from the North Star. You would see the sun at the center. The planets would be revolving about the sun in nearly circular paths in a direction opposite to that of the hands of the clock.

As you watched the earth from the North Star, you would see the earth also turning counter-clockwise, that is, from west to east Mars, Saturn, and Jupiter rotate in the same direction as the earth Uranus rotates in the opposite direction. The rotatons of the other planets are not yet positively known.

The EARTH'S AXIS.—A wagon wheel turns about the axle. The axle (axis) of the earth is imaginary. However, the earth turns just as though it had a real axis You may think of the earth as a spinning top. But it will be different from a real topif a top is set spinning on a table, its axis will be straight up and down, that is, perpenducular to the table. The top also may spin in just one place on the table. The top also may spin in just one place on the table. The earth on the other hand spins with its axis at a slant. As it spins, the earth moves in a great, nearly circular path. The earth, therefore, has two motions—rotabuton and revolution.

A flat surface like your desk top is called a plane. The flat surface marked off by the path or orbit of the earth is the plane of the earth's orbit.

The imaginary axes of the earth is tipped at an angle of 23.5° away from the perpendicular. It is tipped so that it forms a straight line pointing to the North Star. To illustrate the slant of the axis to the plane of the orbit, first hold a pencil straight up and down on your desk top. This position is called perpendicular. Now hold the pencil at an angle to the table. It will then be unclined. Study the diagram on page 205.

THE EFFECT OF ROTATION.--As you ride round and round on the earth you are in the light of the sun for a few hours. Then you are away from the sun for the rest of the twenty-four hours it takes for the earth to spin around once on its axis. Everyhody knows that darkness follows daylight.

If you live in the northern part of the United States, you know that it gets dark earlier in the fall and winter. If you live in the south you know this too, but the change is not so noticeable as in the north. How all of us long for spring and the return of the long hours of daylight and the warmer sun!



The Earth and Its Orbit.—If the earth's axis were straight up and down, it would take the position represented by the vertical dotted line. What are the effects of the inclination of the earth's axis? What two motions of the earth are shown here?

We know that the cause of the change from daylight to darkness is the turning of the earth on its axis—rotation. But do you know why some days are long and some are short? Let us try to find the answer. It has to do with the slanting of the earth's axis.

LONG AND SHORT DAYS AND NIGHTS.—What would happen if the axis of the earth were perpendicular to the plane of the earth's orbit? The length of day and of night would be equal all over the earth at all times of the year. This is shown in Drawing 3-4 on page 206. But the earth's axis is inclined 23.5° from the perpendicular. This results in a shortening or lengthening of day and night at different seasons, except at the equator. Let's see why this is so.

We must remember that the earth's axis is tipped. It is tipped so that the north end is always pointing toward the North Star. Thus for six months, the north end of the axis is inclined toward the sun. For the other six months the north



Changing Length of Day.—Diagram 1 represents the earth in its ummer position, 2, the winter position, 3 and 4, spring and fall. Diagram 5 represents what would happen if the earth's axis were tipped at 47 degrees instead of 23§ degrees. In which diagram [1, 2, 3, or 4] are days longest in the northern hemisphere? What season is this? Which diagram shows shortest days north of the equator? What season is this? Where on the earth are days and nights always of eavel length.

end of the axis is tipped away from the sun. We must also remember that half of the earth is always being lighted by the sun This is daylight While one half is having daylight, the other half is in shadow or darkness. This is night.

When the north end of the axis is inclined *loward* the sun, the days in the northern hemisphere are longer than the nights. This is shown in Drawing 1 above. You can tell this is so if you will trace ι . e part of the circle A-F that is in the light and compare this with the part in darkness.

In Drawing 2, the sun is again shining on the earth. Half of it is lighted The other half is in darkness or shadow. Now the

north end of the axis is tipped away from the sun. This drawing represents the position of the earth when it is winter in the northern hemisphere. Imagine that the circle A-B-C-D-E-Fis the path you would take if you journeyed around with the earth on a 24-hour trip. If you start at A and journey with the earth to B and C, you will be traveling in darkness. When the earth brings you to the point D, you will come into the sunlight and it will be day. While you are being carried on to E and F and back to A, you will be riding in daylight. Now measure your route and see how much more of it was in darkness than daylight.

On the same drawing trace a ride represented by a circle in the southern hemisphere. Will the daylight part of the ride be longer than the night? On the equator you would spend just 12 hours in daylight and 12 hours in night.

When the axis points neither toward nor away from the sun, the days and nights are of equal length all over the earth. This is shown in Diagram 3-4. Riding on the circle again, you would be in daylight from A, through B and C, to D. You would be in darkness through E and F back to A. If you measure this route, you will find that the two parts of the trip are of equal length.

Our earth is in this position twice each year, once in the spring and again in the fall. These are the times of equal day and night all over the earth. They are called the *equinoxes*. Of course, at the equator the days and nights are always of equal length.

The difference in the lengths of day and night increases as one travels from the equator toward either pole. For this reason when it is winter in the northern hemisphere (Diagram 2) the north pole of the earth has night for six months. The south pole has day for those same six months. When it is summer in the northern hemisphere (Diagram 1) the north pole has a six month's day. The six month's night at the north or south pole is not six months of absolute darkness. The twilight and the moon give some light to the polar regions except for about three weeks.

Wherever you live, north or south of the equator, once a year you have the "longest day" and "shortest night." About What causes unequal lengths of day and night!





What form of energy is made use of in this experiment? What is its source? In this experiment again, the sizes of objects do not give an accurate representation of the real things. Even so, the flashight and globe will help you illustrate the causes of unequal lengths of day and night through the seasons

In the diagram the rays of light are shown spreading This is because of the limitation of drawing Actually the rays from the sun striking the earth are practically parallel

WHAT TO USE.—A six- or eight-inch slate globe on an axis; a flashlight; and a darkened room.

WHAT TO Do.—1. Draw a circle on the globe to represent the equator. Draw parallel circles north and south of the equator to represent the Arctic and Antarctic circles and the tropics of Cancer and Capricorn.

2. Hold the globe in front of the class with the axis in a vertical position. Holding the flashlight in the center of the room, turn the light toward the globe. Rotate the globe slowly. Observe how much of each circle is in the light and how much in darkness during one complete turn. Do all places on the earth under this condition have equal day and night?

3. Hold the globe at the side of the room to the right of the class with the axis inclined about 23.5° from the perpendicular and away from the class. Turn the beam of light on the globe. Rotate the globe as before. Observe the amount of each circle that is in daylight and in darkness during a complete turn. Notice if the equator circle is equally divided by light and darkness.

WHAT HAPPENS.—1. How many degrees from the equator should each of these circles be drawn to truly represent those on a map?

2. What proportion of each circle was lighted? (Half, more than half, or less than half.) Were one or more of the circles equally divided by light and darkness? Which ones?

3. What part of each circle was lighted? (Half, more than half, or less than half.) Was any circle equally divided by light and darkness? Which one?

CONCLUSION .- What are the causes of unequal day and night?

APPLICATION.—Would the differences between day and night be greater or less if the axis were inclined more than 23.5° from the perpendicular?

six months later you have the shortest day and longest night. How many hours long these will be depends upon how far north or south of the equator you live.

In the northern hemisphere, the longest day is about June 21. This is the day when the earth's axis is slanted most toward the sun. The shortest day is about December 21, when the axis is slanted most away from the sun.

Twilight is caused by the scattering (diffusing) of the sun's rays by dust and moisture in the air. After the sun sets, some diffused light finds its way out over the part of the earth turning



Exist Galler's

Midnight San.—These pictures, taken a few minutes apart, show the movements of the sun during the long day at the north pole. Note that the sun readins almost tevel with the horizon. If was broad day' light when the pictures were taken. The darkness was coused by a leng filter that hat to be used in taking pictures of the sun.

from the sun. At the equator twilight is very short, while at the poles it is nearly six months long (Do you think there can be a twilight on the moon? Why?)

Perings you can understand why the lengths of day and night vary by studying the drawings on page 206. However, Experiment 17 will help you to prove the cause of unequal day and night.

GENERAL PROBLEM 2

What Causes the Changing Seasons?

MANY FACTORS.—Why is it warmer in summer than in winter? Why do the seasons follow each other in regular order? These are not simple questions to answer. The change of the seasons is due to many causes, all related and all working together. The revolution of the earth about the sun is one cause. The inclination of the earth's axis is another. The rotation of the earth plays a part. And the transfer of heat from one body to another must also be considered. To understand the change of seasons we must understand all these factors.



H. Armstrong Roberts

From June to January.—Most men and animals cannot follow the sun. They must adapt themselves to changing seasons. What are some of the ways in which men and animals adapt themselves to yearly changes in weather?

HEATING RAYS FROM THE SUN.—When energy leaves a hot body, it goes out in all directions in straight lines like light rays. The energy is said to be *radiated* (page 157). You know that if you are facing a fireplace, the energy radiating from it strikes you in front but does not warm your back. If you would warm your back, you must turn it towards the fire. In the same way, only that part of the earth which faces the sun is able to absorb its rays of energy, and be warmed by them. When some energy rays are absorbed by a substance, heat is formed. So we may speak of the energy rays which are thus absorbed as heating rays. Remember that only energy rays which are absorbed by the earth can heat it.

Heating rays actually go out in all directions from the sun. But we are interested only in the parallel heating rays which strike the earth. The sun is so far away that all the rays that reach us are practically parallel, that is, going in the same direction.



Erine Gellecer

Midinghi Sun_—These pictures, taken a few minutes apart, show the movements of the sun during the long day of the north pole. Note that the sun remains almost level with the horizon. It was broad days light when the pictures were taken. The darkness was caused by a lens filter that has to be used in taking pictures of the sun.

from the sun. At the equator twilight is very short, while at the poles it is nearly six months long (Do you think there can be a twilight on the moon? Why?)

Perhaps you can understand why the lengths of day and night vary by studying the drawing* on page 200. However, Experiment 17 will help you to prove the cause of unequal day and night.

GENERAL PROBLEM 2

What Causes the Changing Seasons?

MANY FACTORS.—Why is it warmer in summer than in winter? Why do the seasons follow each other in regular order? These are not sample questions to answer. The change of the seasons is due to many causes, all related and all working together. The revolution of the earth about the sun is one cause. The inclination of the earth's axis is another. The rotation of the earth plays a part. And the transfer of heat from one body of seasons we must also be considered. To understand the change of seasons we must understand all these factors.



From June to January.—Most men and animals cannot follow the sun. They must adapt themselves to changing seasons. What are some of the ways in which men and animals adapt themselves to yearly changes in weather?

HEATING RAYS FROM THE SUN.—When energy leaves a hot body, it goes out in all directions in straight lines like light rays. The energy is said to be *radiated* (page 157). You know that if you are facing a fireplace, the energy radiating from it strikes you in front but does not warm your back. If you would warm your back, you must turn it towards the fire. In the same way, only that part of the earth which faces the sun is able to absorb its rays of energy, and be warmed by them. When some energy rays are absorbed by a substance, heat is formed. So we may speak of the energy rays which are thus absorbed as heating rays. Remember that only energy rays which are absorbed by the earth can heat it.

Heating rays actually go out in all directions from the sun. But we are interested only in the parallel heating rays which strike the earth. The sun is so far away that all the rays that reach us are practically parallel, that is, going in the same direction.



Sailing All Year Raund.—Man adapts his sports as well as his more serious activities to the changing seasons.



If you hold your hand broadside to a hot body, more heating rays will strike it than if you hold it edgewise. You will feel more heat. To picture this condition we can use lines as shown in the diagrams below. When block A is upright, eleven of the parallel heating rays strike it. When the block is tipped as in B, only six rays strike it in spite of the fact that the block is the same length. Only its position has been changed. In other words, the greatest number of heating rays will strike an object when it is held broadside or perpendicular to the rays.



Why Direct Rays Are Hotter than Slanting Rays.—How many heating rays strike the block A? block B? After studying these diagrams can you explain why slanting rays are not so warm as direct rays?

In part C of the diagram, equal lengths of the earth's surface are marked off. Notice that the middle length of the surface receives eight rays. The lengths above and below receive only three rays each. Of course these numbers do not refer to aetual heating rays. They just show differences in the number of rays striking different parts of the earth. The diagram tells us that the part of the earth most nearly perpendicular to the rays receives more rays than any other part. In other words, direct rays furnish more heat than slanting rays.



Winter.—The constant procession of the seasons, even though unchanging, is always fascinating, and each season has its own particular beauty



Spring.—The variety and loveliness of spring and summer foliage probably help to make these seasons favorites with many people. This is a dogwood branch in blossom.
What causes the changes of seasons?



Why do you think this experiment is called a "Key" Experiment? Is it because it is important for each of us to understand what causes the changes in season?

In this experiment we shall use light energy to make things visible, but it is really the last oney with that to do with changes in teasons. Keep this fact in mind Also, you will remember that sizes and dislances are not as they really are in the solar system. Therefore, we shall be able to likestrate only the principle live/worked. One principle to keep in mind is that energy rays heat a surface more if they drive it at right angles than it at a start. Another fact to keep in mind is that the zaxe of the earth always points in the same direction toward the Nerth Sizer.

We understand that the change of seasons is due to changes in the amount of heat the earth receives from the sun Our problem is to demonstrate why the amount of heat changes from time to time

WHAT TO USE -A small mounted globe and a frame of three parallel wires to represent heating rays, an object to represent the sun

What to Do -I Set the globe so that the axis is perpendicular to the waves representing heating rays, and so that rays (wrise) reach each pole, but with the axis inclined 23.5° away from the vertical toward the north as in D. Slowly turn the globe one complete turn

2 Set the globe so that the ans is included 23 5° away from the

vertical and so that the north end of the axis leans away from the top heating ray as in A. Rotate the globe as before.

3. Keeping the axis pointed in this same general direction, move the globe counter-clockwise in a circular (really elliptical) path to position B. The axis will be perpendicular to center ray and the other rays will reach both poles as in D. Rotate the earth.

4. Again move the globe counter-clockwise to position C, keeping the axis inclined 23.5° but leaning toward the top heating ray, and pointing in the same direction as before. Rotate the globe.

5. Continue the swing counter-clockwise to the original position D, where again the axis is perpendicular to the rays and rays reach each pole. Rotate the globe.

6. Repeat parts 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5, but with the axis not inclined.

Note.—Repeat each of the above again and again until you know exactly what happens in each case.

WHAT HAPPENS.—1. Where are the heating rays perpendicular to the earth's surface, as it rotates? Where are they slanting? How does the rotation of the globe affect the direction of the rays at any place on the earth?

2. Where now do the rays act perpendicularly to the surface? Where do they strike the earth on a slant? What part of the earth receives the most slanting rays? Does any part of the earth fail to receive any rays at all in this position? What part? How does the rotation of the globe affect the direction of the rays on any part of the surface? Compare with position D.

3. Compare with the result in D.

4. Compare your observations with those in A. Where now do the rays act perpendicularly to the surface? Where do they strike the earth on a slant? What part of the earth receives the most slanting rays? What part of the earth receives no heat? How does the rotation of the globe affect the direction of the rays on any part of the surface?

5. Compare conditions now with what happened in 1.

6. If the axis were always perpendicular to the rays, would the amount of heat received by any part of the earth ever change?

CONCLUSION.—How does the inclination of the earth's axis affect the amount of heat received by the northern and southern hemispheres?

How does the inclination affect the heat received at the equator?

How does the rotation of the earth affect the amount of heat received at any one location in its orbit?

How does the revolution of the earth affect the amount of heat received by the northern and southern hemispheres? At the equator? In different positions in the orbit?

What season is in the northern hemisphere represented by A?

What season is represented by B? What season is represented by C? What season is represented by D?

You know that the earth receives energy from the sun. You also know that changes in the amount of energy received by any part of the earth result in a change of temperature for that part. And you know that the change in temperatures from season to season is gradual and slow. About six months is required for the change from summer to winter, and from winter to summer.

The different seasons, then, are caused by gradual changes in temperature of any one part of the earth. Another important fact about the seasons is that they follow one another in regular order The change of the seasons, therefore, must be due to *regular changes in the amount of heat* the earth receives from the san. Our problem, then, is to determine what causes these changes in the amount of heat received by the earth under different conditions We should discover also why the seasons always come in the same order.

Experiment 18 will help you to understand what causes the changes in temperatures.

WINTER IN THE NORTHERN HEMISPHERE. - When the north end of the earth's axis is inclined 23 5° away from the sun, only slanting rays or no rays reach the northern hemisphere. This is also the time of short days and long nights in the northern hemisphere. Thus slanting rays, acting for only a few hours of daylight each 24 hours, cause winter in the northern hemisphere.

SUMMER IN THE NORTHERN HEMISPHERE.—Six months later, the north end of the earth's axis is inclined 23.5° toward the sun. Now more direct rays reach the northern hemisphere. Days are longer than nights. More direct rays reaching the earth during long periods of daylight bring summer to the northern hemisphere.



Couriery Moore McCornack Lines

Copacabana Beach, Rio de Janeiro.—Rio de Janeiro, as you probably know, is located south of the equator. How does the revolution of the earth affect the climate in Rio de Janeiro?

OPPOSITE SEASON IN THE SOUTHERN HEMISPHERE.—When the northern hemisphere is slanted away from the sun, the southern hemisphere is slanted *toward* the sun. Thus when it is winter for the United States, it is summer for lands in the southern hemisphere. When the north end of the earth's axis slants toward the sun, it is summer in the northern hemisphere and winter in the southern. Between the two extreme positions, the earth moves to positions resulting in spring and fall. The seasons follow one another gradually and with unfailing regularity.

EFFECT OF THE EARTH'S DISTANCE FROM THE SUN.—When asked the cause of summer, some people who have not studied science say it is because the earth is nearer the sun. As a matter of fact that is not true. When it is summer in the northern hemisphere, the earth is actually about 3,000,000 miles farther from the sun than it is in winter. You now understand that What season is represented by B? What season is represented by C? What season is represented by D?

APPLICATION --- Why does the temperature fall at a given place on a cleat day as the sun sets lower and lower?

You know that the earth receives energy from the sun. You also know that changes in the amount of energy received by any part of the earth result in a change of temperature for that part. And you know that the change in temperatures from season to season is gradual and slow. About six months is required for the change from summer to winter, and from winter to summer.

The different seasons, then, are caused by gradual changes in temperature of any one part of the earth. Another important fact about the seasons is that they follow one another in regular order. The change of the seasons, therefore, must be due to regular changes in the amount of heat the earth receives from the sun. Our problem, then, is to determine what causes these changes in the amount of heat received by the earth under different conditions. We should discover also why the seasons always come in the same order.

Experiment 18 will help you to understand what causes the changes in temperatures.

WINTER IN THE NORTHERN HEMISPHERE. --When the north end of the earth's axis is included 23.5° away from the sun, only slantung rays or no rays reach the northern hemisphere. This is also the time of short days and long nights in the northern hemisphere. Thus slanting rays, acting for only a few hours of daylight each 24 hours, cause winter in the northern hemisphere.

SUMMER IN THE NORTHERN HEMISPHERE.—Six months later, the north end of the earth's axis is included 23.5° toward the sun. Now more direct rays reach the northern hemisphere. Days are longer than nights. More direct rays reaching the earth during long periods of daylight bring summer to the northern hemisphere.



Couriery Moore McCormack Lines

Copacabana Beach, Rio de Janeiro.—Rio de Janeiro, as you probably know, is located south of the equator. How does the revolution of the earth affect the climate in Rio de Janeiro?

OPPOSITE SEASON IN THE SOUTHERN HEMISPHERE.—When the northern hemisphere is slanted away from the sun, the southern hemisphere is slanted *toward* the sun. Thus when it is winter for the United States, it is summer for lands in the southern hemisphere. When the north end of the earth's axis slants toward the sun, it is summer in the northern hemisphere and winter in the southern. Between the two extreme positions, the earth moves to positions resulting in spring and fall. The seasons follow one another gradually and with unfailing regularity.

EFFECT OF THE EARTH'S DISTANCE FROM THE SUN.—When asked the cause of summer, some people who have not studied science say it is because the earth is nearer the sun. As a matter of fact that is not true. When it is summer in the northern hemisphere, the earth is actually about 3,000,000 miles farther from the sun than it is in winter. You now understand that

DAYLIGHT, DARKNESS, AND SEASONS 219

the cause of seasons really depends upon how slanting the heat rays are and how long the days are. Compare the heating effect of Sun 1 and Sun 2 in the diagram below.

When the rays are slanting and the days are short, the earth is not heated as much as when the rays are more direct and the days are longer. These conditions result because of the inclination of the axis, the revolution about the sun, and the rotation of the earth



How the Sun's Pasition Affects the Amount of Heat the Earth Receives When the sun is nearly overhead (Sun 1), its rays heat the land from A to B. When the sun is nearer the horizon, the same amount of heat is spread over a much larger area—from A to C. Which season does Sun 1 represent? What time of day does Sun 1 represent? Sun 2!

THE EQUINOXES -We know that the axis of the earth always points in the same direction. It follows that as the earth travels around the sun it reaches a position where the north end of the axis slants away from the sun. This position accounts for the cold of the winter season in the northern hemisphere. (A in diagram, page 216). When in the opposite position with respect to the sun, the northern hemisphere receives its greatest heat. This produces the summer season. (C in diagram, page 216).

Now as the earth swings from the first to the latter position, it moves to a place where the north end of the axis slants neither away from nor toward the sun. (B in diagram, page

220



Sun Valley, Idaho.—The climate at Sun Valley makes it one of our nation's most popular vacation spots. Strong winter sunshine and snow attract skaters and skiers from all over the United States. Note the skis in this picture leaning against the swimming pool.

216.) In this midway position, both ends of the axis are the same distance from the sun. Both ends of the axis receive the same amount of heat. It is our spring season. On the first day of spring we should expect equal day and night all over the earth. Actually the earth's atmosphere bends the sun's rays, so that day and night are not exactly equal at this time. The date (about March 21) when the earth is in this position is called the *spring (or vernal) equinox*. It is the "first day of spring."

We know that the earth swings from its summer position (northern hemisphere) back to the winter position. Half way along, it reaches a place where again the axis is tipped neither toward nor away from the sun. (D in diagram, page 216.)

DAYLIGHT, DARKNESS, AND SEASONS 221

The time when this occurs (about September 21) is called the autumnal equator. This is the "first day of autumn." Because of the bending of the rays of light, day is actually about twenty munutes longer than night. Otherwise day and night would be of equal length

..... FIELD RESEARCH -----

Make a study of the adaptations lying things make to the changing searons. Describe the changes in some plant—a garden flower, wild flower tree or shrub

refect an annual for a similar study. A beaser, bear, squirrel, rabbit, or deer would be a good one to study. Have several of these reported in class

List several ways m which you adapt your way of living to the changing easons

THINKING THINGS OVER.—Day and night, summer and winter—these are the things we have been studying in this topic Perhaps the most remarkable thing about these changes is their regularity.

Can you explain now why night follows day with such regular order? Can you tell why days are longer than nights at certain times of the year? Can you explain why the noonday sun is higher in the sky during the summer months than in winter?

We have learned that our summer season is the time when our part of the earth receives its greatest amount of heat. We trad an experiment to show that the inclination of the earth's axis is important in bringing about a change of season. And, of course, we saw that the rotation and revolution of the earth are factors causing the regularly changing seasons and day and night

We know now that all these things work together. Length of day and night, and the change of seasons are related to each other.

Can you explain the relationship between the length of day and night and the seasons? Such an explanation will be a good review of this topic.

KEY WORDS

axis	hemisphere	season
circle	orbit	spring
degree	perpendicular	torrid zone
ellipse	polar regions	tropics
equinox	revolution	twilight
heating rays	rotation	vernal

KEY STATEMENTS

1. The earth revolves about the sun from west to east.

2. The earth rotates on its axis from west to east.

3. The orbit of the earth about the sun is elliptical.

4. The axis of the earth is inclined 23.5° away from the vertical. It always points in the same direction (toward the North Star).

5. Day and night are caused by the rotation of the earth. Their lengths vary on account of the inclination of the earth's axis and its revolution about the sun.

6. The change of seasons is a result of varying amounts of heat received by the earth's surface.

7. Variations in the amount of heat received by the earth's surface from the sun are caused by the revolution about the sun of the earth with its axis inclined at 23.5° .

S. Rays of energy from the sun are parallel. They heat more strongly when they act directly (perpendicularly) than when they act at an angle.

9. The motions of the earth are regular, hence the heat received by the earth varies in an orderly manner. This in turn results in an orderly sequence of the seasons.

10. Winter occurs in the northern hemisphere when the earth is in such a position that the north end of the axis is inclined away from the sun. At this time it is summer in the southern hemisphere. When the north end of the axis is inclined toward the sun, the seasons are reversed.

11. Spring and fall occur when the earth is in such a position that both the north and south poles are at the same distance from the sun and receive the same amount of heat.

12. About March 21 and September 21 the days and nights are of equal length. These dates are called the *vernal* and the *autumnal* equinox.

13. Plants and animals, including man, adapt their habits to the changing seasons.

THOUGHT QUESTIONS

I The earth is farthest from the sun when it is summer in the northern herausphere Why, then, is it summer?

2 Why must the inclination of the earth's axis be considered when evolution the cause of uncould days and nights?

3 How would the apparent motion of the sun, moon, and stars be afforted if the earth turned from east to west on its axis?

4 What would be the effect on the variations in the length of day and of night if the axis of the earth inclined 47° sway from the vertical? How would the seasons be affected?

5 What evidence can you give from personal observations that plants and snumals anticipate the change of seasons?

6 The axis of Venus is nearly vertical. What effect would this have on the seasons of Venus as compared with the seasons on the earth?

7 Which part of the earth's surface always receives the most direct rays?

PROJECTS FOR YOUR SCIENCE DISCOVERY BOOK

1 Draw a diagram to represent the sun and earth and use arrows to show the direction of the two motions of the earth.

2 Make a study of the migration of birds, finding out how far and how fast they fly, where they go, and why. Do any birds hve the year round in the same environment, adapting their habits to the changing seasons?

3 Make a study of the shelters used by man in the tropics, ia the temperate zone, and shove the Arctic circle. Compare them as to building materials, construction, and warmth.

4 Make a study of the diet of man in each of the three zones mentioned above

5 Locate and record the points on the horizon of your locality where the sun rises and sets on the longest day of the year. Repeat on the shortest day, and on the two days having day and night of equal length. Represent the horizon by a circle and mark the locations and date them. Statomary objects (to be labeled), such as trees, conners of buildings, fence posts, telegraph poles, and chinneys, may be used to mark the location on the horizon where the sun rises and sets. Two such objects should be discovered that are in a straight line with the positions of rising and setting

6 Darken the room, and with your flashlight and an old tennis

ball, with a knitting needle stuck through it to represent the earth on its axis, demonstrate how rotation causes day and night.

7. Do you regulate and conduct the affairs of your life as dependably as nature does hers? Describe some things in nature that are good examples for you to follow.

8. Using graph paper, plot the time of the rising and setting of the sun for a month. Start with the longest or shortest day of the year or one of the two days when day and night are equal. You may wish to make the record for a whole year. An almanac will give you the time of rising and setting of the sun.

9. Using graph paper, plot the time of the rising and setting of the moon for a month.

DAYLIGHT, DARKNESS, AND SEASONS 225



The Right Time.—This is the original Greenwich Observatory. The clock on the right is numbered from 1 to 24. Recently the staff and equipment were moved to the country, where clearer air makes better observations possible. But the location is still on the prime meridian.

TOPIC IX

Earth Measurements

DO YOU KNOW-

1. How many degrees there are in a circle?

2. The names of two imaginary circles north of the equator?

3. How a ship at sea reports its position?

4. How time is related to place?

5. Why the sun rises in New York before it does in Chicago?

6. Why time zones were established?

GENERAL PROBLEM 1

How Are Places Located on the Earth?

DESCRIBING POSITION.—How do we tell where a place is on the earth? Usually we describe the position of the place in relation to some other place. For example, your home may be so many miles from town, on a certain road. Or it may be six houses from a certain corner. Your school may be at the corner of two streets. Even a town or a city is described as being so many miles from another city, and in a certain direction.

But how can we describe a location far out in the ocean where there are no landmarks? How can a position be described high in the sky, hidden by clouds from the earth?

There is a way of describing the exact location of any place on the earth. To do this, the earth has been marked off with great imaginary circles. Some of these circles run around the earth intersecting at the north and south poles. At right angles to these is another group of circles. One of these circles is the



The "Avenues" and "Streets" of the Western Hemisphere — What are the real names of these imaginary lines?



Model—Make a model, as described in the Field Research, to help you understand "mendian" and "equator."

228 THE HEAVENS

equator. North and south of the equator, and parallel to it, are other imaginary smaller circles.

MENDIANS AND PARAL-LELS.--The great imaginary circles which intersect at the poles run north and south. They may be thought of as the avenues of the earth. These are the meridians.

The equator circle runs east and west around the middle of the earth at right angles to the meridians. It may be thought of as the "Main Street"-East and West, Smaller circles parallel to the equator are called parallels. They may be thought of as the numbered streets, I to 90 to the north and south. Street 90 to the north would be the North Pole. The parallels get smaller and smaller toward the pole. Right at the pole the circle is merely a point which locates the end of the earth's avis.

Thus every part of the earth is laid out with imaginary streets running east and west (the parallels) and imaginary avenues running north and south (the meridians). The part of the earth north of the equator is called the northern hemisphere. The part south of the equator is called the southern hemisphere.





Meridians.—Here yau see the "avenues" of the world. Notice that these "avenues" run north and south on the earth's surface and that they all meet at the North and South Poles

Parallels.—The "streets" of the world run east and west. -Which "street" is the longest? Can you think of any reason why these imaginary lines are called parallels?

Let a tennis ball with a wire passing through the center represent the earth and its axis. With a pencil draw several great circles intersecting where the wire comes out of the ball. These circles will represent *meridians*.

Draw one great circle halfway between the ends of the axis. It will represent the earth's equator.

The meridians mark off the distances around the equator and parallels, as is shown in the diagram. Since a circle for convenience is divided into 360 degrees, let us say that the meridians divide the equator and parallels each into 360 equal lengths called *degrees*. Also, the parallels may be spaced so as to divide each meridian circle into degrees. Since parallels north and south start with the equator circle, they are marked off in degrees north and south of the equator. Between the equator and the pole is one quarter of a great circle. Thus there are 90 degrees between the equator and the pole. Therefore the meridians are marked into 90 spaces (degrees) both north and south of the equator. See the diagram above.



The 38th Parallel in Korea,— Sometimes the imaginary lines around the earth become real enough to fight over,

THE PRIME MERIDIAN AT GREENWICH.--OUT OWN modern town which has a Main Street may also have a Main Avenue. The equator circle, as you know, is our Main Street of the earth. The meridian which passes through Greenwich (grin/ij), England, is our Main Avenue. It is called the prime meridian.

Greenwich is a borough of London, England. Long ago a great observatory was built there. By 18S4, the business of the world had grown so huge that the need for a standard or prime (first) meridian was very great. A group of representatives from twenty-six nations met at Washington, D.C., to decide the question. The majointy agreed to name the meridina which passes through Greenwich, the prime meridian.

Any other meridian would serve just as well as this one for a starting point. But to avoid

confusion, it is necessary to have one prime meridian. All east or west earth measurements are, therefore, based on reference to the Greenwich prime meridian. This arrangement has worked out very well.

RECONDING LOCATIONS.---The degrees east and west from a prime meridian are called degrees of *longitude*. The degrees north or south of the equator are called degrees of *latitude*. The meridians are numbered east and west from Greenwich, that is, from 0° to 180° each way. The parallels are numbered north and south from the equator, that is, from 0° to 90° each way. For the purposes of greater accuracy, each degree is subdivided into 60 equal partscalled mnutes. For still more accurate



Plotting His Position.—This officer in the chort room of o commercial ship is figuring the position of his vessel. Along with maps, he uses parallel rules and a composs for his colculations. The role of the navigator is vitally important to the completion of a voyage by ship or plane.

work each minute may be divided into 60 equal parts called seconds.

Therefore, to locate any spot on the earth, all you need to say is that it is so many degrees (minutes, etc.) east or west longitude, and so many degrees (minutes, etc.) north or south latitude. This marks the spot where the meridian and the parallel cross each other.

The half of the earth that lies between the prime meridian and 180° west longitude is the western hemisphere. That part between the prime meridian and 180° east longitude is the eastern hemisphere. Of course 180° west longitude and 180° east longitude are the same meridian. It is just halfway around the earth from the prime meridian at Greenwich, England.



A Radio Shack.—This ship's radio operator is sending the position of his ship in latitude and longitude. In time of danger, rescue aperations are directed to a ship in distress by radio reports of its latitude and longitude

Thus network of imaginary lines around the earth is not useful only to ship and plane navigntors, of course. It is vitally important to surveyors in planning boundaries, to enganeers in outlinang great building projects, and to many others who must deal with exact locations on the earth.

MAP STUDY ---

Study a large map of the United States or the world. Notice the fine bies that run up and down and across the map Which are meridians? (Which are parallels?

The lass running up and down are marked in degrees of longitudes. Those drawn across the map are marked in degrees of longitude. Locate your own town or city on the map. Determine its position in terms of latitude and longitude. All places in the United States will be rest longitude and north latitude. Explain why,



World Time Zone Mop.—This map shows the time zones oil over the world Above every other zone is a 24-hour clock which gives the exact hour at all times. It is 12 midnight in the Pocific Time Zone and 8 am in England.

divided by 15 equals 5) When it is four o'clock in Philadelphia, it is nine o'clock in London.

If the earth were flat, hke a table, and the sun rose above the east cad, everyone would see the sun rise at the same instant. That this is not so is one proof that the earth is spherical and turns on its aus.

STANDARD TIME —Actual sun time is different for every degree of longitude. That is, the actual time of summise and the time of sumset are different for every place east or west of your house. This is because the earth is constantly turning from west to east. A little thought will show that it would be very hard to conduct the world's business if all our clocks were run on sun time.



Beating Time.—Modern air travel makes it possible to cross several time zones in one day. In a crass-country flight from New York to Califarnia, how many time zones would a plane cross?

There was a time, though, when each locality had its own time. It is said that there were 27 different times in the state of Illinois. Wisconsin may have had as many as 38.

By 1883, the situation had become so confusing that something had to be done about it. As the railroads pushed farther and farther west, their time schedules became hopelessly snarled. Thus the railroads met in 1883 and agreed on a system of time zones. The system was so successful that everyone began to follow it. Not until 1918 were the *standard time zones* made part of the law of the land. These zones are: Atlantic Standard Time, Eastern Standard Time, Central Standard Time, Mountain Standard Time, and Pacific Standard Time zones.

TIME ZONES.—A strip of the United States, running north and south for a certain distance on either side of the Philadelphia meridian, uses the sun time of the Philadelphia me-



North American Time Zones.—Pick out the meridian passing through the approximate center of each time zone. Account for the irregular boundary lines between the zones. How many hours' difference in time is there between New York and San Francisco! Which zone do you live n!

ridian That is to say, all clocks in that strip are set to agoet with the clocks in Philadelphia. The time for this section is known as Eastern Standard Time.

A second strip, lying directly west of this section, is marked off as a Central Standard Time zone. In this zone the time is

one hour earlier than in the Eastern zone. When it is 7 o'clock in the Eastern zone, it will be 6 o'clock in the Central zone.

The third zone includes the mountain region of the west, where the time is called Mountain Standard Time. West of the third zone lies the fourth zone, and here the time is called Pacific Standard Time.

All of the United States lies in the four time zones. Parts of Canada east of Maine are in another time zone—the Atlantic Standard Time zone. The imaginary line separating Eastern from Atlantic Standard Time runs along the eastern boundary of Maine. This is shown on the map on the opposite page.

By this scheme of time zones any place in a given zone may keep its clocks on standard time and yet not be more than one half hour ahead or behind sun time.

Minimum FIELD RESEARCH

Obtain timetables of the principal transcontinental railroads and a map of the United States. From the timetables determine the boundary cities of the time zones. Mark these places on your map. Connect the boundary cities by lines, and you will have approximately mapped the time zones.

Cheek the accuracy of your zone boundaries by the time zone map on page 236.

If the time zones were exactly placed, they would have meridians 15° apart as boundary lines. But for business and transportation reasons changes had to be made. For example, cities which have much commerce with each other should be in the same time zone.

A general standard time has been adopted for all continents. The prime meridian of Greenwich, England, is the meridian from which the standard time of the world is determined. This is called *Greenwich mean time* and is abbreviated G.M.T. World-wide radio program managers make use of G.M.T. in arranging for world broadcasts. How many hours difference is there between G.M.T. and E.S.T. (Eastern Standard Time)?

DAYLIGHT SAVING TIME.—Daylight saving time (D.S.T.) is not a time zone. Neither is it a standard time. Any zone

· ~ *

How Can Navigators Find Their Way?

How THE NAVIGATOR KEEPS HIS COURSE.—Navigators of shup and planes are often out of sight of land for long periods of time. How can they find out where they are and the direction they are going?

The navigator uses special compasses to determine his directions. However, direction alone does not tell position. For this reason the navigator must know his exact latitude and longitude at given times in order to be sure that he is holding to his course. Knowing his location, the navigator can, with the aid of the sun, the stars, and compasses, continue on his course. He can determine his latitude from the stars on eloudless mights or from the sun on choudless days.

You remember the earth is laid out in imaginary streets and avenues like a town. The stars and the sun are really marks in the sky, and the navigator has a map on which these sky marks are drawn.

THE NORTH STAR, AN IMPORTANT SKY MARK .- Let us try to understand how the North Star aids the navigator.

The nagle formed by a line drawn from your eye to the North Star and the line of your horizon is the same for everybody on your same parallel of latitude. If you went north from your first position, the angle would get larger. If you went south, the angle would be smaller. The diagram on page 241 will show that this is so.

You can very easily determine your latitude by merely measuring the angle the North Star makes with the horizon lines-

Strictly speaking, you should stand at the center of the earth when looking at the North Star to determine its altitude. However, the star is so far away that it doesn't make any practical difference in your measurement.

Thus the latitude of any place in the northern hemisphere can be determined by measuring the angle of the North Star above the horizon.

Experiment 19 is an interesting project for a clear evening when the moon is not bright. Read the experiment carefully so that everything will be ready when the clear night comes-



Finding Northern Latitude.—The angle formed by the horizon line and the line of sight to the North Star equals the latitude of the observer. In other words, one may find his north latitude by measuring the altitude of the North Star.

LATITUDE FROM THE SUN.—Have you ever noticed the shadow of a telephone pole at morning, noon, and night? If so, you know that the shadow is shortest at exactly noon by the sun. In other words noon sun time occurs when the sun is highest in the sky. This helps a navigator to determine exact noon wherever he is. Also, by measuring the angle of the sun above the horizon at exact noon, the navigator can calculate his latitude. The angle in degrees subtracted from 90° gives the approximate latitude.

Due to the inclination of the earth's axis and the revolution of the earth about the sun, the altitude of the sun at exact noon varies with the day of the year. Hence for accurate results by this method a correction is made by navigators.



Steating a Straight Course-wife a traveler knows the stars, ha can always find his direction. Our vessels travel faster and farther than the ancients, but the same stars guide us on our fourneys.

The End of Day-Sunset in one country means survise somewhere else at aur earth continues its endless journey through spaca.



D. L. Burkett

Alosko's Long Day.—The Arctic Circle is an imaginary line dividing the Arctic regian fram the Narth Temperote Zone. Northern Russia, the Scandinavion Peninsula, Greenland, northern Canada, and Alaska are in the Arctic Circle. On one doy every year, usually about June 22, the entire Arctic region has twenty-four hours af daylight. On onother day, abaut December 22, this region has twenty-four hours af darkness.



To do this experiment you will need to make careful preparations in advance it will be a good project to make the apparatus in the school shop if you have one.

Here sgain you will make use of light energy. A principle involved is that light travels in straight lines. Think that over. Suppose light did not travel in straight lines, how could you do the experiment?

WEAT TO USE.—A plumb line and support, a good-sized box to which is tacked a paper marked with a right angle whose sides are horrsontial and vietical; a snorow straight-edge sitck fastemed to the box by a nail as shorn above. The sitck will swing about the nail. Near the other end of the sick pass monther sharp mails of hat only the point sticks out. When this mail is pressed sightly it will make a pick in the paper underneath; a high stool; a carpenter's square, a protractor; and a fisshight.

With ro Do -On a clear might place the stool where there is a good view of the North Star Set the box on the stool with the paper toward the east and pointing north. Hang the plumb bob from the support so that it swings free Adjust the box so that the vertical side of the right angle on the paper will be exactly an line with the plumb lune

Now with your eye in the postion as shown in the diagram, sight toward the North Star. Adjust the stick so that the nail in the far end is exactly in line with the North Star The two nails act as sights. When they are in line with the North Star push on the upper nail to make it

prick the paper underneath. Now take the paper into the light and draw a line through the two pricks so that it intersects the horizontal line.

Lay the protractor against the horizontal line as shown in the diagram. Then read the angle made by the star direction line and the horizontal line. This angle is the altitude of the North Star. It is equal to the latitude of the place where the observation is made. For the sake of greater accuracy you should try the experiment several times and take the average of the several angles for your result.

CONCLUSION .- What is your latitude? Is it north or south?

APPLICATION.--What is the length of the longest day and of the shortest day at your latitude? Use the apparatus to measure the "altitude" of some other star.

The navigator uses an instrument called a *sextant* to determine the altitude of the sun at exact noon. He looks through the sextant to read the angle the sun makes with the horizon at the instant the sun reaches its highest point. Making a correction for the time of the year, he reckons his true latitude.

FINDING LONGITUDE.—The navigator carries with him a special clock or watch called a *chronometer*. It is set so that it agrees exactly with a master clock at Greenwich Observatory. By means of radio the accuracy of the chronometer is checked regularly.

If the navigator wants to know his longitude, he determines when it is exact noon, or, if at night, he may determine the time from the stars. From the difference between the time shown by his chronometer, which is sun time at Greenwich, and the time by the sun or stars he can calculate his longitude. He knows that for each hour's difference in time he has changed his position 15° .

Thus the navigator determines his latitude from the sun or the North Star, or certain other stars. He determines his longitude by means of the difference in time. Then he can locate his position on a map which he always has with him.

THINKING THINGS OVER.—Exact measurement is necessary in science if we are to know with real accuracy about many things. When you buy a pound of butter you expect it to be



Vera Plates

Sighting His Sextant -This ship's navigator is "shooting the sun," His calculations will help determine the exoct position of the ship.

weighed accurately. This means that the scales used must be accurate, that the grocery man know how to use it properly, and that he read it correctly

So it is with scientists. They must have good measuring instruments, use them properly, and record the observations honestly. Of course, scientists must be able to understand their measurements and interpret them correctly.

Using instruments and numbers sometimes makes a problem more difficult to understand. But often it helps one to understand the problem better. Any problem is usually easier to solve if we are sure of the exact facts.

Your study of earth measurements should help you realize that measurements are of little value unless they are accurate. When the navigator observes the altitude of a star, his observations must be exact. A little error may mean part of a degree error in the latitude. And just part of a degree may mean several miles on the earth's surface. In the same way, a little error in determining longitude may put a ship or a plane far off its course There is no room for errors, however small, in the important work of the navigator.

Try to determine the approximate latitude of your home by measuring the altitude of the sun at noon.

Use the same materials listed in Experiment 19 and a magnetic compass. Follow the same procedure as in Experiment 19. At exact noon the shadow of a plumb line on a horizontal surface (top of box leveled) will point north.

The compass should be laid on the box so that the shadow falling across it will tell you when it is approximate noon. At that instant you should mark the angle of the sun direction with the horizontal and vertical lines on your paper. Since the magnetic north and true north vary at different locations, the compass will give you only the approximate north and therefore only approximately noon.

The angle in degrees subtracted from ninety is approximately your latitude. Compare the determination with the results obtained by use of the North Star method.

Key Words

chronometer compass diameter equator Greenwich latitude longitude meridian noon parallel prime meridian sextant standard time telescope

KEY STATEMENTS

1. Places may be located on the earth by stating their latitude and longitude. Latitude is the distance in degrees north or south of the equator. Longitude is the distance in degrees east or west of a prime meridian.

2. Fifteen degrees of longitude is equal to one hour of time.

3. Standard time zones were established for convenience in comparing the times of different localities.

4. The north latitude of a place equals the angular altitude of the North Star above the horizon. The latitude of any place may also be determined from the altitude of the sun at exact noon. This angle, subtracted from 90° , must be corrected for the position of the earth in its orbit.

5. Longitude is determined by the difference in time between standard time at Greenwich, England, and the sun time at the place involved. One hour's difference equals 15° longitude. 6 The International Date Line has approximately along the 180th mendian When crossing the line going east, one day is gained; when going west, one day is lost.

THOUGHT QUESTIONS

1 Why is it helpful to be able to give the position of a place in terms of latitude and longitude? How else could one describe the location of a city? A ship at sea? An airplane in the air?

2 Why are 15 degrees of longitude equivalent to one hour of time?

3 Why is it necessary to have a prime meridian?

4. Why is the plan of standard time zones better than that of having every place go by sun time?

5 Referring to page 235, in which United States time zone was Bill when he heard Australia?

6 What is the altitude of the North Star at the north pole? At the equator?

7. How is the altitude of the North Star related to latitude?

8 How is Greenwich Mean Time used to determine longitude?

9 How is daylight saving time related to sun time? To standard time?

PROJECTS FOR YOUR SCIENCE DISCOVERY BOOK

I From a map read the latitude and longitude of five places, based on the standard (Greenweh) prime merndian. Now on your map read the position of your home town in latitude and longitude, using the 75th merndian as your prime merdian. Record your results

2 Make reports of news items that indicate the importance of the radio in navigation of the sea or air

3 Read in Skyward, page 191, what Commander Byrd says about the importance of chronometers and their accuracy in connection with his North Pole flight Make a report of your reading

4 Discuss the advantages and disadvantages of daylight saving time.

5 To determine the true north from the sun, set up a stake about four feet tall where the ground is level. Make sure the stake is exactly vertical When the shadow of the stake is shortest, the shadow is pointing due north

6. Having determined the true porth by the shadow cast by the stake, compare with it the magnetic north direction as indicated by

a compass. About how many degrees from the true north is the magnetic north?

7. Learn to determine the north and south direction, using a watch and the shadow of a match or slender stick. Hold the watch in a horizontal position so that the hour hand points toward the sun; that is, so that it is in line with the shadow made by a match or slender stick held exactly vertical.

When the watch is in this position, the north and south direction is a line halfway between the hour hand and the figure twelve.

8. Make a sun dial in a sunny place on your lawn and learn to tell time by it.

9. If you would like to make a sun dial, a cross staff, a quadrant, or a real telescope, consult such books as *Starcraft* by Barton and Joseph, published by Whittlesey House, New York.

10. Read about the setting up of standard time zones in the United States. Accounts may be found in reference books or encyclopaedias. Report to the class.



Power.—Transformers are modern symbols of power—power from mighty waterfalls changed into electricity—power to give us light —power to give us heat—power to run manufacturing plants.

UNIT III

Magnets and Electricity



Couriesy Reduced Empire Association

Bectric Diamonds.—San Francesco and the Bay region are foiryland other dark, Brilland Biphs mark the famous Bay Bridge, High above on the bridge towers are arguingtone warning lights. Near the water are marking lights for boots. On the shore lights twinkle in San Francura homes.
TOPIC X

Using Magnets

DO YOU KNOW-

1. Why one end of a compass needle points to the north?

2. How to make an electromagnet?

3. Which metals are attracted by magnets?

4. How an electric motor works?

5. How the electricity in your school is made?

6. How atomic energy may someday be used to make electricity?

GENERAL PROBLEM 1

What Are Magnets?

EARLY MAGNETS.—Long, long ago it was discovered that certain stones would attract bits of iron. It was also known that these same stones could be used to point directions. If such a stone hung freely from a fine thread, it would turn so that 'the same end of the stone would always point in the same direction. These stones soon came to be known as *lodestones*.

We know now that these lodestones were magnets. The lodestones were actually a kind of iron ore we now call magnetite. It was given this name because it has the properties of a magnet.

The lodestones of long ago were natural magnets. Nowadays we have artificial magnets. They may be in the shape of bars, or they may be bent in the shape of a horseshoe. No matter what the shape of the magnets, you know that they attract iron and steel.



When Darkness Fails —Street lights, house lights, neon signs, radio tawers all remind us of the importance of electricity in our lives.

Grand Coulee.—Grand Coulee Dam, on the Columbia River, has a capacity of 2,420,000 horsepower. It is the world's largest hydraelectric power plant. The dam reservoir is 151 miles long.



Put a few paper clips, thumb tacks, bits of copper wire, small brass screws, steel brads, and pennies in a pile. Remove as many objects as possible using only a magnet. Keep a record of those picked up by the magnet. Which ones remain in the pile? Try using two or three magnets. Does the number of magnets make any difference?

POLES OF A MAGNET.—If a bar magnet is suspended so that it swings freely, it will come to rest in a north-south position. One end of the magnet will be pointing north. The other end will be pointing south. The end which points to the north is called the *north pole* of the magnet. It is usually marked N. The other end of the magnet is the *south pole*. It is marked S.

Making Electricity.—These generators are installed at the Hoover Dam in the Colorado River. Each generator is driven by a waterwheel below the floor. The waterwheels are turned by the force of the water.







Permanent Magnets.—The metal barmer head on the left has been magnehized artificially. How can this be dane? The ladestane firon ore magnehize) is a netwal magnet, it accurs in nature with the magnetic properties you see demonstrated here.

----- FIELD RESEARCH -



Compass



Support as har magnet from a support as shown in the drawing. Use thread to hold the magnet Leithe magnet come to reit. Obserse a compass several fort away from the magnet. The black end of the compass needle points north. Doer one end of the har magnet point in the same direction? If there a mark on this end of the magnet? If there is no myth on the magnet, mark it N such chile.

More the magnet and its support to snother part of the room. Does the N end of the magnet point in the same direction as before?

Nore.-Keep the small compass several feet away from the bar magnet. Do not set up the bar magnet near a radiator or other steel objects

ACTION OF MAGNETIC POLES.—One of the most important properties of magnets is their effect on each other. The north pole of one magnet always attracts the south pole of another. Thus we can say that unlike poles of magnets attract each other.

What happens when two like poles are brought together? An N pole will repel, or push away, another N pole. An S pole will repel another S pole. Thus *like poles of magnets repel each* other.

You may have observed this law of magnetism before, but you should try the experiment on page 258 because it is so important.

COMPASS.—A compass is a magnet. The most simple kind of a compass is a magnetized needle floating on water. You can make such a compass by following the directions in the next Field Research.

When you suspended a bar magnet and let it come to rest, you also made a compass.

Why does a compass "point north"? The action of a compass is based on the law of magnetism you have learned above. Actually the earth is a huge magnet. One of its poles is near the north end of the earth's axis. Its other pole is in the antarctic

A Ship's Compass.—The large metal balls on either side of the compass "compensate" it. The metal in a ship becomes magnetized and will affect the compass. These balls are adjusted so that they counteract the ship's magnetic effect on the compass.

Robert E. Costez





This experiment proves an important law of magnets. The black end of the magnet is the north end. The while end is the south end.

What to Use -Two bar magnets; a short length of wire to make a "cradle"; some strong thread, a moden support.

WHAT TO Do -1. Set one bar magnet in the cradle, attach the thread, and suspend the magnet as shown in the diagram.

 Bring the S pole of the second magnet near the N pole of the swinging magnet. Bring the S pole near the S pole of the suspended magnet. Observe what happens in each case



WEAT HAPPENED.-Tell exactly what you observed when No. 2 and No. 3 above were tried.

Concursion -1. How do like poles of magnets affect each other?

2. How do unlike poles of magnets react to each other?

APPLICATION.—One bar in the accompanying drawing is a magnet. The other is not Which one is the magnet? How do you know? regions. The magnetic north pole of the earth attracts an unlike pole of another magnet. Thus a compass needle or any free-swinging magnet will be affected by the earth's magnetism.

• Using one end of a bar magnet, stroke a needle several times in the same direction. Start at the eye of the needle and slide the end of the magnet along to the point. Lift the magnet away, and repeat the process.

Gently place the needle on the surface of water in a glass or china dish (not metal). Observe whether the needle comes to rest in a certain position. Use another compass to determine which direction this is. Which end of your compass needle points toward the north?

A similar compass may be made by magnetizing a needle in the same way as above, and then placing it on a flat cork floating on water.

At this point some straight thinker may say, "But why does the north pole of a compass point toward the north pole of the earth? I thought like poles repelled each other." Like poles do repel each other, as you learned in Experiment 20. The confusion comes from the names we have given to the poles of compasses or magnets. Actually the north pole of a magnet is the north-seeking pole. Or you may think of it as the northpointing pole. In common practice, we leave off the "seeking" or "pointing," and just call the pole "north." If we are to be absolutely correct, though, we should call the north pole the north-seeking pole.

MAGNETIC LINES OF FORCE.—What is magnetism? No one really knows for sure. We can say that magnetism is an attraction certain substances have for each other. Mostly we know about magnetism by what it does; that is, how magnets act.

Scientists believe that every magnet is surrounded by a magnetic field. In some unknown way, a magnet gives out magnetic force in all directions. This magnetic force around the magnet is the magnetic field. The magnetic force is strongest at the poles of the magnet. It seems to come out of the magnet in the form of lines. Hence we can think of the force as magnetic lines of force around the magnet.



Magnetic Lines of Force —The iron filings show the pasihon of the lines of force. Where is the magnetic effect strongest in each magnet? Haw do you know?

Magnetic lines of force are invisible. They are not matter; they are a force They cannot be seen, but we know they exist by what they do. You can prove for yourself that lines of force do exist by trying the experiment on page 262. Notice how the run filings tell you that the lines of force are the strongest at the poles of the magnet. Notice also, when you are doing this experiment, how the filings show that the lines of force from two like poles repel each other.

A piece of steel may be magnetized by stroking it in the 260 MAGNETS AND ELECTRICITY



Courtesy General Electric

Magic Magnets.—There is no latch on the door of this refrigerator. Very powerful tiny magnets pull the door shut and hold it closed. Do you think this arrangement for closing the refrigerator door automatically is a good one? Why?

same direction with one pole of a magnet. You did this in making a needle compass. Scientists are not certain why this action magnetizes the iron, but they do have an explanation. It is possible that each molecule in the steel is itself a tiny magnet. If an N pole is rubbed along the steel in the same direction, it will attract the S poles of the molecules. This will point the S poles of the molecules all in the same direction. Thus the entire piece of steel becomes a magnet. This is a good example of scientific reasoning.

You can spoil a magnet by heating it or striking it with sharp blows. This probably breaks up the orderly pattern of the molecules. Magnets will also lose their magnetic force if they are stored with like poles next to each other. Again, scientists reason that the magnetic forces repelling each other probably cause the molecules in the magnets to be pushed out of proper arrangement.

There is still another way in which magnets may be made. This is by the use of electricity. Electricity and magnetism are the subject of our next general problem. Our study of electricity and magnetism will help us understand the working of many useful machines, from electric motors to doorbells.



The dotted lines in this diagram are the artist's way of showing lines of force. Of course no one can see mugnitic lines of force, although you will prove that they exist. It will help if you remember that lines of force are just that-force not motiver. Black represents the ordy hole; white persensus the south pole.

WHAT TO USE -- Two bar magnets, a pane of glass about twice as long as one of the magnets, three pieces of cardboard, iron filings.

WRAT TO DO.-1. Place the pane of glass over one of the magnets. Spinikle gron filings on the glass. Tap the glass gently to help the filings become arranged. Observe the arrangement of the filings.

2 Remove the films: from the glass. Place two magnets under the glass. Have the magnets ma straight line with the N pole of one about 1 to 2 inches from the S pole of the other. Again sprinkle iron films on the glass. Observe the arangement of the films.

 Set up the apparatus this time so that two N poles are about two inches apart under the glass. Sprinkle filings on the glass, and note their arrangement.

4. Repeat I, 2, and 3 above using a piece of cardboard instead of the glass. In each case, draw with pencil the lines formed by the iron filings. Be sure to label the poles of the magnets in these three drawings.

WHAT HAPPENED -- 1. Where did most filings seem to collect? Where did the fewest filings seem to collect? What was the general arrangement of the filings on the glass?

2 What was the general arrangement of the filings when two unlike poles were under the glass"

3. What was the arrangement of the filings when two like poles were under the glass?

4. Make labeled drawings to show the arrangement of the filings as drawn on the cardboards.

CONCLUSIONS.—1. Does magnetic force act through glass? How do you know?

2. Can magnetic lines of force be seen? How did you prove that there are lines of force around a magnet?

APPLICATION.—Which part of a magnet should be used for its greatest magnetic force?

GENERAL PROBLEM 2

How Are Magnetism and Electricity Related?

MAGNETISM FROM AN ELECTRIC CURRENT.—You have learned two ways to tell whether an object is magnetized. If an object has magnetism in it, it will affect another magnet. For example, a bar magnet swinging over a compass will affect the compass. This, we remember, is because like poles repel, and unlike poles attract.

ANIMANIA FIELD RESEARCH ANIMANA ANIMANA ANIMANA

Suspend a free-swinging bar magnet over a compass. Mount the magnet so that it is just far enough from the compass to affect it. If the magnet is brought too close to the compass the latter will be spoiled. Spin the magnet slowly. Notice how the compass also spins.



We have also learned that we can use iron filings to show the presence of a magnetic field The filings collect along the lness of lorce coming from the magnet. Thus we can use either of these methods as a "test" for magnetism.

If an electric current is passed through a wire, a magnetic field will be formed around the wire. A compass brought near a plan piece of copper wire will not be affected. This is because copper is a non-magnetic material. As soon as an electric current flow, through the wire, a magnetic field is set up. You can prove this by trying the accompanying Field Research.

FIELD RESEARCH

Brag a compass near a length of insulated copper wire. Observe the direction of the N end of the compass. Take the wire away. Observe whether the compass needle changes any. Next connect the wire to a dry cell and switch as shown in the drawing. With a compasy nearby, close the switch. Observe any movement in the compasy needle. Repeat at several places along the wire. Notice the effect on the compass needle when the switch is closed and when it is open; that is, when electracy is dowing through the wire, and sheen it is pen; that is, when



Caurtov: Do not leave the switch closed too long at any one time. Why not?

The same effect may be shown by running the wire through a hole in the center of a piece of cardboard. Sprinkle iron filings on the cardboard, and then close the switch Observe what happens to the filings ELECTROMAGNETS.—The Field Research shows that an electric current passing through a wire will produce magnetism. This principle can be used to make an *electromagnet*. The word, as you can see, is a combination of *electric* and *magnet*.

To make an electromagnet, wind about twenty or thirty turns of insulated copper wire around a pencil. Slip the pencil out, and you have an electromagnet. If you connect the ends of the wire to a dry cell, and bring a compass needle close, you will find that it acts like a bar magnet. One end of the coil will attract the N pole of the compass needle. The other end will



Effect of Direction of Current.—The two coils of wire are the same. The same amount of electricity flows through each. Only the direction of the current is different. Notice the arrows which show the direction the current is moving. How does the direction of the current affect the poles of the electromagnet? How do you know?

USING MAGNETS 265

----- EXPERIMENT 22 -

How may the strength of an electromagnet be increased?



The electromagnet is one of the most useful pieces of electrical equipment. There are many, many different kinds. The electromagnets you will make an this experiment are simple, but they operale on the same principle as all electromagnets. Why is it important to use insulted winc? Why is accoper wire beiter than stated winc?

WHAT TO USE .-- A soft won rod or a large nail (about 5 inches long, 1 unch in diameter; 6 feet of insulated copper wire; a swatch; two dry cells; paper chps, compass.

WHAT TO Do -1 Wind about twenty turns of wire around a pencil. Slip out the pencil Connect the ends of the wire to the switch and one dry cell as shown in the disgram.

With the switch open, place the compass near one end of the coil.
Close the switch. Observe the compass needle Try to lift paper close with the coil.

3 Slip the iron rod or nail mto the coil of wire. Connect to one dry cell and note the effect on the compass needle. Try to lift paper clips with one end of the rod

 Add another twenty turns of wire to the coil. Connect to the dry cell, and observe the magnetic strength.

5. Connect in the second dry cell as shown in the drawing Note the effect of adding a stronger electric current.

WHAT HAPPENS.—1-2. Was there any magnetic force coming from the coil when the switch was open? How do you know? Was there any magnetic force when the switch was closed? How do you know?

3. What was the effect of putting the iron rod inside the coil? How could you tell?

4. What effect did the additional twenty turns of wire have on the strength of the electromagnet? How do you know?

5. What was the effect of increasing the strength of the current passing through the coil?

CONCLUSION.—What are three ways of increasing the strength of an electromagnet?

APPLICATIONS.—The electromagnet shown on page 266 has more magnetic force than the one shown in the doorbell on page 270. Explain what has been done to make one stronger than the other.

attract the S pole of the compass needle. Changing the connections on the dry cell will reverse the poles of the coil of wire. Of course the coil acts like a magnet only when electric current flows through the wire.

You will find that such an electromagnet is not very strong. It will not pick up tacks and nails as does a bar magnet. But there are several ways to increase the strength of an electromagnet. One way to increase the magnetic strength is to slip a large nail or an iron rod through the core. Immediately it will have much more strength.

Another way to increase the strength of an electromagnet is to increase the number of turns of wire. The more wire that is added, the more powerful the magnet becomes. A third way to increase the strength of the electromagnet is to increase the strength of the electric current passing through the wire. Thus connecting more dry cells so that they send a stronger current through the coil will increase the power of the electromagnet. These three ways of increasing the strength of an electromagnet are described in Experiment 22. Try the experiment so that your own observations will prove these statements.

ELECTROMAGNETS ARE TEMPORARY MAGNETS.—In your experiments with bar magnets you found that they remained



An Electromagnet.—This huge machine weighs six tons. It exerts a magnetic force equal to 40,000 pounds. It is believed to be ane of the largest and most powerful magnets af its kind and could support some 200 men.

magnets, day after day, unless of course they were spoiled. Such magnets are called *permanent* magnets.

Electromagnets have a magnetic force only when electricity flows through the coil. When the clectricity is shut off, the magnetism stops Thus electromagnets are temporary magnets. In your experiment, you may have found that the iron core in your electromagnet remained magnetized even after the current was turned off. If that happened, it was because a hard iron core was used. The core itself was made a permanent magnet. Actually, only soft iron should be used as the core in an electromagnet. The

soft iron holds only very little magnetism after the current stops flowing. Such an electromagnet then is truly a temporary magnet.

Use of Electromagnets.—Two properties of electromagnets account for ther wide use First, they are temporary magnets. Their magnetic power can be turned on or off at will. Second, they are easily controlled. A fip of a switch will turn on tremendous magnetic power. Another flip turns it off.

Electromagnets are used in electric bells of all kinds. One kind is the single-stroke bell. This is the type often used for fore-alarm signals in schools. You can make a model of the single-stroke bell by following the directions in the Field Research.

INTERVIEW FIELD RESEARCH INTERVIEW



How does a single-stroke fire alarm bell work?

Bend a 6-inch length of soft iron rod (about $\frac{1}{4}$ -inch diameter) into a U shape. Wind several turns of insulated copper wire around both sides of the U. Mount the electromagnet to a ring stand as shown in the diagram. Fasten a piece of heavy spring wire above the electromagnet. Place an aluminum or copper dish near the bottom of the heavy wire.

Some experimenting will be necessary to get all the parts in their proper positions. When everything is arranged correctly, closing the switch will cause the heavy wire to be drawn to the electromagnet. When the switch is opened the wire will spring away from the electromagnet and strike the dish, thus "ringing the bell."

THE DOORBELL.—The common doorbell is somewhat similar in principle to the single-stroke bell described in the preceding Research. The doorbell, however, is made so that the bell continues ringing as long as the switch is closed. This means that there is a sort of automatic switch inside the door-

USING MAGNETS 269



An Bectric Mator.—As you study this diagram, refer to the text. from A to C the armsture has made a half revolution. Why does the armsture gin in the direction shown by the arrows? The poles of the armsture changed in between diagram B and diagram G. What caused the poles to change? How could this motor be made to appearte more smoothly and with more power?

Current from the dry cells passes along the wire strips and into the armature by means of a split ring. The electricity produces magnetic poles in the armature. These poles are either attracted to or repelled by the poles of the oniside magnet-

In diagram A, the nearest poles are alike; hence they repel each other. The armature is therefore pushed in the direction shown In diagram B, the nearest poles are unlike. They at-

tract each other. Hence the armature is pulled in the direction along shown. In diagram C, notice that the copper strips now touch the opposite split rings. The result of this is to reverse the flow of electricity in the armature. This changes the poles of the armature. The pole which just a fraction of a turn before had been S is now N. Again the armature is pushed because like poles repel. And so the armature spins around and around. Every half turn, the poles of the armature are reversed. This is made possible by the split ring arrangement. By changing the poles of the armature every half turn, it is pos-



Courtesy General Electric

A Power Giant.—This 4,000 horsepower electric motor was built for use in a steel mill. Note the many brushes used to carry electric current to the armature. You can see the stationary electromagnets inside the motor.

sible to keep the armature spinning.

What happens just in between diagrams B and C when the copper strips are at the split part of the split rings? At this point no electricity flows through the armature. But the speed of the armature carries it past this position on to the one shown in diagram C.

Commercial motors are not as simple as the one we have been studying in the diagram. They are made more powerful by having more windings on the armature. Indeed the armatures have many electromagnets instead of just one. The split ring is broken into several pieces. Instead of copper strips to carry the electricity to the split ring, carbon brushes are used. All these changes make the motor run more smoothly and more powerfully. Also, the magnets on the outside are electromagnets, instead of bar magnets as we showed. The magnets on the outside, however, do not change their poles. Only the poles of the armature change

GENERAL PROBLEM 3

How Is Electricity Generated?

ELECTRICITY FROM MAGNETS.—So far in this topic we have learned how electronity may be used to make magnetic force. It is also possible for magnetic force to be used to generate electronity

You know that there are magnetic lines of force around a magnet You have proved this in Experiment 21. If a wire is passed through these lines of force, an electric current flows along the wire. This is the basic principle which explains how electricity is generated.

The drawings, page 275, show that in one respect a generator is the reverse of an electric motor. In the motor, electricity supplied to a coil of wire (armature) mounted inside a magnetic field will cause the coil to rotate. In a generator, a coil of wire (armature) rotating inside a magnetic field will cause a current to flow through the wre.

Again in generators, split rings and copper strips or carbon brushes are used—this time to take off the electricity generated. Commercial generators are more complex than those shown in the drawings. In most generators, the armature is made up of many coils of wire. Some generators are built so that the current produced always flows in the same direction. This is called *direct current*. Direct current is produced by antomobile generators. The large generators which produce electricity for our homes are usually made to send out *direntaling current*. Afternating current flows first in one direction, and then in the opposite direction. Current that changes its direction 60 times a second is called 60 eyee A.C. (alternating current).

Power FOR TURNING GENERATORS — We have learned that an electric current is produced when a coil of wire is rotated within a magnetic field. It is also true that generators may be built so that magnets are rotated and the coils of wire remain stationary. Indeed, most of the large generators which supply our electricity are of this type.

In either type of generator, some force must be used to turn one part of the generator very fast. At present the force of expanding steam and rapidly moving water are most commonly used to spin giant generators.



Principle of the Generator.—These diagrams show the relationship between magnetism and electricity. In both cases, electricity is generated when a coil of wire cuts across a magnetic field. These diagrams show two ways this may be done. Which do you think is more like commercial generators?

STEAM-POWERED GENERATORS.—More than half of all the electricity produced in our country comes from generators turned by steam. Great quantities of coal are burned to form

USING MAGNETS 275



An Automobile Generator.—This type of generator supplies 6-with direct surrent to the automobile electrical system. The stationary field magnets (electromagnets) are fastened to the inside of the frame. A bell connected to the motor spins the pulley. Thus the armsture spins, and electric current is generated. The current flows to the spile sings, through the brushes, and is carried to the terminal points shown an lop of the generator.

steam under pressure. The steam (picture on page 277) is released against a turbine which drives the generator. Some occan slips are powered by electricity. In these ships, oil is burned to change water to steam. The steam drives a turbine which spuns a generator. The electricity from the generator is used to turn motors which in turn drive the propeller. This may seem like a very "round-about" process, and indeed it is. The advantage lies in the fact that electricity is easier to control than is steam

HYDROELECTRIC Power.—Perhaps you know of powerhouses where the force of moving water is used to spin turbines and drive generators. Niagara Falls, Grand Coulee, Hoover Dam, Shasta Dam, and Roosevelt Dam are just a few of the



Courtesy Westinghouse

Steam Turbine Generator.—At the right, near the man, is the steam turbine. Inside the case high pressure steam is directed against thousands of steel blades. The spinning turbine drives the generator, the large machine in the center of the picture. The generator produces enough electricity to serve more than 35,000 homes.

large hydroelectric plants in our country. There are many others, scattered about wherever running or falling water exerts enough force to spin turbines. Actually, if all the water power in our country were put to work, it would generate almost twice as much electricity as we now have from all sources. The diagram on page 14S shows how water power is used to generate electricity.

USING MOTORS TO GENERATE ELECTRICITY.—Any force that will spin a generator can be used for making electricity. Modern diesel-electric locomotives use diesel engines to turn generators. The electricity from the generators runs motors which turn the wheels. Diesel engines are used because they are more powerful than gasoline engines, and diesel fuel is cheaper than gasoline. Again, electricity is used to drive the locomotive because it is more easily controlled than the power directly from the diesel engine.



Torne Prent & Light Company

Steam Electric Generating Station.—This plant generates 187,800 kilowatts of electricity. Remember that one kilowatt is 1000 watts. Where is the cal burned? Haw do you know? How is the burning caal used to generate electricity? The rows of electrical equipment at the right of the plant are transformers. They change the electricity to the proper voltage for transmission.

ELECTRIC PLANTS ON THE FARM.—Even though a farm is not supplied with electricity from a power company, it can still have the convenience of electricity. A "home electric plant" may be installed. Such plants usually consist of a generator, a gasoline or diesel engine to drive the generator, and batteries to store some of the electricity. If there are rather steady winds in the region, a wind-driven generator may also be used to furnish electricity.

ATOMIC POWER.-The greatest source of power for generating electricity is locked up in atoms-atomic power. So far, this is power for the future

How could atomic power be used for generating electricity? The drawing on page 281 shows that heat from the "atomic pile" could be used to change water into steam. The rest of the drawing is familar—the steam is directed against a turbine which spins a generator.



Diesel-Electric.—Diesel engines of 5,400-horsepower are used to spin generators in this locomotive. The electricity generated is used to run the electric motors which drive the locomotive. Why are not the diesel engines used to drive the locomotive directly?

To understand how the atomic pile supplies heat is more difficult. You must remember that all elements are made of atoms. Furthermore, atoms are made of a central part called

Inside a Diesel-Electric Locomotive.—No. 1 is the 16-cylinder diesel engine; No. 2 is the main generator; No. 3 is one of the electric motors which drive the locomotive; No. 4 is the supercharger for the engine; No. 5 shows the blowers; Nos. 6 and 8 are part of the steam system for heating the cars; No. 7 is the fuel tank.



Couries Winchster Constants

Electricity from the Wind.—This winddriven generator may be mounted on top of a barn or tower. As the wind turns the propeller blacks, the amoture inside the generator spins. This generates an electric current. The current is corred by means of wires (not shown) to battenes where it is stored for use. What is the purpose of the wind yane!

the nucleus, surrounded by electrons. You may think of the solar system for comparison. The nucleus of the atom is the "sun." Theelectrons are the "planets."

For a long time scientists believed that the nucleus of the atom was held together with tremendous forces. If the nucleus could be broken apart, or "splt," enormous energy would be released. But for most atoms it took more energy to split the nucleus than was obtained from the splitting!

Finally it was discovered that uranium-235, a very rare twin of uranium-238, would split when struck by a neutron. (Neutrons can be produced in a cyclotron. Stray neutrons also reach the earth from space). In the process of splitting.

more neutrons would be formed which in turn would split the nuclei of more transmission of a so a "chain reaction" would be formed. See the drawing on page 292. After nucle experimentation, a way was found of separating irranium-235 from uranium-235. Also another new element, plutonium, was made which split easily, like uranum-235

In making the atomic bomb, the plutonium was arranged so that an extremely fast chain reaction would occur. All the energy was released in a fraction of a second. The result was a tremendous explosion.

The peacetime use of atomic energy presents different



By permission of the American Education Press, publishers of "Current Science and Ariation"

Atomic Electric Plant.—In this imaginary atomic "powerhouse" a fluid is pumped through an atomic pile where it is heated. (Where does the heat come from?) The hot fluid is used to change water into steam. This happens in the heat exchanger. The steam is then used to spin a turbine which, in turn, spins a generator. What is the purpose of the condenser? Why is the atomic pile enclosed in a thick concrete shield?

problems. The main problem here is to slow down the chain reaction so that a steady and controlled amount of heat will be given off. This is the purpose of the "pile," but as yet it is not completely practical. Another problem has to do with *radiation*. When the nucleus of plutonium or uranium is split, dangerous invisible rays are given off. These rays pass through all materials except very thick concrete or lead. Thus everything near the pile, including the pipes, water, turbines, steam, and generators somehow must be protected from the radiation.

The problems involved in using atomic energy for generating electricity are great. But the rewards for solving the problems are even greater. It has been estimated that one pound of uranium-235 can produce energy equal to 3,000,000 pounds of coal. One of the best ways of using this energy seems to be to change it into electricity in future "atomic-electric" plants.

THINKING THINGS OVER.—From lodestone to atomic energy to spin generators—this has been the story of magnetism and electricity. We know that magnetism is not completely understood. Yet enough 1% known about magnets and how they act to make them very useful

We have learned that the force of a magnet is strongest at its poles We have also learned that the poles of a magnet attract each other if they are unlike. They repel each other if they are the same.

Whenever an electric current flows through a wire, a magnetic field as set up about the wire. Thus it is possible to make electromagnets. These are temporary magnets. Bar magnets and horseshoe magnets are permanent magnets.

Electric motors and generators are similar in construction. But they are opposite to each other in what they do. Motors



Chain Reaction.—This diagram shows what happens during a chain reaction. What causes the uranum-235 nucleus to split? What happens each time a nucleus of uranium-235 is struck by a neutron? Where do neutrons come from? The process shown here may take place instantaneously Millions of uranium nuclei may split in a tiny fraction of a second.

spin when electricity flows through the motors. Generators produce electric current when they are turned by some force. Most of our electricity is made by generators turned by steam or by moving water. In the future, steam produced by the heat of atomic piles may be used to spin generators.

KEY WORDS

armature	lines of force	plutonium
atomic pile	lodestone	poles (magnetic)
chain reaction	magnet	temporary
compass	motor	turbine
electromagnet	neutron	uranium
generator	nucleus	•
hydroelectric	permanent	

KEY STATEMENTS

1. Magnets are objects which attract certain other materials.

2. Magnetic force is the strongest at the poles of a magnet.

3. The magnetic force leaving a magnet forms lines of force.

4. One pole of a magnet is called the north pole. The other pole is called the south pole.

5. The magnetism of the earth causes a compass needle to point in a north-south direction.

6. The end of a compass needle which points toward the north is called the north-seeking or north pole of the compass.

7. Like magnetic poles repel each other. Unlike poles attract each other.

8. An electric current flowing through a wire forms a magnetic field around the wire.

9. A coil of wire through which an electric current passes is a temporary magnet. It is called an electromagnet.

10. An electromagnet's strength may be increased by increasing the turns of wire, placing a soft iron core in the coil, and sending a stronger current through the coil.

11. In the electric motor, an armature or electromagnets are mounted between other magnets. As the direction of the current flowing into the electromagnets is changed, the poles of the electromagnets are changed. Thus the poles of the electromagnets are first attracted to and then repelled by the poles of the outside magnets. This causes the armature to rotate. 12. When a wrre is moved through a magnetic field, an electric current moves through the wire This is the principle of the electric generator

13 Most of the electricity in the United States is produced from steam-driven generators

14 Hydroclectric plants use the force of running water to turn generators,

15 Great quantities of electricity may someday be made by generators driven by atomic power.

THOUGHT QUESTIONS

1. How do you know that the earth is a magnet?

2 Is magnetism a form of electricity? Give reasons for your answer

3 What is a lodestone?

4 Where is most of the force of a magnet concentrated? Give proof for your answer

5 How could you tell which end of a magnet was the south pole?

6 Why does a magnetized needle point in a north-pouth direction?

7 How would three south poles of three magnets act toward each other?

-8 What is a magnetic field?

9 How are the poles of the electromagnets in the armature of a motor changed? What is the effect of this?

-10 List three ways the strength of an electromagnet may be increased.

11 What is the principle of the electric generator?

12 Describe the chain reaction which takes place when the nuclei of uranum-235 atoms are split

PROJECTS FOR YOUR SCIENCE DISCOVERY BOOK

1 Go to the library and read about some of the early uses of lodestones. Write a brief report in your Science Discovery Book.

2 A magnetic screw driver is handy for use with small screws. Magnetize a screw driver by rubhing the blade in the same direction with one pole of a strong magnet.

3 Msgnetize five needles so that the eyes of all five are the same pole Insert each needle into a flat cork so that half the needle is above the cork Float all five with the eyes out of water. Explain the arrangement of the corks

4. Make an electromagnet by winding many turns of insulated wire around a bolt and nut with a washer at each end. Connect it to a dry cell. Test its strength. If a stronger magnet is wanted, add more turns of wire.

5. Examine the electromagnet couplers on some model electric trains. Show by means of drawings how they work.

6. Try to find a discarded doorbell for study. Take the cover off and trace the wiring. Pay particular attention to the work of the contact points.

7. Find out where the electricity used in your home is generated. What is the source of power used to turn the generators?

8. Make a report on one large hydroelectric plant. How many generators are used? How much electricity is produced? How much water is needed? How fast does the water move?

9. List all the uses of electricity in your home.

10. Make a simple galvanometer. Carve out a hole in a block of wood for a small compass. Set the compass in the hole and wind 60 or 70 turns of very thin insulated wire around the block and compass. The winding should all be in the same direction, and should be tight enough to hold the compass firmly in the hole. Fasten the ends of the wire to two bolts and nuts as terminal posts. Glue bits of felt on the corners underneath so that the block is steady.

To use the galvanometer, turn it so that the compass needle is parallel to the wire. Whenever a slight electric current flows through the coil, the compass needle will move.



Cauricay Westinsheurs

Electrical Highways.—Transmission lines like these are the electrical highways of the air. Pushed by 66,000 to 132,000 volts (or even more), electrical energy whizes along the copper skin of the steel wires.

TOPIC XI

Electricity and Communication

DO YOU KNOW-

1. What radar is?

2. The Morse code?

3. Whether your voice is carried along telephone wires?

4. Some different kinds of microphones and their uses?

5. That there is an electron gun in your television set?

6. How to make a telegraph set?

GENERAL PROBLEM 1

How Are Messages Carried by Telegraph and Telephone?

USEFUL ELECTROMAGNETS.—In Topic X we studied about electromagnets. We discovered that electromagnets make possible electric motors. We know that such magnets are also used to lift great weights of iron or steel.

Electromagnets are important in communication. Indeed, the telegraph, the telephone, and the teletype all use electromagnets to carry messages from place to place.

TELEGRAPH.—A little more than 100 years ago, Samuel F. B. Morse made the first telegraph set in the United States. Today there are more than two million miles of telegraph lines



Zaring Outleway

Topping Out o Message.—This old Western Union telegraph set has been replaced in most areas with modern teletype machines The telegraph is shill important, however, in many smaller stations. (Compare this picture with the one on page 289.) in operation. Almost every city, town, railroad station, and airport are connected by means of telegraph.

The telegraph system consists of a sending key and a sounder, connected by wire through which an cleetrical eurrent may flow. The key is really a switch When the key is pressed, it closes the switch, and electricity flows through the wire to the sounder.

The sounder is an electromagnet. When current flows through the electromagnet, a small iron bar or lever is drawn to the electromagnet. As the lever strikes the core of the electromagnet, a "click" is heard. When the pressure is taken off the sending key, the switch opens, and the current stops flowing through the wires. The

electromagnet in the sounder becomes demagnetized. A spring on the metal lever pulls it away from the core, and against a metal frame. As the lever strikes the frame, another "chck" is heard. Thus every time the telegraph operator presses on the sending key, a click is heard from the sounder. Every heard.

In order to send messages by telegraph, a code must be used. A very short space between two clicks is called a "dot" A longer space between two clicks is called a "dash." Combinations of dots and dashes sland for the letters of the alphabet. For example, the letter "A" in the Morse code is "dot," "dash."

The letter "B" is "dash," "dot," "dot," "dot." The complete Morse code is given in the Appendix.

You can make a two-way telegraph set at home by following the directions in Experiment 23. Notice that a lock switch makes it possible for either instrument to be used as a sending key or as a sounder.

The telegraph set you make in Experiment 23 can send only one message at a time over the wire. Modern telegraph systems can send many different messages over the same wires at the same time. Using a combination of methods, 120 messages may be carried at the same time on 4 wires.

TELEGRAMS AND TELETYPE.—In the old days telegrams were sent by code as described on page 288. An operator sent out the "dots" and "dashes" to the distant station. There

A Modern Telegram.—The girl is aperating a teleprinter. As she "types" aut the message, hales are punched in the paper tape. The tape leaves the teleprinter and passes through the automatic transmitter at her left. The transmitter sends out an electrical current which operates an automatic teletypewriter at the receiving station.



...... (HOME) EXPERIMENT 23

How does the telegraph operate?



This experiment makes use of electromagnets. In what other experiment did you make an electromagnet? Bafore trying this experiment, trace the flow of electricity through the apparatus. What is the purpose of the lock switch on each sending key?

What TO Use — The blocks of soft nood about $1'' \times 4'' \times 8''_1$ old "tim" cans or sheet metal, its same or metal shears; about 20 feet of No 20, 22, or 24 ansulated topper ware; about 23 feet of ordinary insulated doorbell ware, two dry cells, the steel wood screas about 20" long, the fin-hung main about 21" long, several 4" wood erews.

What TO Do --Use the un assign to cut the sheet metal in strips as shown Assemble the telegraph set as shown in the drawing. You will have to experiment to make sure the strips on the sounders are best just rights on that they click when they are pulled down, and click when they spring back and strike the mail

More one set as far from the other as possible. Close the lock switch of one set and operate the key of the other set Observe what happens to both sounders Try using the other set as the sender.

WHAT HAPPENS--1 Trace the flow of electricity when one sending key is pressed

2 How many sounders operate when one key is pressed? Why?

3 When is the metal strip of the sounders pulled to the electromagnet? When does it spring back to the nail?

4 What happens when the lock switch of a sender is closed?

5 How is a set changed from a sounder to a sending set?
CONCLUSIONS.—1. What is the purpose of the key in a telegraph set? 2. How does the telegraph sounder operate?

3. Explain in your own words how the telegraph set operates.

APPLICATIONS.—Of what value is the telegraph in the operation of railroads?

Why has the teletype replaced the telegraph set for telegrams?

the operator translated the message from the code, and typed it on a telegram which the "telegraph boy" delivered.

The modern system of sending telegrams makes use of teletypewriters, or "teletype machines" as they are sometimes called. The sending operator types out the message on the teletypewriter. Two things happen as the operator types out the message. A regular typewritten copy of the message is made. This the operator keeps as a record of the message sent. At the same time the machine punches combinations of holes in a paper tape. As this paper passes through another part of the machine, electrical contact fingers touch the tape where the holes are. This sends out electrical current over the wire in the same spurts as the holes are in combination in the paper.

At the receiving end of the line the spurts of current cause the same letters to be written on an electrically operated typewriting machine. The message is typed on a tape which comes out of the side of the teletype machine. The operator euts off the pieces of tape and pastes them on a telegram form. The telegram is then phoned or delivered.

SENDING PICTURES BY TELEGRAPH.—For the past 15 years many newspapers have been receiving pictures by telegraph. A picture taken in San Francisco, may be "telegraphed" to New York, and appear in the newspaper, all within a few hours. Sending the same picture by mail would take two or three days.

The diagram on page 292 shows how pictures are sent by telegraph. The photoelectric cell is a device which changes light energy into electrical energy. It is sometimes called an "electric eye." Photoelectric cells may be used to open or elose



Sending Pictures by Electricity.—The diagram is simplified to show the main ports of the apporatus used to send pictures by telegraph. The picture to be sent is on the drum at the left, and is being received on the drum at the right. What is the purpose of the pisan What does the photoelectric cell do? How is the size of the hole (aperture) controlled? What hoppens when the operture is completely closed?

doors when a beam of light is broken. They may also be used to turn on drinking fountains.

The picture to be sent by telegraph is a transparent film, something like a photographic negative. It is mounted on a sylinder which revolves A tiny beam of light is focused on the picture. As the picture revolves, gradually every tiny section of the picture fails under the beam of light. As shown io the dagram, the light travels through the picture, and is reflected into a photoelectric cell. Little or no light passes through the light sections of the picture. Thus varying amounts of light reach the photoelectric cell And these varying amounts correspond to the same pattern of lightness and darkness in the picture.

The photoelectric cell sends out an electric current which varies with the light which reaches it. This varying current is sent along wires to the receiver. The current operates an elec-

292 MAGNETS AND ELECTRICITY



Radiophoto.—One step beyond telephoto is radiophoto—the sending of photos by radio waves. This photo of the governor of Bermuda was the first picture to be sent by radiophoto from Bermuda to New York. A picture of the message he is writing was also sent.

tromagnet which controls the size of a tiny hole through which light is passed. The light falls on a photographic film mounted on a turning cylinder. The light which reaches the film corresponds to the light which passes through the original picture. After the beam of light has traveled the length of the cylinder, the film is removed and developed.

TELEPHONE.—The telephone, like the telegraph, carries messages by wire. The telegraph, however, can send only a coded message. The telephone makes it possible for you to hear the words spoken by another person.

You will remember that there is no change in the current sent along telegraph wires. The current is "on," or it is "off." In the telephone an electrical current of changing or varying strength is carried along wires. This varying current is the secret of the telephone.

Sound Waves .- You learned in an earlier science course

ELECTRICITY AND COMMUNICATION 293



Courtres Westing

Controlling a Door with an "Electric Eye."—A beam of light from a bulb on the left-hand railing shines on a photoelectric cell behind the right-hand railing When a person breaks the beam of light, the electric eye stops sending current This break in the current is made to operate a switch which turns on a motor to open the door,

that sounds are vibrations Any object that vibrates produces sound. And sounds may be carried by any matter that can be made to vibrate.

When you talk your vocal cords vibrate. Their vibrations set the nearby air molecules vibrating These molecules in turn set other air molecules vabrating, and so the sound of your voice is carried.

FROM SOUND WAVE TO THE ELECTRICAL WAVE .---When you talk into the mouthpiece of a telephone. the vibrating air molecules strike a thin diaphragm in the transmitter. The diaphragm is set vibrating. In back of the diaphragm is a small box containing carbon grains. The back and forth movement of the diaphragm alternately

squeezes the grains together, then allows them to spread apart-An electrical current passes through the carbon grains. When the grains are pressed together they are a good conductor of electricity, and a strong current flows through. When the pressure is released, they are a poorer conductor, and a weaker current flows. This variation in electrical current has the same pattern as the sound waves reaching the diaphragm. Thus the transmitter changes sound waves into corresponding electrical waves These variations in electric current are then carried by wires to the telephone receiver. Try Experiment 24 if you can obtain the necessary materials The experiment will help you understand the changing strength of current in telephone wires.

MAGNETS AND ELECTRICITY

CARBON GRANULES MAGNET DIAPHRAGM COIL DIAL MECHANISM RINGER COIL

Modern Telephone Set.—The important ports of a telephone are shown in this cutaway diagram. Other telephones may look somewhat different from this one, but each has a transmitter and a receiver. What is the purpose of the carbon granules? How does the receiver change an electric current to sound waves?

A. T. & T. Co.

What happens to the current in a telephone circuit when sounds enter the transmiller?



If you do not have the equipment to try this experiment, study the diagram carefully Trace the flow of electricity through the wres and the instruments What happens to the electric current in the transmitter? In the receiver? What is the purpose of the gaivanometer? In what ways is an actual telephone installation more complicated than this diagram?

WHAT TO USE -A discarded but usable telephone transmitter and receiver, two or three dry cells, a galvanometer

WHAT TO Do -1 Connect the transmitter, receiver, dry cells, and guivanometer in series as shown in the diagram. Turn the galvanometer so that the class can see the needle. With the room quiet, observe the needle

2 Have one person talk into the transmitter, and another listen through the receiver Observe what happens to the needle of the galvanometer.

3 Compare the action of the needle when the person talks loudly and softly

NOTE --- If the listener cannot bear through the receiver, try adding more dry cells

296 MAGNETS AND ELECTRICITY

The galvanometer needle moves off zero whenever an electric current flows through the circuit. If it moves to a position and stays there, a direct current of constant strength is flowing through the wires. The *stronger* the current, the *farther* the needle will move.

WHAT HAPPENS.—1. Did any current flow through the circuit when the room was quiet? How do you know? If there was a current, was it steady or did it change in strength? How do you know?

2. Could the listener hear the message through the receiver? What happened to the galvanometer needle when words were spoken into the transmitter?

3. What happened to the needle when words were spoken loudly into the transmitter? When words were spoken softly into the transmitter?

CONCLUSIONS.—1. What happens to the current in a telephone circuit when sounds enter the transmitter?

2. How does the strength of the electrical current carried by the wire compare with the loudness of the sounds spoken into the transmitter?

3. Where is the beginning of the variations in the strength of the current flowing through the telephone wires?

FROM ELECTRICAL WAVES TO SOUND WAVES.—The receiver is a permanent magnet, the ends of which are also electromagnets. A thin metal diaphragm is held in place by the permanent magnet. (See drawing on page 295). The electrical waves travel through the electromagnet. As you learned earlier, the strength of an electromagnet is affected by the strength of the current flowing through it. Thus the electromagnet in the receiver is constantly changing its strength. This causes the diaphragm to vibrate. And the vibrating diaphragm produces sound waves which travel through the air to your ear. Actual sounds are not carried over the wires. The electrical current carried by the wires causes vibrations in the receiver diaphragm which correspond to sounds spoken into the transmitter.

If an old telephone is available, take it apart to study its parts. Find the diaphragm in the transmitter. Saw the transmitter case in half to see the carbon granules. Note where the wires are attached. Unscrew the ear piece from the receiver. Note the steel diaphragm. Remove the diaphragm. Locate the permanent magnet. Find the electromagnet which vibrates the diaphragm.

How Are Messages Carried without Wires?

PROGRESS IN COMMUNICATION.—Have you ever thought about the different kinds of communication man has used through the ages? Many ancient people used fire beacons for sending messages. The Indians used smoke signals. African natives used drums. Paul Revere received his famous message as a hight signal. Sailors use signal fings, semaphore fings, and blinker hights. All these methods were used long before electricity was discovered. Some are still used today.

Loudspeaker.—The coil which is behind the speaker is port of an electromagnet. Another coil, hidden by the frame, is port of an electromagnet which couses the black poper cone to vibrate and produce sound. (Compare this picture with the diagram of the loudspeaker on page 300)



With the discovery of electricity, new methods of sending messages were invented. The telegraph appeared in 1835, About 1875 Alexander Graham Bell invented the telephone. Then about 1900 Marconi invented the wireless telegraph-a means of sending a coded message without the use of wires. Some twenty years later radio became successful. During World War II radar was developed. Right after the close of World War II television was perfected as the newest means of communication.

RADIO.—If you have ever looked inside a radio set, you know that radio is too complicated to be explained in this science course. Many of the details of how radio works must be left for later science study. But we can understand some of the basic principles of radio broadcasting and reception.

BROADCASTING.—The sounds in a broadcasting studio are picked up by a *microphone*. There are many different kinds of microphones for different purposes. One type is very similar to the telephone transmitter. The sound waves set a diaphragm vibrating. These vibrations affect carbon grains inside the microphone, which cause variations in an electric current. This varying electric current is sent to the transmitter which may be miles away from the studio. The current is carried to the transmitter over telephone lines.

At the transmitter the current is *amplified*, or strengthened. Then the pattern of this current is added to another powerful electric current produced at the station. This combination current passes through another part of the transmitter, and flows through the *antenna*. There it sets up radio waves which travel out from the antenna. The radio waves are in the same pattern as the current which flowed through the microphone.

Microphones.—The large microphones shown here are frequently seen in radio studios. The small microphones weigh only 12 ounces but are as sensitive and "powerful" as the large ones. For what kind of programs would the smaller "mikes" be useful?





Redia—The important parts are shown here to help you understand the principles involved in radio broadcasting and receptian. Can you tell what each part does? Start with he microphone and follow through to the broadcasting antenna. Why must the electrical current from the funer and detector be strengthened? Where is this done¹ Why does the paper cone in the speaker vibrate? What do the "birgations cause?

RADIO RECEPTION.—A radio receiver is made so that it changes radio waves back into a varying electrical current. The tuning knobs or push buttons on the radio set rave parts of the set so that different stations may be "tuned in." The electrical current in the receiver is strengthened, and then passes to the speaker. As is shown in the drawing, the speaker has an electromagnet. The electromagnet causes a paper cone to vibrate. Its vibrations send out sound waves which we hear.

We can understand, then, the important parts of sending and receiving messages by radio The microphone changes sound waves into a varying electric current of the same pattern. The transmitter changes this current into radio waves. A receiver tuned to certain radio waves changes the radio waves

300 MAGNETS AND ELECTRICITY

into an electrical current of the same pattern. This electric current operates a speaker which sets up sound waves again.

RADAR.—The basic principles of radar were discovered some thirty years ago. It wasn't until World War II, however, that it was developed into a practical and useful instrument.

Radar makes use of radio waves, special kinds of waves known as *short waves*. Unlike usual radio waves, short waves are reflected by metal, land, and even heavy rain storms. The idea in radar is to send out bursts of short waves. If they



Aircraft Radar.—The black plane is sending aut a radar beam indicated by the solid lines. When the beam strikes the white plane, it is reflected back to the black plane. The reflected beam is represented by the dotted lines. The distance between the planes is determined by the time it takes the beam to travel to the white plane and back again.

strike some object they will be reflected back to the radar set. Even though these waves travel at the speed of 186,000 miles per second, it is possible to determine how long it takes the waves to travel out and back.

In actual practice, the radar set has a special sort of screen, much like the screen on a television set. A single line across the bottom of the screen represents the range of the radar set, for example 93 miles. If no waves are reflected back to the set, the line remains as a straight line. If, however, the radar waves strike a ship or an airplane, a peak or a "pip" appears in the



Part of New York Notoborn This to map of the region shown in the roder poture on the left. Compare the two pictures. Find Governot block two pictures. Find Governot block for circle on the map equals one holf mule of ronge from the ship.

Redar feture—mete picture observe shows a for the of the entroper redar about the positions of the file doing the restrict shows the positions of the protection of the position is the fluctuation for the position for the order of the right. Composition with the most on the right.

Inc. If the pipe start areas the line, the ship is 461 miles away (hall of 93). Actually the bottom of the radar screen is marked off in miles so that the operator can fell immediately how far away the ohject is when he sees a pip.

Finding the value of the lob of radius. Finding the Finding the value is built be job of radius. The radar set has an anterna a hield can be turned. The operator turns the antenna antenna a hield can be turned. The operator turns the antenna filto pip on the server reaches its greatest height. Then the antenna is "on" the object and pomis straight in its direction. The art is especially radiushe because it "sees" through fog to fit days.

"see" dangerous actions after the see to be see to build refer the darkness. It may be used to spot attransmission for they phanes in the installed in ships or singhanes, radar can be used to ""see" dangerous conditions after the phase to a prove "see" dangerous conditions afterd.

305 NVCREIS VAD EFECTBICITY



Coming in by Rador.—An operator of the airport has two rador scopes. The upper left scope shows how the field looks from above. Inside the upside down V is the zone for a safe opproach. The upper right scope shows a side view for approaching the field. The correct approach will be within the lines.

The upper scopes show that the plone is too for to the left, and too low. The rodor operator on the ground radioed this information to the pilot, who corrected his approach. A minute or two later (as shown by the lower diagrams) the plane was in correct position for the approach.

During recent years there have been many new applications of radar. The *radio proximity fuse* is a miniature radar set installed in the nose of a shell. When a shell comes within a certain range of an object, the reflected radar waves set off the shell. Thus the shell "waits" for the proper instant to explode. Another application of radar is a system whereby friendly planes automatically identify each other. Still another is a system whereby a radar set can scan a region. This means that the radar set can tell a pilot about the land or ships or other objects over which he is flying.

Many scientists are busy working on new applications and improvements of radar. We can be sure that many more uses will be found for this useful tool.

TELEVISION.—Few inventions have appealed to people as has television. In 1945 it was something new and unusual. By 1952 it had become almost as common as radio. Television carnes both sound and pictures from the transmitter to the receiving set. The carrying of sound is really a part of radio, so we shall consider now only the picture part of television.

One of the basic ideas in television is to change light energy into electrical energy. Television does just this. A pattern of lightness and darkness is changed into an electrical current that varies with the pattern of the light. The details of how thus is done will have to wait for a later science course. But we can understand some of the parts of television.



One Use of Radar.—The ships of our navy shown in this picture are equipped with radar. How can you tell?

304 MAGNETS AND ELECTRICITY



Transcontinental Reloy.—At left is one of the stations of the Bell System's Transcontinental Rodio-Relay System, opened in 1951, and designed to corry television as well as telephone messages by rodio microwaves. At each tower the microwaves are received, reinforced, and sent on to the next tower. There are 123 stations in the transcontinental radio-relay system from Boston to Los Angeles. The stations overage about 28 miles apart. At right is an airplane beacon.



t owino RCA

Television Tubes.—(Left) The comero Jube is the heart of the television comero. Inside the tube ore the screen, torget, and electron gun. Explain whet each does. (Right) The top of this pacture tube is the isreen where the picture is formed. A beam of electron weeps across the screen in a pattern of 441 lines, 30 times ach second. Wherever on electron strikes the screen, a spot of light appears.

TAKING THE PICTURE.—You will remember that a pholo electric cell is used in sending pictures by telegraph. Ligh falling on a photoelectric cell causes the cell to send out at electric current. A television camera uses the same idea in a special television camera tube.

Light enters the camera tube and falls on a screen. Th screen is made so that electrons (charges of electricity) are give off when light strikes it. Further, the more light that reache the screen, the more electrons that are given off. These electrons travel like bullets to a target screen. As they strike th target, they push electrons out of the target. These "pushe out" electrons are carried away, leaving the target with few electrons that it needs. While this is going on, an electro

306 MAGNETS AND ELECTRICITY



Courtery BCA

TV Studio.—These are only part of the equipment and people needed to broadcast a television program. Note the microphone on the "boom." Two cameras are being used. The engineers in the control room see both pictures, but only one is selected to be transmitted. The engineers may change from one camera to another several times during the telecast.

gun on the other side of the target is "shooting" a rapid stream of electrons at the target. The stream of electrons is aimed at the target so that it sweeps the target in a regular pattern of horizontal lines. As the electron stream sweeps across the target, electrons are captured at those spots where the target is missing electrons. The rest of the electrons bound off the target and return to the gun. This means that there is a steady stream of electrons leaving the gun, but a varying stream that returns to the gun. The variations in the returning electron stream correspond to the light and dark parts of the object being televised.

Thus the electron stream—an electrical current—which returns to the gun is an electrical "picture" of the object. This current is then strengthened and sent to the transmitter. At the transmitter it is changed into radio waves and sent out



Enjoying Television — Tell how this program is brought from the studio in Chicago to a home television set.

from the antenna. The transmitter also sends out another set of radio waves which carry the sound.

RECEIVING THE PICTURE —In the television receiver is a large tube, often called the "picture tube." One end of this tube is a special kind of screen. It is here that the picture is formed

How is the picture formed? The television receiver picks up the radio waves sent from the transmitter. The waves are changed hack into an electrical current. This current operates? another electron gun at the far end of the picture tube. A stream of electrons from the gun sweeps back and forth across the screen. This stream varies just the way the electron stream did in the camera tube. Wherever electrons strike the screen, hight is given off. The screen of the picture tube shows up as a pattern of light and dark areas. This forms a picture. It is the same picture that entered the camera tube.

We have taken several minutes to tell how television works. Actually the whole thing happens much faster than we can tell about it. A football game you see on television is really hap-

308 MAGNETS AND ELECTRICITY

pening at exactly the same moment hundreds or thousands of miles away! Television lets us *see* and *hear* things as they happen. Truly television is one of the wonders of modern communication.

THINKING THINGS OVER.—From smoke signals to television —this is the story of communication. For centuries man's communication was limited to the distance sound waves and light waves would travel in air. But electricity has changed all that. First came the telegraph, using an electric current to operate an electromagnet in a sounder. Then the telephone was developed. The telephone was a great improvement over the telegraph, but both send their messages along wires.

Radio opened up new fields for communication. Radio waves travel through space without wires. Thus sending and receiving stations no longer needed to be connected by wires. Further experiments with radio led to radar, and finally to television. Electricity now gives us *sight* as well as *sound* communication.

What is the result of all these advances in communication? Certainly one result is that we can know what is happening in the world almost at the same time it is happening. When Washington was inaugurated as first president, many people did not know about it until several weeks later. Now when a president is inaugurated, or makes a speech, we can see it and hear it as it takes place.

Radio can bring us voices from the other side of the world. So far television cannot bring us pictures from such great distances. But shall we some day see on our television screens events as they take place in Europe, or Asia, or South America? Only time and the work of scientists can answer that question.

KEY WORDS

camera tube code microphone "pip" photoelectric cell picture tube radar radio sounder sound wave telegraph telephone teletype television transmitter variation (in current) vibrations



Working Together for Health.—Personal health is a necessory port of community health. You and the doctor must work together to reach the gool of good personal and community health.

UNIT IV

Community and Personal Health



Pure, Sparkling Water, Clean, germ-free water is a must for good drinking water for community use.

TOPIC XII

Community Health and Sanitation

DO YOU KNOW-

1. Where your drinking water comes from?

2. How your water supply may become polluted?

3. How science is able to prevent disease by proper treatment of drinking water?

4. Why garbage should be protected from flies?

5. Why sewage disposal is a health problem?

6. How to separate a dissolved substance from the water in which it is dissolved?

GENERAL PROBLEM 1

How Is Safe Water Supplied to the Home?

SANITATION, HEALTH, AND WATER.—Good health is the goal of every intelligent person. It is a goal we reach only by hard work. Good health doesn't "just happen." For many, many years scientists and doctors have studied to find out what is needed for healthy lives. Again and again, they have discovered that cleanliness and sanitation are most important in keeping people healthy. Of course other things are important, too. We shall study about some of them later. But over and over again it has been found that the clean sanitary community is the healthful community.

What is involved in being sanitary? Certainly there must be a will to keep clean. And perhaps next in importance is a good supply of safe water. Because water is necessary for life,

COMMUNITY HEALTH AND SANITATION 315

•در



Pure, Sparkling Water,-Clean, germ-free water is a must for good health. Supplying such water is a never-ending task for modern communities This picture illustrates aeration, one step in preparing drinking water for community use,

TOPIC XII

Community Health and Sanitation

DO YOU KNOW-

1. Where your drinking water comes from?

2. How your water supply may become polluted?

3. How science is able to prevent disease by proper treatment of drinking water?

4. Why garbage should be protected from flies?

5. Why sewage disposal is a health problem?

6. How to separate a dissolved substance from the water in which it is dissolved?

GENERAL PROBLEM 1

How Is Safe Water Supplied to the Home?

SANITATION, HEALTH, AND WATER.—Good health is the goal of every intelligent person. It is a goal we reach only by hard work. Good health doesn't "just happen." For many, many years scientists and doctors have studied to find out what is needed for healthy lives. Again and again, they have discovered that cleanliness and sanitation are most important in keeping people healthy. Of course other things are important, too. We shall study about some of them later. But over and over again it has been found that the clean sanitary community is the healthful community.

What is involved in being sanitary? Certainly there must be a will to keep clean. And perhaps next in importance is a good supply of safe water. Because water is necessary for life,



Water Tower.—If there is no high land near the city or town, storage tanks are set atop high tawers. Why are towers such as these seen more often in the midwest than along our coasts?

much of a community's health will depend upon its water supply. We should understand the science principles involved in supplying our homes with water.

FROM THE SOURCE TO THE RESERVOIR.—Springs, wells, lakes, and rivers are the common sources of a water supply. Regardless of the source, some system must be provided for bringing the water to the homes where it is to be used. When the water must supply a community of many homes, a storage tank or reservor is used. The science principles involved in bringing water from the source to a storage phace are the same regardless of the source of the water. In all possible cases? reservoirs are placed higher than the community. This is done so that gravity may be used to force the water through the water mains into the pipes of the houses.

316 COMMUNITY AND PERSONAL HEALTH

In like manner, the force of gravity can be used to bring water from the source to the reservoir. Again, in order to use gravity, the source must be at a higher altitude than the reservoir. Also, the water must not have to pass over any hill higher than the level of the water at the source.

This system of water supply is called a *gravity system*. When the gravity system cannot be used, a *pumping system* must be installed. The pumping system is more complicated and costs more to operate than the gravity system.

THE GRAVITY SYSTEM.—You know that water runs downhill by gravity. You know also that if the water in a stream is blocked or dammed, the water will fill up and overflow the dam. Water stored in this way exerts a pressure or push to get through the dam. This pressure is due to the force of gravity tending to pull the water down its course to lower levels. The deeper the water the greater the downward pressure. By Experiment 25 you may prove to yourself that water exerts such a pressure. The experiment is important because it will show you how a gravity system works.

Deserted Lake.—There is little danger of this lake's being contaminated. High in the mountains, fed by snow, it would make a good source of water for a small cammunity. Do you think it would be easy to pipe the water from this lake to supply the people in the cammunity below?



WHAT HAPPENS.—7. Did water stay in the cylinder at first? What held it in? When a certain depth was reached, did the water push out at the bottom? Why?

8. Did the depth of water required to push out the plate vary with the force exerted by the balance? Did the balance measure the downward pressure?

Make a labeled diagram to illustrate each trial.

CONCLUSION.—Briefly, what did you prove? Give the evidence which you think is proof of your statement.

What was the relation between the downward pressure and depth?

APPLICATION.—Why cannot a person dive more than a few feet into water?

If you were successful with the experiment, you proved that water does exert a downward pressure. The deeper the water, the greater the downward pressure. Downward pressure is caused by gravity and so is called *gravity pressure*.

Besides exerting a downward pressure, water exerts a lateral or sidewise pressure also. Experiment 26 will show you how we know this.

ANNIHIM FIELD RESEARCH ANNIHIMAN FIELD RESEARCH

Examine the plan for a dam. Explain why it provides for stronger construction at the bottom than at the top.

Friont Dam, Colifornio.—The concrete structure of this dom is 320 feet high ond 3420 feet long. Some construction wos going on when the picture was taken. The Friont-Kern Canal is in the foreground.

Bureau of Reclamation

---- EXPERIMENT 27 ·

Does water seek its own level?



In what ways is this experment similar to Experiment 267 Look back to Experiment 267, page 321, and Figure out what you could add to make it illusfrate that water seeks its own level What force is acting on the water in both experiments?

WHAT TO USE .-- Funnel, rubber tubing; glass tubing; and a ring stand with clamps.

What to Do -1. Set up the apparatus as in the drawing so that the water can run from the bottom of the funnel through the rubber tubing into the glass tube held upright.

2 Gradually fill the funnel with water.

WHAT HAFFENS-I. Does the water run into the glass tube?

2. As you continue to add water to the funnel, how does the height of the top of the water in the tube compare with the top of the water in the funnel?

CONCLUSION .-- Consider what you have learned about water pressure and try to explane what you have demonstrated in this experiment.

Now you can understand that a gravity water supply system uses the principles of water pressure. These principles are: water seeks its level because of gravity pressure; and gravity pressure always occurs in water because the force of gravity is always seting.

322 COMMUNITY AND PERSONAL HEALTH

,

How does a model gravity water-supply system work?



Another "Key" Experiment. Why is it important? What difference would it make with the water spurting from the tube at the left, if the container (reservoir) at the right of the hand in the sketch were higher? What force caused the water to flow through the apparatus?

WHAT TO USE.—A large funnel; three pieces of rubber tubing; two straight-sided lamp elimneys with two-hole rubber stoppers or eorks to fit; three ring stands and elamps to hold the elimneys; one pinelheock; two elamps; a pointed glass outlet tube drawn to a small opening; and four "L" tubes. One "L" tube should have the long end drawn out to a small opening.

WHAT TO Do.—Study the diagram of an actual gravity system used by a large city and set up a model as shown.

When all is connected and the clamps (representing valves) properly closed, fill the large funnel (representing a lake) with water. Open the "valves" and allow water to flow (1) to the first chimney representing the sedimentation reservoir, (2) then into the city reservoir chimney which contains a fountain (pointed "L" tube), and (3) finally out through the pointed exit tube.

WHAT HAPPENS.—Does the water run (flow) from the funnel (lake) to the sedimentation and then to the city reservoir? Why?

Did the water form a little fountain from the pointed tube in the second chimney (city reservoir)? Why?

- EXPERIMENT 27

Does water seek its own level?



In what ways is this expenment similar to Experiment 267. Look back to Experiment 267. page 321, and figure out what you could add to make it illustrate that water seeks its own tevel. What force is acting on the water in both experiments?

WHAT TO USE .- Funnel, rubber tubing; glass tubing; and a ring stand with clamps.

WEAT TO Do -1. Set up the apparatus as in the drawing so that the water can run from the bottom of the funnel through the subber tubing into the glass tube held upright.

2 Gradually fill the funnel with water.

WHAT HAPPENS -- 1. Does the water run into the glass tube"

2. As you continue to add water to the funnel, how does the height of the top of the water in the tube compare with the top of the water in the funnel?

CONCLUSION .- Consider what you have learned about water presure and try to explain what you have demonstrated in this experiment

Now you can understand that a gravity water supply stytem uses the principles of water pressure. These principles are: water seeks its level because of gravity pressure; and gravity pressure always occurs in water because the force of gravity is always acting.

322 COMMUNITY AND PERSONAL HEALTH

AMMININI (KEY) EXPERIMENT 28 AMMININI

How does a model gravity water-supply system work?



Another "Key" Experiment. Why is it important? What difference would it make with the water spurting from the tube at the left, if the container (reservoir) at the right of the hand in the sketch were higher? What force caused the water to flow through the apparatus?

WHAT TO USE.—A large funnel; three pieces of rubber tubing; two straight-sided lamp chimneys with two-hole rubber stoppers or corks to fit; three ring stands and clamps to hold the ehimneys; one pinchcock; two clamps; a pointed glass outlet tube drawn to a small opening; and four "L" tubes. One "L" tube should have the long end drawn out to a small opening.

WHAT TO Do.—Study the diagram of an actual gravity system used by a large city and set up a model as shown.

When all is connected and the clamps (representing valves) properly closed, fill the large funnel (representing a lake) with water. Open the "valves" and allow water to flow (1) to the first chimney representing the scdimentation reservoir, (2) then into the city reservoir chimney which contains a fountain (pointed "L" tube), and (3) finally out through the pointed exit tube.

WHAT HAPPENS.—Does the water run (flow) from the funnel (lake) to the sedimentation and then to the eity reservoir? Why?

Did the water form a little fountain from the pointed tube in the second chimney (city reservoir)? Why?

ï

How high does the water spout from the pointed outlet tube? Does it illustrate the principle that water seeks its level?

CONGLUMION -- State how and why gravity causes the water to pass from the lake to the city reservoir

What causes the water m the conducts to go over hills?

Explain the height to which the water was forced from the outlet tube from the city reservoir

It is well enough to talk about a gravity system, but you will understand it better if you can build a model of such a system. Experiment 28 will help you do this



A Water Supply System.—This city is fortunate in having a good supply of water about thirty miles away. Some cities must go hundreds of miles for their drinking water. Why would water pumps have to be installed in a 700-foot building in this city?

PUMPING SYSTEM.—Many people, living outside a community water-supply system, install a private pressure system like the one illustrated on page 325 A motor-driven pump forces water from the well into a tank containing air. As the water is forced in at the bottom, the air fis compressed into smaller space above the water. The pump continues to force the water until the air pressure becomes 40 lbs. to 50 lbs. per square inch, as required. The motor is then automatically stopped. As the water is withdrawn, the air pressure drops.

324 COMMUNITY AND PERSONAL HEALTH

When the air pressure drops to about 20 lbs. per square inch, the motor automatically starts. Thus more water is pumped into the tank.



A Pumping System.—The motor in this system automatically turns on and pumps water when the water level in the tank drops. As the water is pumped into the tank, air is compressed. Why? What forces the water up into the supply pipe?

A pipe leads from near the bottom of the tank to other pipes and faucets. When a faucet is opened, water flows out. It is forced through the pipe by the expansion of the compressed air in the top of the tank. In such a system the tank is usually placed in the cellar.

The same plan may be used to supply cistern water for use in the house. This is rain water, collected in a tank or cistern. How can compressed air be used to supply water at higher levels?



What kind of energy is used to work the pump represented in the picture? Where does it come from? What kind of energy is sometimes used on the farm to work the force pump?

When the piston is raised, water comes up around the valve What causes the water to rise in the wary? What force causes the water to flow out of the "tank" when the tube is opened? What kind of energy does that represent?

What To Use -A model force pump; a wide-mouthed bottle (12 αx), a two-hole subber stopper to fit the bottle, 12" length of wrse, two giass "L" tubes and rubber tubing, a punchcock (laucet); a glass tube drewn to a small opening at one end (nozzle); a dish for wrster, and a ring stand and large charp to hold the bottle

What to Do.-Set up your model as ullustrated Place water in the dish (to represent a well or cistern) and operate the apparetus

What HAFFENS --Ob-crve how the air in the bottle (tank) is compressed when you pump and how it expands when you allow water to flow from the nozzle. This can be ob-crved by the change in water level in the bottle. Where does the air-compressing force come from?

CONCLUSION -- In a water system of this kind, what forces the water through the pipes to the faucets?

How does this differ from the water pressure in a gravity system? What relation do you think custs between the pressure of the air in the tank and the height to which the water will be forced?

APPLICATION.-If you can arrange for it, you will be interested to visit a fire house and find out how the pumper works When pumping systems are used to supply whole communities, the water is usually pumped into large tanks or reservoirs. These storage reservoirs are high above the community. They may be some distance from both the pumping station and the homes they supply. Such a water-supply system is really a combination pumping and gravity system. Explain.

Experiment 29 tells you how to set up a model pressure system.

Now that the water is at your door, you are concerned with its distribution to various parts of your house. You are also concerned with its safety from the standpoint of your health. Therefore, the next few sections will help you to discover facts about your home water system. You should also know how the water is made safe for your use, and how you may further protect your supply and thereby your health.

FAUCETS.—In communities with a common supply system, the water is brought to the house through water mains. It is distributed within the house through small pipes. Faucets are an important part of your water system. They must be simple in construction and easy to repair. The faucet has a valve that may be opened or closed by turning the handle at the top of the post or stem. One type of faucet is in general use. It is made

World's Largest Water Pumps.-Twelve pumps, like the three shown here, will lift water 280 feet from behind Grand Caulee Dam ta irrigate 1,000,-000 acres in the State of Washington. Each pump delivers aver a billion gallans of water a day. In the faregraund is a case in which water enters the pump. In the middle, a 65,000 horsepawer electric motar is being assembled over anather pump. Next is a completed pumping unit.


MILLO RESEARCH

If you can get an old water faueet from your plumber, take it apart and compare the parts with those shown in the figure Put the faueet together and work it.

During your investigation try to discover what makes a faucet leak and how to repair it,

Note: If you try to repair a leaky faucet at home, be sure the water is first, turned off in the basement, or below the sink or washbowl where the faucet is located.



Faucets.—The faucet on the left must be opened and closed by hand. The Fuller faucet is self-closing. No spring is necessary in this faucet. The pressure of the water flowing in the pipe pushes the valve shut unless it is held open.

in various shapes, but a little investigation will disclose that they are all about the same.

SELF-CLOSING FAUCETS.—In public buildings, including schools, where water is supplied for the convenience of the public, it is vice to use a self-closing faucet. The Fuller faucet, shown above, is self-closing. Some self-closing faucets have a coll spring fastened to the post. When the faucet is opened, the spring is tightened up, and when the handle is released, the spring closes the faucet.

The water in some drinking fountains is turned on by pressing a button near the floor. When the foot is removed from the button, the faucet is shut off. Explain why this is a good sanitary method.



Courtesy Crane

Streamlined Hygiene.—This water fountain (left) was designed for both good looks and sanitation. Water always seems to taste better and colder from such a clean source. Cleanliness is also emphasized in modern American bathrooms (right). Hard surfaces on walls, floor, and fixtures aid in keeping them clean. Explain how.

FAUCETS FOR DRAINING THE WATER PIPES.—A value or faucet is placed where the water pipe comes into the water meter from the street main. When this value is closed, the water is prevented from entering the house. There is another outlet just beyond this value. It can be opened so that the water in the house pipes will flow out if the faucets in the rest of the house are open. Why must they be open? Can you give several reasons why one might wish to take all the water from the pipes?

GENERAL PROBLEM 2

How Can Safe Water Be Provided?

HEALTHFUL WATER IN THE HOUSE.—For home use our water must be clear, free from objectionable odor and taste, and free from dangerous germs. Water from wells or springs which may have been polluted should be boiled for twenty minutes or more This kills all possible disease gerns. Likewise, eity water should be boiled if there is any possibility of its containing disease gerns. Boiling for less than twenty minutes may not destroy all disease germs. In the case of the eity, the Board of Health will usually notify the people if there is need for any special care Great caution should be taken in the use of water that is not known to be safe.

Water that has been boiled tastes flat when cooled. This is because the dissolved air has been driven out by the heat. Thus it is well to cool the water after boiling and then to shake it with air, some of which will dissolve and improve the taste.

VACATION DANGERS.—When a person is out hiking, motoring, or camping, great care should be taken with respect to drinking water. "The Old Oaken Bucket" may bring water from a well in which dramage collects from barns or outhouses. The water, though it may be clear, sparkling, and cold, may



Safe and Unsafe Well's —Which of these wells is unsafe? Why? What important factor should be considered before a well is lacated an a farm?

contain disease germs. The farmer says, "It's all right to drink; we drink it." True; it is possible that the bodies of the people who drink it may have built up a resistance which protects them against any disease. You may not have that resistance; so beware! When you are not certain of the safety of drinking water, boil it before using it.

Chemical preparations are available that may be carried on a trip to sterilize (kill germs in) water if needed. Iodine, compounds of chlorine, and potassium permanganate are useful, but you need to know just what amounts must be added to the water.

SAFEGUARDING WATER FOR A COMMUNITY.—Let us study a typical city to see how it safeguards its water supply. This city secures most of its water supply from two lakes. One is 395 feet in altitude above the city. The other is 586 feet in altitude above the city. The two lakes together have a surface area of about 2800 acres. Their drainage area, supplying the water, is about 45,000 acres of land, much of which is forested. (What is the relation between forests and water supply?)

Most of the land bordering the lakes is owned by the city. It is possible, therefore, to restrict people from living on the shores. Hence there is no danger of direct contamination by sewage. The lake shores are patrolled and kept clean, free from decaying fish, garbage, and campers' refuse.

Not only is the near-by land protected, but the entire drainage area is inspected continually by health officers. No outhouses or barns are allowed to be located in places where their sewage would drain into streams flowing into the lakes. Thus every precaution is taken to keep the lake waters free from any material that would endanger the health of the people drinking the water.

Aminimum FIELD RESEARCH

Appoint a committee from your class to investigate thoroughly your own water supply. Build a model to illustrate how it works.

From your local Board of Health you can get information about the number, if any, of cases of typhoid fever during a number of years.

COMMUNITY HEALTH AND SANITATION 331

BRINGING THE WATER TO THE RESERVOIRS.—Since the lakes are above our typical city, the flow of water takes place by gravity through large conduits Referring to the diagram on page 324, you can trace the course of the water. An intermediate reservoir provides a place where the fine sediment can settle. From this reservoir the water flows by gravity to the distribution reservoirs placed on hills pear the city.

The water, after traveling long distances through closed condurts, loses much of its dissolved oxygen. As it comes into the distribution reservoir it is sprayed into the air. This process is called *airatan*. It causes the water to dissolve the oxygen of the air, which improves the taste of the water. It also helps to oxidize organic matter, and, to some extent, kills certain kinds of germs that may be in the water.

PURIFICATION OF WATER.--Water may be safe to drink, and yet not be chemically pure. All natural water contains impurities. They may or may not be harmful to man. They may even be beneficial, as, for example, water with certain minerals dissolved in it. The common impurities in water are both *morganic* (mineral) and *organic* (animal or vegetable) substances. They may be in solution or not in solution. The dagram on the next page shows some of the impurities that may be in water. Follow the arrows to learn the kinds of impurities and how they may be removed.

FIELD RESEARCH

Devise and demonstrate a method of separating insoluble impuritics from water

The purification of water on a large scale consists of-

- (1) Getting rid of the insoluble material or sediment.
- (2) Killing any disease germs that may be present.
- (3) Adrating the water.

The insoluble material is removed partly by settling. The water is passed slowly through large tanks. This gives time for most of the sediment to settle. You remember that water must



Removing Impurities from Water.—Impurities in water may be either insoluble substances, soluble substances, or both. What are the usual ways of removing insoluble substances from water? How may soluble substances be removed? What is the difference between chemically pure water and water safe for drinking?

be in motion to carry sediment along with it. When water stands still most of the sediment settles to the bottom. Some sediment may be so fine that it takes too long for it to settle. For this reason water from the settling tanks is passed through filters to remove the last traces of sediment.

Bacteria in water may be killed by dissolving a very small amount of chlorine in the water (0.1 to 0.5 parts chlorine to 1,000,000 parts water). The chlorine and the water form an acid which destroys bacteria.

The methods of purification are about the same whether the water is transferred by gravity or by pumping and whether the water comes from a lake or a river.



Courtesy John C Tepler Company

Water Punfication,—This water-punification plant at Milvaoukes, Wiscansin, is ane of the most modern in the world Water in the filter bads shown here is so clear that it reflect the lights and the ceiling with remarkable sharpness. Is clear water always safe water to drink!

WATEN IS A SOLVENT.---Water may be safe to drink, and still have much dissolved matter in it. (See diagram on page 333) We know, for example, that water dissolves oxygen from the air, and minerals from the soil. Water dissolves many substances. It is also true that water dissolves different amounts of different substances You can prove that substances differ in solubility in water by trying Experiment 30.

WHAT IS A SOLUTION? -- A solution is a clear, even mizture of a substance and water (or any liquid). The mixture will not cleance it allowed to stand without evaporating, nor can the dissolved substance be separated from the water by filtering. According to our definition, gases and liquids, as well as solids, may be used to form solutions with water. The dissolving liquid is the

Are some substances more soluble in water than others?



You have two new pieces of apparatus in this experiment. What are they?

This is another "Key" Experiment. Why do you think it is so important?

What kind of energy do you use to grind the materials to a fine powder? It is mechanical energy. How many forms of energy does this make that you have used? Try to name them.

Why is it best to grind the material to a fine powder? To discover the reason you might try it without grinding.

When the substances are dissolved, feel the tube to see if the liquid changed any in temperature.

WHAT TO USE.—Table salt; copper sulfate (blue vitriol); ammonium sulfate; three test tubes; a mortar and pestle; and a beaker of water.

WHAT TO Do.—1. Grind samples of each substance to a fine powder. Put equal amounts of each material (about one half inch in depth) into the three test tubes respectively. Add to each test tube an equal amount of water. Shake the contents of each tube for two minutes, and allow to settle. Observe closely whatever happens.

Notice if there is any change in temperature in any of the tubes.
Make a labeled diagram of each test tube and contents before and after shaking.

WHAT HAPPENS.—1. Did all of each substance dissolve? Describe. COMMUNITY HEALTH AND SANITATION 335 2 Did the temperature of any of the tubes change? If so, which one changed the most?

CONCLUSION .-- Do substances differ in solubility? State the evidence proving your statement

APPLICATION -- Why does ocean water contain more salt than lime in solution?

solucnt the substance dissolved is the solute. Substances vary in their solubility in water. Those which cannot be dissolved are insoluble.

----- FIELD RESEARCH ----

Test various common substances that you know are practically insoluble in water as follows: Grind each to a fine powder and place a very small amount in half a test tube of water. Shake thoroughly. Does it diagoner? If not, heat tube Does it now apparently dissolve?

Now make a list of ten substances which you think are readily soluble in water Make your selection, so far as possible, from materials used at home Test your materials to prove their solubility.

CHEMICALLY PURE WATER. --Chemically pure water is water which contains no dissolved gases or solids of any kind. It is very difficult to obtain absolutely chemically pure water. Water sufficiently pure for most chemical purposes may be obtained by simple distillation.

When water containing dissolved substances is boiled, the water portion changes to a gas (steam). The steam excapes. The solid materials of the solution remain. The gaseous water given off is condensed to a liquid again. A pipe surrounded by cold water is usually used to condense the steam into a liquid.

Any two liquids may also be separated by distillation, providing their boiling points are considerably different. For example, alcohol has a boiling point of 172.4°F, and water a boiling point of 212°F. Therefore, it is possible to separate these two liquids by keeping the temperature of the mixture only slightly above 172.4°F. At this temperature the alcohol will change to a gas and escape to the condensing tube. Most of the water will remain. However, a very small amount of

AND STATES AND STATES

How can pure water be obtained from a salt solution?



What process is taking place in the flask at the left? What kind of energy is causing this to happen? Where does that energy come from? How much difference would it make if the thermometer bulb were lowered so that it reached into the water? Try it.

What process is taking place in the flask at the right? What is being removed from the steam? Where does it go? Why does the salt not go over with the steam?

WHAT TO USE.—A distilling flask (250 cc.) with one-hole rubber stopper to fit; thermometer; a condenser flask; cold running water; a beaker; two ring stands and clamps to support the flasks in position; Bunsen burner; and a cupful of salt water made by dissolving two teaspoonfuls of salt in the water.

WHAT TO DO.—1. Set up the apparatus as in the picture, with about a cupful of the salt water solution.

2. Start the cold water running outside the condenser *flask*. If running water is not convenient, cold water can be poured on the condenser flask from a beaker.

3. Heat the solution slowly to boiling and keep it boiling quietly until about half gone.

4 Note the temperature of the steam as the water bods

5 The condensed steam formed in the condenser flask is called the distillate. Pour out some of it and test it for color, taste, and odor.

6 Pour out what is left in the distilling flask and test it for color, taste, and odor.

WHAT HAPPENS ----3 Did steam form and pass out of the distilling flask?

Could you see the steam change back to liquid in the condensing tube?

How fast did the distilled water drop from the end of the tube into the condenser?

5 Describe the distilled water.

6 What was left in the flask? Describe it.

CONCLUSION --- Explain how you prepared the pure water.

APPLICATION.--How does the making of maple sugar depend upon distillation? Why is ocean water salty?

water will also be driven off with the alcohol since water evaporates to some extent at all temperatures.

To understand thoroughly the process of distillation, try Experiment 31. The methods of distillation differ slightly with different substances, but the science principles are the same.

Distilled water is needed by chemists in their work, by people who make up medicines, and by scientists generally for testing purposes Batteries for automobiles should be refilled with distilled water to prolong their life. Ordinarily distilled water is not necessary for drinking.

APPLICATIONS OF DISTILLATION. -- The process of distillation has many important applications. Gasoline used in automobile enginess as liquid obtamed from crude pertolerm by distillation. At different distilling temperatures different liquids are driven off from the petroleum, such as gasoline, kerosene, and various grades of lubraching oils

Soft coal, although a solid, can also be distilled by bearing it in an airtight container. This causes gares such as coal gas and ammonia to be given off. The solid material left is called cole. This kind of distillation is called destructive distillation. Wood alcohol is obtained by destructive distillation of wood.

How May Sewage Be Disposed of Properly?

WHAT IS SEWAGE?—Waste matters from indoor or outdoor toilets, waste water from basins, bathtubs, and sinks, and street flushing make up what we call *sewage*.

Under ordinary conditions the waste matter from an adult in one year is about 900 pounds, most of which is water. To this must be added the sewage of the streets and about 15,000 gallons of water a year used by each person in a city. Can you see the enormous problem involved in sewage disposal?

IMPORTANCE OF SEWAGE DISPOSAL.—The proper disposal of sewage is next in importance only to the need for safe water. Human beings who are sick may contaminate sewage with disease germs. Therefore, sewage is always a possible source of contagious diseases. Sewage may carry germs that produce typhoid fever, tuberculosis, cholera, dysentery, and diarrhea.

The disposal of sewage begins in the home where the wastes are collected and removed. Sinks, bathtubs, laundry tubs, and toilets are all devices used for carrying sewage away.

ANNOUND FIELD RESEARCH ANNOUND INTERNET INTERNET

Investigate water-using devices in your home to find out why they are located as they are. What are they made of? How can they be kept clean and in repair? Make diagrams to illustrate what you find.

SINKS AND TRAPS.—Sinks should be placed so that the plumbing can be readily examined. Metal sinks (enamel or porcelain lined), sinks of special non-rusting metals, and porcelain sinks are most easily cleaned and kept sanitary. Sink waste pipes should be provided with *traps* to make a water seal between the sewer and the opening of the drain.

You have examined the waste pipe running from your sinks, bathtubs, and laundry tubs. Did you discover that the water runs through a sieve in the bottom of the sink down through a pipe to the trap? A trap is so constructed that the water runs down one side and fills the other side to the overflow. Then



Traps,—Traps differ in appearance, but are similar in one respect all have a water seat. What is the purpose of the water seal? Make a trap like the one at the right. Explain why there is always water in this tube.

when more water runs into the first part, the second part overflows. Thus there is always water in the trap. This water acts as a wall to prevent gases or odors irom coming from sewer pipes into the room. This is the main purpose of the trap.

Some traps are constructed to serve another purpose. They are arranged to catch debris such as matches, toothpicks, tea leaves, chunks of vegetables and hair. The face or bottom of this type of trap may be removed easily in order to clean it out:

FIELD RESEARCH

Examine a waste trap provided by the teacher or obtained from a plumber. Note how waste water enters and leaves 15 it so constructed that some water slaways stands in the trap? Why is that! Make a drawing to show the construction of a trap and explain how it works. Has the trap a "theometi" Why is that necessary? Compare the trap with the one purcured in the diagram.

Tourses.—Toilets are designed to prevent backflow of gases and to provide a rush of water to earry the wastes away. In a siphon-jet toilet the water stands on both sides of the tongue and so prevents backflow of gases from soil pipes. This type of toilet is illustrated in the dagram. The water enters the

basin and fills it to the rim. When the tank is flushed, some of this water flows down the side and some down through the jet, filling the outlet. The outlet then acts as a siphon (a bent tube for drawing liquids over the side of a container), and all the water is carried out into the soil pipe.

The construction of an ordinary *float valve flush tank* is shown on this page. If the tank is emptied, the float F sinks to the bottom. This opens the supply valve, allowing water to enter. At the same time the hollow rubber or metal ball B closes the



Siphan-Jet Tailet.—This is a picture af a toilet split down the center. A "sectional" diagram like this shows inside parts. Refer to this diagram as you read haw the toilet aperates. Why is it called a siphon-jet tailet?

outlet. As the tank fills, the float rises and finally shuts the supply value at V. The ball B is kept in place by water pressure above it. If now the trip H is pulled, the lever arrangement raises the ball. Once raised and being lighter than water, the ball floats, allowing the water to run out. When the tank is emptied, the ball drops down, closing the outlet again. The float drops and the tank refills. O is the overflow.



Flush Tank.—Refer ta this diagram as you read abaut the flush tank. Then test yaur knawledge af its operation by explaining the purpase af each part labeled.

WATER AND SEWAGE.—Germs that produce human and animal disease eventually find their way into sewage. Thus it is important to prevent sewage contamination of all streams, ponds, and lakes. It is possible that some person or some animal may need that water for drinking. Fish will not live in water that is badly contaminated with sewage. Sewage contamination decreases the oxygen content of the water. It causes an increase in the growth of water scums and molds, and the destruction of fish.

FIELD RESEARCH

If you know of a stream that is polluted, examine it to find the kinds of plant his and animal life it contains and the kinds it does not contain. Try to have the pollution stopped.

DISPOSAL IN RUBAL DISTRICTS.—Sometimes dangerous methods of sewage disposal are used in rural districts. The corrections of such methods are indicated by the rules issued by the Department of Agriculture (Farmers Bulletin No. 1227, Sewage and Sewage of Farm Homes).

1 Never allow farm sewage or animal wastes even in the timest quantity to reach the food or water of man or livestock.

2. Never expose such wastes so that they can be visited by flies or other carriers of disease germs.

3. Never use such wastes to fertilize or irrigate vegetable gardens.

4. Never empty such wastes into a stream, pond, or abandoned well, nor into a gutter, ditch, or tile drainage system which naturally must have an outlet into some water course-

CESSFOOL.—In districts where sewers have not yet been installed, but where running water is available, *cesspools* are sometimes used. As you study the diagram, page 343, you will see that the walls of the cesspool are built up of large loose rocks. These serve as a place for the sewage to collect. The hquid portion seeps away slowly between the rocks. Sometimes a second, or overflow, pool is dug at a lower level than the first. Cesspools need to be cleaned two or three times a year and the refuse burned or buried. At best the cespool is not a

desirable method of sewage disposal. No provision is made for the destruction of dangerous germ life nor for the prevention of fonl odors. Ultimately the liquid portion finds its way to some stream and so may pollute the water supply.

THE DILUTION METHOD.— The dilution method of sewage disposal depends upon the principle that if a harmful material is diluted enough, it is not to be feared. Some eities dump their sewage into



Cesspool.—Compare the advantages and disadvantages of this cesspool with the septic tank pictured on page 344.

rapidly flowing rivers or large canals. The sewage is thus greatly diluted. The oxygen dissolved in the water oxidizes some of the organic matter and makes it harmless.

If the stream is overloaded with sewage, complete decomposition of the organic matter does not take place. The stream then becomes a possible menace to health. The stream, at least near the sewage inlet, is unfit for any use by man.

Another dilution method, much practiced, is to carry the sewage by conduits far out into a lake or ocean. With this plan there is always the danger of disease germs being distributed to drinking water intakes, and to bathers. To what extent fish may become infected is a problem not yet answered.

THE CHEMICAL TOILET.—In areas where running water is not available, chemicals may be used to decompose sewage. An iron tank is arranged to hold several gallons of a concentrated solution of *caustic soda* (sodium hydroxide) and a small amount of *copper sulfate* or *copper chloride*. The tank is provided with an outlet near the top. As liquids collect, overflow takes place into a second tank at a lower level.

From the second tank the liquids flow through tiles under the ground to an area where it is safe to let the liquids soak into the ground. The solid organic matter of the sewage is acted upon by the caustie soda and changed into harmless hquids. Odors are absorbed by the copper compounds. Occasionally the chemicals must be allowed to run off and a new charge must be added.

THE SEPTIC TANK.—The septic tank method depends for its action upon a kind of hacteria that live on organic matter and do not need air. A watertight tank made of steel or concrete is divided into at least two compartments. The sewage flows into the first compartment. Here most of the insoluble organic matter, called aludge, settles to the bottom. Excess liquid flows into the second compartment where more sludge is formed, and so on through each succeeding compartment. Finally only a clean and inoffensive liquid is left to flow from the final compartment. This clean and harmless liquid may be allowed to drain into the soil or into bodies of water sufficient to give considerable dlution.

The organic matter of the sewage is acted upon by the bac-

Septic Tank and filter Bed.—The metal tank at the left is the septic tank. The filter bed is at the right. The septic tank is a good method of sewage disposal. When combined with a filter bed it is even better. Why? How is the sewage made harmless in the septic tank? What is the purpose of the botfles in the tank? Why are the joints of the filter bed left open? Why is a flat stone put under each one? Why are the isoint source?



344 COMMUNITY AND PERSONAL HEALTH



Courtery Dep't. of Public Works, N.F.C.

A Sewage Disposal Plant.—This modern plant treats sewage in much the same way as the septic tank. Will the liquid which leaves the basins pollute the nearby river?

teria in the sludge and in a scum that forms at the surface. The bacteria help to break up the offensive material into harmless liquids and gases.

Study the diagram on page 344. Be sure you understand the general principle of a septic tank, and how it is constructed. Its value depends upon the helpful bacteria that decompose the organic wastes.

In general, the principle of the septic tank is used in modern sewage disposal plants for cities. Sometimes the liquid that flows out is sprayed into the air to enable it to dissolve oxygen of the air (aëration). This further purification must, of course, be made before the liquid passes into a stream or lake.

GENERAL PROBLEM 4

How May Garbage and Rubbish Be Disposed of Safely?

WHAT IS GARBAGE?—A ton of garbage will contain about 1460 pounds of water, 80 pounds of grease, and 460 pounds of solids.

minimum FIELD RESEARCH -

Watch the gurbage pail for a few days to discover what goes into it. Does it contain only unavoidable waste? Or does it contain waste that is the result of carelessness?

Garbage consists of the waste parts of ment and vegetables, unfinished servings, moldy foods, and decayed fruits. All of these materials will decompose (decay) if allowed to stand too long. Offensive odors are then given off and flies are attracted to the garbage.

Because decay proceeds faster when the weather is warm, garbage becomes offensive more quickly in summer than in winter Therefore, it should be collected and disposed of more frequently in summer than in winter. In earnys and on farms garbage should be disposed of daily. Campers should be sure never to averlook this problem.

GARMADE RECEPTACLES.—Garbage pails should be strong, water-tight, and non-rusting. The covers should be fastened so that they cannot be removed by dogs. Frequently the pails are placed in inclosed compartments or in holes in the ground and suitably covered

FIELD RESEARCH

Make a tray to the store and study the different types of garbage pails on sale. Determine from the store clerk what he thinks are the advantages of each type. Deerde in your own mind which is best and why. Report your fandings and conclusions to your class. A drawing will help your description

If garbage pails are left uncovered or are uncovered by dogs, the food material will attract files. The garbage pail should be cleansed thoroughly each time it is emptied. A good method to use in cleaning it is to spinkle a little *chloride of lime* into the pail, then add hot water and stir with a cloth on the end of a stick or with a long-handled brush. The chloride of hme will destroy any bacteria, mold, or insect life present. Also, with hot water to melt the grease, the chloride of hme will receive

merican Museum of Natural History Fighting the Enemy.—The fly an this bread may have come from a pile af garbage. That is unlikely, however, if household garbage is kept in a cantainer like that an the right. Sunken garbage containers are sanitary far staring garbage temporarily. Covered securely, they do not provide breeding places for flies. with the grease so that it can be easily rinsed out, leaving the

pail "sweet" and clean. (The pail will not rust so rapidly if you will dry it and air it after cleaning. Why?) HOUSEFLIES AND GARBAGE. -- If given the opportunity, flies

lay their eggs wherever there is decaying organic matter. Garbage left in a pail, or lying about, forms food that flies like very much. While there to eat, the flies lay their eggs. The eggs hatch into larvae called maggots. These change into pupae (a resting stage), from which emerge the new-born flies. A new generation of flies arrives every ten or twelve days from early spring to late fall. The female fly lays over 100 eggs at a time. Thus thousands and thousands of flies may be produced from a single pair in just a few weeks' time. Bright sunlight, heat, and exposure to air will usually destroy most fly eggs and

following rules should be observed:

"SWAT THE FLY."-To combat this dangerous insect, the 1. Destroy all flies in the house, especially every fly that enters a sickroom.

347

COMMUNITY HEALTH AND SANITATION

2 Eliminate breeding places-decaying matter of all kinds and manure. Most flies are born in unguarded manure piles on farms and in vallages.

3. Prevent files from getting at food in your home and in stores

4 Screen all doors and windows.

5 Remove any possible breeding source at least every ten days to interrupt the generation.

6 Remember, when you see a fly in your house it probably came directly from a near-by place of filth. It may carry disease germs on its feet and body.

FIELD RESEARCH

Example a fly's wing, eye, and foot under a microscope Can you discover how the fly earnes filth? Cateli some flies and place them under a wire screen with bread and under. Watch them for 15 days to observe their life history.

The common housefly has so often been the entrier of typhoid fever germs that scientists have formed the practice of calling it the typhoid fly. You can make a useful and cheap poison with which to attack this insect. Add a spoonful of formaldehyde to a punt of water. Put in a small amount of sugar to sweeten the solution. Pour if into small dishes and set the dishes wherever you find need for such measures. (CAUTION: Put the dishes where children cannot reach them.)

There are also good commercial preparations for spraying. A recent material for destroying flies is the chemical DDT. It is usually sold as a liquid mixed in a light oil, for sprayers It is also available as "DDT bombs" In these "bombs" the DDT is mixed with a liquid which forms a fine mist when released from the "bomb."

Spring and summer are the best times for combating flies. Spray farm manure piles and stables to kill the larvae, and avoid the conditions which breed flies.

PRIVATE DISFOSAL OF GARBAGE.-Garbage must be disposed of even where there is no garbage collection. You will agree that the garbage should not be thrown out where it can

decompose. Such a practice is a menace to your health or that of your neighbors. It should be buried or burned. The best method of private disposal is burning. Incinerators (ovens for burning garbage and other refuse) are available for installation in homes or for outdoor use. Recently home garbage grinders that fit in the sink drain have been devised. All refuse from the table is finely ground and flushed into the sewer.

COMMUNITY GARBAGE DISPOSAL.—A large city produces many tons of garbage each day. It must be disposed of in some way that is safe and economical. Two methods have been found most satisfactory. One method is to burn the garbage in a large incinerator. A second method, garbage reduction, separates fats from the garbage, and reduces the rest to fertilizer. Experiment 32 shows how fats may be dissolved from garbage. The reduction method produces by-products which may be sold. However, the equipment is costly, and many men are needed to operate it. Even though some garbage reduction plants are being replaced by incinerators, it is interesting to study the processes used.

A GARBAGE REDUCTION PLANT.—The garbage is collected regularly in especially constructed trucks. The trucks go to the disposal plant in the center of the city. Here the garbage is first taken into the receiving room for weighing.

It is then lowered into great kettles and covered with a solvent for grease. The kettles are then closed air-tight. Each kettle may hold five tons of garbage. The kettles have a jacket of double bottoms and sides and in this space steam is circulated to heat the garbage. Inside the kettle is a propeller shaped arm that revolves slowly to keep the garbage and solvent thoroughly mixed. The steam is turned into the hollow wall or jacket and heats the mass to a temperature of about 208° F.

The heat causes water and some solvent to pass off as vapor through outlet pipes. Enough solvent is added so that at the end of about twelve hours of cooking practically all the water of the garbage has been driven off. A quantity of solvent remains which contains the grease and fat in solution. This continued heating also kills any germs in the garbage.

The steam is then cut off from the jacket. The grease solution is drawn out through strainers at the bottom of the kettles.



Distillation.—Inside these tanks is a mixture of grease and a solvent. When the mixture is heated, the solvent is distilled off. The solvent is cooled back to its inquid form and may be used agoin. This process is used in garbage reduction plants.

More clear solvent is added to the mass in the kettle and stirred and drawn off The process is repeated until no fat or grease is left in the garbage. Any solvent remaining in the mass is draven out by heating for four hours.

The material left in the kettle is dry and lifeless. It consists of all material not soluble in the solvent. It may include bones, in cans, and whatever non-garbage stuff was carelessly put into the garbage pails. This dry material is taken out of the kettle and screened. It is passed over a magnetic separator that holds on to all paces of metal such as tin cans and nails. What gets by the magnet is crushed and then screened again. The final material that goes through the screen is sold as (crilizer.

The solution of fat is pumped into a still and heated The solvent passes off as a vapor through condensing pipes and is used again. The non-volatile grease and fat remain behind. The fat which is left is hot and in the liquid state. It is pumped to fat-storage tanks and sold to glycenine and soap factories.



Garbage Reduction.—This diagram explains some of the principles involved in reducing garbage. The solvent dissolves the grease from the garbage. The stills separate the solvent from the grease and from the water. Where did the water come from? What is the purpose of the steam?

A MODERN RUBBISH DISPOSAL PLANT.—Rubbish consists of about everything a householder throws away other than garbage.

In our modern city nearly 400,000 pounds of rubbish are drawn to the disposal plant daily. On delivery to the plant it is weighed and dumped into a receiving pit. From the pit it is carried to the furnaces where it is burned. The ash is then carted to the dump. The heat from the burning rubbish may be used to generate steam. In our modern city the steam is used in the near-by garbage reduction plant.

THINKING THINGS OVER.—This has been a long topic. It is long because community health and sanitation are so important. Now is the time to think back to some of the things involved in making a community healthy. We have learned that there must be a supply of safe water. In a large community this is a minimum EXPERIMENT 32

How can fat be dissolved from garbage?



Do you remember what the word solution means? You have made solutions of sail and sugar, and now you will make a solution of fatindead of using water, you will use a tiquid called carbon latrachloride. Some carbon lstrachloride will evaporate when it is heated. Be sure you know what the funnel in the flask is for and what process; the opposite of evaporation, results from its use

When evaporating the carbon letrachloride from the evaporating dish, do not emelt of it, because it may be irritating

What TO USE.--A small piece of fat meat (cooked) and pieces of vegetables to represent garbage; a 250 ec. pyrex flack, 50 ec. of carbon tetrachloride, an iron tripod; wire gauze; a Bunsen burner; an evaporating dish, and a funnel.

WHAT TO Do -- I Grand or chop the foods into small bits Place two tablespoonfuls in the flack and add 50 cc. of the carbon tetrachlonde.

2 Set the flask on wire gauge on the tripod or on the hot plate.

Place the funnel over the flask with its stem in the opening of the flask. This is to prevent too great a loss of the carbon tetrachloride which is caused to evaporate by heat

Heat the mixture gently for several minutes

3 After a few minutes, pour off the clear liquid into the evaporating dish and place it on the wire gauze and tripod in place of the flask. Heat carefully until the solvent appears to be gone. Do not heat the residue hot mough to burn u.

Allow the contents to cool and examine them.

WHAT HAPPENS.---1, 2. Did you observe solution of the fat taking place?

3. Was there a fatty residue left in the evaporating dish? Tell why you think it is fat. Where did it come from?

CONCLUSION .- How can fat be dissolved from garbage?

Application.—How can a grease stain be removed from a fabric?

major problem. It may mean bringing water hundreds of miles through conduits. Then the harmful impurities must be removed from the water. Do you remember how this is done? Do you remember how a gravity water supply system works? And a pumping system?

A Madern Incineratar.—Huge furnaces in this madern plant burn tans of garbage and rubbish each day. The chimneys carry the gases high into the air, where they will not interfere with the air we breathe. Why are incineratars used mare aften than garbage reduction plants?



But a healthful community must also have good methods of disposing of sewage and garbage. We know that sewage is always dangerous. It usually contains germs which cause diseases. The community must get rid of garbage because garbage is a good place for flies to breed. Flies, we know, are "Public Enemy No 1." They earry fifth and dirt wherever they go Thus modern communities burn their garbage or reduce it Enter method is good.

Of course, community health is just one part of the big problem of health Personal health is another part. And this is the subject of our next topic.

KEY	Words

ačration	distillation	insoluble	sewage
bacteria	fat	maggot	sludge
caustic soda	faucet	organic	soluble
fooqeear	garbage	pollute	solute
chlorine	gravity	pupae	solution
conduit	housefly	pure	trap
dulution	incinerator	reservoir	water pressure
dissolve	impunities	septic tank	

KEY STATEMENTS

 Water for a community should be abundant, safeguarded at the source, and purified for drinking before distribution

2 Water may be safe for drinking and yet not be chemically pure.

3 Water may be crystal clear and cold and yet be unsafe to drink.

 Lakes and rivers are common sources of water for community uses

5 Water may be brought by gravity to a community from sources higher than the community From sources lower than the community, water must be pumped into storage tanks or reservoirs for distribution

6. Water exerts a downward (gravity) pressure due to its weight.

7. Water pressure increases with its depth.

8 Water flows downhall, or seeks its fevel, because of gravity.

9 In small systems, compressed air in a tank in the basement can be used to force water through the pipes of a house.

10. The water sources of a community water supply must be protected against contamination

11. The purification of water for drinking purposes includes separation of insoluble sediment and killing of disease germs.

12. Chemically pure water may be prepared by distillation.

13. Substances vary in their solubility in water.

14. Sewage consists of wastes from sinks, toilets, and streets, mixed with or dissolved in water.

15. Disease germs may be present in sewage; hence its proper disposal is an important factor in the health of a community.

16. Untreated sewage should not be allowed to pollute streams.

17. Flies should be prevented from access to farm and home wastes of all kinds.

18. The presence of flies often indicates the location of filth.

19. A cesspool is a drainage tank for sewage.

20. The chemical toilet depends for its efficiency upon the dissolving action of alkali.

21. The septic tank sewage disposal plant depends upon bacterial action to render the sewage harmless and inoffensive.

22. Garbage consists chiefly of food wastes. It should be protected from flies and should be disposed of before it decomposes.

23. Proper disposal of garbage involves frequent collections and inoffensive disposal plants.

24. The principle of the septic tank is the best to follow in the disposal of sewage.

THOUGHT QUESTIONS

1. How can you prove that water dissolves oxygen?

2. How can you prove whether a sample of water contains anything in solution?

3. What is meant by condensation?

4. What is meant by pure water?

5. Why may water for drinking need to be purified?

6. Is water safe for drinking necessarily chemically pure water?

7. What care should be taken in locating a well on a farm?

8. Why are wells a possible source of danger in villages that do not have a sewage system?

9. Why are dams constructed with thicker walls at the bottom than near the top?

10. Why will not faucet filters take germs from water if germs are present?

11. Why should drinking water of unknown source be boiled?

12. What evidences can you give from observations of nature that water exerts a gravity pressure?



National Satety Council

Safety is Everyane's Business.—The traffic afficer on the corner helps prevent accidents, but he cannot do the jab alone. Safety is our jab, too, at home, at school, and at play.

TOPIC XIII

Personal Health and Safety

DO YOU KNOW-

1. What makes water hard?

2. How soap and water help to keep you healthy?

3. Why the milk supply presents special health problems?

4. What the "wonder drugs" are?

5. How to protect your eyes and ears?

6. How to play safely?

GENERAL PROBLEM 1

How Do Soap and Water Aid Cleansing?

HARD AND SOFT WATER.—One of the important uses of water in the home, restaurants, factories, and public buildings is as a cleansing agent. Certain minerals in the water supply affect its usefulness for cleansing purposes. The term "hard water" indicates that some water contains lime materials in solution. Water that does not have dissolved lime materials is called "soft water."

We know that wells, springs, and lakes are fed with water that has passed through soil and rock layers. If the rocks and soil through which the water passes contain lime materials, the water will dissolve some of them and become hard.

Earlier in your study of science you learned that the air contains *carbon dioxide*. This carbon dioxide gas of the air is slightly soluble in water. It forms *carbonic acid* with the water. (Carbon dioxide plus water gives carbonic acid.)



Bob Landry

Making Hard Water Soft.—This is one of the largest watersoftening plants in the world. It can soften 200 million gallons of water a day. What are the advantages of soft water? What are the advantages of softening water before it is distributed to homes?

Experiment 33 proves that temporary hard water can be softened by boiling. You have read that boiling does not, however, soften permanent hardness due to calcium and magnesium sulfates. However, permanent hard water can be softened with washing soda. This is illustrated by Experiment 34.

Certain substances like washing soda, borax, or trisodium phosphate unite chemically with the minerals which cause hardness. Insoluble forms of sulfates and carbonates are produced. When insoluble, the minerals no longer affect the water. Thus the water is soft.

Experiment 34 teaches that hard water requires more soap for proper suds than soft water. Soap costs money. So hard water is expensive to use for cleaning purposes.

WATER SOFTENERS.—In dishwashing machines, laundries, and heating plants where soft water is an advantage, special water-softening equipment is used that works continuously.



Can temporary hard water be softened by boiling?

Straight thinking is needed in this appriment; so make sure you know just what your problem is and what you are to do. The size of the bottles is not important so long as they are not too large.

WEAT TO USE.-Water with calcium bicarbonate in solution (thus is called "temporary hard" nater), a dilute scop solution; tro 401. bottles with glass stoppers or corks, a dropping tube (made by melting a glass tube and drawing one end to a small opening, should be about 8" long), a flask, supports, a measuring glass, and a Bunsen burner to boll some of the "hard" water.

WHAT TO DO -1. Boil a portion of the diluted "hard" water for several minutes and then cool it to room temperature.

2 Put 2 oz. of boiled water into the bottle labeled A and 2 oz. of unboiled hard water into the bottle labeled B.

3. Now add the scap solution, drop by drop, counting each drop, to the water that has not been boiled (B), shaking the water between drops. Keep adding scop until a fine permanent suds results (a suds that will last for one munte).

4 Repeat the soap test using the boiled water (A).

WHAT HAPPENS -- 1. Did boiling the hard water cause any noticeable change in its appearance? Describe.

3. How many drops of soap did you use for the unboiled water?

4. How many drops of soap did you use for the boiled water? Which was the softer water; that is, which sample required the fewest drops of soap to make a good foam or suds?

CONCLUSION .- Did boiling the water soften it? How?

APPLICATION.--Why does some water leave more of a deposit in automobile radiators or teakettles than water from other sources?

Note.—Temporary hard water can be made by passing CO_2 through limewater until the precipitate that forms redissolves. By this process you have made a solution of calcium bicarbonate. For use, dilute this solution with ten times its volume with distilled water or rain water.

Save a portion of the water with calcium bicarbonate in solution for Experiment 34.

The hard water passes over certain chemicals which remove the minerals causing hardness. Every so often the flow of the water is stopped. Salt water is passed through the chemicals. The salt water removes the minerals from the chemicals and is washed away. Then the chemicals may be used for softening more hard water.

Soap and water are the most common aids to cleansing. We have learned that the hardness of the water affects the amount of soap needed. Now we shall learn about soap. What is soap? How is it made? How does it work?

VARIETIES OF SOAP.—There are many varieties of soap. Some of them, according to advertisements, will do very special things. We should remember, however, that soaps have just one purpose. They help to clean.

A cake of soap, although it appears to be dry, contains a certain amount of water. A cake of soap that you buy may be from 15 per cent to 50 per cent water.

AMININIA LABORATORY RESEARCH

Cut a few thin slices of soap from the center of a cake. Weigh them and dry in an oven at 220° F. for one hour. Weigh the residue. Calculate the percentage of loss of weight as water. You can compare one soap with another by this method.

..... EXPERIMENT 33

A B HARD JOAN Try 4-02. Bottles Heasuring Gloss

Can temporary hard water be softened by boiling?

Streight thinking is needed in this experiment; so make sure you know just what your problem is and what you are to do. The eize of the bottles is not important so long as they are not too large

WEAT TO USE.-Water with calcum bicarbonate in solution (this is called 'temporary hard' water); a dulute scap solution; two 402. bottles with giss stoppers or corks, a dropping tube (made by melting a glass tube and drawing one end to a small opening; should be about 8' long), a finale, supports, a messunng glass; and a Bunsen burner to boil some of the "hard' water.

WHAT TO DO -1. Boil a portion of the diluted "hard" water for several minutes and then cool it to room temperature.

2. Put 2 oz of boiled water into the bottle labeled A and 2 oz of unboiled hard water into the bottle labeled B.

3. Now add the scap solution, drop by drop, counting each drop, to the water that has not been boled (B), shaking the water between drops. Keep adding scop until a fine permanent suds results (a suds that will its for one munit).

4 Repeat the soap test using the boiled water (A).

WHAT HAPPENS.--1. Did boiling the hard water cause any noticeable change in its appearance? Describe,

3. How many drops of soap did you use for the unboiled water?

4. How many drops of soap did you use for the boiled water?

Which was the softer water; that is, which sample required the fewest drops of soap to make a good foam or suds?

CONCLUSION .- Did boiling the water soften it? How?

APPLICATION.—Why does some water leave more of a deposit in automobile radiators or teakettles than water from other sources?

Note.—Temporary hard water can be made by passing CO_2 through limewater until the precipitate that forms redissolves. By this process you have made a solution of calcium bicarbonate. For use, dilute this solution with ten times its volume with distilled water or rain water.

Save a portion of the water with calcium bicarbonate in solution for Experiment 34.

The hard water passes over certain chemicals which remove the minerals causing hardness. Every so often the flow of the water is stopped. Salt water is passed through the chemicals. The salt water removes the minerals from the chemicals and is washed away. Then the chemicals may be used for softening more hard water.

Soap and water are the most common aids to cleansing. We have learned that the hardness of the water affects the amount of soap needed. Now we shall learn about soap. What is soap? How is it made? How does it work?

VARIETIES OF SOAP.—There are many varieties of soap. Some of them, according to advertisements, will do very special things. We should remember, however, that soaps have just one purpose. They help to clean.

A cake of soap, although it appears to be dry, contains a certain amount of water. A cake of soap that you buy may be from 15 per cent to 50 per cent water.

ANNION LABORATORY RESEARCH

Cut a few thin slices of soap from the center of a cake. Weigh them and dry in an oven at 220° F. for one hour. Weigh the residue. Calculate the percentage of loss of weight as water. You can compare one soap with another by this method.

PERSONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY 363

...... (KEY) EXPERIMENT 34 ---



Can hard water be softened by the use of washing soda?

It will be a good additional problem for some of you to try to axplain why a solution will not drop out of a dropping tube whan the finger is kept tight against the top end.

What To Uve --A sample of temporary hard water (assed from Experiment 33), a sample of permanent hard water (made by shalling some distilled water or ram water with a small amount of calcium subfate); a didute some rolution as used in Experiment 33; four 4-or bottlee with glass stoppers or coeks, a didute solution of washing ords (one tespoonful to one pint of water); measuring glass, and a dropping tube.

WHAT TO DO -1 Label the bottles A, B, C, and D.

2 In A place two ounces of the temporary hard water; in B place two ounces of the temporary hard water and one half teaspoonful of the washing sola solution, and shake.

3 Using the soap solution as in Experiment 33, find the number of drops required to make a permanent suds in A and in B. Record your data

4 Repeat as above, using permanent hard water in C and permanent hard water plus one half tempoonful of the washing soda solution in D. Record the number of drops of soap solution used in C and in D
WHAT HAPPENS.—3. How many drops of soap solution did you use in A? In B?

4. How many drops of soap solution did you use in C? In D?

CONCLUSION.—Can temporary hard water be softened by the use of washing soda? Explain.

Can permanent hard water be softened by the use of washing soda? Explain.

Note.--You may repeat the experiment using borax solution, trisodium phosphate, or any commercial water softener instead of the washing soda.

APPLICATION.—Do you think the use of water-softening substances would save soap? Why?

RAW MATERIALS FOR MAKING SOAP.—The materials used in the manufacture of any product are called raw materials. These raw materials must be worked on or changed or combined with something else before a finished product is obtained.

Soaps are made by the action of an alkali on a fat or oil. Fat or oil and the alkali are the raw materials from which soap is made. Before investigating the manufacture of soap we shall study briefly the raw materials used in its manufacture.

FATS AND OILS.—Oils and melted fats make a grease spot on paper or cloth. Therefore, a piece of white paper will serve as a ready test for fats and oils.

Animal fats are usually solid substances at ordinary temperatures, but they are easily melted. Butter fat has such a low melting temperature that it is melted by body heat. This makes it especially valuable as a food. The fats obtained from seeds or other parts of plants are usually liquid at ordinary temperatures; thus they are usually called oils.

Test small samples of fats and oils as follows: Drop or rub a little oil or fat (warmed, if necessary) on a piece of white paper. Hold the paper to the light. A "grease spot" will appear lighter than the paper. If held so that light is reflected from the paper, the spot will appear darker than the paper. This is because the greased or oiled paper is more transparent to light than the paper itself.

PERSONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY 365



Instead of a porcelain evaporating dish you may use a small granite dish. Do not use an aluminum dish, because aluminum dissolves in an alkali solution.

When to Use - Lard (ist); a 40% alkali solution (sodium hydroude dissolved in water); a porcelan exporting dish; a glass stirring rod; a tablespoon; a teaspoon, an iron triped or other support; wrre gauze; a beaker; a Bunsen burner; and a measuring glass.

WHAT TO DO -1. Set up the apparatus as in the drawing.

2 Put two level tablespoonfuls of lard (fat) into the evaporating dish.

3 Heat the lard gently until it melts and, while heating, add slowly one tenspoonful of the sikah solution, sturring constantly.

 Heat gently, stirring constantly, until there is no evidence of oily particles and until a scap mass forms. Then add 3 ounces of water while heating and stirring.

5. Pour the mixture into the beaker and add one teaspoonful of salt solution (equal parts salt and water), heating gently and stirring.

6. Set the besker and contents aside until the next day. Then take off the "cake" of scap formed at the top. Examine the liquid left in the besker

368 COMMUNITY AND PERSONAL HEALTH

*

7. Test the soap to find if it will form a lather.

WHAT HAPPENS.---3. Describe what happened when the alkali was added to the hot melted lard and stirred.

4. What happened when the water was added?

5. What happened when the salt solution was added?

6. Did a solid cake of soap form in the beaker?

7. Did it form a good lather? Was there evidence, in using the soap, of excess (extra) lard (fat) or excess alkali? If so, what was the trouble with your process?

Note.—The liquid left in the beaker consisted of water, excess alkali, salt, and glycerine.

CONCLUSION.--State briefly a method of making soap. Do you think that other fats or oils could be used instead of lard? Try it.

APPLICATION.—Place a little oil in some water. Add a small amount of washing soda and shake. If suds appear, explain.

mixed. The fat and the alkali gradually unite chemically to form soap and *glycerine*. Salt is now added which causes the soap to separate from the liquids which contain glycerine, excess alkali, and the added salt. The soap comes to the top of the kettle. The liquid is removed and pure glycerine is obtained from it by distillation.

The crude soap thus made is then treated with a more concentrated solution of the alkali. Water is added and the mixture boiled until it is fine-grained in appearance. The mixture is again "salted" and allowed to stand for several days. Once more the soap rises to the top and the liquid below is drawn off.

The next step in the process is the adding of perfume, borax, washing soda, or filler to the melted soap. The soap is then run into boxes and allowed to harden. After it has hardened sufficiently, the soap is cut into small cakes or bars. These are then pressed into special shapes with trade names stamped on. After drying they are wrapped and boxed ready for the consumer.

Not only is the manufacture of modern soap a complicated process, but also a process that requires great accuracy in measurement. Chemists constantly test the raw materials and the intermediate and final product to be sure it is up to standards set by the manufacturer.



Courless Procier & Genille

Soap Making — This boiling, eruphing liquid is a beginning step in the manufacture of scop. Here fats, oils, and alkali are being boiled In a glant kettle. Now you continue the story, using the diagram on the opposite page.

Cream, butter, lard, and suet are animal fats Olive oil, peanut oil, cottonseed oil, and linseed oil are examples of regetable fats. Both animal and vegetable fats or oils are used in making soaps.

ALKALTES.—The chemist classifies many substances as acid, alkaline, or neutral substances. Acids have a sour taste. They turn blue litmus paper pink.

An alkaline substance, in solution, has a bitter taste. When rubbed upon the fingers, it has a slippery feeling. It changes the color of littuus paper from pink to blue. These are ways to test for alkaline substances. Many alkaline substances are known to the chemist. Two, potassium hydroxide and sodium hydroxide, are commonly used in making soap.

Neutral substances do not change the color of htmus. Pure water and solutions of salt, glycerine, and sugar are examples of neutral substances.



Making Saap.—Follow the arrows in this diagram. What is the finished product? Daes it make any difference which alkali is used in making saap? What is the important by-praduct made? What is it used far? How can the waste alkali be cancentrated?

MANUFACTURE OF SOAP.—The modern methods of making soap are very complicated. The science principles, however, as shown in Experiment 35, are easily understood.

The accompanying drawing illustrates the steps and materials involved in soap-making.

Boiled laundry soaps and boiled toilet soaps are made by placing the melted fat or oil into a huge kettle. The proper amount of the alkali solution is added and mixed with the melted fat or oil. Steam is then passed into the mixture. This heats the mixture and at the same time keeps it thoroughly



Ribbons of Soap.—Soap may be made in many different shapes and sizes. These tibbans are the first step in making soap flakes. Do soap flakes have any special advantages?

SPECIAL SOARS — Liquid soaps are usually mixtures of potash and soda soaps dissolved in water and containing small amounts of glycerne. Liquid soaps used for toilet purposes are frequently made chiefly from coconut oil. Floating soaps are prepared by stirring melted soap in such a manner as to heave the soap full of very tiny air hubbles. The air bubbles act like little balloons which float the soap in the water.

Mottled soaps are made by adding coloring substances. Transparent scops are made by insolving hard scop in alcohol. Then, after removing any foreign material, the alcohol is distilled off. The transparent, jelly-like mass left is allowed to dry in molds of the desired shape. Scope for shaving, shampooing, use on the skin, and in toolb powders are made with special care to avoid scopy odors, excess alkali or oil, and taste. They must latter freely.

Some soaps are called *medicated soaps* to indicate that they have some drugs in them. It is better to use drugs only on the advice of a physician, either on the skin or in the body. Do not use medicated scaps unless advised to do so by a phy-

sician. They are expensive and probably of no more use than a good quality of toilet soap.

Scouring powders are soap powders to which small amounts of scouring material are added. Such scouring powders are useful, provided the scouring material does not scratch the surfaces that are scoured. If the polished surface of a utensil becomes covered with fine scratches, it is harder to clean.

Soaps are sometimes "loaded" with cheap substances that make the cake larger and heavier. Such substances are called *fillers* and may or may not have a value. For example, a soap for use with hard water may have some washing soda added to help soften the water. It is probably cheaper to buy washing soda and ordinary soap separately and then add the washing soda to the water as needed.

Rosin is sometimes added to soap and is generally indicated by its yellow color. Rosin is a filler that has doubtful use in a soap. It may help in the formation of a suds or lather. Another chemical called *water glass* is sometimes added to soap. It is a filler that has no important use.

We cannot give all the details of the many kinds of soap. The thing to remember is that any claims as to why one soap is better than another should be considered carefully. Evidence should always be required to prove the claims. Do not be swayed by unsupported claims.

Special Soops for Special Purposes.—A is a scouring powder. B is soop flakes. C is bar soap. D is beaded soop. E is powdered soop. How do these forms of soap differ from each other? Is there a "best" form? Exploin.





Making Suds.—Bath beakers contained hard water. A detergent was added to the beaker on the left. Soap was added to the beaker on the right. Does this picture help you understand why detergents are aften used in regions where the water is hard?

SOAP SUBSTITUTES.—Some substances may be used with water for cleansing even though they are not soaps. When dissolved in water, washing soda will help loosen dirt and grease. Trisodium phosphate may also be used for the same purposes

In recent years many new soap substitutes have appeared. Most of them are sold for use in home washing machines or for dishwashing. They are sold under a variety of short trade names. These substances are called *detergents*. Dishes washed in hot solutions of the detergents need not be wiped with towels. They dry in the air without streaking.

An Exurtision, --Oil and water do not "mix" unless science is called to their aid. You know that if you shake a little olive oil or kerosene with water and let it stand, the oil will separate and rise to the top. The oil rises to the top because it is lighter than the water and will not mix with it. However, when the oil is broken into very small particles by shaking with substances such as scop, the water and oil no longer separate immediately. An emulian is formed An emulsion is a minture of oil and water that will stay mixed for quite a while.

Try the following experiment to make oil and water stay mixed. To a test tube two-thirds full of water add a few drops of oil. Shake thoroughly, and allow to stand for a few minutes. Does the oil become finely divided? Do the tiny drops gradually reunite into larger drops and rise to the top?

Now add a few drops of liquid soap and shake vigorously. Is the oil again divided? Do the drops reunite as before or do they appear to remain mixed throughout the water? If the drops reunite, add more soap and shake.

If you have succeeded in making the oil and water stay mixed for a time, you have made an emulsion. The soap sticks to the tiny oil drops and so prevents their uniting to form drops large enough to rise to the top.

Milk is a natural emulsion. You know, however, that after a while the cream (fat) of the milk will rise to the top. This proves also that cream is lighter than the water in the milk, otherwise it would sink to the bottom when it separates. Have you seen milk that is called homogenized milk? In that milk the fat globules have been broken into such tiny particles that they do not separate from the rest of the milk and rise.

Take a small bottle of milk to school and examine a drop of it with a microscope. Try to see the tiny drops of fat.

MAKING WATER "WETTER."-Everyone knows that water makes things wet. But do you know that it is possible to make water "wetter"? By that we mean that substances may be added to water which enable the water to soak into materials better.

To understand this, we must realize that the surface of water acts like an elastic film. To some extent the film tries to keep water away from the things it touches; that is, the water soaks into many materials only a little way.

If the surface film of the water could be broken or weakened, the water would be better able to soak into the things it touches. In other words, the water would be wetter. This is what soap does.

EXPERIMENT 36

How does soap remove duri?



This experiment calls for you to do things with which you are very familiar. The difference is that in the experiment you have set up certain controls to help prove that the effects obtained are really due to sosp.

WRIT TO USE.-Test tubes, oil or grease; lampblack (finely powdered charcoal), a hquid soap solution; a white cloth; and paper towels

White to Do --1 Smear the inside of a dry test tube with oil. First try to ruse the oil out with mater. Then try shaking soapy water in the tube and rusing. Observe the appearance of the oil and soap after you have shaken the tube and contents.

2 Rub a little lampblack into the white cloth. Try to wash it out with plain water and then with water and soap, using a good lather. Examine the lather to find if it has taken up the earbon.

3 For three pupils Let one wash his hands with plain warm water. Dry with a paper towel. Look for dirt on the towel.

Let the record pupil wash his hands with warm water and soap. Make a good lyther and work it on the skin thoroughly. Now rinse the bands thoroughly with warm water. Dry with a paper tonel. Compare the respective amounts of durt on the two towels.

Let a third pupil use cold water and soap, and cold water for ransing

WHAT HAPPENS -I. By which method was the oil better removed from the tube? What dal the scap do to the oil?

2 By which method was the charcoal better removed? How did the wap help?

3. If the washing and rinsing removed the dirt satisfactorily, no dirt would be left on the hands to be rubbed off by the paper.

Which method removed the dirt from the hands the best? What do you think helped to hold the dirt on the hands?

CONCLUSION.—Explain the actions of soap in removing the dirt in each case.

APPLICATION.—Explain why mayonnaise (a mixture of oil, lemon juice and egg yolk) stays mixed better than the oil and lemon juice alone. What is the use of the egg yolk?

When soap is added to water, the surface film of the water is made weaker. This effect enables water to soak into fabrics faster and farther than it could otherwise. The solution can also creep along the cloth surfaces and surround dirt particles better than plain water. Rinsing carries off the loosened dirt particles in the film which the water forms with the soap. The soap and water combination is an ideal team for cleansing purposes.

SOAP AS A CLEANSING AGENT.—By "dirt," as referred to on our clothes and bodies, is meant the daily accumulation of dust, dead skin tissue, and other particles held there by an oil. It is the purpose of soap to help remove such dirt. You have discovered that soap will *emulsify* fats and oils so that they will mix with water. You have also discovered that soap and water will soak into fabrics readily and loosen dirt particles. It is these two properties on which the cleansing action of soap depends.

You will be interested to try Experiment 36 which tells you some good tests to be made with soap.

Hot water is usually better for use with soap to clean greasy materials. In order that the soap can emulsify grease quickly, the grease or fat must be melted. Hot water melts the common greases and fats such as occur on the skin, cloth, or dishes.

LAUNDERING FABRICS.—Proper laundering of fabrics not only keeps them clean and wholesome, but lengthens their life. Clothing, especially that worn next to the body, absorbs perspiration. The skin also gives off fatty or oil substances that lodge in the clothing. Worn-out tissue from the skin becomes entangled in the fabric. Such conditions make frequent laundering necessary.



wing Galleway

A Haspital Laundry.—Soiled clothing and linen ore brought directly to the washing machines through the hoppers above. Here one washing machine is being loaded. Each machine shawn in this picture will wash 450 pounds of dry wash in one hour.

When washing fabrics, care must be taken not to cause them to shrink or to lose their color. Woolen fabrics, especially, shrink very easily. They should be washed in lukewarm water with a mild soap.

Washing powders and bleaching agents should be used cautiously If the water is hard, you can save soap by adding the correct amount of washing soda, borax, or other water softener. The water softener should be thoroughly dissolved before soap is added to the water. Why?

FIELD RESEARCH

Arrange, if you can, to visit a modern laundry.

White cottons should be washed and rmeed with water at a high temperature (approximately 160° F.). A good temperature for colored cottons is about 130° F. For silks, rayons, and wools, 110° F. is about right.



Mother's Modern Helpers.—The machine on the left is a washer which automatically washes, rinses, and damp-dries laundry. Then the machine turns itself off. Next the laundry may be placed in the automatic drier on the right to complete the job.

Sometimes when white fabrics are washed with soap they are slightly discolored. In such a case they may be *blued* to make them look white. Too much bluing, of course, leaves a blue appearance.

WASHING MACHINES.—The modern washing machine makes it possible for soap and water to do their work most effectively. The machine helps in forming an emulsion. It also helps the soap and water to soak into the cloth. This is done by various types of motions. It does not rub. Therefore the clothes are made cleaner with less destruction to the fabric. With a minimum of wear and tear on the cloth, the modern machine also rinses away the emulsified grease and loosened dirt.

Then, too, the old method of wringing clothes by hand was hard work and bad for the clothes. The wringer which squeezes the clothes between rubber rollers is an improvement over hand wringing. Even this method is hard on the buttons. Some machines use centrifugal force to damp-dry the clothes. The water is pumped out of the tub, and the bowl is whiled very rapidly Centrifugal force carries out most of the water in the clothes.

------FIELD RESEARCH

Try this out of doors Saturate a cloth with water Roll it into a compact ball The a short, strong string about two feet long to the ball and uhurl it rapidly on the string What happens to the water in the cloth?

STAIN REMOVAL AND DRY CLEANING.—Because so many modern fabrics contain synthetic materials and dyes, complete stam removal has become a very exacting procedure. Whenever there is any doubt about the fabric or the dye, do not attempt to remove the stain. If possible send the atricle to a good cleaner. Tell the cleaner what caused the stain. If it is necessary to remove stains at home, a few simple rules will help.

Many stains are caused by fats or oils. Other common stains are caused by fruit juices, tea, coffee, chocolate, ink, or grass Water will remove some spots. It has no effect on others. The following classification of stains will help you know how to remove them:

- A. Stams soluble in water, cold or hot.
- B. Stains insoluble in water.
 - Stans soluble in denatured alcohol (inflammable), catbon tetracbloride (non-inflammable), or chloroform (non-inflammable), or some similar new materials, such as trichlorethylene. CAUTION. On account of its inflammability, gasoline should never be used in the home for cleanung clothes or other materials.
 - 2. Stains emulsified by soap solution.
 - C. Stains insoluble in above liquids.
 - Stains on white cotton goods may be bleached with chlorine compounds and bleaching powder solution, such as Javelle water. (See directions for making and use as given on a can of chloride of lime.) Do not use Javelle water on colored goods, since it is likely to bleach out the color as well as the stain.
 - 378 COMMUNITY AND PERSONAL HEALTH





National Institute of Cleaning and Dyeing

Dry Cleaning.—Dry cleaning solvents dissolve grease and soil from clothing. The dry cleaning apparatus looks much like a laundry machine, but no water touches the clothes. At right a "spotter" removes by hand any spots left after the first treatment. Note the many bottles of different solvents.

2. Stains on woolen, rayon, and silk fabrics may be bleached with an alkaline solution of hydrogen peroxide, with sulfur dioxide, or sodium bisulfite, or sodium perborate.

Chlorine compounds, such as Javelle water, *must* not be used with silk, rayon, or wool.

Coffee, chocolate, and tea stains can usually be removed by warm soap and water, followed with weak acetic acid.

It is particularly important to be careful in handling colored goods. If the stain is not removed by carbon tetrachloride or warm water and neutral soap, it is best to have a good dry cleaner do the job. Oil and grease stains are best removed by carbon tetrachloride. Grass stains are soluble in denatured alcohol. Iodine stains often may be steamed out of clothing. They may be removed from the skin by rubbing with diluted household ammonia.

Dry cleaning is a process of cleaning fabrics without the use of water. In the early days of dry cleaning, gasoline was

PERSONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY 379

used. However, it is no longer used because it is not only dangeous, but leaves an unpleasant odor. Modern cleaning liquids are non-inflammable. They evaporate from the fabric quickly without leaving any odor. They are obtained from petroleum by distillation.

WINTER FIELD RESEARCH

Make stams on pieces of cloth and practice their removal. This will help you if you have need to remove a stam on some garment or table linen.

GENERAL PROBLEM 2

Are Your Habits Health Habits?

WHONSE RESPONSIBILITIES?—For most of us, our health is what we make it. If we know how to take care of our bodies, and do so, the chances are we shall enjoy good health. If, however, we neglect our teeth, abuse our eyes, and eat poor food, poor health will probably result. Furthermore, we can not expect good health if we practice health habits only part of the time. We must work for health every day. Thus our health habits are among our most important habits.

A CLEAN SEIN.—Keeping a clean skin is one of our first health habits. To understand clearly why the proper use of scap and water on the skin is necessary, we must study the duties of the skin. The skin is composed of two main layers. The outer layer consists of flat dead cells. They are continually worn off from the surface and are replaced by new cells from underneath

The inner layer of the skin is very much alive. It is sensitive to touch, to warmth and cold, and to pain. The inner layer is also supplied with many nerves, and tiny blood vessels called *capillaries*. This layer of skin also contains a great number of little coiled tubes or glands called succe *lands*.

Your body gets rid of some of its waste material through the skin. Each sweat gland has a pore (opening) through the outer layer of the skin. These pores are large enough so that you can see them in your skin if you examine it with a magnifier. If the

pores become clogged, the sweat glands cannot get rid of their waste matter. It is like stopping up the drain pipe. If the waste matter is held in the skin, it may cause *pimples* or *blackheads*. Also, if this waste matter is not eliminated it may produce a poisonous condition in the body. Such a condition makes one feel dull and have headaches.

A second important duty of the skin is to help regulate the temperature of the body. You have learned that when liquids evaporate, they absorb heat and so cool the surface. When water from perspiration evaporates it takes heat from the skin. If a person tends to become overheated from violent exercise, the sweat glands pour more sweat out onto the skin. This evaporates and so removes heat from the skin and blood underneath. Thus the body is protected from being overheated. Anything that interferes with these actions may result in overheating of the body. So you have another reason for keeping the pores in condition to do their work.

Besides needing a clean skin for the sake of our own good health, we have a duty towards those about us. A person whose skin is clear and clean is much more pleasing to us than one with a dirty skin. Moreover, a skin which is allowed to become unclean gives off a decidedly objectionable odor. Consequently, keeping the skin clean is a duty which we owe to others as well as ourselves.

A third use of the skin has to do with the sense of touch, temperature, and pain. Some of the nerves in the skin have endings that are sensitive to changes in temperature. Others are sensitive to touch. Thus the skin is important because it helps to give us messages of temperature, touch, or pain.

THE USE OF FACE POWDERS.—Many people use powders (and rouge) to add to or suggest an appearance of cleanliness and freshness. These substances are not good substitutes for soap and water. Moreover, the continuous use of face powders will tend to fill the pores, unless the skin is frequently and thoroughly cleansed.

An occasional use of simple powders, such as *talc*, may be of assistance in preventing the skin from chapping when exposed to severe weather. On the other hand, a clean, healthy skin is not likely to be harmed by frequent exposure to the weather. Skin blemishes such as moles, pigment spots, birth marks, or warts should not be urritated in any way. Irritating them may result in sores which are difficult or impossible to heal. If they are such as to interfere seriously with one's appearance, a physician-specialist should be consulted. Quack skin and beauty doctors and unprescribed skin preparations should be avoided

YOUR TEETH.---Your health is closely related to the condition of your teeth Poor teeth frequently send poisons throughout the body. Without good teeth food cannot be properly chewed. Hence the food which is swallowed cannot be properly digested by the stomach without extra work.

Thus poor teeth may bring on digestive disorders. Digestive deorders in turn may cause poor teeth. And so the trouble pules up. A good set of teeth helps you cat your way to good digestion and health. So take good care of your teeth. Good care means frequent eleaning, inspection by your dentist, and eating proper fools.

CLEANING YOUR TEETH.—When you clean your teeth, you are making the teeth, tongue, and mouth more healthy. You are safeguarding the entrance to your stomach, helping to prevent decay of the teeth and to make them more sightly. And you are keeping your breath pure and wholesome. Therefore, cleaning the teeth is of great importance. Once a day is not enough to preserve a good set of teetb, much less a poor set. They should be cleaneed after each meal. Learn how you can thoroughly cleanes your teeth, and practice the method regularly. You will save yourself many an ache and many a dollar. Careful brushing is an essential part of the care of the teeth. Also use dental floss to clean between the teeth. Ask your dentist about the best tooth pastes and powders.

Recent experiments indicate that the chemical fluoride helps prevent tooth decay by about 45 per cent. The fluoride treatment seems to be best if it is started when the child is about four years old. Then it should be followed at intervals by a series of brief, painless treatments until he is thirteen years of age-

VISIT YOUR DENTIST. -- Regular cleaning will help keep your teeth in good conditioo. But cavities do occur, even with the



Teamwork.—Care of your teeth is your responsibility, but the dentist is on your team.

best of cleaning. They are small at first, easy to fill, and cause little if any discomfort. However, if neglected, the cavity grows larger and larger. It becomes painful and difficult to care for.

Therefore it is a good idea to have your teeth inspected by your dentist at least twice a year. The dentist will find the small cavities and repair them before they ruin the teeth.

FOODS FOR HEALTHY TEETH.—Foods containing calcium, phosphorus, and other minerals are necessary for proper growth of the teeth. These minerals are most abundant in fresh green vegetables. It is therefore important for you to include these foods in your diet. Scientists have also found that vitamin D is necessary for the proper use of these minerals within the body. An excellent source of vitamin D is sunshine. Vitamin C, found in certain fruits such as oranges, grapefruit, and tomatoes, is needed to keep gums healthy. Proper diet is of great importance to the formation of good teeth in young children. It is also necessary in maintaining healthy teeth in older boys and girls.

Two SETS OF TEETH.—Every person has two separate sets of teeth. The first set to appear is called the baby teeth or the *temporary* set. They 'fall out," really are pushed out, at an early age to make place for the *permanent* set.

*********** FIELD RESEARCH

Make a special study of food requirements for good teeth. Make a hst of what you est for two or three days and check this list to make sure you are getting the necessary foods.

The first of the permanent molars appear when a child is about six years old. These "six-year molars" are frequently mustaken for haby teeth. They appear about the time the child loses his front haby teeth and replaces them with larger permanent ones. They are usually the first of the permanent teeth to show and frequently have flaws in their ename! covering Therefore they should be given special attention by the dentist as soon as they push through the guns.

Sometimes the baby teeth are neglected because they are considered temporary. However, the child's haby teeth should be given just as good care as the permanent teeth.

There are only 20 teeth in the baby set, hut 32 in the permanent set, as shown in the pictures. The third molars (windom teeth) often do not appear until about sge 24 or 25. Sometimes they never emerge. Before the permanent teeth appear, the roots of the first teeth are absorbed. Then the new teeth push through the gum causing the crowns of the baby teeth to fall out.

PARTS OF A TOOTH.—It is a good thing to recall what you know about the structure of your teeth, for it will help you in your care of them. A tooth may be considered as divided into three parts. The scorn rises above the gum. The root holds the tooth in a bony socket of the jaw. The short portion between the crown and the root is called the neck.

Over the outer surface of the crown is found a layer of very hard mineral matter called *enamel*. The enamel layer is thickest on the biting end of each tooth and thinnest at the neck.

Inside the tooth is an ivorylike substance called *dentine*, which is similar to hone. Inside the dentine is the *pulp chamber*, which holds the *pulp* of the tooth. The *pulp* is composed of connective tissue, nerve tissue, and blood vessels. Through the blood vessels food for the tooth is carried to it, and waste prod-



8, 9. Third Molars.

ucts are carried away. The nerves supply the tooth with sensation. These blood vessels and nerves connect with the other blood vessels and nerves through a small opening at the end of each tooth root.

TOOTH DECAY.—Although it may not be strictly true that a "clean tooth never decays," certainly uncared-for teeth decay much more quickly. The decay of a tooth is closely connected with the breaking, cracking, or disappearing of the enamel. Decay is also related to the eating of improper foods. However, scientists do not agree on all the causes of tooth decay.

Particles of food between the teeth make good breeding places for bacteria. The bacteria give off an acid which may dissolve the enamel and cause the dentine to decay. This decaying process often continues inside the tooth for a long time before it is noticeable except to a dentist. See your dentist often¹

Another possible cause of decay is a receding of the gums. The portion of the tooth not protected by enamel is thus exposed to the action of bacteria. Receding gums may be a symptom of a disease called *pyorthea*. If allowed to coatinue, it almost certainly results in early loss of the teeth. If this condution occurs, a specialist should be visited at once.

Your teeth are constantly bathed in saliva. Saliva, you remember, is formed in the glands of the mouth. Some dental research workers believe that the saliva is important in the protection of teeth against decay. Just how saliva does this is not as yet fully understood.

The elimination of sweets from the diet will help to slow up the rate of tooth decay. It may prevent decay altogether in some individuals.

Our Eves.—Our eyes are living, automatic cameras. Through our eyes comes most of what we learn about our environment. We should understand how our eyes work so that we will be better able to take proper care of them.

The diagram on page 387 will help you review the parts of the eye. We remember that the eye is a ball. Its movements are coatrolled by several sets of muscles. At the front of the eye are the cornea and the irrs. Light enters the *pupil*, is focused by the *lens*, and falls upon the *retina*. Nerves from the retina carry the sensation of sight to the brain.

CARE OF THE ETES.—Only a very few people are horn with detective eyes. If given proper care, the eyes will remain "sharp" for many years. As a person grows older, however, the leas may lose some of its ability to focus on nearby objects. This is *farsightedness*. It is a normal condition for many older persons.

There are many things you can do to keep your eyes in good condition. When doing close work, the eyes should be rested frequently. This can be done by looking off in the distance. Changing the focus this way gives the lens muscles a chance to change their position.

Reading should always be done in good light, with the lightcoming from over the shoulder. The page should be lighted evenly with no shadows or glare. Glare sends too much light to the retina, and causes the eye to strain to see the print. Shadows cause the eye to adjust continually to different amounts of light, and thus cause fatigue. Fatigue is also caused by trying to read in a flickering light. Reading while in a moving car puts a severe strain on the muscles which control the movement of the eyeball. We should remember that these are the muscles which keep our two eyes working as a "team."



Our Sense of Sight.—Think of the parts of the eye which you can always see in a person's face. Find them in this drawing and name them. Think of the nerve which carries the seeing messages back to the brain. Find it here and give its name. Think of the eye as a ball set in a socket with muscles running back like bands af elastic fram all sides of the eye. Why are so many muscles needed? Think af the eyeball as filled with a thick liquid through which the light rays pass back to a kind of film, the retina. What happens to the rays as they enter the eye? Haw da you knaw this?

The retina is perhaps the most sensitive part of the eye. Although it is not yet completely understood, eye doctors agree that extremely bright light should not be allowed to fall on it. Thus one should never look directly at the sun, or at an electric arc, or into the bright headlights of a car.

Occasionally "something" gets into an eye. A small cinder or other substance may get lodged between the eyeball and the lid. Sometimes tears will begin to flow and wash out the sub-



An Eye Examination.—Does this picture help you to understand the importance of science in caring for our eyes? An eye doctor spends many years studying the eyes. Other scientists are developing instruments which will help the doctor in his work.

stance. At other times it may be necessary to remove it. Winking rapidly a few times may help. Rubbing the closed eye with a clean cloth lightly and toward the nose may remove it. Sometimes an eyewash will help. If these methods do not succeed, it is best to see a doctor. Further rubbing is apt 10 scratch the delicate tissues or even force the object into the sufface of the cychall.

Just as it is good practice to see your dentist regularly, so it is good practice to have your eyes checked by a doctor. Boys and gits who do a good deal of reading and close work in school should have their vision tested at least once a year. Nearsightchness (opposite of farsightedness) usually develops gradually. Often the person is not aware of it except for frequent headaches. The eye doctor cannot cure nearsighted or farsighted eyes. He can prescribe glasses which bring back clear vision and relieve the eye mascles of strain.



An Ear Examination.—Teeth, eyes, and ears need careful and regular examinatians by the dactor. He is trained ta help yau care for your health and prevent trouble. However, you must also help yourself. How can yau and the doctar caaperate?

CARE OF THE EARS.—Most boys and girls know the few necessary rules about the care of the ears. It is necessary only to review these rules here.

One of the most important things to remember about the ears has to do with cleaning them. If you refer to the drawing of the ear on page 390, you will see the tube which extends from the eardrum to the outside. A certain amount of wax forms in this tube. Its purpose is to protect the tube and the delicate *eardrum*. You should not attempt to remove all this wax with soap and water. Indeed, some doctors believe soapy water should not be used inside the ear at all. Plain warm water will normally remove any excess wax.

It sometimes happens that too much wax accumulates in the tube. It may even press against the eardrum. If you have ever had "water in your ear" after swimming, you probably had wax against your eardrum. It was pushed there by the pressure of the water. Never ray to remore wax with a todhpick, penci, or other skarp-pointed object. If a bit of cotton or a clean handkerchief wrapped around your finger will not remove the wax, see a doctor. An inexperienced person who tries to remove something from his ear can easily push the object farther into the ear. You should never take the chance of puncturing the eardrum.



Our Sense of Sound.—Think of the part of the ear yau can see an anather persan. Find it in this drawing and name it. Think of the nerve which carries the sound messages to the brain. Find it here and name it. Think of the thin tissue which is set vibrating when sound waves strike it, find it here and give its name. Think of the three little bones that are set vibrating. Find here and here the Think of a carpenter's tool that works in much the same way as the semi-crucier canals. What is till

The ears should always be protected when diving in deep water. A swininking cap will prevent the water pressure from pushing too hard against the cardrum. Air pressure as well as water pressure can also damage the eardrum. For this reason you should never let anyone slap your ears. Nor should you slap another person on the ears.

The Eustachian tube shown in the diagram connects the ear with the throat. Thus a throat infection may possibly be carried to the ear. Proper ear protection demands that you never let any throat infection go untreated. Another way to cause ear infections is by blowing the nose with one nostril pressed shut. Donot blow your nose unless both nostrils are open-

What Are Some Scientific Defenses against Disease?

PREVENTION AND TREATMENT OF DISEASE.—Science wages the battle against disease on two fronts. It tries to *prevent* disease, and when disease occurs, it tries to *cure* it. Much of the prevention of disease has to do with cleanliness and sanitation. We have already learned how garbage and sewage are disposed of so that they will not be a source of disease. We have learned of the importance of soap and water in keeping our bodies, clothes, and homes clean.

We know that the water supply of a community is a danger spot unless it is safeguarded from disease germs. Our study has shown how much care is taken to provide an abundant and safe supply of drinking water.

THE MILK SUPPLY.—The milk supply is also a danger spot unless it, too, is safeguarded from disease germs. Unfortunately milk is just as good a food for bacteria as it is for you. Therefore, the problem is to produce milk and deliver it to your table with as few germs in it as possible. It must not have any disease-causing germs.

The first requirement in the production of safe milk is to have cows that are free from disease. Stables must be kept clean and well ventilated. If cows are milked by hand, pails should have a small opening in the top rather than a large open top. This is to prevent dust from entering. The cows should be cleaned before milking and the attendants should be clean and free from contagious diseases. The milk should be chilled as quickly as possible to prevent the increase of any germs that may be present.

For community use the milk is collected from the farms and taken to the dairy. There it is first weighed and samples are tested. It is then pasteurized and bottled.

Some milk is bottled raw, but even with the greatest care disease germs may be found in raw milk. Therefore, it seems best to pasteurize all milk and cream. This is usually done by heating the milk from 142° F. to 145° F. for thirty minutes.



Courtear White Brothers Milt Company

Bottling Milk.—Sanitation is the key word in modern dairies. This machine is an outomatic bottler. Pasteurized milk is poured into the bottles which are then copped in a continuous operation. Why is this a better procedure than filling the bottles by hand?

Pasteurizing kills all the possible disease germs, but not all harmless germs Pasteurization may destroy Vitamin C. That is not too important because Vitamin C is available in orange and tomato juices and in other foods. Children appear to grow just as well on pasteurized milt as on raw milk. We shall discuse pasteurization in more detail when we study the use of heat in food preservation.

FIELD RESEARCH

Appoint a committee to find out from the Public Health Bureau what diseases may be transmitted by mulk. Learn also about any recent mulk-borne epidemies.

Another committee might be appointed to inspect a dairy and report to the class on how the milk is pasteurized and bottled. Perhaps arrangements can be made for the whole class to visit the dairy.

Most states, cities, and towns have laws governing the protection, care, and sale of milk. You will be interested to get a copy of those laws. Study them and make sure that milk delivered to your home or school meets the requirements.

Unused milk is made into various milk products such as butter and cheese. Some milk is "evaporated" and canned. Large quantities of milk are "powdered." This is done by spraying very finely divided milk into a room where the air is warm and dry. The dry air quickly absorbs the water from the milk, leaving it in powdered form. Another interesting kind of milk is called "homogenized." This milk has had its fat globules broken into fine particles. As a result the cream (fat) does not rise to the top of the milk. Some milk is treated with ultraviolet light which appears to increase the amount of Vitamin D, the sunshine vitamin.

Another milk product is chocolate milk. Chocolate milk is supposed to be made by adding a little sugar and chocolate to whole milk. Therefore, it will have a good amount of fat, approximately 3.8 per cent. It is a wholesome drink. In many parts of the country, however, chocolate milk is made from skim milk. Often it is called "chocolate drink" or chocolate chill." Its fat content may be as low as 2 per cent or 2.5 per cent.

Milk is most important in your diet because it contains easily digested fat and a good quality of protein in the best proportion for young people. Even more important are the calcium and other minerals which milk contains. These minerals are required for the development of good teeth and bones. Milk is especially rich in Vitamins A and B₂ (G). Vitamin A is especially important in preventing night blindness. Vitamin B is sometimes called the "pep" vitamin. Milk also contains most of the other vitamins although in smaller amounts.

Good milk is made up approximately as follows:

Fat	3.54%
Proteins	0.7 - 1.5%
Lactose (sugar)	6.0-7.0%
Minerals	0.15-0.3%
Water	87.5%
Vitamins	A and B_2 (G) and others

Be sure you get a quart or more of safe milk every day for your teeth and bones' sake. It is good—drink plenty of milk.



Then and Now.—{left} Dr. Jenner gives the first vaccination for smallpox. This shows the use of a vacane to prevent a disease. (Right) A boy is being innoculated with a serum following his exposure to measles. The serum will not prevent the disease but will spore the boy from a serious case.

INOCULATIONS AGAINST DISEASES.—In most states children must be vaccinated against smallpox before they begin school. The vaccination is a very simple process. A drop of liquid comtaining some weakened smallpox germs is placed on the skin. Then the doctor scratches the skin with a sharp needle through the drop. The weakened germs enter the body. They cause the body to build up an immunity (defense) against the disease. The immunity lasts for several years. In time it may disappean. Then it is necessary to be vaccinated again.

Typhoid fever can also be prevented by vaccination. Typhoid vaccine consists of dead typhoid germs A doctor injects the vaccine under the skin of the arm. Anyone who travels in regions where the water supply is not absolutely safe should be vaccinated against typhoid fever. Other diseases which can be prevented by vaccinations are duphtheria, tetanus (lockjaw), and whooping cough.

Vaccinations, like those described above, are valuable only if given before the person is exposed to the disease. They build

a natural immunity which fights off the disease. Often, however, a person is exposed to a dangerous disease against which he has not been vaccinated. Then it is too late to use a vaccine. The disease germs work faster than the vaccine. In such cases a *serum* is used. There are many different kinds of serums, but they all help fight diseases *after* they are "caught." There is a serum for diphtheria. When injected into the body, it fights the poisons of the diphtheria germs. Serums are also used to fight such diseases as scarlet fever, pneumonia, and tetanus.

We should remember that vaccinations protect against catching the disease. They build immunity in the body. Serums are used to fight the disease after it strikes or during exposure to it. Serums do not build up immunity.

SULFAS AND ANTIBIOTICS.—Almost every boy and girl has heard of the *sulfa drugs*. About 20 years ago it was discovered that these chemicals were valuable aids in fighting certain diseases such as throat infections. Many different sulfa drugs have been made in the laboratory during recent years. Most of them have been given long names, but they all begin with *sulfa*. For example, *sulfathiazole* is one of these drugs. These drugs may have some harmful effects; therefore they should be used only on the advice of a physician. They are not "cure-alls," but when properly used they do help fight certain types of infections.

World War II brought forth the "wonder drugs." The first of these was *penicillin*. Discovered by accident in 1928, little attention was paid to it until about 10 years later. Then penicillin was developed for use, and became perhaps the most famous drug of the war.

Any drug produced by a living organism is called an *antibiotic*. Penicillin is produced by a mold which grows in the soil. Since the discovery of penicillin, many other antibiotics have been developed from soil molds and bacteria. *Streptomycin, aureomycin, terramycin, and chloromycetin* are already common names. And dozens of still newer antibiotics are being developed and tested. Pneumonia, scarlet fever, typhoid fever, bone infections, and throat infections are just a few of the diseases already conquered by the antibiotics.

ACTH AND CORTISONE.—ACTH is a fluid produced by a gland at the base of the brain. This fluid acts on certain other

Merch & Company Int.

Penicilium.—The circles with white rings are colonies of the mold penultium. Penicilian is obtained from this mold. Natice that the colonies are surrounded by a clear area. The clear area is a region where the peniciliitow has prevented the growth of bacteria Forther away from the colonies is a groyth region where bactene are growing. What is the effect of the mold penicilium on the growth of bacteria?

glands which produce a fluid called *cortisone*. Recently it has been discovered that ACTH and cortisone (obtained from animals) produce dramaticeffects in treating certain discass of the joints. Apparently these drugs do not cure disease. They seem to keep the disease under control. The use of both ACTH and cortisone is very new. Scientists are not at all sure just how they work in the body. Perhaps experiments with these materials will lead to discovery of what happens in the body when a disease strikes. Then may come better ways of fighting disease. At any rate we may be sure that scientists will never give up their constant battle to conquer disease.

GENERAL PROBLEM 4

What Is Your Responsibility for Safety and First Aid?

Accidents in the Home.—Did you ever fall down stairs or have a rug on a slippery floor slide out from under you? Do you know of anyone burned from hot grease catching fire on the stove, or from a gasoline explosion? If so, could these accidents have been prevented? Every day, everywhere, accidents of one kind or another are occurring in homes. It is said that there are more accidents in the home than anywhere else. Some are serious—resulting in broken bones, asphyxiation (ăs-fik'sī-ā'shūn), blood poisoning, and even death. Others are minor accidents such as sprains, bruises, burns, or cuts. Accidents, whether big or little, are due to two causes: carelessness and misjudgment. Thoughtfulness will prevent those due to carelessness. Knowledge will help to prevent the others.

KINDS OF ACCIDENTS.—In the home, accidents fall into several groups:

1. Those caused by falls from chairs or steps; or on rugs that slip, or have worn places in them; or over tools and playthings left in unexpected places; or in slippery bathtubs; or in badly lighted places.

2. Those caused by burns or scalds from carelessness about stoves, heaters, electric cords, and cleaning fluids.

3. Those caused by asphyxiation from carelessness about open gas jets, leaky gas pipes, defective furnaces, gas and oil stoves, and automobile engines running in closed garages.

4. Those caused by poisons from failure to label the poisons properly and failure to put them out of reach of children.

5. Those caused by shock from handling electrical fixtures with wet hands.

6. Those caused by careless use of sharp tools, and so on.

7. Those caused by guns and ammunition from failure to put them out of reach of children.

After you have read these seven ways in which accidents may happen in the home, discuss each one. Try to plan how they may be prevented. Of over 30,000 *fatal* home accidents each year more than half are from falls. About one sixth are from burns. Next are those from poisons, sufficient on and firearms. Perhaps you will think of other ways accidents may happen in your home. If so, add them to the list. The way to prevent accidents is to plan in advance so they cannot happen. It is better to be safe than sorry.

FIRST ALD FOR ACCIDENTS — Each of the accidents mentioned above may require special treatment and may need the services of a doctor. This book cannot tell you what to do in each case, and it does not take the place of a trained nurse or physician. All that can be done in a seitence book like this is to point out first things to do and things not to do in case of an accident.

The first rule in every accident is to "keep your head." Do not get excited. If you do, you may cause additional harm. In case of accident act quickly, use good judgment and skill, and you may cave a life.

Broken bones, dislocated joints, sprains, and bruises result from falls. Bruises should be treated with disinfectants to prevent infection of any kind. Even the slightest bruise is a danger spot, particularly if the skin is broken. A scratch in the skin is the open door for the entrance of germs that may cause inflammation or blood poisoning.

Big Trouble for a Little Boy—Accidents do not respect age. You have a responsibility to help protect younger children from accidents. How can you do this?





American Red Cross

First-Aid Class.—Part of a good summer playground program is first-aid training. The fire department and Red Cross cooperate to teach first aid to these boys in North Carolina. Are you a good first-aider? How can you train yourself so that you will be ready in case of emergency?

Broken bones and dislocated joints require the immediate attention of a physician. You should make the patient as comfortable as you can, where he fell. Moving him may make the fracture worse. Relieve the injured bone from strain by protecting it from being jarred. Do not try to treat the patient in any other way, except by giving him hot drinks in case of nervous shock.

Strains and sprains should be treated with cold, wet applications (not ice) until the doctor comes. Sprains are more serious than strains, and are due to a tear in the ligaments of a joint. Sometimes it is difficult to tell a sprain from a fracture; so it is best to call a doctor. Strains and sprains may need to be bandaged.

Burns and scalds may be treated with oils, baking soda, or limewater. These relieve the pain and protect the spot from



First Things First.—This cut-away automobile is used in a school accident prevention program. These students will be better drivers if they know the "why" of an automobile as well as the "how."

the air Beware of infection Blisters should not be broken Severe burns require the attention of a physician.

Asphyziation occurs from the shutting off of oxygen to the blood supply It may result from breathing air contaminated with poisonous gases such as carbon monovide, coal gas, or smoke fumes. Fresh air and artificial respiration should be given until the doctor arrives.

Poissoning is treated in various ways, necording to the kind of poison taken Labels on the bottles usually give the "antidote" or directions for treatment. Bottles containing poisons should be odd shapes so they cannot be mistaken for other hottles even in the dark. Of course, poison bottles should be kept out of reach of cbildren.

A gunshot wound needs a physician's care. Keep the patient quiet. Treat for shock if necessary. If there is much bleeding, it must be controlled as directed under cuts.

Shock from electricity or lightning may be treated with artificial respiration.
Cuts are of two kinds: small, surface cuts, and deep, ugly cuts where a vein or an artery is severed. Surface cuts may be safely treated with a disinfectant. Call a doctor at once if a vein or artery is cut. These cuts will bleed heavily. The blood from an artery is bright red in color, flowing in spurts. Blood from a vein is a dark red in color. It flows in a slow, steady stream. The bleeding in both cases must be stopped. In the case of an artery, apply pressure between the wound and the heart to stop the flow of blood. In the case of a vein, apply pressure on the side of the wound away from the heart.

In the case of a very bad cut, a tourniquet is sometimes used. It is a tight bandage, with a lump in it to press on the cut vein or artery. Because of the danger of blood poisoning, it should not be used until all other measures fail. The tourniquet should be loosened a little every few minutes to permit some circulation of the blood.

Bicycle Inspection.—Many communities have required bicycle inspection. Even if your town does not require inspection, you have a real responsibility to keep your bicycle in proper order. Brakes, light, horn, and solid frame are some points to be checked frequently.



ACCIDENTS OUTSIDE THE HOME.—Most accidents outside the home involve automobiles, bicycles, or swimming. There are so many automobile and bicycle accidents that every bay and girl should know how they happen. Your department of public safety will tell you the number, cause, and time of day of most automobile accidents Fast driving, driving by an intoxicated driver, driving with faulty brakes, driving with insufficient vision, taking curves too fast, passing on hills, and taking chances are a few of the causes of auto accidents. What can you do about it? You can refuse to ride with unsafe or unskilled drivers. It is not being sissy-like to object to recklessness in driving. It is just being sensible.

Many pedestrians are injured or killed due to their own carelessness You know how to be careful-so be careful.

If you ride a bicycle, you can obey the traffic rules. Each year there are about 35,000 bicycle accidents which result in over 700 deaths. Remember, if your bicycle and an automobile collide, your bike will get the worst of it.

There are thousands of swimming accidents every year resulting in nearly 5000 deaths. Can you swim? If you cannot, then learn to swim at the very first opportunity.

THINKING THINGS OVER. —As you think back through this topic, you will remember that personal health and safety involve many things. Sogn and water are our most important aids to cleansing. Do you know how they work to remove durt? Do you know why soft water makes a better partner for somp than hard water?

We know now that health is not an easy goal to reach. We must work toward it every day. Are you building health habits? Do your health babits include care of your skin, your teeth, your eyes, and your ears? Fortunately, we are not alone in our work for good health. Scientists have discovered, and are still discovering, defences against diseases. Scientific controls protect our water supply and our milk supply. Vaccinations protect us against diseases we may become exposed to. Serums, sulfa drugs, and antibiotics help cure diseases after they strike

But we as individuals must accept much of the responsibility for our own health and safety. Thus this topic has in-

402 COMMUNITY AND FERSONAL HEALTH

cluded a study of safety and first aid. Do you know the important rules of protecting yourself through safety? And do you know the rules of first aid? In the case of an accident, a knowledge of first aid may save your life or the life of another person. Are you ready?

KEY WORDS

accident	emulsion	litmus paper	soft water
alkali	enamel	minerals	sulfa drugs
antibiotics	farsighted	molar	sweat gland
artery	fat	nearsighted	teeth
burns	first aid	permanent	temporary
cavity	fracture	hardness	hardness
dentine	glycerine	serum	tourniquet
detergents	hard water	skin	vaccination
eardrum	lime	soap .	vein

Key Statements

1. "Hardness" of water is caused by calcium and magnesium bicarbonates and sulfates dissolved in the water.

2. "Temporary hardness" can be decreased by boiling. It is caused by calcium bicarbonate and magnesium bicarbonate. These minerals decompose when heated.

3. "Permanent hardness" is not affected by boiling, but can be decreased by the use of water-softening agents. It is caused by sulfate of calcium and of magnesium.

4. The principal function of soap is to act as a cleansing agent.

5. The cleansing action of soap depends upon its ability to emulsify fats and oils and to help water loosen dirt particles.

6. Soap substitutes contain no soap, but are valuable because they soften water and loosen dirt.

7. Water-softening substances used with hard water before adding soap results in a saving of soap.

8. Soap is made by the action of an alkali on a fat or oil.

9. An oil emulsion occurs when the oil is so finely divided by an emulsifying agent that it will stay mixed with water.

10. The treatment of a stain for its removal depends upon the character of the stain.

11. The skin regulates temperature, gives off wastes, receives sensations, and protects the body. It functions best when clean.

PERSONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY 403

12 The evaporation of the moisture of perspiration from the skin acts as a cooling process to prevent overheating of the body.

13 The three main parts of a tooth are, crown, root, neck,

14 Diseased teeth are responsible for many ills of the body.

15. Proper diet and regular cleaning are necessary to prevent tooth decay

16 Proper care of the eyes includes: protection from glare, reading in adequate light, not doing close work for long periods of time, and having eve examinations regularly

17. The eardrum may be broken by sharp objects, or unequal air or water pressure

18 A safe milk supply requires sanitary production and handling Milk should be tested regularly

19 Sulfa drugs, antibiotics, and inoculations are modern scientific methods of fighting diseases

20 Accidents are due to two causes, carelessness and misjudgment.

21 A knowledge of "first aid" is of value in the treatment of accidents until a doctor armies

22 Most accidents can be prevented

THOUGHT OUESTIONS

1 Why does hard water require more soap to form a suds than rain water?

2 How can you soften water containing bicarbonates? sulfates?

3 What is hard water?

4 Why should a water softener be used before soap is added?

5 Is a detergent a soap? Explain.

6 What are the raw materials of soap making?

7. Why does hot soapy water wash better than cold water alone?

8. Explain how whirling wet clothes dries them. How does this differ from what happens when clothes dry on a line?

9 What are some causes of tooth decay?

10 Why is it important to visit the dentist frequently?

11 What part of the eye regulates the amount of light entering?

- 12 Name three good practices in the care of the eyes.
- 13 Is wax in the ear an unhealthy condition? Explain.

14. What is the difference between sulfa drugs and antibiotic drugs? 15 Why should children be vaccuated when they are very young?

16 How does the use of serum differ from use of vaccines?

17 Why should every person know something about first aid?

18. Why are there accidents? How can you help prevent them?

404 COMMUNITY AND PERSONAL HEALTH

PROJECTS FOR YOUR SCIENCE DISCOVERY BOOK

1. Examine all the varieties of soap used in your home. Read on the wrapper what is said about each kind. Test each kind to find which one makes the best lather on your hands. Report your discoveries.

2. Make a collection of household substances and test with litmus paper. List them and indicate in each case whether it is an acid, alkaline, or a neutral substance.

3. Make a report on various laundry equipment machines and their advantages for laundry work.

4. Compare the shape, number, and functions of your teeth with those of a cat or dog. Explain the differences.

5. Make a collection of as many samples of tooth pastes and powders as you can. Read the labels and advertising material that comes with them. Criticize the statements in the light of your knowledge. Are all the claims just? Is each paste or powder safe to use?

6. Make a collection of all the brands of washing powders and water softeners available in your community.

Study the labels to determine what claims are made for each product, and then decide by experimenting and by your knowledge of the facts about such materials, whether or not the claims are valid.

Weigh the contents of each package and from the price of the package and its weight calculate the cost per ounce of each. Try to account for the differences in cost. Compare the cost per ounce with that of washing soda.

7. Visit a plant or a home where water softening equipment is used. Make a drawing of the principal parts. Explain how the equipment works.

8. Plan a visit to a local dairy. Write a brief description about how the milk is kept clean and sanitary.

9. Draw up a good Code of Safety for your household.

10. Draw up a Safety Code for street and highway traffic.

11. Make a list of simple remedies to be kept in the medicine closet and explain the use of each and why you included it.

12. Read about the work of Jenner with smallpox, Alexander Fleming with penicillin, or Selman Waksman with streptomycin. Write a brief report about one of these scientists.

13. Start a collection of newspaper articles about the antibiotics, ACTH, and cortisone.

14. Find out what tests for first aid girl and boy scouts have to pass.



The Good Earth.—From America's gardens and farms comes food for our country and the world. All food comes from the soil, and the soil produces best when it is cared for and used scientifically.

UNIT V

Farm and Garden



Traveling Tree.—This five tree is being moved four miles for transplanting in removing the tree from its original location, care was taken to preserve the roots and the soil around them.

TOPIC XIV

Garden Plants and Planting

DO YOU KNOW-

- 1. How to plant a seed?
- 2. Why garden soil is worked?
- 3. Why some seeds that are planted fail to grow?
- 4. How bacteria in the soil help plant life?
- 5. What a garden plan is?

GENERAL PROBLEM 1

How Is Soil Prepared for Planting?

WHAT IS SOIL.—Do you remember that soil is made of ground-up and weathered rock? Mixed with the rock material are decaying organic matter (humus), water, air, and living organisms. The soil in your garden may have been formed by the weathering and decay of local rock, or it may have been brought from distant places by glaciers or rivers. For perhaps a billion and a half years water has been at work preparing soil for plant growth. Rocks, ages old, have been broken up, ground into tiny particles, and mixed to form soils with a variety of minerals in them. These are the minerals required as plant food. Wind, water, ice, changes in temperature, oxidation, and plants and animals have worked to change barren rock into priceless soil. Thus soil is more than a mixture of lifeless materials. It is teeming with life, and contains lifegiving oxygen, nitrogen, and water.

Soils vary widely on account of the substances which compose them. That is why we have clay, sandy, loam, and muck soils. Each requires special treatment and is best fitted for particular crops.



But Testa

Plowing — The first step in the preparation of soil is plowing. Some sails demand deep plowing. Others, especially if the soil is base and may blow away easily, need only shallow plowing. What is the reason far plowing? How is the plowing dane by farmers in your part of the country?

Soils differ, also, in size of particles, and so we have coarse gravel, fine gravel, and sand. The size of the particles is mportant in relation to drainage and air and water content. The finer the soil, the more air and water it can contain.

FIELD RESEARCH

Investigate the soil of your neighborhood to determine how it was formed and where it came from.

PARTS OF THE SOIL AND THEIR USES TO THE PLANT.-EVET) part of the soil has its value to the plant. A successful gardener or farmer must know the parts and their uses. Some of the bacterus in the soil help to decompose organic matter. This releases nitrogen to the air and makes the rest of the matter suitable for plant use. Other bacteria take nitrogen from the



Soil Testing.—Successful farmers select the proper crops for their soil. The soil scientist can test soil to find what kind of fertilizers should be used and what crops are best suited to it. Soil testing service is offered by most stote agricultural colleges.

air and change it into *nitrates*. Nitrates are needed for plant growth. Without air (with its oxygen) in the soil this work would stop. Some of the minerals dissolve in soil water and are taken up by the root-hairs of plants. They are used by the plant for manufacturing its food.

The humus (organic matter) feeds bacteria and holds moisture in the soil. A mixture of sandy soil containing a little clay and humus (a sandy loam) is best for gardening. Sandy soil, alone, drains too freely and dries out. Clay soil absorbs a larger amount of water than sandy soil. It gets sticky and soggy and does not allow the water to circulate freely. When it dries, it cakes and cracks. Water escapes rapidly through the cracks, leaving dried clay chunks that are difficult to work properly. The mixture, sand and loam, holds moisture well and is easy to work. Most soils are slightly alkaline to litmus paper. Most plants grow best in a slightly alkaline soil, but some do best in an acd soil. It is important, therefore, to test the soil to determine if it is acid or alkaline. You will be interested to learn how to test your soil. Or you may have your Farm Bureau test it for you.

PREPARING THE SOIL FOR THE SEEDS.—Any garden or farm soil should be fertilized and supplied with humus for each succeeding crop. Sometimes the humus is supplied by planting rye, or other leafy crops, the previous fall and plowing them under to the spring. Crops sown in the fall for plowing under in spring are called *green cover crops*. The green material dies and adds organic matter to the soil. Plant minerals are supplied by adding farm manure and other fertilizers. The farm manure also adds to the humus supply.

Many gardeners make use of a compost pile. A compost pile is made up of vegetable tops, fallen leaves, and leafy parts of other healthy plants. The pile is gradually built up with thin layers of plant material, lune, and fertilizer. The vegetable matter decomposes and forms valuable humus and mineral material. It can be used as fertilizer the following spring. Diseased parts of plants should never be added to the compost. They should be burned.

After proper fertilization, including the addition of lime if the soil is too acid, the soil is plowed or spaded. Then it is harrowed. This is done about two weeks before the planting time.

For many years farmers have plowed the soil deeply. Recent experiments by soil scientists show that in some cases it may be better not to plow so deeply. In much of the wheat belt, for example, the plowing consists of stirring only the upper few inches of soil.

Just before planting, the soil is again harrowed thoroughly to produce a finely divided soil at the surface. The time between the plowing and final harrowing allows the weeds to start from seeds lett over from fall. The final harrowing destroys these weeds and is a large factor in the prevention of weeds later on. Thus harrowing is of great importance to the gardener.

The smaller the seed the finer the soil it needs for early growth. Small seeds are barely covered with fine soil. More-

Will seeds grow better in soil that is finely grained than in unbroken soil?



In working this experiment, remember that it is on such a small scale as compared with a real garden that results are easy to obtain. If you can carry out this experiment in your garden, so much the better.

WHAT TO USE.—Two boxes of equal size; two samples of the same soil, one finely mixed and the other left in coarse lumps; and a package of seeds—peas or beans—that have been soaked overnight.

WHAT TO Do.—Fill the boxes, one with lump soil and the other with fine soil. Plant the seeds according to directions on the package, but do not break up the lumps. Water both boxes alike when you have planted the seeds.

Set the boxes in a warm place and observe and record the growth results from day to day.

Examine the soil each day to see which appears to dry out faster.

WHAT HAPPENS.—Do the seeds grow alike in both boxes? Does the soil dry out faster in one box than in the other? Why?

CONCLUSION.—Which method of preparing the soil promotes the better growth? Explain.

APPLICATION.—The smaller the seeds the finer the soil should be. Why?

over soil must fit snugly about the seed and tiny new root that forms so that the rootlet can obtain the water and minerals it needs. If the soil is too coarse, the seeds may dry out and fail to grow. Seeds must have water to grow. Try Experiment 37 to find out for yourself how the character of the soil affects the growth of seeds.



Tuhp Time.—Mast gardeners roise their tulips from bulbs. Nurserics develop new Types of tulps from seeds. The seeds are planted, and over a period of several years the bulbs develop. Each bulb will always produce a tulp of the some color and shope. Thus the nursery can send to the gardener just the colors he want.

GENERAL PROBLEM 2

Why Have a Planting Plan?

A PLAN FOR YOUR GARDEN, --The most successful garden is the one planned long ahead. This is true whether you plan for a vegetable garden, a flower garden, or a complete landscaping project. The successful farmer must plan his crops several years in advance. He who waits until planting time to plan his garden is likely to be disappointed. In fact, a garden is a yearround affair and not just a spring and summer interest.

If your plans for landscaping your grounds are not complete, you should at least select your garden plot in the fall. See that the weeds are removed before the season closes and that green cover crops are sown if needed.



A Formal Garden.—Some people prefer informal gardens ar woodland gardens. Others like the farmal type such as this one at the Gardner Museum in Bostan. Na matter what type of garden you want, it shauld have a plan and it must be cared far.

For the spring planting, January is not too early to begin your plans. (Refer to your Observers' Club Calendar for suggestions.) Is it to be a flower garden, a vegetable garden, or both? Are there shrubs to be placed about the home? If it is to be a flower garden, are the flowers to be annuals or perennials? Annuals are plants that grow flowers and seeds the first year, after which the parent plant dies. Perennials bear flowers and seeds each year for a number of years.

MINIMUM FIELD RESEARCH MINIMUM MINIMUM

Send for seed and plant catalogs from reliable seed houses to help you decide what varieties of seed and plants you wish.

. พากพากพากการสาราชการสาราชการสาราชการสาราชการสาราชการสาราชการสาราชการสาราชการสาราชการสาราชการสาราชการสาราชการส

GARDEN PLANTS AND PLANTING 415

In planning your garden you must have in mind how long a tume it takes different plants to reach their full growth. Some small vegetables mature quickly. Their place in the garden may be replanted with second sowings to the same or some other seed.

If flowers are in your plan, you should try to have a succession of blooms from early spring to late fall. Your perennials and shrubs must be given a permanent place in your scheme. Other planting must be made accordingly, keeping in mind color, time of flowering, and height.

----- FIELD RESEARCH -

Visit commercial garden shows or plant nurseries for suggestions or arrangement and varieties of shrubs and flowering plants.

In deciding what to plant, it is necessary to consider the size of your garden plot and where each plant is to be placed. Therefore, you should measure your plot and draw a plan of it to scale.

Catalogs and garden books will tell you how far apart rows of vegetables should be. They also tell how much room must be given for each of the plants or shrubs you select. You can then draw the rows on your paper plan and can mark locations

Healthy Secds—Seeds come in many different sizes and shapes. On the left, the smaller seeds are pansies and the others, sun-Rowers. Other sphi is a group of ordinary lawn seeds and their husks. All these seeds, af cause, are magnified.



for individual plants. Do not forget to keep in mind the succession of vegetables and flowers.

The successful farmer plans his crops as carefully as the flower or vegetable grower. The farmer must plan to raise feed for his stock as well as crops to sell. The soil in one part of the farm may be better suited to one crop than another. It should be tested for acidity or alkalinity. The fields should be plowed and cultivated so as to conserve the soil. On hilly ground different crops need to be planted in strips following the contours of the hills, rather than up and down. This is called *contour* planting and prevents erosion.

Study the frost maps on page 10S to get an idea of the latest killing frost in the spring and the earliest killing frost in the fall. The number of days between them is your safe growing season for plants that are killed by frosts. The average temperature for your locality in spring and fall is also useful data.

MAKING THE PLAN.—Before you lay out a paper plan for landscaping or a garden, visit some well-planned landscaping projects. Then study books and current garden magazines for

Hauling Fertilizer.—Modern machinery makes the farmer's job easier. These farmers are using a truck to carry bags of fertilizer to the fields for spreading where it is needed.

Courtesy Automobile Manufacturers' Association



suggestions and instruction. If possible, talk with landscape architects, who know the value of planning.

Then on a large sheet of paper mark in the shape, size, and location of your buildings, existing trees, shrubs, gardens, roads, and paths. With this as a basis, you can proceed to develop a complete garden plan.

Your plan should be laid out with a central line of development If your grounds are not level, it may be necessary to include a profile plan The profile will show where you must dig out or fill un to give the grades or slopes the best effect.

The following features are usually included in a landscaping plan. Each should receive careful consideration.

(1) Drives and walks.

(2) Foundation planting about building. This consists of evergreens and slrubs to bring out architectural features of the building, inde walls, and give a tie-up between the building and ground.

(3) Border planting This is planting along the drives and edges of the plot Trees and shrubs are useful here in shutting off the garden from public view and forming backgrounds.

(4) Lawns and lawn planting. These are grass and special trees and shrubs.

(5) Hedges, fences, and walls to inclose formal or semi-formal gardens

(6) Rock gardens and pool

(7) Arbors, lawn furniture, and the like for decorative effects.

(8) Location, shape, and sizes of perennial and annual flower beds, ro-e garden, and vegetable garden.

(9) A planting list Consider the hardiness of trees and shrubs required by your local climate. Consider also height, folage, colors in spring, summer, and autumn. A complete plan, even though only small parts of it are planted each season, is better than "hit-and-miss" planting. Moreover, there is great pleasure in seeing the complete garden take form gradually

GARDEN TOOLS.—"A workman is known by his tools." The good gardener buys good garden tools and then takes good care of them. Each time when you have finished using your garden

tools, wipe them clean before putting them away. In addition to tools for working the soil, you will need simple dusting or spraying equipment to aid in your fight against garden pests.

GENERAL PROBLEM 3

How and When May Seeds Be Planted?

SEEDS.—The following clipping from a newspaper tells its own story:

"Taking the gamble out of agriculture" is a proposition that works for everyone's welfare. And the fundamental gamble in farming is the seed sown, whether you are working under glass or on a thousandacre ranch. Think of the nurseryman who buys 20,000 dollars' worth of seed from abroad, plants them, waits and works a year, and finds out that most of the seed had no life. This has really happened.¹

Seeds that will not germinate properly or are diseased waste time, land, and money for you. Seeds that germinate but grow inferior products are also to be avoided. You can test your seeds for germinating quality if you will follow the directions of Experiment 38.

Plants are liable to disease the same as people. The scientific grower tries to prevent his plants from getting sick. One way to do this is to use only healthy seeds. Often seeds are treated with certain chemicals that destroy disease germs or molds that may be on the seed.

PARTS OF A SEED.—Your investigation of the germination of seeds raises the question as to the parts of a seed and their uses.

The outer skin protects the seed during its resting period, keeping it from drying out. The two bulky parts (some seeds have only one such part) are the *cotyledons*. They supply food to the little plant until it develops roots and leaves. Then it is able to manufacture its own food.

When a seed is planted it absorbs water from the soil. The cotyledons swell and break open the outer covering. More moisture enters and the little plant, called the *embryo*, begins to grow.

¹Democrat and Chronicle, Rochester, N.Y.

What per cent of my garden seeds will germinate?



You have already discovered that a seed must have water and warmth to germinate, that is, to begin to grow. This experiment will help you discover whether cheap seeds are really inexpensive

WHAT TO USE --Seeds to be tested (if possible, secure cheap packages of seeds and expensive seeds for comparison); wet blotting psper; pie tins (two for each sample of seeds to be tested); and a hand lens.

WEAT TO Do.--1. Thoroughly wet a piece of blotting paper and place it in one of the pie fins. Count out 50 seeds of a sample to be tested and cover them with a second piece of wet blotter, and then with a pie tu, but not air-tught.

2 Repeat with as many samples as you wish to test, and place the turs in a warm place Keep the blotters most but not standing in water.

3 After 48 hours examine the seeds of each sample, and count the number that have started to grow. Re-cover the seeds and examine them again after another 24 hours. Again count and record the number that have germinated.

4 Examine some of the seeds that did not germinate to observe whether they appear to have been well-formed seeds

In each sample calculate the per cent of seeds that germinate

WHAT HAFFENS -3 How many seeds of each sample germinated? 4. Describe the appearance of the seeds that did not germinate

CONCLUSION.—In each sample of seeds what per cent germinated? Is the per cent of germination high enough to warrant planting the other seeds of the sample?

Is it worth while to test seeds before planting them?

APPLICATION .- Does it pay to buy cheap seeds?

MINIMUM FIELD RESEARCH MINIMUM MINIMUM MINIMUM MINIMUM

Soak a few seeds of beans and peas overnight. With a needle remove the outer skin, if the seed has one. (Refer to the diagram below for names of parts.) Carefully separate the parts and, using a hand lens, look for the little plant.

The embryo has one or more leaflets and a little stem. The little stem grows, the leaves grow, and soon a tiny root appears.

All this time the new little plant gets its food from the cotyledons which begin to shrink. After a while the cotyledons are, in the case of beans and some other seeds, raised out of the soil. Soon two more green leaves appear. As the stem gets longer and the root grows bigger, more leaves appear. As soon as green leaves appear the little plant becomes self-supporting. The coty-



Parts of a Seed.—The two large gray parts shown here are the cotyledons. They are a part of the seed, but not a part of the embryo. Can you explain that?

ledons wither and fall off. The green leaves, with water from the roots, carbon dioxide from the air, and energy from the sun, make their own food. It is a miracle of nature.

STARTING SEEDS IN FLATS.—In localities where the growing season is short, seeds are often started in flats, shallow boxes 3 to 6 inches deep. Filled with moist sandy soil, they are used for starting seeds several weeks before planting time outdoors. The exact time for starting seeds depends upon the plants and the locality. You may obtain accurate information from the



Block Star

Radish Seeds.—This picture shows the first sprouts of the seeds, twenty-four haurs after planting. These are the first tiny roots that take in water for the growth of the plants. Here the magic of life and growth has begun.

local seed store, your school agriculture teacher, or the State College of Agriculture

Especially in places where the growing season is short, better results follow if seeds are started in holiceds or cold frames. Not only many flower seeds, but vegetable seeds such as cabbage, tomato, and melons are profitably started in this way.

FIELD RESEARCH

Make a trip to a commercial greenhouse early in February to discover how the workmen are preparing for early vegetable and flower plants. Then prepare a flat for early seed planting. Consolit your Observers' Club Calendar for suggestions. The seeds should be covered with firming packed, sandy soil to a depth of about three times the length of the seed. Keep the flats un a faidy cool room. A temperature of about 60° F, is satisfactory. Moisten the soil a little cach day, but do not work at

HOTBEDS AND COLD FRAMES, --- If you wish to raise early vegetables and flowers, you will have to learn to use hotbeds



Grawing Up.—On the left the roots of the radish plant are grawing stronger, pushing on through the soil. Note the two cotyledans of the radish. They supply it with nourishment during these early stages of growth. On the right the leaves have developed, so that the plant is now able to manufacture its own food.

and cold frames. Both of these devices are boxes, with sides 12 inches to 24 inches high. They are set part way down in the soil and covered with frames with glass in them. The frames are adjustable to permit proper ventilation of the bed. The glass allows the radiant energy of the sun to go through and warm the soil underneath. At night the glass largely prevents the loss of heat from the soil. For these reasons, the soil under glass will be warm enough to allow plants to grow long before the soil outside would permit the growth.

The hotbed is heated not only by the sun, but also by gradual decay (oxidation) of farm manure. It is also possible to heat the bed with electricity. Of course with electricity the temperatures can be controlled much more accurately.

To make an ordinary hotbed, soil is removed from within the box. A thick layer, one to two feet deep, of unrotted manure is put in. This is then covered with four to five inches of rich garden soil. This much is better done late in the fall. In the spring, the manuter rots and gives off considerable heat to the soil. Therefore, with the top covered with glass, the soil warms very early. When the soil begins to heat, it will heat rapidly, and seeds should not be planted until the temperature has dropped to below 100° F.



A Hotbed —An impartant part of the hotbed is the layer of monute. Explain haw the manure helps keep the soft inside warm. Does the glass above help? Why must the hotbed be ventilated? What is the difference between a hotbed and a cald frame?

A cold frame is like a hotbed, except that it has no manure or artificial heat.

As the spring advances, care must be taken oot to let the plants burn from overheating The glass must be opened for a short ture each warm day and, finally, at night as well. Cold frames and hotbeds must be ventilated because plants must have fresh air. The bed, too, must be kept properly watered (Refer to your Observer') Club Calendar for dates of starting seeds and for transplanting. And, of course, allowance must be made depending upon what part of the country you live an) For detailed directions coocerning the use of cold frames, hotbeds, and greenhouses you should refer to special books on those topics.



The Preparation of a Seed Box.—At top the soil is being sifted, then it is smoothed. The third step is spreading the seeds, and finally they are covered. Part of the joy of gardening is to raise at least a portion of your own seed for the next year. You can thus study the whole life history of a geoeration of vegetables and flowers. Let some especially fine flowers go to seed. When they are ripe, gather the seed, and place in carefully labeled packages for storage until next spring or planting time.

LIBRARY RESEARCH

Read about the work of Burbank, and perhaps you may do a little experimenting with plant breeding and improvement.

THANSPLANTING.—The seeds may be planted too close together in the flat for proper growth after a few days. Therefore, wheo the seedlangs have grown their second leaf, they should be transplanted ioto other flats, or outdoors where they will be given more room.

The soil for transplacing should be a rich learn soil. You know that a seed contains its own food in the beginning. As sooo as the second leaf appears the soil must furnish foodhuilding materials to the plant.

TRANSPLANTING TREES AND SHRUES.—Deciduous trees (those that lose their leaves in the fall) are best transplaoted in the early spring or late fall. They are then in a resting coolditon and so are best able to staod the shock of a change. Roots and branches should be printed, and the plaot set in a hole and thoroughly watered. The soil must be packed very bard about the roots. The plaot should be supported against the wind by guy strings.

Nursery stock obtained in the fall is usually fresh-dug stock. Spring stock is usually stock that was dug in the fall and held in cold storage until spring. Some spring stock is freeb-dug.

Evergreens also may be transplanted in the early fall or spring. Fall transplantings must have time to make some root growth before freezing weather sets in. Therefore they should be kept well watered.

OUTDOOR SEED PLANTING, -Seeds are usually planted in rows or hills. Rules for depth of planting are the same as for

planting in flats. When the seedlings planted out of doors have grown their second leaf, they should be thinned to give proper room for development. After thinning, the soil should be kept cultivated and weeded.

WINNING FIELD RESEARCH

For transplanting prepare a flat with moist, rich soil. Small pots may be used instead of flats. The night before you wish to transplant the seedlings, they should be well watered.

With a knife or trowel carefully take up a small number of seedlings. Select those that seem sturdiest and set each one in a small hole in the soil made with the finger or a small stick, and pack the soil firmly - about the root. The seedlings should be set in the soil at about the same depth at which they have been growing. They should be set two inches or more apart to give room for proper development.

The plants should be watered daily and placed in sunshine, if this is practicable. If located near a window, turn the boxes about, to keep the plants growing straight. As the plants grow larger they should be gradually accustomed to outdoor air. They can be again transplanted to the outdoor garden as soon as the danger of frosts is over. When ready for transplanting to the garden, they should be thoroughly watered the night before.

The soil about the roots should be taken up with the plant. When first set out, the plants should be protected against cold and against too-hot sunshine.

In your garden plan you have provided for successive plantings. You should follow your plan closely.

GROWING NEW PLANTS WITHOUT SEEDS.—Many plants can be started by *cutting* or *slipping* off a branch and letting it take root in water or moist sand. In fact, this is a very valuable method of propagating various plants and shrubs. Geraniums and different types of ivies are often started by this method.

Some plants, like tulips, grow from *bulbs*. These plants form new growths or separate bulbs on the old ones each year. After the blossoms have wilted and their leaves have turned yellow, they may be taken up. The bulbs may be separated, and new plants grown from each one. The food stored in the bulb enables it to grow the next season. It may not blossom until the following year.



Transplanting Evergreens.—These ornamental evergreens are being havide by "caterpilar" tractor to be put on display in the nursery. Note the burden bogs in which the roots of the trees are protected. Scientific transplanting af trees is big business now. This particular nursery supplies evergreen trees and shrubs all aver the world. At what time of year might this picture have been token!

Some bulbs are often forced for house-flowering in the winter. They should be placed in soil in pots and kept in a dark basement for a few weeks (to enable the roots to start). Then they should be brought into the warm air for forcing. Refer to your Observers' Club Calendar.

Grafting and budding are methods used to propagate many trees and shrubs By this method a small branch or bud of one tree is planted in another tree. This is done by opening the bark and inserting the branch or bud into contact with the growing layer (*cambium*)_of the plant being grafted. If you want to do this kind of plant propagation, you will need to E9 to some greenhouse or nursery for help. Many roses and fruit trees are budded plants. Even shade trees are often budded to secure certain characteristics of growth. By such special meth-

ods of propagation, it is possible to obtain growing and bearing plants faster than from seeds.

MINIMUM FIELD RESEARCH

If you want to raise some plants from cuttings, you must know what plant to use (see the Observers' Club Calendar) and where to make the cut. Roots can be made to grow from the place where the buds grow on the stem—called a *node*. To make a cutting of a geranium, begonia, or any non-woody plant, use a sharp knife and cut off the end of a stem just below a node. There should be only one or two leaves about the node.

Place the node end rather deep in the moist sand—not too fine, for the little stem needs air as well as moisture. Moisture, air, and water are needed to start root growth. After the new plant is well rooted it should be transplanted to a small pot. The dirt in this pot should be good soil, with plant food in it. The clean sand used in the first place does not contain much plant food.

There are substances called *hormoncs* which scientists have discovered will aid or promote root growth. You may wish to investigate and use some of these hormones. Later the cutting may be transplanted to a larger pot for the indoor garden or out of doors.



Grafting.—These ore methods of making port of one plant grow on the root port of another. Many fruit trees and shode trees are grafted. The young stems ore grafted onto o hordy root stock. Did you know thot oronge trees ore often grafted onto lemon roots? Con you think of any reason why this is done?

How Should the Garden Be Cared For?

A CONTINUING JOB — Making a garden plan, preparing the soil, and planting the seed are the first steps in gardening. All the work movieed in doing these will be wasted unless the garden is cared for during the growing season. One of the most important jobs of the gardener or the farmer is cultivating the soil.

WHY CULTIVATE THE SOL?—Anyone who lives on n farm or just has a city garden knows that cultivation helps keep the soil from dryng out. What does cultivation do to preserve the soil water?

For years it was thought that the soil water rose to the surface through tmy tube-like spaces in the soil called capillaries. Once at the surface of the soil, it evaporated. The rise of the water through the spaces in the soil was explained ns capillary action—n sort of pumping action that causes water to rise in fine hair-like tubes. It was believed that cultivation hroke up the capillary tubes and thus prevented the soil water from rismg.

This explanation is probably still true where the water table is within ten feet from the surface. But soil water experiments indicate that when the water table is below ten feet from the surface, very little if nny water rises by capillary action.

How then does cultivation preserve soil water? Scientists have found that plants evaporate great quantities of water. They evaporate much more water than the surface of the soil Thus the best way to preserve soil water seems to be to remove all unnecessary plants. Cultivation is important in prevning loss of soil water because it removes weeds which take water from the soil.

Sometimes a straw mulch is spread about a plant to help conserve the moisture m the soil. A mulch is loose material placed in the soil. It preserves soil water by shading the soil from the sun's rays. In this way it reduces the amount of water evaporated directly from the soil. More important, the mulch covers the ground so thoroughly that weeds are unable



Ewing Gallowey

Courtesy J. J. Case Co.

Cultivating the Soil.—The home gardener on the left is cultivating the soil of his small corn field. The hand cultivator he uses is small and simple, but it serves to stir the soil and cut out weeds. At the right a great field of corn is cultivated with a tractor. This piece of machinery saves time by cultivating two rows at once.

to get started. Mulching papers or peat moss as well as straw may be used for a mulch.

Working the soil by spading, hoeing, and raking serves also to mix air with the soil. Bacteria at work in the soil need the oxygen of the air. The mixing of the top soil with air prevents the soil from becoming *sour* or *acid*. It also removes weeds, and this we know is most important in conserving the soil water.

Hoeing is necessary also to heap the soil about the roots of plants as in hilling potatoes and corn. This helps to hold the plants in place and to keep the light from the roots. If potatoes, which are really parts of the stem, are left uncovered in sunshine, they turn green and taste sweet.

In spite of efforts to conserve soil water, much of it is lost by evaporation from the soil and from the leaves of crops. Hence, unless the water table is near the surface of the soil, frequent rains or artificial watering are necessary. *Irrigation*, used to supply water in dry regions, has made the Central Valley of California one of the richest agricultural areas in the world.

How Should the Garden Be Cared For?

A CONTINUING JOB — Making a garden plan, preparing the soil, and planting the seed are the first steps in gardening. All the work involved in doing these will be wasted unless the garden is cared for during the growing season. One of the most important jobs of the gardener or the farmer is cultivating the soil.

WHY CULTIVATE THE SOLL?—Anyone who lives on a farm or just has a city garden knows that cultivation helps keep the soil from drying out. What does cultivation do to preserve the soil water?

For years it was thought that the soil water rose to the surface through tiny tube-like spaces in the soil called *capillaria*. Once at the surface of the soil, it exaporated. The rise of the water through the spaces in the soil was explained as capillary action—a sort of pumping action that causes water to rise in fine hair-like tubes. It was believed that cultivation broke up the capillary tubes and thus prevented the soil water from risang.

This explanation is probably still true where the water table is within ten feet from the surface. But soil water experiments indicate that when the water table is below ten feet from the surface, very little if any water rises by capillary action.

How then does cultivation preserve soil water? Scientists have found that plants evaporate great quantities of water. They evaporate much more water than the surface of the soil. Thus the best way to preserve soil water seems to be to remove all unnecessary plants. Cultivation is important in pretrained loss of soil water because it removes weeds which take water from the soil.

Sometimes a straw mulch is spread about a plant to help conserve the moisture in the soil. A mulch is loose material placed in the soil. It preserves soil water by shading the soil from the sun's rays. In this way it reduces the amount of water evaporated directly from the soil. More important, the mulch covers the ground so thoroughly that weeds are unable



Ewing Galloway

Courtery J. J. Case Co.

Cultivating the Soil.—The home gardener on the left is cultivating the soil of his small corn field. The hand cultivator he uses is small and simple, but it serves to stir the soil and cut out weeds. At the right a great field of corn is cultivated with a tractor. This piece of machinery saves time by cultivating two rows at once.

to get started. Mulching papers or peat moss as well as straw may be used for a mulch.

Working the soil by spading, hoeing, and raking serves also to mix air with the soil. Bacteria at work in the soil need the oxygen of the air. The mixing of the top soil with air prevents the soil from becoming *sour* or *acid*. It also removes weeds, and this we know is most important in conserving the soil water.

Hoeing is necessary also to heap the soil about the roots of plants as in hilling potatoes and corn. This helps to hold the plants in place and to keep the light from the roots. If potatoes, which are really parts of the stem, are left uncovered in sunshine, they turn green and taste sweet.

In spite of efforts to conserve soil water, much of it is lost by evaporation from the soil and from the leaves of crops. Hence, unless the water table is near the surface of the soil, frequent rains or artificial watering are necessary. *Irrigation*, used to supply water in dry regions, has made the Central Valley of California one of the richest agricultural areas in the world. In locations where irrigation is impossible, the farmer must combat a long drought by cultivating. This prevents weeds from using the little water remaining in the soil.

As we learned earlier, under certain conditions rain may be "made" by seeding clouds. Tiny bits of dry ice or other chemicals have been used as particles for moisture to condense on. Whether rainmaking will become a practical means of supplying water for farming is still a question. (See pictures on page 511.)

The home gardener who can water during a drought is more fortunate. He should water infrequently, but for long periods at a time This allows the water to sink deep into the soil. Even so, the plot should be kept free from weeds in order to save the moisture in the soil.

ROTATION OF FARM AND GARDEN CROPS.—Every plant takes certain numerals from the soil, such as phosphorus, calcium, and nutrogen compounds. Some plants require large amounts of nutrogen compounds. They leave the soil "poor" in nitrogen compounds. In the same way, other plants take large amounts of certain minerals. It is a good plan, therefore, not to plant the same crop year after year. By changing the crops, the soil is given a chance to build up its supply of minerals naturally. This plan of changing crops is called *corp rotation*.

With farm crops, a three-year or four-year rotation is common In the south, a cotton crop may be followed by oats and then by corn In the north, root crops, cabbages, and corn may be followed by oats, barley, or wheat. With the wheat may be sown tumothy and clover for cropping the following season. Or the wheat may be followed by alfalfa The exact rotation depends on whether the farm is a dairy farm or a grain farm.

Rotation of crops gives the soil a chance to recover minerals taken from it by the crops. Also, insects and diseases associated with one crop are likely to disappear while other crops are being raised. Of course, intensive farming as practiced in some parts of the United States does not use crop rotation. In such cases, a chemical analysis of the soil is made. The proper plant foods and minerals are added in correct amounts. Some crops require slightly acid soil, others neutral or alkalme soils. Certain plant diseases thrive in acid soils and not in neutral or alkalme soils. So farming becomes a science of soils and plants

432 FARM AND GARDEN

s



Fat Cattle.—In planning the rotation of farm crops, feed for the cattle must not be forgotten. The herd on this dairy farm is kneedeep in a sweet clover pasture. On dairy farms clover serves a double purpose. It helps enrich the soil and also supplies food for the farm animals.

Garden crops also should be rotated to some extent. However, soil deficiencies can be made up on small plots with special fertilizers. You should consult special books on gardening for details on this problem. In general, *leafy* plants should follow *root* plants. *Shallow root* plants should follow *deep root* growers.

NITROGEN-ADDING PLANTS.—Most crops take large quantities of nitrogen compounds from the soil. These compounds must be replaced or the soil grows very poor crops. You know that commercial fertilizers or farm manure may be used to supply nitrogen compounds. Fortunately, there are some plants which add nitrogen compounds to the soil on which they are grown.

Plants like clover, alfalfa, peanuts, and others contain bacteria in little swellings on their roots. These bacteria take nitrogen from the air and combine it with soil materials to make In locations where **urngation** is impossible, the farmer must combat a long drought by cultivating This prevents weeds from using the little water remaining in the soil.

As we learned earlier, under certain conditions rain may be "made" by seeding clouds Tiny bits of dry ice or other chemicals have been used as particles for moisture to condense on. Whether rainmaking will become a practical means of supplying water for farming is still a question. (See pictures on page 511.)

The home gardener who can water during a drought is more fortunate He should water infrequently, but for long periods at a time This allows the water to sink deep into the soil. Even so, the plot should be kept free from weeds in order to save the moisture au the soil.

ROTATION OF FARM AND GARDEN CROPS.—Every plant takes cortain numerals from the soil, such as phosphorus, calcium, and nitrogen compounds. Some plants require large amounts of nitrogen compounds. They leave the soil "poor" in nitrogen compounds. In the same way, other plants take large amounts of certain minerals. It is a good plan, therefore, not to plant the same erop year after year. By changing the erops, the soil is given a chance to build up its supply of minerals naturally. This plan of changing croops is called *erop rotation*.

With farm crops, a three-year or four-year rotation is common In the south, a cotton crop may be followed by oats and then by corn In the north, root crops, cabbages, and corn may be followed by oats, barley, or wheat. With the wheat may be sown timothy and clover for cropping the following season. Or the wheat may be followed by alfalfa. The exact rotation depends on whether the farm is a dairy form or a grain farm

Rotation of crops gives the soit a chance to recover minerals taken from it by the crops Also, insects and diseases associated with one crop are likely to disappear while other crops are being raised. Of course, intensive farming as practiced in some parts of the United States does not use crop rotation. In such cases, a chemical analysis of the soil is made. The proper plant fools and minerals are added in correct amounts. Some crops require slightly acid soil, others neutral or alkaline soils. Certian plant diseases thrave in acid soils and not in neutral or alkaline soils. So farming becomes a science of soils and plants:

432 FARM AND GARDEN

÷.


Fat Cattle.—In planning the rotatian of farm crops, feed far the cattle must not be forgotten. The herd an this dairy farm is kneedeep in a sweet clover pasture. On dairy farms claver serves a double purpase. It helps enrich the soil and alsa supplies food for the farm animals.

Garden crops also should be rotated to some extent. However, soil deficiencies can be made up on small plots with special fertilizers. You should consult special books on gardening for details on this problem. In general, *leafy* plants should follow *root* plants. *Shallow root* plants should follow *deep root* growers.

NITROGEN-ADDING PLANTS.—Most crops take large quantities of nitrogen compounds from the soil. These compounds must be replaced or the soil grows very poor crops. You know that commercial fertilizers or farm manure may be used to supply nitrogen compounds. Fortunately, there are some plants which add nitrogen compounds to the soil on which they are grown.

Plants like clover, alfalfa, peanuts, and others contain bacteria in little swellings on their roots. These bacteria take nitrogen from the air and combine it with soil materials to make



C & Army A & F Photo

Chemical Gardening—It is not always necessary to have soil to grow crops. Modern science has developed a method of railing plants with specially-treated woter instead of soil. The plants are set in sand, gravel, or even enders. Water, to which has been added minerals and other plant foods, is then supplied. Chemical gardening increases the yield and produces better plants. It is used extensively in greenhouses, but is too expensive for field crops, such as corn.

This picture illustrates a staking recent use of chemical gardening During Warld War II, the new method solved the problem of supplying our armed forces, Jatonead on barren islands, will green vegetables. The picture above shows one of these army chemical vegetable bads on Ascension Island in the South Atlantic. The netting above the bads provides shade for the tender, young plants-

nitrogen compounds Such plants actually add nitrogen to the soll when they are plowed under They leave the soil better than they found it. Farmers, therefore, usually have a nitrogenadding plant in their crop rotation plan Of course, such a crop as alialia or clover may be grown in the same field for several years.

THINKING THINGS OVER.-The whole problem of growing plants involves a great deal of science. Therefore it is to be

expected that successful gardening and farming will usually result from understanding and applying scientific principles. So important are these principles, that many colleges of agriculture have been established. Here young men and women train for scientific farming.

As we think back over this topic we realize the importance of soil. We realize that there is much involved in being a successful farmer or gardener. We realize the importance of knowing the properties of soil. We know about the importance of cultivation as a means of conserving soil water. We know the importance of good seed free from disease. We know the importance of crop rotation and nitrogen-adding plants. Do we remember all these points? If not, now is the time to turn back and make sure.

KEY WORDS

annuals	evaporation 🦳	mulching
budding =	fertilizer	node
bulbs —	flats	organic matter
capillary action	germinate	perennials —
cold frame	grafting	propagation
cotyledon	hotbed	seeds
crop rotation	humus	soil
cutting	irrigation 🧫	transplanting

Key Statements

1. Soil for successful gardening must be fertilized, supplied with humus, and tilled.

2. A garden, to be successful, must be well planned before it is planted.

3. Annuals produce seed the first year, after which they die. Perennials produce seeds each year for many years before dying.

4. Only seeds proved to be good by testing are worth planting.

5. A seed contains food material to support the growth of a new plant until the plant possesses roots and leaves to enable it to become self-supporting.

6. Hotbeds are heated by decomposing manure or by electric coils. The glass helps to retain the heat both from decomposition and from the sun.

7. A cold frame is kept warmer than outside air by the glass retaining the heat from the sun. 8 Plants of the tanaly of clover, alfalfa, peas, and peanuts have mtrogen-fixing bacteria on their roots. When plowed under, these plants add mitrates to the soil.

9 Rotation of crops is necessary to help eliminate plant diseases and to conserve fertility of the soil

10. Garden tools will last longer and be more efficient in use if they are always put away clean

11 Water is conserved in the soil by cultivation and mulching. This prevents the growth of weeds which rob the soil of water

12 Irrigation is practiced where rain is infrequent during the growing season

13 For early plaoting, seeds may be started in hoxes in the house or in hotbeds or cold frames.

14 Seeds should be planted out of doors only when the soil bas become warm enough to insure germination.

15 Certain plasts may be propagated by cuttings and others by budding or grafting. Those with bulbous roots may be propagated by separating the bulbs

16 Trees and shrubs may be tran-planted successfully io spring or fall

THOUGHT QUESTIONS

1 What is the reason for harrowing a field twice before planting?

2 Why may a field of alfalfa be cropped for several years without harm to the soil?

3 Of what value is grafting?

4 How does cultivation help preserve soil moisture?

5 Why will seeds grow better in finely worked soil?

6 Why are a garden plan aod a planting calendar desirable?

7. Why are tested seeds preferable to ordinary seeds?

8 Accoust for the heat formed by the manure in a hotbed

9 Why must hotbeds and cold frames be ventilated?

10 In rotation of crops, why is it not desirable to follow one crop with plants of the same family?

11 Why will a potato in a hill turn green if exposed to sunlight?

12 Why is it possible to start seeds indoors before it is safe to plant them outdoors?

13 What conditions are required for successful transplanting?

PROJECTS FOR YOUR SCIENCE DISCOVERY BOOK

1. Write a story about the local soil in your community, telling how it was formed and from where it came.

2. Make labeled drawings of a seed of a bean or pea.

3. Make a trip to a near-by truck or flower garden and report the facts you discover about its garden plans and crops.

4. Record the planting date, date of appearance of seedlings, and other information of interest in connection with the seeds planted in the flats in your schoolroom.

5. Keep a record of your outdoor planting experiments.

6. Learn to recognize "stands" of wheat, oats, rye, barley, and buckwheat.

7. Find out what is meant by certified seed.

8. In your garden, keep a part of one row well worked, and neglect a similar part for two weeks. Compare the two rows as to moisture retained, growth of plants, and growth of weeds.

9. Try placing black building paper between some of the rows of your garden. What happens?

10. Start corn, wheat, and bean seedlings in the laboratory, and then transfer them to water solutions (see the Appendix) containing in one case all needed minerals, and in the other case no nitrogen, phosphorus, or calcium.

11. Organize a garden club and plan for landscaping a yard belonging to some one of your homes.

12. Try making green wood-cuttings.

13. With permission, try making a graft.

14. Insert blotting paper around the inside of a water tumbler. Keep about an inch of water in the bottom. Scatter a few radish seeds between the paper and the glass. Record your observations with a series of drawings. S Plants of the family of clover, alfalfa, pens, and peanuts have introgen-fixing bacteria on their roots. When plowed under, these plants add intrafes to the soil

9 Rotation of crops is necessary in help eliminate plant diseases and to conserve fertility of the soil

10 Garden tools will last longer and be more efficient in use if they are always put away clean

11 Water is conserved in the soil by cultivation and mulching This prevents the growth of weeds which rob the soil of water.

12 Irrigation is practiced where rain is infrequent during the growing season

13 For early planting, seeds may be started in boxes in the house or in hotbeds or cold frames,

14 Seeds should be planted out of doors only when the soil has become warm enough to insure germination

15 Certain plants may be propagated by cuttings and others by budding or grafting. Those with bulbous roots may be propagated by separating the bulbs

16. Trees and shrubs may be transplanted successfully in spring or fall

THOUGHT QUESTIONS

1 What is the reason for harrowing a field twice before planting?

2 Why may a field of alfalia be cropped for several years without harm to the soil?

3 Of what value is grafting?

4 How does cultivation help preserve soil moisture?

5. Why will seeds grow better in finely worked soil?

6 Why are a garden plan and a planting calendar desirable?

7 Why are tested seeds preferable to ordinary seeds?

8 Account for the heat formed by the manure in a hotbed

9. Why must hotbeds and cold frames be ventilated?

10 In rotation of erops, why is it not desirable to follow one crop with plants of the same family?

11. Why will a potato in a hill turn green if exposed to sunlight?

12. Why is it possible to start seeds indoors before it is safe to plant them outdoors?

13. What conditions are required for successful transplanting?

PROJECTS FOR YOUR SCIENCE DISCOVERY BOOK

1. Write a story about the local soil in your community, telling how it was formed and from where it came.

2. Make labeled drawings of a seed of a bean or pea.

3. Make a trip to a near-by truck or flower garden and report the facts you discover about its garden plans and crops.

4. Record the planting date, date of appearance of seedlings, and other information of interest in connection with the seeds planted in the flats in your schoolroom.

5. Keep a record of your outdoor planting experiments.

6. Learn to recognize "stands" of wheat, oats, rye, barley, and buckwheat.

7. Find out what is meant by certified seed.

8. In your garden, keep a part of one row well worked, and neglect a similar part for two weeks. Compare the two rows as to moisture retained, growth of plants, and growth of weeds.

9. Try placing black building paper between some of the rows of your garden. What happens?

10. Start eorn, wheat, and bean seedlings in the laboratory, and then transfer them to water solutions (see the Appendix) containing in one ease all needed minerals, and in the other case no nitrogen, phosphorus, or ealeium.

11. Organize a garden club and plan for landscaping a yard belonging to some one of your homes.

12. Try making green wood-cuttings.

13. With permission, try making a graft.

14. Insert blotting paper around the inside of a water tumbler. Keep about an inch of water in the bottom. Scatter a few radish seeds between the paper and the glass. Record your observations with a series of drawings.



Friend or Enemy?-The common crow is generally disliked, for he eats seeds, sprawing corn, helpful insects, young chickens, and eggs. On the other hand crows also destroy many insect pesis-

TOPIC XV

Farm and Garden Friends and Enemies

DO YOU KNOW-

1. What 2,4-D and DDT are?

2. How many lives an insect has?

3. How to protect your garden plants against diseases?

4. The common garden insect enemies in your region?

5. What makes a weed a weed?

6. Why birds should be protected?

GENERAL PROBLEM 1

How Can Weeds Be Controlled?

WHAT ARE WEEDS?—Is the dandelion a common weed where you live? Are *burdock* and *mustard* weeds in your locality? Or is *geranium* a weed in your neighborhood? Yes, it may surprise you to learn that the geranium is a weed in some places. In many parts of the country geraniums are cared for as garden flowers. Yet in parts of California wild geranium grows as a weed. What is a weed? How can the same kind of plant be a weed in some places and not a weed in other places?

We know that all plants need sunlight, water, and soil minerals. Any plant that grows and spreads rapidly and takes these things from more desirable plants is a weed. Thus we try to get rid of weeds so that our garden plants will have a better chance to grow.

FARM AND GARDEN FRIENDS AND ENEMIES 439

WEED CONTROL — Most weeds are hardy plants. They are not harmed by cold that kills other plants. Some can get along with very little mosture. Some have long tough roots. Most weeds produce many, many seeds. And their seeds germinate even under unfavorable conditions. For these reasons, weeds are difficult to control.

For example, the dandelson has a very tough root that is difficult to kill The stem can be broken off again and again and still new stems will grow. The root can be broken and still it will survive The jurce of the dandelion is bitter. Therefore annuals will not cat the leaves. The flower head of the dandelion is really many single flowers bunched together. Hence there are many seeds from each flower head. When the seeds ripen they are equipped with parachutes so that they are spread widely by the wind. The seeds are hardy. If given any chance they will begin to grow.

FIELD RESEARCH

Collect some dandelion seeds and examine them to discover how the seed can be carried by the wind. Examine them with a magnifying glass, if you have one, to discover their shape and structure

The common *mustard plant* with its small, yellow flower produces a large number of tiny seeds The seeds will survive the hardships of cold, wet, and dry spells that would harm other seeds The weed is best controlled by cutting down the plants before the seeds ripen.

Pigweed and ragweed also develop many hardy seeds and must be controlled by keeping them cut down before the seeds develop.

FIELD RESEARCH

Collect specimens of two or more common weeds that have seeds nearly ripe Take them to school and count the number of seeds contained in each plant.

Toadflax, burdock, milkweed, wild carrot, and mullein (or mullen) are weeds that cause much damage The crop losses from



L. W. Brownell

Keep Off!—Poison ivy (above) and poison oak are so common in the United States that attempts to destroy them have not been too successful. It is dangerous even to stand too close to a fire of poison ivy. The smoke may contain enough oil to produce skin irritation.

weeds alone are estimated to total many millions of dollars every year. Nor is this the only trouble weeds cause. Some weeds, like *ragweed*, distribute pollen that cause some people trouble in breathing. This is called *hayfever*. Other weeds, like *poison ivy*, *poison oak*, and *poison sumac*, are poisonous to the skin. These weeds should be completely destroyed by chemical sprays now available. One such chemical is sold under the name of *ammate*.

How, then, can we control these hardy robbers among the plants? One way is to cut them down before they go to seed. This will not always work because often the weed sends up another stem which blossoms. Another way is to pull them out by the roots. This is the common way in gardens. It may be



Dusting the Crap —A farmer can never rest in his battle against the insect enemies Here a coltan crop is being dusted by plane for ball weevil control. The airplane is a valuable help in this battle, for it can cover much tentory quickly and efficiently.

done with a hoe, a cultivator, or by hand weeding Another way of fighting weeds is to keep the soil well fortilized. Most weeds can hve on less plant food than our garden plants. So they tend to appear in poor soil When there is plenty of plant food available, the garden plants may grow fast enough to crowd out the weeds. This is particularly true of weeds in a lawn.

FIELD RESEARCH

Start a collection of all the different weed seeds you can find At the same time find out how each seed is scattered or distributed.

The most recent way of fighting weeds 15 by use of chemical sprays. One of the most common 18 known as 2,4-D. It kills broad-leaf plants. It does not affect narrow-leaf plants, such as grains, grasses, onnons, or likes. Therefore 2,4-D is fre-

quently used on lawns. It removes the broad-leaf weeds, but does not harm the narrow-leaf grass.

Learn to identify the poisonous kinds of weeds that occur in your locality. Learn what to do if you or someone else is accidentally poisoned by any one of them. If you accidentally touch a poison plant like poison ivy, wash as soon as possible with plenty of soapsuds and water. Then see your doctor. If you walk through poison ivy, the poison may get on your shoes and stockings, and from them onto your hands. Watch-out for poison ivy whenever you walk in the woods or wooded places. Look for the *sign of three leaves*. See that such weeds are destroyed in your community. Commercial sprays are now available which kill the plants.

GENERAL PROBLEM 2

How Do Insects Harm the Garden?

INSECT PESTS OF THE GARDEN.—If insects could talk, it is likely that their slogan would be "War to the bitter end!" It is true that man's task of conquering and controlling the

Fighting on Land.—Here is still another method of continuing the struggle against the insect foe. This power duster sprays in many directions at once. Here it is being used in a citrus fruit grove to control the citrus rust mite.

U. S. Department of Agriculture



The Life Stary of a Butterfly—These six pictures show vorious stages in the life of a swallowial butterfly. In the first picture on the left, the female swallowial is sclecting a leaf on which to lay her egg. The second picture is a close-up of the egg, which is actually the use of a pin head. The third picture shows a caterpillar ten days after it has hatched from the egg. It is in this stage that damage to crops is done. The caterpillars cal tremendous amounts of leaves.

vast hordes of destructive msects is gigantic. Some scientists wonder what the outcome will be. Certain it is that to win the battle with the insects will require your cooperation and that of everyone else. With the aid of science and the natural enemies of harmful insects, there is hope. Many years ago it was said that the "damage wrought by insects every year nullifies the labor of a million men". That statement is just as true today.

You have learned something of the rapid increase of flies, if they are not controlled. With many insects the rate of increase is much greater than that of the fiy. While there are many different kinds and varieties of inecets, your problem as a gardener will have to do with only a small number, some of them harmful and some useful. Certain insects attack the routs of young plants. Others suck the juice from the plant. Still other inecets eat the leaves. You must know how insects here if you expect to control them.

ROOT, STEM, AND LEAF EATERS -- One variety of insects is known as root maggets. They attack the roots of young turnips, radishes, cabbages, and onions.

[&]quot;The Greatest War of All Time Man Against the Insect," by M. K. Wisenhard, in The American Magazine, March, 1923,

⁴⁴⁴ FARM AND GARDEN



H. B. Gray

End of the Story.—As the caterpillar eats, it grows larger and sheds its skin several times. Just before the last shedding, the caterpillar attaches itself to a leaf or stem by a knot of silk (first picture on left). Now it sheds its skin for the last time and becomes covered with a hard case. This is the pupa stage (second picture). The caterpillar eats nothing during this stage, but gradually changes into a butterfly. Finally, the hard case opens, and the butterfly wiggles out and flutters away.

The winged female (fly stage) lives through the winter and deposits her eggs in the soil very early in the spring. In a few days larvae hatch from the eggs. They begin at once to eat any tender roots that are available. At the age of three to four weeks, a larva changes into the pupa form, that is, it forms a case about itself. The pupa rests for two weeks. During its resting period the larva changes into the winged form and breaks from its case. The winged female deposits her eggs, and so a generation is completed. Each new batch of larvae feeds largely on roots of plants. Several generations of root maggots are produced each season and they are able, therefore, to do much damage.

The *cutworm* attacks plant stems, cutting off the stems of young tomato plants near the ground. A paper collar on each stem keeps the cutworms away from the plants.

The life history of the cutworm is similar to that of the root maggot. The cutworm in the winged stage has two pairs of wings. It is a moth, and flies usually at twilight or night. For control, collect and destroy the larvae or use poisoned bait in the soil before planting seeds.



A Swarm of Locusts — From Bible times up to the present, locusts have been among the farmer's deadliest enemies. This striking picture was taken in Africa. However, dimost all farm land on the earth, except in cold countner, has been visited by locusts. The Insects travel in huge swarms and when they descend an a field, they cat every areas table and leaf before them

Some common leaf-esting insects are the colling moth (appleworm), leaf rollers, gipsy moth, browntail moth, and the white marked tusseck moth. It is the larva (or caterpillar) stage which does the damage. Various tent caterpillars are destructive larvae that change into moths.

Insects which eat stems and leaves are called "biling" insects (See pictures on page 469.) They may be controlled by porons sprayed or dusted on the plants. *Rolenous* and *arsenic* of lead are often used. As the larva eats the plant, it eats the poison. Rolenome is not harmful to people. Arsenic of lead's deadly poison. (See Appendix for various sprays and dusts)

ANNUMERATION FIELD RESEARCH

Select a moth and study its life history, damage it does, methods of control. (See Observers' Club Calendar for suggestions.)

BEETLES.—There are many varieties of beetles. Their life history is much like that of other insects. The egg hatches into a larva which is usually called a *grub*. Then comes the pupa or resting stage. Finally the adult insect appears with its hardened, armor-like wing covers.



The Pototo Beetle from Egg to Adult.—Find the four stoges of the beetle pictured here. At which stoge does this insect do most damoge to the plont? How does this horm the pototoes? How does the farmer protect his pototo plonts from the beetles?

Some beetles, like the potato beetle, feed on plant tissues and some feed on other insects. You can protect your potato patch from the potato beetle by hand-picking the beetles or by spraying the leaves with poison.¹ Study the diagram of the life history of the potato beetle above.

¹See Appendix.



L W Francis

Grop Stealers.—On the left are six Japanese beetles. On the right is a carn borer. This inset attacks not only our carn arcsp, but diso celery, pototose, and tomatose. One method of fighting the carn barer is to remove the stubble after the carn harvest. This is because the young of the carn barer five on the stubble during the winter. Another method is to introduce other insets whose young feed on the carn borer.

LIBRARY RESEARCH

Make a study of the Japanese beetle. Learn how it was introduced into this country, and when. How dod it spread? What damage does it cause? How may it be controlled?

You will want to study pictures of beetles in your reference books to make sure you can distinguish those that do harm from those which are belpful, like the lady-bird beetles.

JUTCE SUCKERS. — A mo-quito does not "hite." It punches a little hole in your skin and sucks blood through a tube-like month. Many other insects feed upon plants much in the same way. These *juice suckers* have mouths adapted for sticking into the leaves and tender stems of plants and sucking the *juices*. They often kill plants by taking so much juices.



The Work of Caterpillars.—Millions of tent caterpillars swept through this forest area in Michigan. The caterpillars completely stripped the trees of their leaves.

Plant lice or aphids are a familiar example of sucking insects. The common squash bug and the apple red bug are other examples. They are true bugs. Their life history is similar to that of a butterfly and moth.

There are many kinds of plant lice. Their eggs, laid in the fall, last over winter. In the early spring they hatch out into lice. They mature in a week or ten days. Many of the lice from the winter eggs are females which lay more eggs. There are as many as three or four generations in a season. The eggs laid in the fall carry the race over the winter months.

Juice suckers must be controlled by "contact" poisons, which must touch the insect to kill it. Nicotine, pyrethrum, and DDT are common garden contact poisons.



Mexican Bean Bestler.—This insect is a kind of ladyburg, but a harmful instead of helpful. These beefles and their young eat the leaves of such beans as buth and pole beans, lima beans, and kidney beans. When they cannot get beans, the beefles eat compeas, syabeans, weet dover, and olfolfa.

GENERAL FROBLEM 3

How Does Nature Help Control Harmful Insects?

HELFTUL INSECTS.—It is fortunate for the farmer and gardener that nature helps control the harmful insects. Other insects, toads, snakes, and birds all destroy many thousands of insects each year. The life history of useful insects is similar to that of the enemy insects. Only their lahits or customs differ. Many of the enemy insects are regularians, as, for example, the potato beetle. Insects that help you in your war upon harmful insects are *carnivoraus*. They proy upon other insects at one stage or another of their life history. Usually they make their attack on the vegetarians. The *ladiybit beetle*, our familiar friend, the ladybug, eats countles numbers of plant lice. There are more than 2000 species of these beetles.

All but a few of them feed on small insects or on the eggs of insects. They are usually of a bright color with dark spots on the wing covers, or dark-colored with bright spots. They have biting mouth parts.

The *praying mantis* is another helpful insect. His longjointed front legs have claws on the end with which he captures unwary insects.

MINIMUM FIELD RESEARCH

Fix the appearance of a praying mantis in your mind by studying the picture. Then try to find one in your yard. It is colored green or brown for protection, so you will need to look carefully. You are most likely to find it in the early fall. If you find one, capture it and place it with grass and twigs in a glass with a cloth cover. Catch a fly and put it alive with the mantis. Watch the actions of the mantis to find out how it moves, catches its prey, and how it eats.

A Garden Friend.—This close-up gives us a good view of the praying position of the praying mantis. The mantis has a tremendous appetite and is a friend to farmers because it eats many harmful insects. In fact, the European mantis is being purposely brought to this country to prey on enemy insects.





Courses Henry 2 1 100

A Deadly Marksman.—The toad is a fine gorden friend. He saves the farmer many dollars a year because of the cutwoms he calls. Taads live in fields and gordens, under porches and by roadsides. Taads ga aut to look for food when the weather is wet and at dawn or dusk. The toad's food consists of cutworms, moths, and small.

The ichneumon (ic-nu mon) fly is among the most important friends of the gardener. There are many kinds of ichneumon flies. One way some attack other insects is to lay their eggs

A Valuable Parasite,—A parasite is a plant or animal which feeds and lives an another plant ar animal. Insects that live as parasites on ather insects are often valuable to the gardener. This picture shows the destructive tomata worm being preyed upon by ather insects.





Unlucky Caterpillar.—An insect the toad wants to eat has little chance against his swift tongue. Its mavement is so quick that it can be recorded anly with a high-speed camera. The toad's tongue is attached at the frant af his mauth, so that it can be easily thrust out. The tangue is also very sticky, thus making it more difficult far an insect to escape.

beneath the skin of their victims. When the eggs hatch, each larva bores its way into the body of the insect. Of course the victim soon dies.

Some ichneumon flies lay their eggs on the skin of the insects they attack. Others lay their eggs near the victim so that the larvae after hatching may find their way to their prey. Plants and animals that live upon the living tissue of other living animals are called *parasites*. Of course parasites always weaken or kill the animal that they live on.

PROTECTION FOR HELPFUL INSECTS.—If we are able to recognize our friends among the insects, we can leave them unmolested. They are able, for the most part, to take care of themselves. Places, however, are provided for the scientific breeding of certain much-needed insects, such as the ladybird



A Deadly Marksman — The tood is a fine garden friend. He saves the farmer many dollars a year because of the curvorms he esti-Toads live in fields and gardens, under porches and by raadside. Toads go aut to look for lood when the weather is wet and at dawn or dusk. The toad's food constitut of curvorms, maths, and smath.

The *ichneumon* (ic-nu mon) fly is among the most important friends of the gardener. There are many kinds of ichneumon flies. One way some attack other insects is to lay their eggs

A Valuable Parasite.—A parasite is a plant or animal which feadt and lives on another plant or animal. Inserts that live as parasite on other insects are often avaluable to the gardener. This player shows the destructive tomoto worm being preyed upon by other



Unlucky Caterpillar.—An insect the toad wants to eat has little chance against his swift tongue. Its movement is so quick that it can be recorded only with a high-speed camera. The toad's tongue is attached at the front of his mouth, so that it can be easily thrust out. The tongue is also very sticky, thus making it more difficult for an insect to escape.

beneath the skin of their victims. When the eggs hatch, each larva bores its way into the body of the insect. Of course the victim soon dies.

Some ichneumon flies lay their eggs on the skin of the insects they attack. Others lay their eggs near the victim so that the larvae after hatching may find their way to their prey. Plants and animals that live upon the living tissue of other living animals are called *parasites*. Of course parasites always weaken or kill the animal that they live on.

PROTECTION FOR HELPFUL INSECTS.—If we are able to recognize our friends among the insects, we can leave them unmolested. They are able, for the most part, to take care of themselves. Places, however, are provided for the scientific breeding of certain much-needed insects, such as the ladybird

FARM AND GARDEN FRIENDS AND ENEMIES

beetle. They can then be distributed to localities needing help in controlling harmful insects.

TOADS — Science has shown us the way to secure facts and to use the facts to draw conclusions. Do you believe that toads cause warts? The toad has a warty-looking skin, but no one ever "caught" warts hy handling toads. If you can find a toad in your garden, capture him and examine him closely. He will neither bite you nor give you warts. In fact he will rather enjoy the warmth of your hand.

The toad has a hightning-quick tongue with which he catches files and other insects. He is especially fond of large larvae or grubs that try to destroy the roots and leaves of your garden plants. He cats ants, spiders, potato bugs, aphids, beetle, and worms In a year a toad in your garden may cat 10,000 garden enemies. Toads sleep during the day and do most of their hunting at night. Study the pictures on pages 452 and 453.

Totals and frogs are cousins and have much the same manners and customs. The adult frog, however, prefers to live in and near the water, while the total is more adventurous. He travels long distances from the pond where he was once a little tadpole, hvng in the water. While a tadpole, he breathed by means of gulls much as a fish breathes. As a grown-up total he gulps in air and forces it into his lungs to get the oxygen. The adult total vs. land animal.

Very early in the spring the toads travel to a point to by and fertilize their eggs. The female toad lays from 4000 to 15,000 eggs in the water The male toad deposits sprin (lertilizing) cells over them. These find their way into the eggs, one sperm cell or each egg. Once inside the egg, the nucleus of the sperm cell units with the nucleus of the egg. The union of the two nuclei is called *fertilization*, and unless this takes place the eggs will not develop. By the end of about 12 days the eggs have developed into tadpoles. The tadpoles grow and gradually develop legs. Their tails disappear and they crawf out on land as toads. They have changed from water animals

The adult toad passes the winter in a hole in the ground or lake mud where it hibernates.

Since toads help to protect your garden by eating large 454 FARM AND GARDEN



Lynnood M. Cheer

A Garter Snake.—This snake, harmless to us, is about to gulp a tiny beetle. A wise gardener is pleased if he finds that there are a few garter snakes in his garden. It is fascinating to watch snakes feed, for they swallow their food whole.

numbers of insects, you should protect the toads. Leave their resting places undisturbed, and do not destroy their breeding places. Tell others what you have learned about toads, and enlist coöperation in protecting them.

Collect some toads' eggs in the early summer, and put them into an aquarium where you can watch them change out into tadpoles.

SNAKES.—Why is it that so many people are either afraid of snakes or at least dislike them so much? It is true that there are a few harmful snakes, but by far the most snakes are real helpers.

The rattlesnake is the most-talked-of poisonous snake. Even so, only a small proportion of people bitten by rattlers die if the bite is properly cared for. Rattlers usually do not attack people unless they are surprised or cornered. Of the many kinds of rattlers the diamond-backed is about the worst. These grow to an average length of about seven feet. Rattlers feed by day except when it is very hot. They eat great numbers of rats and nuce. In this way they are a real help to farmers.

Have you ever wondered about a rattlesnake's rattles' Lake some insects, snakes shed their skin when it becomes to small on account of their growth. The first skin the rattler sheds leaves a sort of knob on the end of its tail. As more skins are shed, little rangs or segments are left and held on by the knob. When the tail wiggles, these rings make a noise that warns one a rattler is near. The age of a rattler cannot be told by the number of rangs because a snake may shed its skin several turnes a year.

Some common non-poisonous snakes are the garter snake, kng snake, ribbon snake, gopher snake, and green snake If you have any of these where you live, you will be interested in studying them at first hand. You need not be afraid of them.

Perhaps the most common snake in the United States is the gatter snake. That is a good thing because the garter snake is very useful It eats grasshoppers and many other insects. It also cats tadpoles and small fish if it can get them. Larger snakes, hawks, and bitterns are the worst enemies of the garter snake.

If you can eatch a garter snake, put it in a glass box with gravel in the bottom and a dish of water. Find it a few earthworms every 5 or 6 days and you will soon have an interesting pet. You can handle it without any danger. Sometimes it may give off a disagreeable odor if frightened, but this does no harm

The garter snake mates in early spring and in the fall gives birth usually to 20 to 40 young snakes. Sometimes there may be 50 to 75 young.

You can recognize the garter snake by the colored stripes that run along its back. These are green and yellow or orange, and make a beautiful pattern against the darker green of the body.

Another very common little snake is the green snake. He is very hard to see against the leafy plants where he rests This little snake eats many spiders, grasshoppers, crickets, and smooth caterpillars. He does not appear to like the woolly ones. As as insect eater the green snake is most helpful



W. Brownell

Busy Burrower.—This earthworm is at the entrance to his burrow. Much worthwhile work in gardens and farms is done by eorthworms. They dig mony burrows, thus filling the soil with oir holes. This makes the soil more capoble af holding oir and moisture. Further, the castings of earthworms make the soil very fertile.

As a science student you should not let superstition or misbelief determine your thinking toward snakes. Learn the facts about them and then you will enjoy seeing them and want to protect them.

BIRDS.—No doubt you like birds better than snakes. That is to be expected, because most people like birds and say nice things about them. Then, too, they are probably more helpful to us. Let us see how the birds help us in our war on the insects.

Two common birds, the *phoebe* and the *kingbird*, make a specialty of darting after flying insects. Phoebe will tell you its name if you listen. The kingbird shows a white band across the end of his tail as he darts from the top of a tree to capture his prey in the air. Unfortunately, these birds do not always attack only harmful insects. They may eat some useful insects. However, on the whole they are helpful friends of the gardener.

Birds that catch insects as they fly about are called *fly-catchers*. Other flycatchers besides the phoebe and kingbird are the *pewee* and *crested flycatcher*. The flycatchers sit quietly as

if asleep Suddenly they dart out into the nir, to catch an unsuspecting insect, and then return to their perch.

WINTER FIELD RESEARCH -

Some day when msects are flying about, sit quietly in a convenient spot and watch for flycatchers. (Take your Field Research Notebook with you to record your observations at the moment.) Field glasses will help you to observe markings on the bards.

Note the ways of flying of the different birds, where they perch, their size and special markings, and the shape and size of their beaks. Listen for their calls

Record your observations and later try to identify each bird you see by reference to your notebook.

GRUB AND WORM EATERS.—Do you call anything that crawls a worn? Of course not! Snakes are not worms although there are some worms as large as small snakes. You have learned that the larvae of somo insects are called *grubs*. They are worm-like but are not true worms. The grubs will change to the adult stage, if they live. True worms, of which the earthworm is a good example, reproduce new worms. But they do not go through the changes which mark the life history of insects

Many birds are fond of both true worms and the worm-like grubs Such birds are especially helpful to the gardener and farmer in eating tons of insect grubs. This is helpful because it is in the larva stage that most insects do the most harm. Buebirds, robins, and orioles have great appetites for grubs and worms. The happy little chickadee, too, eats many larvae. In fact, in a day, one chickadee may eat several hundred grubs and hundreds of insect eggs. Watch the birds to find what they eat.

EATERS OF TAYL INSECTS.—Have you seen the quiet, prim little brown creeper hopping along the trunk or branches of a tree hunting for insects? Frequently he starts at the base of a tread hunts along up the trunk and limba, then darts to the base of another tree. Another little bird, the ushite-breasted nuthatch, often works head downward as he travels from branch to trunk. Both of these birds eat enormous numbers of lury insects and eggs that are overlooked by less observing birds.

458 FARM AND GARDEN

ί,



Allan D. Crutchshank

On the Alert.—These keen young kingfishers are probably watching their mother flying home with food for them. Of course, not all birds are seed and insect eaters. When these young kingfishers grow up, they will feed by catching small fish. Does the shape of their beaks suggest their manner of feeding?

Except for the *hummingbirds*, the *kinglets* are among the smallest of our birds. They like the insects that are found on evergreen trees such as the hemlock and spruce.

The warblers are not really good singers although they do sing very high notes. So high are their notes that some people's ears cannot hear them. There are many kinds of warblers, all small, beautiful birds. They keep very busy eating little insects and eggs. (See picture on page 468.)

The woodpeckers are all helpers too, especially the hairy woodpecker and the smaller downy woodpecker. These birds stay in many northern localities all winter and work day after day protecting our fruit and shade trees. SEED EATERS.—Have you planted your garden seeds or sown some grass seed only to have the birds come along and help themselves to a free banquet? Or have they caten the riperds seed before harvesting? It is true that birds cannot tell the difference between your garden seeds and weed seeds. However, without the feathered seed eaters it would be very difficult to keep weeds under control.

FIELD RESEARCH

With your field glass, your Field Research Notebook, an alert ery, and quack eve, go out to discover the seed eaters. Note their size, markings, where they hide when fightened, and the shape and eire of their besks. Is there any connection between these characteristics and what the hurds eat?

The goldanch is one of the lew birds that sing as they fly. Listen for his song

Birds eat hundreds of tons of weed seeds. The chipping paraox, song sparrow, thite-threaded sparrow, and the splithly little poldfach are members in high standing in the Weed Seed Eaters Bird Club. Do you know "chippy" by his cheery song Or the white-threated sparrow by his high-pitched call saying "Poor Sam Fea-body, pea-body," and do you know the goldfach which sings as he flies through the air? Wild lettuce, mullein, dandelion, ragweed, and thistle seeds are among his favorite food. How many other seed eaters do you know"

FIELD RESEARCH ----

Before and during meeting time the birds sing their best. It will pay you to st quictly near a wooded lake or stream or retreat in your park at mondown and listen to them. At sumrise, too, the bird concerts are in full swing.

Learn the songs and calls of your most common birds and then try to hear the hermit thrush, the wood thrush, the catbird, or the mockingbird.

The saucy little house wren is a delight to hear. What are the best singers where you live? Listen to them until you know their songs and calls, HOUSE SPARROW.—Probably all birds do some good, but a few have bad reputations. Some, like the *English sparrow* and the *starling*, drive away other more useful birds. Practically everyone in the United States knows the English sparrow, also called the *house sparrow*, because it stays around our houses. You have read how it was brought from Europe to help control some insects. But over here it didn't eat the insects as it did at home. It multiplied so rapidly that it became a nuisance. Even so the English sparrow does help in some parts of the country. Do not mistake the English sparrow for a relative of the valuable American sparrows.

FOUR BAD BIRDS.—The cooper's hawk, the sharp-shinned hawk, the duck hawk, and the goshawk are four bad birds. They rob other birds' nests of eggs or young and attack many smaller birds. The goshawk is seldom found south of the Canadian border during spring and summer. The duck hawk (page 468) is common only near large bodies of water. Only two—the cooper's hawk and the sharp-shinned hawk—need worry us very much.

HELPFUL HAWKS.—Other hawks are most helpful because they eat large numbers of mice and similar animals called rodents. Thus they prevent millions of dollars' damage to crops and fruit trees. Hunters on the farms often try to kill all hawks—referring to all of them as hen hawks. That should not be done. Most hawks are among the farmer's best bird friends. The beneficial hawks include the Harris hawk, the redtailed hawk, the marsh hawk, the sparrow hawk, and the redshouldered hawk.

The red-tailed hawk is sometimes called a chicken hawk because it may take a chicken once in a while. Its food consists mostly of mice, rats, squirrels, gophers, rabbits, shrews, grasshoppers, beetles, snakes, and frogs. Anyone who has had a fruit orchard badly damaged by mice and rabbits will welcome the red-tailed hawk.

The red-shouldered hawk is a real friend because it eats many mice and insects. The best hawk of all is the marsh hawk. Fortunately it is found in almost all parts of the United States and Canada. If you want still more facts about the hawks, it will pay you to read about them in some book on birds.



A Bird Lunch Counter.—Two cold and hungry chickadees are finding relief from the troubles of winter in this feeding station. If you study this feeding station carefully, you will probably be able to build ane. Yau can use wooden sides instead of glass. What is the purpose of the two large vanes?

BERD BATHS AND LUNCH COUNTERS —Do you like to have the burds near you? Of course you do; not only for their songs, but because you know their value. In the summer, builds must have water for drinking and bathing. If you provide bird baths, many birds will visit your yard and help in its upkeep. A bird bath should not be very deep. It should have sloping sides so that a bird may wade into deeper water gradually. It should be placed on a standard so the house eat cannot sneak up and capture an unsuspecting bird.

In parts of the country where winters are severe, birds that stay may have difficulty in securing enough food. To help these winter birds, you should build hunch counters and keep them supplied with food. Suct fastened to a tree will coax the woodpeckers, tree sparrows, junces, and nutlatelies. Sur-

flower seeds, hemp seeds, squash and pumpkin seeds, corn, oats, and nutmeats are also appetizing to birds. Seeds may be put into a little box from which the birds may get them. Or you may throw them on the ground kept free from snow.

For more details and directions for making bird lunch counters you will need to consult your Observers' Club Calendar and other books on birds. The Emergency Conservation Committee and the National Audubon Society will also give you information. It is important to remember to get your food out early so the birds will know where to find it.

MINININ FIELD RESEARCH MINININA FIELD RESEARCH

With the help of your science teacher, your bird club chairman, and your shop instructor, start a contest for building bird homes, bird baths, and winter lunch counters. Make an exhibit of everything constructed. In your Observer's Club Calendar you will find helpful suggestions.

BIRD PROTECTION.—Cats are valuable, particularly on farms. because of the rats and mice they catch. But in cities, cats often become one of the chief enemies of birds. If you have a house cat, keep him well fed and he will not be so likely to want to hunt for birds. Keep him shut in during the early morning and evening, when birds are most apt to be about. Tie a bell about his neck to warn the birds if he tries to waylay them.

Stray cats should not be allowed to roam. Have all stray and homeless cats taken away by the Humane Society or other authorities. Birds are valuable to your garden. You will want to do your share to protect them.

Get a copy of the bird and game laws and learn what birds are protected by law. Report violators to the proper authority in your locality.

National problems of bird protection are the work of the Fish and Wildlife Service of the Department of the Interior. Among others, two laws are of special importance in protecting our birds and other wild life. Currously enough, one of these acts, the Lacey Act, came about because of the English sparrow. You remember that this sparrow was brought to our country to help rid the country of certam mseet pests. However, the English sparrow is very hardy and soon became adapted to our country. It increased in numbers so rapidly that in some places it crowded out our native songhrids. The Lacey Act now makes it illegal to bring to this country any undegrable bird or animal. The act also serves to stop the hunting of protected birds and animals for market or for ther feathers.

The second important act is the Migratory Bird Treaty Act. A similar act for Canada is called the Migratory Birds Conervation Act. These acts help to protect all birds that migrate between Canada and the United States.

There are national and local organizations for the protection of wild hic. Wouldn't you like to learn about them, about their work, and how you can help?

GENERAL PROBLEM 4

How Can Plant Diseases Be Controlled?

SIGENESS AMONO PLANTS.-Like people, plants may have contagious discases that are caused by germs. Therefore, it is important to recognize some of the most common diseases and know how to treat them.

With plants as with ourselves, it is important to know the signs of sickness. It is equally important to know what to do to prevent other plants from catching the same discase if it is contagious. Certain kinds of bacteria cause a *blight* of the leaves and young stems of fruit trees such as quince, pear, and apple. Blight may often be recognized by leaves turning yellow when they should stay green. Germs or spores which cause the blight may enter a plant through the pores. Or they may enter through a branch which has been broken or cut. That is why tree surgeons always paint the fresh cut end of a limb of a tree The discase germs may infect other trees by contact or they may be carried by insects. Dutch Elm discase, for example, is spread by an insect which carnes germs from tree to tree.


Insect and Disease Control.—With this equipment one man is able to dust five rows of cotton at the same time.

Serious Damage.—The center section of this field of young wheat was not sprayed. The plants have become diseased and are dying. Bob Taylor





The own and sterilors shown in the drawing are like those usually found in science laboratories. However, if you do not have them, you can do the experiment proty well without them. The terillare is really a steam own. Instead of it you can use a regular own that can be kept at a temperature of about 2007, which is necess any to kill all the geners in the egar solution to start with. This same kitchen own can be equilated to about 212°F. For the experiment. A covered pan placed on a hot radiator will serve for the 99°-100°F. Heroneture.

WRAT TO USE.—Samples of stale moist bread; clean raw potatoes, 9 petri dishes and covers; agar solution, a refrigerator; an incubator (oven that can be kept at a temperature of 00° - 100° F); and a sterizer oven that can be kept at a temperature of 212° F.

WRAT TO DO.--I. Place a sample of the moist bread in each of three petri dishes Evpose each one to dirst and cover with a beaker. Label then "cold," "warm," and "hot," and place in ovens or refrigerstor accordingly

Cut three thin shees from the center of the potato and place one piece in each of three petri dishes. Cover each and place the covered

466 FARM AND GARDEN

dishes in the sterilizer and sterilize them for 20 minutes (heat them at 220° F. for 20 minutes).

Moisten your fingers and lightly rub a spot on each piece of potato, using a different finger for each slice.

Label the dishes respectively "cold," "warm," and "hot," and place along with the bread samples.

3. Place melted, sterile, nutrient agar in each of three sterile petri dishes with covers. Allow to cool and expose to the air in a dusty room, or allow a fly to track across the agar in each dish.

Label "cold," "warm," and "hot," and place the dishes with the others.

WHAT HAPPENS.—After 24 hours examine each material (by looking through the glass cover which should not be removed). Record your observations and continue the experiment another 24 hours.

Examine and compare your observations with those of the previous day.

The experiment with the bread may have to be carried on for several days.

CONCLUSION.—Under what temperature conditions do molds and bacteria grow best?

APPLICATION.—What may cause moist clothes to mold if they are rolled up and put away where it is warm?

Cabbage black rot is a bacterial disease which destroys cabbages and turnips.

Another class of plants, called *fungi*, cause even more plant disease than bacteria. One fungus with which you are familiar is the ordinary *bread mold*. Molds grow on the surface of fruits and on the leaves of many plants. Other examples of fungi are toadstools, puff-balls, and mushrooms. Experiment 39 shows the conditions under which molds develop.

Minimum FIELD RESEARCH

Place a piece of damp bread on a plate and cover it with a glass. Observe the formation of mold for three or four days. Examine some of the mold with a microscope.

Mold fungi occur in different colors. However, they do not contain any of the green coloring matter, called *chlorophyll*, of ordinary plants. Thus fungi cannot make starch as do the green

FARM AND GARDEN FRIENDS AND ENEMIES 467



Ferend & Hill

Yellow Warbler Family.—The yellow worbler is a friend Hungry mouths in her nest keep mother bird searching for insects.

Friend and Foe.—The flicker (left) lives on harmful insects from the bark of trees. The duck hawk (right) preys on friendly birds.





Biting Insects.—The caterpillars are rapidly stripping this plant of its green leaves. With the leaves gone, the plant will soon die.

A Marmon Cricket.—These pests are also biting insects. Both Marmon crickets and caterpillars may be contralled with proper sprays ar dusts.

Tom McHugh





Which is a Friend?—The soft, furry snowshoe rabbit does not look like an enemy. However, rabbits destroy many yaung trees by gnawing their tender bark. On the ather hand, the gatter snake is a real finand. How is he helpful ta the farmer and gardener?





Beautiful but Dangerous.—Each milkweed pod (left) produces hundreds of seeds which the breeze carries far and wide. The golden mustard plant (right) spreads so fast it chokes out crops.

Sneeze Plant.—Ragweed pollen causes hay fever in many persons. Why does the first killing frost bring relief to hay-fever sufferers? Edward A. Hill



of the pollen unites with the ovules is called fertilization. In a similar way the sperm from the male frog unites with the frog's eggs to fertilize them. Unless the ovules are fertilized, they will not develop into seeds that can grow new plants. Pollination and fertilization, therefore, are two very important processes for the production of seeds. Anything that helps or hunders these processes is of vital importance to the gardener.

----- FIELD RESEARCH

If you have a microscope at home, or one at school which you are allowed to use, examine pollen from two or three different kinds of fourers Discover whether all potten is alike in shape, size, and color.

INSECTS HELP POLLINATION.—A few flowers are so arranged that the pollen of their stamens is likely to fall onto their own pistls. Such pollutation is called self-pollination. However, in some flowers the stamens may be missing, or the pistil may be missing. Or the flower may be arranged in such a way that the pollen cannot fall on the pistil of the same flower. Sometimes the ovules and pollen in the same flower do not ripen at the same time. Pollen from one flower is then necessary to fertilize the ovules of the other. For these reasons the insects and birds are needed to help the process of pollination. The drawing on the next page shows a bee helping to pollnate a flower. Notice the parts of the flower the best ouches.

An unset, the bumblebee for example, may light on a flower to drink its nectar. Neetar is a sweet liquid many flowers form and store near the base of the pistils and stamens. While the bee drinks, some pollen rubs off the stamens onto his coat. Perhaps the next flower (of the same kind) which he visits needs this pollen. It may be rubbed from the bumblebee onto the pistl of the second flower. In this way the bumblebee and is n pollination. While the wind helps by blowing pollen from one flower to of pollen from one flower to another is called cross-pollination.

In many cases cross-pollination produces improvements over self-pollination. Of course, in some plants cross-pollination is absolutely necessary if seeds are to be formed. Cherry, plum,

474 FARM AND GARDEN



Pollination.—Pollination is the transfer of pollen from the stamens to the pistil. Explain how the bee helps in this process. With the help of this diagram name the parts of a cherry blossom. What is the purpose of each part?

and peach blossom's require cross-pollination by means of insects. Better crops of apples result from cross-pollination. The honeybee is the most important insect for this work. So fruit growers frequently raise honeybees in their orchards. Butterflies in the winged stage, moths, and flies are also helpful.

THINKING THINGS OVER.—Curious, isn't it, what makes one plant a weed and another a useful plant? In fact, the dandelion has a really beautiful flower. If only it didn't spread so easily, people would like it. But even the dandelion is not always a weed. If you look in a seed catalog, you may find dandelion seeds for sale and at a rather high price, too. Why is that? The reason is that many people like dandelion leaves to eat as greens. Some gardeners raise certain kinds for that use. When is a weed not a weed? When it serves some useful purpose. So it is with most plants. Some are more useful than others. The useful kinds are protected and nourished. The less useful are eliminated from the garden to make room for the better ones Science has shown us ways to control plants that interfere with the plants we wish to raise Science, too, has discovered ways to comhat sickness and disease among plants as it has among animals.

We have found that there are both useful and harmful insects although it is probable that all insects have some value. Our knowledge of the ilie history and habits of insects enables us to control them to some extent. Even so we need the help of toads, snakes, and birds in the war against the most harmful in-ects Knowing the habits of toads, snakes, and birds, as well as helpful insects, we can supply their needs and try to protect them. That is why laws have been made to prevent the slaughter of birds.

Of course the more we know about the way plants grow and reproduce, the better we can care for them. This knowledge also helps scientists to develop more useful varieties of plants

Has your study of this topic helped you to realize how important scientific knowledge is to the production of food for the world? Our next topic will explain how scientific knowledge is important to the care and preservation of crops.

KEY WORDS

anther	insects	pollination
beetles	lady bird beette	rage ood
bread mold	milder	ragneeu
chlorophyll coeron coding moth cross-pollmation cutworm fertilization flycatchers	mustard	root eaters seeds sepal sperm cell squash bug
	nectar	
	nucleus	
	ovary	
	ovules	
	parasite	stamen
	Pigweed	tadpole
lungi	pistil	warblers
hibernate ichneumon fly	plant lice	warts
	poison ivy	weeds
	pollen	woodpeckers

476 FARM AND GARDEN

Key Statements

1. Weeds are difficult to control because they produce many hardy seeds or have hardy roots.

2. There are hordes of insect garden pests which must be controlled but others are very useful to the gardener.

3. Some insects help in the control of other injurious insects.

4. Toads should be protected because they destroy great numbers of insects.

5. Most kinds of snakes are useful as eaters of insects, mice, and rats.

6. Many birds eat grubs and worms, others eat seeds (weeds), and still others eat flies. Such birds are helpers of the gardener.

7. There are a few varieties of birds classed as pests because they seem to do more harm than good.

8. Birds can be encouraged to stay in your neighborhood if you will provide them with nesting places, nesting material, water for bathing and drinking, and food.

9. Cats are among the greatest destroyers of song birds.

10. Plants may contract contagious disease in much the same way that animals do.

11. A plant may be attacked by other plants called fungi, which eventually kill it unless the fungi are destroyed.

12. The natural purpose of a plant is to reproduce its kind.

13. Flowers contain the organs of reproduction in plants.

14. Pollination, one step in reproduction of plants, consists of the transfer of pollen from the stamens to the pistil.

15. Fertilization, the second step in plant reproduction, consists of the union of the nucleus of a pollen grain with the nucleus of an ovule (egg cell).

16. Birds and insects help transfer pollen and so aid the process of pollination.

17. When the pollen of one flower is transferred to the pistil of another flower, the process is called cross-pollination.

18. Cross-pollination of many fruit trees depends upon the honeybee.

THOUGHT QUESTIONS

1. Account for the wide distribution of weeds.

2. How do control measures differ for weeds that are annuals, biennials, and perennials?

3. Why are weeds objectionable?

4. Where is it safe to use 2,4-D? Where should it not be used?

FARM AND GARDEN FRIENDS AND ENEMIES 477

5 How does a ladybird beetfe differ in customs and manners from a tomato worm?

6 Why are some insects called "biting" insects?

7 Why are some insects called "sucking" insects?

8 What difference in the use of insect poison is required for biting and for suching insects?

9 How can you tell whether a plant is being attacked by an insect or a disease? What is the difference in treatment?

10 Explain how it is possible for an animal to live first as a water animal and then as a land animal. Does a fand animal ever change to a water animal?

11 What does hibernation mean?

12 What peculiarities of the phoebe cause it to be called a flycatcher?

13 What sort of beak do most seed-eating birds have? How would it compare with a flycatcher's beak?

14 What charactenstics, other than shape, size, color, and markings, should help you to identify birds?

15 Why will bird baths help to keep birds in your yard?

16 How does a plant take in water and minerals through its roots?

17 Where do plants get the energy to enable them to make their food from the raw materials?

18 Why must pollination take place before fertilization?

19 How are new plant varieties produced? Consider crosspollunation

20 In what way is the honeybee a most necessary insect?

21 What are the advantages and disadvantages of spraying a whole region with DDT to kill off flies and messurices?

22 Why are there more frequent epidemics of grasshoppers in the west and midwest than in the east?

PROJECTS FOR YOUR SCIENCE DISCOVERY BOOK

1 Make a collection of all the different kinds of weeds that grow about your house and telf how each one is reproduced. Suggest a plan for the control or extermination of each.

2 Draw a picture of a dandelion seed and suggest a plan for controlling it. How can you put your plan into operation?

3 Make a list of poisonous weeds

4 Evamine the soil about a plant that has been cut off by a cutworm to see if you can find the cutworm larva. Put the larva into a cage with some soil and plants and observe it in its various stages Describe your discoveries

478 FARM AND GARDEN

5. Make some labeled drawings of mold from your own ob-

.

ĩ

ź

6. Study the actions of a toad; find out what he eats and how he eatehes his prey, and if he has a home spot, and if so, when he stays there.

7. Try to eatch a garter or green snake and keep it for a while. Be sure to feed and water it properly.

8. Observe the habits of a robin, bluebird, oriole, or mocking bird to find out what it eats, and what it feeds its young at nesting time. What is its song?

9. Describe a woodpeeker, what it does, how it flies, and how its color helps protect it.

10. Make a labeled drawing of the parts of an apple blossom, trillium, or other flower.

11. Report on how many kinds of flowers in your garden are visited by insects and what insects make the visits.

12. Learn to identify garden and lawn weeds. How can they be controlled?

13. Spray all but one section of your lawn with 2,4-D. Three weeks later make a spot check and comparison of weeds on square foot basis for the sprayed and not-sprayed sections.

14. Learn to identify ragweed, goldenrod, and poison ivy. How can they be destroyed?

15. Make a study of the life history of a sueking insect, a biting insect, and a root eater. How can each be controlled?

16. Find out how some aphids are eared for by certain ants and how the ants are paid for their care.

17. Learn to identify three helpful insects. How ean they be protected?

18. Visit near-by farms and try to find examples of apple- or peartree blight, or black rot on the cabbage or turnip. Learn what the farmer does to control the diseases. If you find diseased material, go back again with your teacher, taking along several petri dishes with prepared culture medium. Dust materials of the diseased plant on to the petri dishes. Keep one dish closed for a control. Take the dishes back to school and incubate them for 24 hours at 37° C.

19. Learn how to use spraying and dusting materials for the control of insects, plant disease, and fungi.

20. Go to the library for information about the Australian ladybird beetle and how it helped to control the cottony-cushion scale of California. Try to find out about other beetles and their work. The squash ladybird beetle and the bean ladybird beetle are harmful.



Grain Storage Birs--Conservation means preventing waste. You, your county, your state, your notion, your world-all must conserve. Conservation is everyone's job.

UNIT VI

Conservation

.



Grain Storage Bins-Conservation means preventing waste. You, your county, your state, your nation, your world-all must conserve Conservation is everyone's job.

UNIT VI

Conservation



Lobster Cars.—The lobster fisherman knows how to conserve, too. He catches live lobsters in traps. Then he puts the lobsters in underwater storage crates, where the lobsters are kept alive unit they are needed. The storage crates are called lobster cars. You can see the tops of them in this picture.

TOPIC XVI

Food Conservation

DO YOU KNOW-

1. What causes foodstuffs to spoil?

2. How the inside of a refrigerator keeps cool?

3. How apples and potatoes should be stored?

4. Why dried apricots keep longer than fresh apricots?

5. What is meant by "quick freezing"?

6. Why pasteurized milk stays fresh longer than raw milk?

GENERAL PROBLEM 1

How Are Foods Conserved by Storing?

AIR CONDITIONS.—Foods spoil for one of several reasons. They may dry out and wilt, which makes them less useful. They may be kept so warm that molds and bacteria grow, causing changes in their composition and rotting them. The conservation of raw foods, then, depends upon maintaining proper conditions to prevent shrinking and rotting.

The proper storage of fruits and vegetables is a problem of ventilation, air temperature, and air humidity. Storage space should be clean, dry, and dark. Most fruits and vegetables should be kept between 33° F. and 40° F. to prevent the growth of molds and bacteria. Fruits which contain considerable amounts of sugar can be kept with the temperature at or near freezing.



In a Madern Super-Market.—The signs abave the counter give a good idea of the variety of foods—vegatables, fruits, fith, medit now available in frazen form. If a guick frazen foods are to be cooked, they are put directly from the package into balling, sailed water if the frazen food is not to be cooked before eating, it with be thawed out at room temperature for about two, hours. Frosen

foods should be left in the sealed package while thawing.

foods very quickly. When this method is used the food is not damaged, as when it is frozen slowly. Have you eaten peas or berries that have been frozen by the quick process? When thaved out they are like fresh-picked foods.

During the past few years frozen orange juice has largely replaced fresh orange juice. Juice from fresh oranges is concentrated (most of the water is removed), put in small cans, and frozen quickly. Thus one small can of frozen juice is equal to a dozen or more oranges.

Today many homes and farms have small freezers. Fruits, vegetables, fish, meats, and even bread, pies, and cakes may be preserved for months by this method.

INTERNET FIELD RESEARCH INTERNET INTERNET

If there is a quick-freezing plant or unit near where you live, arrange to visit it, or send a committee to visit it for you and make a report to the class.

GENERAL PROBLEM 2

What Are Some Home Conservation Methods?

SCIENTIFIC PRINCIPLES.—You have learned that decay is usually caused by germs, by molds, and by mildews. You have learned also that these non-green plants thrive best at warm temperatures and in the presence of moisture. The preservation of food, therefore, depends upon one or more of the following methods.

(1) The food may be kept at a temperature so low that the organisms become inactive. (As a rule, they are not killed by low temperatures.)

(2) Moisture may be removed from the food.

(3) The decay-producing organisms in the food may be destroyed.

(4) Substances may be added that prevent or retard the growth of decay-producing organisms.

Often a combination of these methods is used.

PRESERVING BY HEAT.—When watching your mother canning fruit or making jam, have you ever noticed how careful she was to make sure the jar was clean and hot? And did you notice how quickly she covered the hot fruit or jam after it was put into the jar? This was to prevent any dust from getting in. The dust might contain mold spores or gcrms that could cause the canned fruit to spoil. Sometimes the fruit may be put into the jar and the whole thing heated at the same time and then covered.

Not only fruits, but vegetables and meats may be preserved by heat. They are placed in a container and heated to a temperature high enough to kill all the germs and spores of molds. The container is then closed airtight while still hot. If you

FOOD CONSERVATION 487

ي جا سر



A Pressure Cocker.—This is an extra large pressure cooker. Most pressure cookers are made of cluminum or enameled steel. Note the steam gauge and behind it the safety volve. Besides saving fuel and vitamins, pressure cookers save time. Food can be prepared in them in far less time than by ordinary cooking.

recall Experiment 39, you know that heat kills the organisms. The sealing prevents other organisms from entering.

The required temperature, which is 212° F. or higher, is obtained by placing the can in boiling water, or in a pressure

The pressure cooker is used for ordinary cooking as well as canning. Many modern ones are no larger than sauce pans. Their users claim that they have two advantages. They are more economical of fuel, and they prevent nutrients from boiling off in steam. The pressure cooker uses a science principle which you should understand. The temperature of boiling water and therefore of the steam formed is lower with low air pressure, and higher with high air pressure. The pressure cooker is called that because the cover fits on so tightly that when the water boils the steam cannot escape. The pressure inside, therefore, becomes greater. As the pressure builds up, the boiling water and steam get hotter and hotter. If the steam

could escape, the water temperature would rise to about 212° F. and no higher. With the steam held inside, the water temperature goes up. Thus the same amount of heat will raise the temperature of the water in a pressure cooker higher than the water in an open kettle.

There are two safety precautions to remember whenever using a pressure cooker. If the steam could not escape, no matter how much the water inside was boiled, it would burst and cause damage. To safeguard against such an accident the pressure cooker has a safety valve. When the steam pressure rises to a certain point, the steam valve opens and lets some steam escape. Since the boiling temperature depends upon the pressure, this valve can be set to maintain a required temperature and no higher. This temperature is often 220° F., or eight degrees hotter than ordinary boiling water.

Whoever uses a pressure cooker must be very sure that the outlet value is working properly. This may be determined by watching the steam gauge on the cooker which shows the pressure. If the gauge shows that the pressure is getting higher than the danger mark, the heat must be turned off at once.

A second safety precaution is: Never remove the cover so long as the steam gauge shows any pressure inside. As the cover is loosened, the pressure might tear it off and cause a serious accident. Also, the high temperature inside would certainly cause the contents to boil out of the cooker. Therefore, the heat should be turned off, and the pressure cooker allowed to cool to normal pressure before opening it.

The pasteurizing of milk, (pages 391-392), illustrates the effect of heat upon certain germs. This method does not use temperatures so high as those used for canning.

The pasteurizing temperature, 142° F., does not kill all the organisms in milk. It does, however, kill most of those which cause milk to sour. It also kills the germs that might cause diseases such as typhoid fever and tuberculosis. To find out for yourself what effect a pasteurizing temperature has on milk you will need to try Experiment 40. This experiment has a real practical value. If you are in the country or at camp and can buy only raw milk, you may want to pasteurize it before using it. In fact most doctors agree that it is much safer to use

FOOD CONSERVATION 489



A Pressure Cooker,—This is an extra large pressure cooker. Nost pressure cookers are made af aluminum ar enameled steel. Note the steam gauge and behind it the safety valve, Besides saving fuel and vitamins, pressure cookers save time. Food can be prepared in them in far less is me than by ardiniary cooking.

recall Experiment 39, you know that heat kills the organisms. The scaling prevents other organisms from entering.

The required temperature, which is 212° F. or higher, B obtained by placing the can in boiling water, or in a pressure cooler.

The pressure cooker is used for ordinary cooking as well as canning. Many modern ones are no larger than asuce parks. Their users claim that they have two advantages. They are more economical of fuel, and they prevent nutrients from boling off in steam. The pressure cooker uses a science principle which you should understand. The temperature of boliing water and therefore of the steam formed is lower with low ar pressure, and higher with high air pressure. The pressure cooker is called that because the cover fits on so tightly that when the water boils the steam cannot escape. The pressure mside, therefore, becomes greater. As the pressure builds up, the boling water and steam get hotter and hotter. If the steam

eould escape, the water temperature would rise to about 212° F. and no higher. With the steam held inside, the water temperature goes up. Thus the same amount of heat will raise the temperature of the water in a pressure cooker higher than the water in an open kettle.

There are two safety precautions to remember whenever using a pressure cooker. If the steam could not escape, no matter how much the water inside was boiled, it would burst and cause damage. To safeguard against such an accident the pressure cooker has a safety valve. When the steam pressure rises to a certain point, the steam valve opens and lets some steam escape. Since the boiling temperature depends upon the pressure, this valve can be set to maintain a required temperature and no higher. This temperature is often 220° F., or eight degrees hotter than ordinary boiling water.

Whoever uses a pressure cooker must be very sure that the outlet value is working properly. This may be determined by watching the steam gauge on the cooker which shows the pressure. If the gauge shows that the pressure is getting higher than the danger mark, the heat must be turned off at once.

A second safety precaution is: Never remove the cover so long as the steam gauge shows any pressure inside. As the cover is loosened, the pressure might tear it off and cause a serious accident. Also, the high temperature inside would certainly cause the contents to boil out of the cooker. Therefore, the heat should be turned off, and the pressure cooker allowed to cool to normal pressure before opening it.

The pasteurizing of milk, (pages 391-392), illustrates the effect of heat upon certain germs. This method does not use temperatures so high as those used for canning.

The pasteurizing temperature, 142° F., does not kill all the organisms in milk. It does, however, kill most of those which cause milk to sour. It also kills the germs that might cause diseases such as typhoid fever and tuberculosis. To find out for yourself what effect a pasteurizing temperature has on milk you will need to try Experiment 40. This experiment has a real practical value. If you are in the country or at camp and can buy only raw milk, you may want to pasteurize it before using it. In fact most doctors agree that it is much safer to use

FOOD CONSERVATION 420

..... EXPERIMENT 40

Will heated (pasteurized) milk keep longer without souring than unheated milk?



The cotton "plugs" are to keep out any dust particles that may be floating in the air, because they may contain germs or mold spores Be sure to label your ten tubes carefully, and keep in mind the different treatments the milk in each test tube receives. Tubes one to five are heated, while tubes six to ten are used for controls. Why are these controls needed?

Wast to Use.-Ten test tubes; a thermometer; cotton; a large beaker, wire gauze, a tripod or ring stand and ring; a Bunsen burner, fresh, raw milk.

Whar ro Do -- 1. Half fill ten test tubes with milk and close the ends with tightly packed cotton stoppers Label the test tubes t to 10

2 Put tubes 1 to 5 in the beaker and add water until it reaches the top level of the milk in the tubes

Place the beaker on a wire gauge on the tripod or ring stand and apply heat

Put the thermometer in one of the test tubes of milk without removing the cotton stopper.

Heat the water in the beaker until the milk in the test tube is at 145° F. and maintain that temperature for 20 minutes. Is it fair to assume that the milk in all tubes is at the same temperature?

3. Remove the test tubes from the water and cool them rapidly. Set all ten tubes with the milk in them on a side bench or table in your science room.

After one day examine tubes 1 and 6, and on each succeeding day examine and record observations of tubes 2 and 7, 3 and 8, 4 and 9, and 5 and 10.

WHAT HAPPENS.-In which set of tubes did the milk keep sweet longest?

CONCLUSIONS.—State briefly how the souring of milk may be retarded.

APPLICATION.-Why must pasteurized milk be cooled quickly?

pasteurized milk and cream. Also all milk used for ice cream, chocolate milk, and other milk products should be pasteurized.

Cooking, too, is based upon good science principles. Not only does cooking meat, for example, make it more tender and improve its taste, but it kills germs that otherwise might cause disease. Pork especially must be thoroughly cooked to be safe for eating. There is always a possibility that it may contain organisms that cause a serious disease which is called *trichinosis* (trĭk'ī-nō'sĭs). Proper cooking will kill any organisms that may be present.

PRESERVING BY DRYING.—Apples are sometimes preserved by drying thin slices. Before using, the dried fruit is placed in water for a time, during which it absorbs water and swells. It can then be used as a substitute for fresh apples.

Fruits, vegetables, and meats are usually dried artificially so that the water is removed rapidly without overheating the foods. They thus retain practically all of their essential substances. When water is added, they are very nearly like the fresh foods of the same variety. Drying is the oldest method for the preservation of food. Sometimes the drying is supplemented by smoking or salting. In this case the salt or the smoke acids act as chemical preservers.

يتدر





Ewing Galloway

Drying Apricots.—Here we see acres of apricots drying in the Califorma sun. Before being set in the sun to dry, the opricot's are exposed to very that temperclovers by steaming. This stops the action of destroying organisms. Next the apricot's are sterilized by chemical means. Then the apricot's are put in the sun to dry, spread out on flat trays. The drying process tokes several days.

FIELD RESEARCH

Go to your grocery store and make a last of several dried foods offered for sale. Read the label on each package for special information. What evidence can you find that the foods were dried according to ranitary methods?

PRESERVATION BY THE USE OF CHEMICALE --What is a chemical? That is a fair question. Any substance that will act on another and cause a change may be called a chemcal. Salt and sugar are chemicals just as much as acids and alkalies. Vinegar contains acetic acid, which is a chemical. The baking sola your mother uses is a chemical. So when we talk about using chemical's to preserve foods we are using a word that includes several kinds of substances.

A strong salt solution may be used to preserve such foods as pickles, peaches, fish, and meats. This is called pickling. Jams, preserves, and jellies are preserved with large amounts of sugar. Here the foods are placed in glass jars and covered with paraffin to keep out molds and bacteria. The use of salt and sugar as preservatives, in pickling or making jellies, depends upon the process of *osmosis*. Osmosis is the mixing of two liquids by passage through a thin membrane or porous wall.

Any organism that tried to live in concentrated salt or sugar solution would have its body liquids pass out by osmosis to dissolve the salt or sugar. In other words, individual cells of the organism would dry up and die. Of course some plants and animals are adapted to the use of salt water, such as sea water. Moreover, some molds can grow on the outside of substances like salt meats and sweet jellies.

There are several other chemicals used to preserve foods. Some of these are borax, sulfites, formaldehyde, salicylic acid, and sodium salicylate. Very small amounts of these substances dissolved in the food material will prevent the growth of germs and molds. Their presence in a food must be stated on the label. Sodium silicate, commonly called *water glass*, is a chemical often used to preserve eggs. It forms an airtight and watertight covering around the eggs, but does not touch the material inside the shells.

PRESERVATION BY COLD.—Most fresh meats, fruits, vegetables, and milk and cream are for immediate use in the home. Knowledge of the causes of decay enables us to care for such foods most efficiently. Not only do fresh foods need special attention, but opened canned goods need care to prevent waste. Even though the canned goods may have a special preservative in them, the food will spoil quickly if left in a warm place.

You have learned that the organisms that cause decay and spoiling of foods are inactive at low temperatures. Therefore, the best method of caring for foods that are to be kept for a short time only is the cold method. The foods may be kept in a cold cellar. The cellar should be dry and free from mold growths on the walls and floors. Or foods may be kept in refrigerators during warm weather, and in cold rooms during



Two Woys of Storing Foods -The farmer on the left is burying his winter supply of vegetables in borrels sunken in the earth. The vegetables in each barrel will be covered with baards and they will be covered with strow or dirt. Fruits may also be buried in this way. The winter cold of the ground preserves the foods. The housewife on the right is about to freeze some strawberries and pineapples in her home freezer.

cold weather In any case, foods such as milk, cream, and butter should be kent covered to protect them from dust.

We know that iruits and vegetables and sometimes fish and meat may be kept for long periods by freezing. The special quick-freezing methods result in very rapid freezing of the material without destroying the tissue. When thawed out, the food has retained its natural freshness.

GENERAL PROBLEM 3

What Keeps the Refrigerator Cold?

HEAT TRANSFER .- The refrigerator is a small-sized cold storage plant. It is used to keep foods cold enough to prevent them from spoiling. The hundring of a good refrigerator depends upon knowledge and application of the principles of heat transfer.

To keep an object hot, it is necessary either to keep adding heat, or to prevent the loss of its heat. To keep an object cold, it is necessary to prevent heat from being added to it. Keep these statements in mind in studying a refrigerator.

You know from experience that if one end of a metal rod is heated, the other end becomes warm or hot. The heat travels, that is, is transferred from one end of the rod to the other. On the other hand, a stick of wood can be held in the hand even though the other end is on fire. In this case, heat is not transferred from one end to the other. The metal is a *conductor* of heat. The wood is a *non-conductor* of heat.

Test samples of copper, aluminum, glass, stone, brick, and porcelain to find whether they are conductors or non-conductors of heat.

It has been found that heat may be transferred in any one of three different ways. Heat travels through solids by conduction. Gases and liquids transfer hear by convection. Heat may also travel through gases by means of radiation. Let us find out a little more about each of these methods of heat transfer.

CONDUCTION.—Ordinary matter is composed of very tiny particles called *molecules*. Most molecules are too small to be seen even with powerful microscopes. The molecules in matter are all in rapid motion, something like little rubber balls bouncing against each other.

When a substance is heated, the molecules bounce faster and harder. They strike nearby molecules and set them moving. These in turn set other molecules bouncing. Thus the heat travels through the substance. This transfer of heat from molecule to molecule is called *conduction*.

When some solids are heated hot enough they melt and form liquids (example, ice to water). The molecules in liquids bounce faster and harder than in solids. When certain liquids are heated, they change to the gas state (example, water to steam). In gases the molecules bounce still faster and harder than in liquids. CONVECTION —The transfer of beat from n hot object to other objects by a circulation of gases or liquids is called conrection. The circulation results in currents called convection currents.

Convection is the principal method by which heat is transferred or distributed in liquids and gases. It is possible because the molecules are free to move from one place to another. In concretion, the heat is carried from one place to another by the molecules In conduction, the heat is handed along from one molecule to the next.

RADIATION.—A third method by which heat is transferred is radiation. If you stand near a hot eamplifie, your face and the front of your body quickly become hot. Your back cootinues to stay cold. The heat scenns to come straight from the fire until it strikes you and there it stops. A wire screen placed between you and the fire euts off some of the heat. These facts are well known to you by experience.

Outdoors on a bright sunny day, the heat seems to come straight to you from the sun. Hot objects seem to give out beat. Actually they are sending out a form of energy that does not beat up gases through which the energy passes. The heat does not appear until the energy strikes a body. It then changes into beat energy, and we say the body has been warned.

FIELD RESEARCH

Focus the rays from the sun through a hand lens or magnifer onto your hand. Do the focused rays hurn your hand more than the unfocused rays." Draw a diagram in your Science Discovery Book to illustrate how the sun's rays may be focused.

Try focusing rays from a red-hot object in the same way.

Try reflecting the energy from a fireplace with a mirror or piece of polished tin. Will a black or dark object reflect the energy?

The radiant energy of hot bodies is given off in straight lines in all directions. The hotter the body, the more energy it radiates. The radiant energy is changed to heat energy only when it is stopped and absorbed by another body. Radiant energy does not depend upon molecules to "carry" it along not 10



Beef for the Army.—The army afficer is checking the temperature af this refrigerator truck. The truck is loaded with beef for our troops. Notice that the metal walls of the truck are kept so clean they reflect the beef in mirror-fashian. Of what advantage are metal walls in a refrigeratar truck besides being an aid to cleanliness?

"pass" it along. It can, therefore, pass through a vacuum. If this were not true, it is difficult to understand how we could derive heat from the sun.

REFRIGERATOR CONSTRUCTION.—The refrigerator is a device to keep things cold. The sides, top, and bottom must be built to prevent the transfer of heat into the box. Also there must be some plan to remove the heat brought in by warm foods and warm air when the door is open.

The walls of a refrigerator are hollow and filled with air and insulating solids. Insulating materials are those that help prevent transfer of heat. Air is a poorer conductor of heat than wood. But heat is transferred by convection, if the air in the space is free to circulate. Therefore, the space in the walls is broken up into small air spaces. This is done by putting in packed, non-conducting porous material. Mineral wool, cork, celotex, or small bits of certain minerals are used. Modern refrigerators have walls built of metals. This is practical because the air space in the walls can be so thoroughly insulated

Lunng the inside walls with aluminum or white porcelan helps to prevent loss of heat by radiation. How?

REMOVING HEAT FROM THE REFINICEATOR.—A refrigerator is build with non-conducting walls. Therefore warm air neede will stay warm unless the heat is taken from the air and food muside. This may be done by placing ice in the box. Ice must take in heat in order to melt. The water from the melted ice flows out a drain pipe, carrying the absorbed heat will hit.

When food is placed in the refrigerator, it is warmer than the air in the refrigerator. The food gives up heat to the air and becomes cold. The ice absorbs this heat from the air, keeping it cold. The ice melts and water runs out, carrying with it the heat brought in with the food. Since ice melts at the surface only, better cooling results if the ice thanker is kept



An ice Bax.—Bath ice and waler can exist at 32°F. Foad in the ice refrigerator gives up its head to the ice The ice absorbs the head and changes to water at 32°F. Thus the foad is cooled. You should always class the refrigerator door promptly after taking anything out. Why?

498 CONSERVATION

nearly full of ice.

Instead of ice for absorbing lient, modern gas and electric refrigerators make use of "freezing units," This method is better than ice since it is possible to keep the air at a more uniformly cold temperature. Moreover, these refrigerators are automatic and therefore require less attention. There are several types of freezing units, and you may want to have a committee investigate them. They all work on the same principle. When a gas expands it takes in heat, and when a gas is squeezed together it gives out heat. In the cold unit a gas is caused to evpand rapidly. As a result it absorbs heat from the air in the refrigerator. This expanded and warmer gas is pumped out and



Courtesy Frigidaire

Electric Refrigerators.—At the tap of the refrigeratar on the left is the freezing unit. Here a special liquid evaporates into a gas, and expands. As the gas expands, it absarbs heat. The expanded gas is carried ta a pump (lower right). The pump compresses the gas in a radiator (lower left), where it is changed back into a liquid. The liquid is then sent back into the freezing unit. The refrigerator on the right absorbs heat through the walls as well as in the freezing unit. Note the pipes in the walls.

compressed again. At the same time it is cooled by passing through some type of radiator. It is then ready to be pumped back into the cold unit to expand and absorb more heat.

The ice, or the cooling unit, is placed at the top of the refrigerator. Air in contact with the cold unit gives up some of its heat and becomes cooler and heavier than other air in the refrigerator. Hence it sinks to the bottom and pushes up the less cool air. As the cool air touches the food it absorbs heat from the food, leaving it cold. This warm air then moves to the cold unit, gives up its heat, and sinks. The heating of the air by the food and its cooling by the cold unit cause a continuous circulation of air in the refrigerator.

A good refrigerator maintains temperatures of about 42° F. near the bottom, and 50° F. at the top of the food chamber.

If the refrigerator is built so that good air circulation occurs, the air will deposit much of its moisture on the cold unit. Dry

FOOD CONSERVATION 499



Market Day.—The open-air market is still a familiar sight in many Amenican cities. This particular one is the famous Faneui Hall Market in Bastan Many markets feature law-priced foods. Before Taking any "bargains," hawever, the purchaser should be sure all meat is fresh and government-stamped. He should also make sure that out invegetables are farministed and healthy.

We know that milk and water are especially suited to distribute contagious diseases. Other foods such as vegetables and meats may do so, too. Therefore, all foods for human or animal use should be carefully guarded against germs Meat markets, groeery stores, candy shops, and all other food stores should be required to observe sanitary regulations.

In most communities, foods, mcluding milk, are required by haw to be protected against files and dirt and disease. Throughout the nation, foods must meet certain standards set by the United States Pure Food and Drug Acts. Cannel foods must have labels which fell the weight of the contents and the names of any preservatives. In the case of prepared foods, the label must tell a

502 cor -
Drugs and medicines must also meet the standards of the United States Pure Food and Drug Acts. All drugs are dangerous except as prescribed by a physician. Some drugs, such as narcotics, are so dangerous that druggists are not allowed to sell them without a doctor's prescription. All patent medicines must have a proper label stating the contents. The law also forbids any advertiser from making claims about his product which cannot be proved by test. No one should make a practice of using patent medicines. The best procedure is always to consult your physician.

Laws pertaining to foods and drugs are for your protection It is up to you to read the labels and know what you are buying. Alcohol and other narcotics are especially dangerous drugs They are always clearly labeled, and their sale is regulated by law. These drugs are habit-forming. Once their use is started, it is difficult if not impossible to stop. They should be taken only when prescribed by a competent physician.

Ask your druggist to let you study the labels on several different patent cough medicines. Write down the contents. Are the same materials found in most of the medicines? Does the label claim that the medicine will "cure" a cough? How much of each medicine is water?

THE HEALTH DEPARTMENT.—The health of the community is particularly the problem of its Department of Health and the chief health officer. This department is responsible for proper safeguards of the milk and water supply, the sewage and garbage disposal, sanitary stores and markets, and clean streets. It must be constantly on the alert to prevent the spread of disease from any source. The Health Department needs your coöperation in upholding its standards and enforcing the laws of the country, state, and town.

THINKING THINGS OVER.—Food, along with shelter and clothing, is one of the three main necessities of life and comfort. Thus conservation of food is a major problem. Conservation means the use of a substance efficiently and without waste. Conservation of food-involves the application of scientific principles to the preservation of food. If not properly cared air results You have learned that molds and bacteria grow best in warm, most air. Therefore, low temperature and dry air remove two of the conditions under which food spoils. On the other hand we wish to prevent some foods from drying. So modern refrigerators have several compartments. One keeps the air cold and dry Another keeps the air cold but moist A thurd compartment is so designed that food or water placed in it may be frozen solid.

------ FIELD RESEARCH

Visit a store that sells a standard make of refrigerators and have the clerk explain its good points. The store may have a model of the side wall that you can study to learn how it is insulated.

KEEPING THE REFRIGERATOR CLEAN.—The refrigerator should be kept very clean at all times and so its lining should be smooth, waterproof, and not easily stained. Enamel or porcelain lining is best The inside of the refrigerator may be kept clean and "sweet" by washing it frequently with a solution of washing soda The surface should then be wriped clean with clear water. Scouring powders should not be used. They cause tiny scratches which fill with dirt and are difficult to clean.

FIELD RESEARCH

Study the refrigerator in your own home to find out whether it is astriatarory; that is it constructed to permit good air circulation Does it keep a temperature below 60°F, in the warmest part? Is the hungs such that it can be thoroughly cleansed? Are the foods placed in the proper location an the refrigerator? Are foods allowed to col off before they are put in the refrigerator? How does this affect the ice or electric bulk?

CARE OF FOODS IN THE HOME.—Modern refrigerators are excellent devices for concerving foods. They can do their bet work, however, only when used intelligently. Mikh bottle should be cleaned on the outside and placed in the refrigerator as soon as possible after delivery. At no time should mik be allowed to get warm unless you wish it to sour quickly. Nor

should it be allowed to stand in the sun even on cold days because that may destroy some of the vitamins.

Meats also should be cleaned, if necessary, and placed in the refrigerator until needed for cooking. The meat should be kept covered to prevent drying unless you have a cold moist compartment. Green vegetables should be cleaned and wrapped in paper or placed in covered trays or jars in the refrigerator. They will then keep fresh and crisp.

GENERAL PROBLEM 4

Why Is Food Protection Health Protection?

PURE FOODS AND DRUGS.—Milk needs great care in handling because it is so favorable for the growth of germs. Typhoid fever in the family of a careless milk producer has been transmitted to other families where milk from his dairy has been distributed.

Testing Milk.—Good milk distributing companies have laboratories where their milk is constantly being tested. It is necessary to keep a careful check on all the milk that is distributed. If infected milk were sold, the results could be very serious.

The Borden Company



Market Day — The open-air market is still a familiar sight in many Amencan alles. This particular one is the famous Pareill Hall Market in Boston Many markets feature law-priced foods. Before laking any "Dargains," however, the purchaser should be sure all med is fresh and government-stamped. He should allo make sure that all vegetables are farmi-fresh and healthy.

We know that milk and water are especially suited to distribute contagions diseases. Other foods such as vegetables and meats may do so, too. Therefore, all foods for human or animal use should be carefully guarded against germs. Meat markets, grovery stores, eandy shops, and all other food stores should be required to observe sanitary recrulations.

In most communities, foods, including milk, are required by law to be protected against flies and dirt and disease. Throughout the nation, foods must meet certain standards set by the United States Pure Food and Drug Acts. Canned foods must have labels which tell the weight of the contents and the names of any preservatives used. In the case of prograde foods, the label must tell all the migredents used.

Drugs and medicines must also meet the standards of the United States Pure Food and Drug Acts. All drugs are dangerons except as prescribed by a physician. Some drugs, such as narcotics, are so dangerons that druggists are not allowed to sell them without a doctor's prescription. All patent medicines must have a proper label stating the contents. The law also forbids any advertiser from making claims about his product which cannot be proved by test. No one should make a practice of using patent medicines. The best procedure is always to consult your physician.

Laws pertaining to foods and drugs are for your protection It is up to you to read the labels and know what you are buying. Alcohol and other narcotics are especially dangerous drugs They are always clearly labeled, and their sale is regulated by law. These drugs are habit-forming. Once their use is started, it is difficult if not impossible to stop. They should be taken only when prescribed by a competent physician.

Ask your druggist to let you study the labels on several different patent cough medicines. Write down the contents. Are the same materials found in most of the medicines? Does the label elaim that the medicine will "cure" a cough? How much of each medicine is water?

THE HEALTH DEPARTMENT.—The health of the community is particularly the problem of its Department of Health and the chief health officer. This department is responsible for proper safeguards of the milk and water supply, the sewage and garbage disposal, sanitary stores and markets, and clean streets. It must be constantly on the alert to prevent the spread of disease from any source. The Health Department needs your coöperation in upholding its standards and enforcing the laws of the country, state, and town.

THINKING THINGS OVER.—Food, along with shelter and clothing, is one of the three main necessities of life and comfort. Thus conservation of food is a major problem. Conservation means the use of a substance efficiently and without waste. Conservation of food involves the application of scientific principles to the preservation of food. If not properly cared

FOOD CONSERVATION 503



nitrd Press Associations

S Department of Apriculture

Unclean and Clean—The Health Department inspectar on the left is tealing the refragerator in a delicatessen. The delicatessen failed to bey sondary regulations. The ticket on the daor says, "Nuclean." The picture on the right shows the round purple stamp that means the meat came from a healthy animal Agents of our Department of Agriculture inspect and apprave or disapprove the animals at the slaughter house.

for, food not only may spoil, but may even be the means of spreading disease germs Decay and spoiling of food are due to the action of bacteria, molds, and other organisms Foods may be preserved by making it difficult or impossible for the organisms to grow on the foods. Typical methods of preservation of foods depend upon heat treatment, cold treatment, or chemical treatment. Each has its special advantages for certain foods.

KEY WORDS

alcohol	heat transfer	-
bacteria	humshte	preservative
circulation	usulate	pressure
cold storage	membrane	quick freeze
conduction	mildews	rautant energy
convection	molds	renigeration
drugs	molecule	tumbaid for on
energy	non-conductor	typhotu tevel
freezing	ORMOSIS	ventration
germs	pasteunze	water glass

KEY STATEMENTS

1. The problem of food storage involves proper ventilation, proper temperature, proper humidity, and fresh quality of the product to be stored.

2. The preservation of fresh foods for long periods depends upon killing bacteria and molds, and upon sealing to prevent entrance of additional organisms. Or the food may be held at such a low temperature that organisms are inactive.

3. Foods may also be preserved by drying, smoking, or by the addition of chemicals that will destroy germs and molds and prevent more from growing.

4. The construction of efficient refrigerators depends upon a knowledge and an application of the principles of heat transfer.

5. Conduction is the transfer of heat from molecule to molecule of a substance. Conduction occurs most commonly in solids.

6. Heat is transferred by conduction more readily by some solids than by others.

7. Convection is the transfer of heat from one point to another by the movement of the heat-bearing molecules. Convection currents arc due to unequal heating and occur most commonly in liquids and gases.

8. Hot bodies (usually solids) give off heat by radiation.

9. Radiant energy travels in straight lines. It is changed back to heat energy when it is stopped and absorbed by another body. It can be reflected just as light is.

10. Refrigerators are cool because the cold unit absorbs heat from the air.

11. In a healthful city, stores are sanitary and their foods are protected from dust, flies, and handling.

12. The laws pertaining to alcohol and other narcotics are observed in a healthful city.

13. Your health department is chiefly responsible for the health of your community, but you must do your part.

THOUGHT QUESTIONS

1. How do the problems of conservation involve science and economics?

2. Why can fruits be kept without freezing at a temperature of 32° F. or slightly below, while potatoes will freeze at 32° F.?

3. Why is the humidity of the air a problem in the construction of cold storage rooms?

4 In canning fruit or vegetables, why is it important to seal the can?

5 What are the conditions favorable to the growth of bacteria and molds"

6 Explain why drying a food belps to preserve it.

7. Why will foods keep longer in cold nir than in warm air?

S Describe the construction of the walls of a good refrigerator. What determines the efficiency of the refrigerator?

9 Where should a food having an odor be placed in a refrigerator? Why?

10 Why is 50° F. the maximum air temperature of a good refrigerator?

11 You have seen refrigerating pipes in meat counters What makes them become covered with ice?

12 How is the preservation of food related to your health?

13 Why are food and drug laws necessary?

14 Why must the production and distribution of milk be carefully regulated?

15 Why should foods in stores be protected against flies and from handling?

16 What can you do to cooperate in maintaining a healthful city?

PROJECTS FOR YOUR SCIENCE DISCOVERY BOOK

Visit a cold storage plant and write an account of your observations. Tell what foods you saw and how the temperatures were controlled.

2 Make a report on the relation of moisture to the spoiling of foods

 Make a collection of labels from canned foods to find which ones contain special preservatives Note which substances are used and how much

4 Make a diagram of a heater in a room and indicate by arrows the direction in which the nr will circulate

5. Make a study of refrigerators and sketch a diagram of an efficient refrigerator wall.

6 Discuss the various methods used in canning fruits at home

7 Obtain samples of dried foods and experiment with them to learn how much water they will absorb

8. By visiting a fruit store, determine good methods of packing fruit.

9 Study the cold pack method of preserving vegetables 506 CONSERVATION 10. Study the effect of low temperatures on the keeping of apples by selecting two apples nearly alike and placing one in the refrigerator and one in the kitchen. Examine them from day to day for at least two weeks.

11. Build an ice box, insulating it properly. Test its efficiency.

12. Determine the temperatures and humidity of the air in a refrigerator.

13. Devise and work an experiment to illustrate the conduction of heat.

14. Devise and work an experiment to illustrate convection currents.

15. Make a trip to your city health department to learn about its activities.



field in California. Someday we may come to the end of bur of serves but entremation new can nostpone that day.

TOPIC XVII

Conservation of Natural Resources

DO YOU KNOW-

1. How top soil may be carried away?

2. Whether there are any important natural resources in your region?

3. Why natural resources must be conserved?

4. That our common fuels are "stored sunshine"?

5. What your part is in conservation?

GENERAL PROBLEM 1

How Can Land and Water Be Conserved?

NATURAL RESOURCES.—"Two billion acres of land within the United States; the rain and snow that fall on this land; the rivers, waterfalls and lakes; the coal, oil, gold and silver, and other mineral deposits that lie on and beneath the land; the people that live here and their multitude of talents, skills, and activities—these are our natural resources." This statement by the National Resources Planning Board tells us plainly what our natural resources are. These are our resources. Your problem as a citizen and a young scientist is to help conserve the resources.

CONSERVING SOIL AND WATER.—The conservation of soil and water has become one of the most important problems of our nation. From the time the first settlers came to this land up to the present, millions of acres of fine farmland have been ruined by erosion—especially by water and wind. Millions

Dam pokane • rand Coulee Reservoir Dam Long Lake Dam Irrigation +canals O Sullivan Dam Hanford Richland Snakek OREGON TIME Map by V Paghel Conuright TIME for 1954

Columbia River Reclamation Project—This map shows one of the huge desert regions which our government is turning inta good farm lands and power projects

and millions of acres of valuable top soil have been swept away by wind and water.

We know that top soil furnisks minerals for plant growth. When the top soil is gone, the land is worthless. Nature requires a long time to replace the top soil. Several centures may be required to build just one incl., Yet during the past 150 years, top soil has been tripped from about 100 million acres of cropland. Another 100 million acres have been seriously damaged. And still the damage continues.

It is estimated that every year enough soil is blown or washed from American fields to fill a tran of freight cars 390,000 miles long-s distance from the earth to the moon and more than halfway back again.

Our government is working hard to stop soil erosion. Farm agencies show farmers new practices to hold soil Great dams are being built to control flood waters and save land from floods. The stored water

is later distributed to grow more crops. The picture opposite and the map on this page show one of the newest projects for reclaiming desert land

The Soil Conservation Service has planted strips of trees to break the force of wnds sweeping across the plains. Experiments are being tred in which airplanes are used to scatter grass seeds over hundreds of acres. Farmers are being shown how to plant the slopes to prevent erosion; they are being shown how to coverve the fertility of that soil; they are being shown how to keep guilles from starting.

One hundred fifty years ago much of our land was covered with thick forests and heavy carpets of grasses. As the forests



Bureau of Reclamation

Grand Coulee Dam.—Use your mind's eye to fit this picture into the map on the opposite page.

were cut and the grasses plowed under, the soil was free to be carried away. But water as well as soil was affected. The grasses and forests held the rainfall, and allowed much of it to soak into the ground. The runoff was slow and quite steady.

Making Rain.—This young man is a partner in a "rain-making service." Here he is dumping dry ice from his plane to produce rain where it is badly needed. Note his oxygen mask. The other picture is a long-shot of a rain-making plane.



Wide World Photo Courtesy Luscombe Airplane Corp.



Saving the Land—The upper picture shows a field without enough trees to hold the soal Eronom is taking place rapidly, and in the of the good soit would be gone. The battom picture shows the sam field three and one-haif years after the planting of black locus trees. Wasteful soit enoidan has been stopped, and valuable lan has been stored.



With the grasses and forests gone, the rainfall quickly runs off to the nearest stream or river. As a result, less rain soaks into the ground, and the water table falls. In many parts of the country, the dropping of the water table in recent years has been serious. Wells have dried up. But more important, there has not been enough moisture in the soil to support plant life.

Recently runmaking experiments have been tried in an attempt to uncrease the rainfall in a region. It is not yet known whether these experiments will be completely successful. In any event, the best way to conserve soil water is to return as much land as possible to forest or thick grasses.

WHAT YOU CAN DO.—The problem of soil conservation does not belong to the government alone. It is your problem, too, even though you live in a city. Perhaps erosion is going on in fields or lots near your home. You can take steps to stop it. You can also do your share by helping to support the conservation plans of your own community and state.

Most of all you can help by being well informed about the problem. If you live on a hilly farm, it is your duty as a good citizen to know how to plant and cultivate a field-around the slope (contour planting)—not up and down. You can plant crops that help the soil absorb or soak up rain water instead of making it easy for the water to run off over the surface.

Smart Forestry,—Scientific knowledge is improving this ranch in Argentina. The region is naturally treeless, but groups of trees have been planted to serve as windbreakers and help protect the soil from engion.



You should also know about strip planting—a practice of planting strips of different crops around a slope. Some of the strips are planted to grass crops, especially valuable in holding the soil. With this method the soil is kept from being washed down the hill.

Conservation concerns every citizen. Some 2300 soil conservation districts have been formed throughout our nation. Is there one in your region? Are you coöperating with it?

GENERAL PROBLEM 2

How Can Wild Life and Vegetation Be Conserved?

PARTNERS: WILD LIFE AND VEGETATION.—The cost of soil erosion in the United States has been estimated at 4 billion dollars annually. This amount, however, does not include the loss of wild life that has resulted. If the soil is ruined, vegetation follows. With the loss of vegetation, muskrats, beavers, raccoons, and other wild life disappear.

It is curious how these things all depend upon each other. It is what is called the balance of nature. Man has upset the balance by permitting overgrazing of the land by cattle or sheep, by cutting or burning the forests, and by draining swamps. When man upsets the balance, he is indirectly destroying helpful insects, birds, and animals.

ABUNDANCE.—When the first settlers came to this country 300 years ago, they found dense forests and fertile plains. Wild life seemed to exist in unlimited numbers. Have you read of the thundering herds of bison and the endless clouds of passenger pigeons? Ducks in migration stretched on for days and weeks. Where have these animals gone? The wild life only seemed to exist in unlimited numbers. Hunting killed off many. Draining swamps destroyed breeding grounds. Cutting forests took the homes of some. Lack of food killed others. Thus their numbers dwindled. Today there are no passenger pigeons. There are no heath hens. The bison barely escaped the same fate. SCIENCE TO THE RESCUE.—Now we understand that all wild life has natural enemies. We must not reduce the numbers too much or the natural enemies will kill off the rest.

We know the kind of breeding places needed by various forms of wild hife, and sanctuaries have been provided. We also know, however, that breeding and stocking of forest and stream will not do the job alone. Natural homes and preventing hunters and fishermen from taking too much game are more important.

Modern sewage and garbage disposal plants and proper utilization of industrial wastes are protecting fish in many of our streams. All should be protected. Only then shall we have fish in abundance again.

Fires, largely the result of carelessness, have destroyed milhons of acres of forests and left the wild life to starve and de. Now modern methods of spotting fires and controlling them are gradually mastering the demon fire.

WHAT YOU CAN DO. --Whether you live on a farm or in a city, conservation of wild life is your job. When you pass

Traut Fishing —When nature is in balance, hunting and fishing are at their best. Good conservation practice means limiting the fishing season, and stocking the streams to replace the fish removed





Are You Proud of This?—This scene of horror has resulted from someone's carelessness. A careless camper, a careless smoker may have started this. Study this picture. Remember it well. Resolve now to prevent such destruction.

wildflowers in the forest or field do you resist the urge to pick them? As a science student you know that flowers make seeds for new plants. If the blossom is picked, no seeds will be formed. Are you able to hunt with a camera and notebook rather than with a gun? Many real sportsmen find more pleasure in watching wild life alive than in carrying it off dead.

Are you doing your part to help prevent forest fires? Marvelous fire-fighting equipment has been invented, but it is better to prevent a fire than try to fight one. During the past five years, some 75 million acres of forest land have been destroyed by fire. Matches, campfires, and smoking are always dangerous in a forest. Never guess about a fire in the forest. Be sure it is out.

How Can Minerals Be Conserved?

OUR USE OF MINERALS.—We are living in the Industrial Age. We sometimes call it the Steel Age because of our great dependence upon iron and other minerals. Have you ever thought about the minerals you use every day? Most important, perhaps, 1s ron, which is made into steel. How different our lives would be without steel! No trains, automobiles, trators. No bicycles, radios, skates. No watches, airplanes, occan liners Our modern way of living would be impossible without iron and steel.

Other minerals, though not so common as iron, are also of great importance. Some, added to iron, produce various steels bard and brittle, or soft. Aluminum is a metal that became vital with the development of aviation. Why? In recent years greater quantities of aluminum were needed than ever before. This led to the development of a process which extracts aluminum or from certain clay soils. Another light, tough mineral

More Precious than Gold —Our country needs tons ond tons of aluminum to make planes for defense and for commercial purposes. This picture shows only part of just one of the hundreds of planes we manufactore each yeor.





Buried Treasure.—This open-pit copper mine is in Bingham, Utah. Open-pit mines are both safer and cheaper to work than underground mines. The thicker the deposit of ore, the more "benches" or "terraces" are used to mine it. Note the railroad trains which carry the ore away.

is magnesium. It has made its way into lightweight ladders, wheelbarrows, lawnmowers, etc. Magnesium is now extracted from sea water. Copper, silver, gold, gypsum, lead, salt, tungsten, zinc, chromium, nickel—the list of useful minerals is almost endless.

OUR MINERAL RESOURCES.—The Mesabi Range in Minnesota has for years produced most of the iron used in our country. Its ore is rich—about 51% iron. Its ore lies near the surface of the ground, so it was easy to get and ship to the blast furnaces. By the close of World War II it was realized that the Mesabi reserves were rapidly dwindling. At the present rate of use, there would be ore for only a few years.

Fortunately new deposits of high grade iron ore have been discovered recently in Labrador and Venezuela. There will be great problems of transportation, but the ore is there.

There is another iron ore on the Mesabi Range. Its name is *taconite*. It is only about 25% iron, but there are billions of tons of it available. For years scientists have searched for a



Mesobi Range.—This vast range has produced mast of our iron ore for many years. Its rich are has provided us with the iron fram which many of aursteel products have been made. Newer processes now give hape of using the billions of tans of facanite available on the range.

practical way to obtain the iron from taconite. At last they have been successful. A plant is now being built to prepare the ore for blast furnaces.

The story of iron ore has a happy ending. But we should remember that the high grade deposits in Venezuela and Labrador, and the taconite deposits are limited. Ore taken from the ground can never be used again. And this is true of other minerals as well as iron.

Although we have huge deposits of copper, gypsum, sullar, lead, inc, and other metals, we cannot afford to waste them. At the present rate of uses, our zinc and copper reserves will last only about 15 years. Of course, more deposits may be discovered, hut we should not plan on that. It is better to conserve, that is, use wisely, what we have.

WHAT CAN You Do?-The most important thing you can do in concerving mmerals is to take care of metal objects and equipment. Particularly, you can apply your knowledge of corrosion and rusting. You know that moisture and air combine



A. Gould

Conserving Property.—The successful farmer knows the importance of keeping his equipment and property in top condition. "An ounce of prevention is worth a pound of cure" is an important idea in conservation. Do you think this man is a good businessman as well as farmer?

to attack metals. You know that some metals are attacked by acids in the air.

Both rusting and corrosion can be prevented to a large extent by keeping the surface of the metal free from moisture. You should wipe off garden tools, skates, bicycles, and other metal equipment before putting them away. Farm equipment should be taken care of if it is to last. Whenever possible, harrows, plows, rakes, mowing machines and other equipment should be stored in barns or sheds when not in use. All painted surfaces should be kept free of rust by frequent painting. Moving parts should be lubricated with oil or grease to keep them operating smoothly. Proper care takes time. But it saves money and minerals in the long run.

Thousands of scientists are helping you conserve minerals every day. As in the case of taconite, they are discovering new ways to refine ores. Scientists are also discovering more substitutes for metals. All of us know about the wide use of plastics for toys, handles, lamp stands, clocks, and a variety of other uses.

GENERAL PROBLEM 4

How Can Fuels Be Conserved?

SIFTING THE ASHES.—Do you know how to care for a store or a furnace? If so, do you watch the ashes to see if you are wasting coal? Years ago, many people aited the ashes to save the partly burned coal. Some people do this even now. It is a good idea, but it is a better idea to regulate the fire so that the coal is all burned the first time.

FOUR FUELS.—There are four common natural substances used for fuel: wood, coal, oil, and natural gas. Each fuel has its advantages and disadvantages, depending upon where a person lives. But the problem of which fuel to use is not so



Tomorrow's Timber.—This diagram shows how intelligent forstry? con provide for the future. The captions show you how the whole or on has been divided into sectons, with a definite time set for logging each sectors. This arrangement means that there will always be new tress to replace the ones cut down.

important as learning how to use that fuel in an efficient manner.

If there were unlimited amounts of fuels, it wouldn't make much difference whether people saved or wasted them. But fuels are not unlimited.

WOOD.—Once this country seemed to have an inexhaustible supply of timber for lumber, for fuel, and for all sorts of wood products. Now we know that is not the case. By careful planning and scientific forestry, we may have enough for our needs. But we certainly will not have any to waste.

Today, good forest management is getting more and more out of each tree. As much as 70% of the entire tree may be used. Even shavings and sawdust are pressed into small "logs" and used for fuel.

COAL FROM ANCIENT PLANTS.—Coal is a mineral that took millions of years to form in the earth. Every pound of coal represents stored energy from the sun. It is energy stored by plants that grew in the early days of our earth. The trees used sunlight to grow and form wood. In time the trees fell to the ground and were buried under mud. Rock layers formed above. The great pressure and heat slowly changed the wood into soft coal, and then hard coal. Thus the coal mined today is energy that was captured by trees millions of years ago.

There are many deposits of coal in the United States. Scientists think that there is enough coal to last for many generations. But that does not give us the right to waste it.

Coal is often wasted at the mine. It is frequently wasted at the factory and in the home. By building more efficient furnaces and stoves, science is helping to save coal. Buildings are insulated so that less heat is required to heat them in the winter. All these ways help to conserve fuels.

Recently scientists have been experimenting with burning coal underground. This may seem like a wasteful thing to do. Actually it is a conservation measure. Some mines have a poor quality coal. Or it may be difficult to take the coal from the mine. By regulating the amount of air entering the mine, scientists can burn the coal and collect the gases formed. The gases may then be separated. Some of them may be used as fuel. Others are valuable as raw materials in chemical plants.



(milery Standard Oll Company (See Jury)

Refinery.—In refineries such as this liquid gold—petroleum—is changed into gosoline, kerosene, and goset with scores of usethe tail structures in the background are towers where petroleum is distilled into its ports or fractions. The toaks in the foreground are used to store the various praducts. Why are the tanks pointed within?

As yet this has been done only on an experimental scale. If it proves to be successful, it may become a common way of "muning" coal.

Ou-Ltaun Golo. --The story of oil is one of over-supply and misuse and waste. No one knows exactly how great the oil reserves are in our country, but most scientists believe the supply is limited. If oil is wasted, we may exhaust our supply within a generation. Oil is so important in this day of machures that scientists have scarched throughout the world for new deposits. Alaska, South America, and even the rocks under the occans have been explored for oil. In recent years shale oil has been produced from shale rocks in Colorado. So far the production of shale oil is not practical. But it may be necessary of the occans have fails on the supples fail.

Scientists are also helping to conserve oil by inventing equipment that burns oil more efficiently. Modern oil burners



Amber Waves of Grain.—This is beauty, poetry, and music. This is America: a land which provides bountifully for its people, a people who love their land and know how to care for it.

are made so that they mix the proper amount of air with the oil to obtain the correct combustion.

NATURAL GAS.—Natural gas is another of nature's products that have taken millions of years to make. Gas, like oil, has been wasted in enormous amounts. Now, however, it is being conserved. Natural gas from Louisiana is carried by pipes to Atlanta and St. Louis. Gas from Texas is piped to Chicago and Minneapolis, and even areas as far east as New York State are now receiving natural gas through pipe lines. Who knows, perhaps some day almost every town will have natural gas from the great sources in the south central part of our country. The more uses there are the less our fuel must be wasted.

WHAT YOU CAN DO.—Fuel conservation, as with conservation of all resources, is everybody's job. We know that scientists are helping by discovering new deposits and new methods of obtaining fuels. Our government is helping by enforcing laws for good conservation practices in the forests, and at the mines and wells. You can help by applying what you have learned about fire and its control. You can make sure that fuels are being burned efficiently in your home. You can understand why conservation laws are needed, and obey the laws. Most important, you can be informed about the problem of fuel conservation, and have a scientific attitude about it.

THINKING THINGS OVER —This whole topic is intended to help you think things over. Look back in your book and your Science Discovery Book to discover the many details about conservation which you have studied. The time to think about conservation is not once a year but every day. Conservation in little things adds up to conservation in big things when on a nation-wide scale.

Everything you use needs to be conserved. Paper, pencils, ink, fabrics, leather, sugar, foods of all kinds, wheat, oats, and counties other articles must be conserved. Only with an abundance of these things can use have healthy, happy lives. With an adequate supply of natural resources and an understanding of nature's laws, there is no limit to marks progress.

KEY WORDS

balance of nature mineral breeding season natural resources consertation polluted contour planting scientific forestry corrosion shale oil invulated strp planting Mesabi Range taconite

KEY STATEMENTS

1 Land is conserved by preventing erosion

2 Contour and strip planting help to prevent erosion of soil

3 Water is conserved by preventing floods.

4 Shelter belts of trees help to prevent wind erosion and conserve water.

5 Loss of vegetation is followed by loss of wild life and then by loss of soil

6 Man often upsets the balance of nature.

7 Scientific discoveries and in conservation

8. Corrosion of metals, a form of oridation, is a cause of waste

9. Man-made plastics may be substituted for some metal uses.

10. There are four common natural fuels-wood, coal, oil, and natural gas.

11. Energy from burning wood, coal, oil, and natural gas represents energy from the sun stored by plants millions of years ago.

12. Conservation is a responsibility of everyone.

THOUGHT QUESTIONS

1. Why is coöperation necessary for the best conservation of soil?

2. How is vegetation, including forests, related to the conservation of our water supply?

3. How is erosion prevented by contour or strip planting?

4. How are wild life and vegetation partners in conservation?

5. How can corrosion be retarded or prevented?

6. Why are the hills not everlasting?

7. How is it that the heat from burning fuels represents stored energy from the sun?

8. What is meant by scientific forestry?

9. Make a list of any five articles in school or at home. Opposite each write the natural resource or resources that make it possible.

PROJECTS FOR YOUR SCIENCE DISCOVERY BOOK

1. Write to the Soil Conservation Service, U. S. Department of Agriculture, for bulletins on soil conservation for your section of the country. Read the bulletins and then make plans to help save your soil.

2. Make a survey of the soil erosion problem in the yards of members of the class. Work out ways to improve the situation.

3. Look up information comparing amount of forested lands in the United States during Colonial days and now. Try to explain the causes of the differences.

4. Read about the days of the bison herd and passenger pigeon. Try to account for the near destruction of the bison and the complete destruction of the passenger pigeon.

5. Look up information about the pollution of streams and its effects. If streams in your neighborhood are being polluted, try to arrange plans to stop the pollution.

6. Write to your state capital for information about the important minerals produced in your state. Study conservation methods in use.

 Someone in the class might investigate plastics that are used as sub-titutes for metals. What metals? What are the raw materials used in making the plastics?

8 Investigate and report on the conservation methods used in mining coal

9 If you live near gas or oil wells, report on conservation methods used

10 Write a short story to explain how a sillage may become deserted as a result of lack of soil concervation. Select a good title for your story

Observers' Club

Young scientists find it interesting and helpful to organize an Observers' Club. Such clubs have officers whose duties are like those of officers in other clubs. Every member in an Observers' Club, however, contributes all he can to the club activities. Each member is on the alert for new things to observe, new facts to discover, new studies to make.

If your class wishes to organize an Observers' Club, arrange with your teacher for election of officers. Start as early as possible to prepare a program of the year's activities. Plan a schedule of mectings, arrange for a workshop, and prepare for as many different field trips as you can.

Above everything else, plan to make your club a conservation club. Know exactly what conservation means and how it applies to your community. Then do something worth while for conservation where you live.

ORGANIZATION

- I. Chief of Staff, and Assistant Chief of Staff.
 - A. Chief Health Officer, and Assistant.
 - B. Chief Observer, and Assistants as follows:
 - 1. Weather Observer.
 - 2. Astronomical Observer.
 - 3. Bird Observer.
 - 4. Plant Observer.
 - 5. Geological Observer.
 - 6. Others as needed.
 - C. Chief of Scientific Methods, and Assistant.
 - D. Chief of Records, and Assistant.
- II. Duties of these officers shall be those indicated by their titles. Some suggestions follow. Notice that duties suggested for one officer often suggest similar duties for another.
 - A. Chief of Staff.

This officer will announce and conduct meetings of the members of his staff as he and the staff may plan them. At these staff meetings the general business of the club should be cared for.

- B Chief Health Officer.
 - 1 This officer shall be responsible for adjusting the shades in the clubroom (classroom) for the proper control of light
 - 2 He shall observe and record au temperature in the room when he enters and make adjustments if they are needed.
 - 3 Euch day he shall make observations and records of the general properties of the air, such as dustiness, odors, and humidity.
 - 4 He shall have charge of such duties as the hygienic care of books and laboratory supplies
 - 5 He shall be responsible for health charts and records.
- C Chief Observer
 - 1 This officer shall direct the meetings of his division
 - 2 He shall see that reports of desirable observations are made and that charts and records of such observations are posted
- D Weather Observer
 - 1 This officer shall record the club weather observations and make charts for them. Such records shall include temperature, wind direction, wind velocity, condition of the sky, whether it rans or snows
 - The records shall also include all special observations (e.g., a ring round the moon) which may be reported by different members of the club.
- E. Astronomical Observer
 - I This officer shall make charts for recording star observations.
 - 2 He shall watch for newspaper and magazine reports of astronomical events and keep the club informed in advance of such events
- F. Bird Observer
 - This officer shall prepare charts for recording reports of birds seen and identified by any and all club members
 - 2 The charts shall record the name of the bird, date when seen, where seen, what it was doing when seen, and the name of the observer.
 - 3 No bird should be recorded as having been seen unless the observer supplies good evidence that the bird reported was actually seen
- G. Plant Observer
 - This officer shall provide charts, sketches, snapshots, spectmens, and similar records relating to small plants, shrubs, trees, and greenhouse exhibits in the park or school greenhouse.
 - He shall investigate interesting opportunities for observations of plants in the community and report them to the club
- 530 OBSERVERS' CLUB

- H. Geological Observer.
 - 1. This officer shall arrange exhibits of rocks and minerals.
 - 2. He shall search out and report interesting geological formations which may be visited by the club.
 - 3. He shall arrange exhibits of fossils and assist in the identification of fossils and other geological specimens.
- I. Chief of Scientific Methods.
 - 1. This officer must be a straight thinker, accustomed to thinking things through. It shall be his special duty to see that statements made by the club members are accurate and that opinions are based on sound evidence.
 - 2. At the request of the staff, he shall be ready to assist in the examination of notebooks to check for thought and method.
- J. Chief of Records.
 - 1. This officer shall serve as recording and corresponding secretary.
 - 2. At the request of the staff, he shall assist in keeping records of club members in their science work.
- III. All meetings shall be conducted according to standard rules of order.
- IV: Any member or officer who fails to live up to the duties of membership or office shall be subject to a hearing and removal by majority vote.

Calendar

September Observations

STARS.—Star observations are best started by reference to the North Star, Big Dipper, and other constellations of the northern sky. These are the guides by which we may locate other stars. They are convenient because they are always above the horizon.

When does the September Equinox occur? Is it the same all over the world? What conditions cause the equinox? This is a job for your chief astronomer.

PLANETS. Are there any planets to be seen among the stars around the pole? Why? Where should one look for the planets? Near the paths of what two celestial bodies? What planets are visible in September? The planets that are visible to the naked eye are Mercury (with difficulty), Venus, Mars, Jupiter, and Saturn.

Note each planet's course among the stars and the times of its rising and setting.

An almanac, the newspaper, or some magazine like the following are good places to look in order to learn what planets are visible each month and where to see them: Sky and Telescope. Sky Publishing Corp , 91 Huguenot St., New Rochelle, N. Y.

Science News Letter. Science Service, Inc., 1719 N St., N.W., Washington, D C.

Nature Magazine. American Nature Association, Washington, D C

WEATHER—Observe your local weather conditions daily, and then check against the weather forecast as published in the newspaper. To become a good weather observer you will need to observe and record the wind direction and velocity each morning or aftermoor. Note the condition of the sky, the kinds of clouds, and the kind and amount of precipitation Learn the different weather symbols found on the weather maps and use them to record your observations.

Of course, you will keep your ear open for weather sayings and signa, and check their accuracy.

PLANTS —Bring plants into the laboratory for fall and winter study. Geraniums, begonias, coleus, snapdragons, and ferns will be useful. The Plant Observer will see that the plants are cared for propedy.

ANIMALS — Many birds mugrate during the fall months. The Bird Observer should have charts ready to record arrivals and departures of birds. Other habits such as singing, feeding, flying, and perchang may also be observed and recorded.

Gardeners will be interested in insects, toads, and snakes in their gardens

How about a rat-extermination campaign, if one is necessary?

SPECIAL ITEL—Plan to collect and display farm and garden products on your Scence Discovery Table Each product should be correctly labeled Perhaps fruits and vegetables grown by class members can be displayed and prizes given as at a county fair. The display might also include seeds of the various plants

Plan a Science and Engineering Fair to be held in the spring. Write Science Service, Inc. for help.

October Observations

STARS —As you continue your star studies, observe especially the Milky Way Where is it? What is it? What importance has the Milky Way?

Begin to look for "shooting stars" (meteors) Which star has to do with the times of sumise and sumsel? Since the equinor, the days are growing shorter and the mghts longer. Why is this? Make a graph on the blackboard to abow the sumise and sumset times for

532 OBSERVERS' CLUB

. -

this month. Are the days changing in length more in the morning or in the evening?

Try to locate The Swan (The Northern Cross) and Deneb, its brightest star. Try also to locate other fall constellations such as the following:

The Scorpion is in the opposite part of the sky from Orion. The first magnitude star Antares is a bright red star.

The Archer is far to the south, lying in the Milky Way.

Aquarius, the Water-Carrier, contains four stars which form a Y and mark the water jug.

Boötes, The Bear Driver, contains the bright star Arcturus. The Northern Crown is a circlet of seven stars, one brighter than the rest.

Aquila, the Eagle, is the constellation with the very bright star Altair. There are bright stars on each side of Altair—three in a row—which will help you find Aquila. You will be interested to read the legend about Aquila.

Lyra, the Harp, with its bright star Vega, can be seen during the fall and also in May, June, and July.

PLANETS.—Continue the observation of planets discovered last month if they are still visible. How have their positions among the stars changed? Are any planets visible now that were not visible last month? Is there an "evening star"? What is it?

WEATHER.—What is your north latitude? When do you expect the first killing frost? Is that the end of your growing season? Why?

Continue making weather records and practicing weather forecasting.

Are the days gradually growing colder? How much on the average? Explain what is happening to cause the change. Does the average wind direction change as the temperature changes? Why?

PLANTS. Do the leaves of the broad-leaf trees drop during the fall where you live? Or do they stay green for two years and then drop? What is an evergreen tree?

Do any of the following trees or shrubs grow in your vicinity? Which ones?

The Rose of Sharon Red Oak	Sumach Cornelian Cherry Fire Thorn (cotoneastu) Beech	Birch Rhododendron
Poplar Bittersweet		Red Maple Iron Wood

Do their leaves show fall colors? They do in some parts of the country.

OBSERVERS' CLUB 533

Builds for wanter forcing may be brought in now. It is a good time also to make green wood cuttings from rows, hydrangeas, and forsytha. Such bulbs as hymenth and narresus should be kept cold for a few weeks after potting

ANIMALS -- Try to find a toad in your garden. Where does the toad go during the cold months?

Which of the following animals live in your vicinity: praine dog, gray squirrel, cottontal rabbt, praine mole, spotted skunk, woodchuck? If some other variety lives near you, find out what variety its In any case, make a special study of the usefulness or harmfulness of at least one of the animals that makes its home near where you hee

Birds vary in different parts of the country, such as the robin of the north, and the southern robin Of the following birds, find out which live mostly in one general locality, and which can be found almost overywhere in the United States: bobolnik, bobwhite, praine marsh (redwing blackbird), mockingbird, brown thrasher, finker, red-belled woodpecker, bise jay, chickadee, crow, raven, cardinal Selot birds from different localities and make comparisons of their babits and environments.

"Swat-the-Fly"--Why? How many kinds of flies can you find? How do they differ?

SPECIAL ITEM -- Plan now for Fire Prevention Week. If your town does not have a Fire Prevention Week, it will be a good lides for your science class to start one Write to the National Board of Fire Underwriters and your State Department of Conservation for suggestions Save property, labor, and luves by preventing fires

November Observations

STARS—Find Orion on a star map, and then try to locate it in the sky Read about Orion and about the two great stars Betelgeuse and Rigel How do they compare with the sun in distance from the earth, m size, temperature, and brightness?

Again locate the "Milky Way" and the constellation The Swan (Northern Cross) with its great star Deneb.

Late in November is a good time to watch for meteors Why is the name "shooting stars" insleading?

PLANETE --- What's new in planets this month? Check the location of Mars and Venus Is there a "morning" or "evening" star? What is it?

Do you know why the planets and moon appear to travel across 534 OBSERVERS' CLUB
the sky in about the same paths? Are the planets or the stars farther from the earth?

Try to locate someone who has a telescope and arrange to observe the planets and moon.

WEATHER.—Are the November clouds different in general from September clouds? Describe. Learn the symbols for the common clouds.

Do clouds at different heights travel in the same or different directions? What does this indicate about air currents? Which kinds of clouds are low, middle, and high clouds? Use "L" for low, "M" for middle, and "H" for high.

Keep up your wind direction reports on your weather chart.

Refer to the wind chart on page 49 for symbols to use in recording direction and speed.

In November early frosts are due in some parts of the country. Watch out for your plants. If you have learned to read a barometer, you will want to record air pressures also on your weather charts. What indications of weather changes, if any, can you observe from the activities of animals? Record them.

Check to discover if any local industry is affected by the weather changes.

PLANTS.—If you live in the north, and started seedlings in September, they probably need to be transplanted now. September cuttings also should be transplanted now.

Which of the following trees grow abundantly where you live? White pine, yellow pine, long-leaf pine, cherry, apple, pear, orange, lemon, grapefruit, banana (should this really be called a tree?), cabbage palmetto, cucumber tree, live oak, evergreen magnolia, tulip tree, cypress, maple (any kind), hemlock, spruce, arbor vitae, cedar? Select one tree which you can study at first hand and examine it for buds and branching arrangement.

Make a list of shrubs and vines that provide berries to feed the birds in winter. Compare vegetables and fruits grown where you live with those grown in other parts of the country. Try to discover reasons for any differences.

This is a good time to plan for your Christmas tree and decorations. There is danger of fire and you may wish to fireproof them. Leaflet 183L from the Department of Agriculture, *Fireproofing the Christmas Tree*, tells you how.

ANIMALS.—Continue your observations of bird arrivals and departures. Remember to put out food for winter birds when the snow may cover their natural feeding places.

Protect young fruit trees against damage by mice, rabbits, and other saumals

SPECIAL ITEM —Prepare now to avoid that cold. Get plenty of rest, exercise, and proper food Do not neglect the vitamins Do not over-cat. Nether should you cat too little as some do who want to keep than Avoid unnecessary crowds and keep away from people with colds

December Observations

STARS-Read about the Star of Bethlehem. Was it a comet, a nova (new star), a meteor, or three planets close together?

This month our closest star-the sun-starts "traveling north" again after the shortest day about December 21 or 22. From where you live, make a note where on the southwestern honron the sun ests on that day and compare with its position when it sets next March 21 or 22. Explain what happens If you lived on the equator or at the North Pole, where would the sun be on those two dars?

Determine the direction of "true" north and the magnetic north For which of these will you need a magnetic compass? How can you determine the other?

Ob-crve the Pleiades, called also the Seven Sisters Look again for Deneb and then for Vega Which is larger? Farther away?

PLANETS -- What planets are visible this month? Learn about at least one planet you do not already know.

WEATHER -- The First Cold Spell; The First Snowstorm; That Big Blow; will make good topics from which to choose for a scientific article for your English paper, and for your science class, too Whichever topic you select consider the weather factors involved Discuss the weather in terms of cause and effect, that is the scientific way

Compare your weather on December 25 with the weather in other places in the United States. Compare it also with the weather in Manda, Honolulu, and Fairbanks

Identify three or four different kinds of clouds and try to photograph them Label the photographs and put them in your Science Discovery Book

PLANTS -- From the newspaper learn the wholesale market prices of some farm products

What fruits and vegetables are being shipped into your town from other parts of the country? Why is this possible? Is it necessary?

If you have not completed your plans for winter flowers, refer back to November for suggestions.

Make a trip to a commercial greenhouse. However, do this before the Christmas rush.

Make a study of evergreens—trees. shrubs. and vines—used for Christmas decorations to determine if the needs for conservation are being observed. Consider especially American holly.

Do you know the story of mistletoe? If not, look it up and tell it as a Christmas story to your class.

During Christmas vacation, take a hike through the woods, open fields, or along a country road to study the trees and shrubs in winter. Note also grasses and weeds. Do any of these contain seeds? Do any of the plants furnish food for the winter birds?

ANIMALS .- Make a bird census on Christmas day.

The following bulletins available from the Fish and Wildlife Service, Department of Interior, Washington 25. D. C. may help you:

CB1, Attracting Birds; CB17, Local Bird Refuges: CB13, Feeding Wild Life in Winter.

If you have snow during December, go out into the woods and fields and find wild animal tracks. Photograph them or make sketches to illustrate. Tracks are better photographed with slanting rays of light which cause shadows. Be careful to make the correct exposure.

SPECIAL ITEM.—Investigate the heating and ventilating plant in your home and at school. How does the heat get from the burning fuel to the air in the rooms? Have in mind the three ways by which heat is transferred—conduction, convection, and radiation. Conservation of fuel involves proper combustion, and insulation of the roof and walls of buildings. Is fuel being conserved? Look for fire hazards. If you find any, do something to prevent fires. Make diagrams to illustrate your discoveries. Observe the fire escape nearest to your classroom.

January Observations

STARS.—Continue your study of stars and constellations. Learn some interesting facts about them.

PLANETS.—Are any of the planets that were visible last month visible now? If so, has their location among the stars changed? Draw their positions on your star map.

Do you want to make a telescope? If you do, write to the magazine Sky and Telescope for help or read about it in Starcraft by Barton and Joseph, published by Whittlesey House, McGraw-Hill Book Co.

WEATHER.—Morning and evening cloud forms and colors are most interesting to photograph, especially if you can use color film.

Do you believe that a "red sunset is followed usually by a fair day"? Check such observations with the prediction on the weather map or in the paper, and write what actually happens.

January and February are good months to keep weather records, using the chart found in your Science Discovery Book. Use the new symbols (see page 95) for recording weather facts.

Form a Weather Forecaster's Department of your science club.

The Educational Series of the U S. Weather Bureau is free to teachers and principals Others must pay a small fee:

The Educational Series contains. Cloud Forms, Weather Forecasting, No 42. Explanation of the Weather Map; The Weather Bureau

PLANTS - How do trees differ in their branching arrangement? Why do they differ? Winter is a good time to observe and make drawings of the ways trees branch

Bring in bulbs-marcissi, daffodils, jonquils. Send for your seed catalog and begin now to plan your garden Make a diagram of your garden Fruit trees and yates may be pruned now.

ANDIALS - Have you any writer birds about your house? What do they eat? Do you need to replensh the food counter?

If you have hemlocks near by, look there for chickadees.

Continue your study of animal tracks in the snow. Compare tracks of wild animals and birds, with cats, dogs, horses, cows, chickens, and turkeys if you can

SPECIAL ITEX - Do you know how sound travels and how fast? This is a good month to experiment with sound. Get some boy or girl from the physics class to help you

Here are some things you can do.

- 1 Note how much longer it takes for the sound of a steam whistle to reach you than for the light from the steam; or the sound of an ax after you see the blow
- 2 Find out how tightening a wohn string affects the pitch. How does the pitch of a big string compare with that of a small (slender) string on the violin or banjo?
- 3 Use two empty tin cans and a long string or wire to make a telephone
- 4 Find a place where you can call and hear an echo Try to explain what causes the echo

February Observations

STARS --- Make a chart and keep a record of the times of sunrise and sunset for the month Then on a piece of cross section or ruled

paper plot the times from left to right. Are the days growing long faster in the morning or evening?

PLANETS.—What is the "evening star"? "Morning star"?

What planet is visible now that you saw last month? Again mark its position on a star map.

WEATHER.—Every day post a weather map from the newspaper on the bulletin board.

The Chief Weather Observer will have an interesting job this month tracing the paths of "highs" and "lows" across the country on a map of the United States.

Add another set of weather observations to your weather chart. Note especially the relationship between wind direction and cold spells.

Using the weather map, compare weather conditions in Southern California, Florida, Washington (state), Maine, and your home.

How about that cold? Have your Health Observer find out how many colds each member of your class has had so far this winter. Then try to discover why some have had more than others. What can be done to prevent colds?

Determine the temperature and relative humidity in your classroom each day for several days. If the humidity is too low, try to have it increased.

PLANTS.—Now is the time to start seeds indoors for outdoor transplanting. Such seeds as verbena, phlox, larkspur, calendulas, stock, and snapdragons are suitable. Seeds of bedding plants petunias, and salvias—may be started now. Consult your seed catalog for others.

Try some of your garden seeds for per cent of germination before planting.

Bring in your daffodil and jonquil bulbs. If you bring in tulip, hyacinth, or crocus bulbs, keep them cool until they show green shoots.

Complete your garden plans.

Again visit the commercial greenhouse, this time to see preparations for Easter flowers.

ANIMALS.—Remember the birds. Be sure there is food for them, especially if you live where winters are cold and the land covered with snow. A bayberry bush supplies food for birds. Can you find one where you live?

Make a record of your winter residents.

Plan now to build nest boxes for birds. Have someone write to the Superintendent of Documents, Washington 25, D. C. for No. 11.72: 14, Homes for Birds (10¢).

Make plans to build bird baths as soon as the weather permits.

Make a census of all the pets owned by members of your class. Then each pupi should make a special study of his own pet, or someone cl-e's pet if he hasn't one of his own. Study wint foods the pet needs, how much at requires, how often it should be fed, how much watter it needs, its vitamin requirement, and about its bed. Be sure your pet receives scientific care

SPICIAL ITEM -- Make a study of the principal power used in your community or near-by city. Is it water, steam, or electric power' How 13 it produced, distributed, used?

March Observations

STARS —Are the days getting longer? Note the position of the sunset on the horizon on March 21 or 22 and compare this with its position on December 21 or 22. Try to measure the angle betteen the two positions What has really happened since December 21-22'

How have the positions of some of the constellations changed since December when observed at the same time of night? Try to explain the changes Remember stars rise about four minutes earlier each night

How many stars can you recognize in the sky and name?

PLANETS -- Continue your observation of the planets Learn all about the ones that are visible If you can do so, you will be interested to look at a planet through a telescope

If you started to make a telescope, how is it coming along?

WEATHER -"If March comes m like a lamb, it will go out like a lion " Check this statement to find out if it is true.

Keep a record of March weather, especially wind direction and velocity. Is it true that March is an especially windy month? Compare with data for other months and get official data from the Weather Bureau

PLAVES --If you live in the northern part of the United States, you may wish to start more seeds in boxes indoors Boys and girls in the 'outh, of course, can safely plant seeds out of doors Write for No A19.1743/2-3, Helbeds and Cold Frames, (Superintendent of Decuments, 10c)

Pussy willows are beginning to blossom at about latitude 40° N Bring in branches of forsythia to force the yellow blossoms to come out early.

On your garden plans, have you indicated second and third plantings of peas, beans, sweet corn, etc.? Why do you do this?

Remember to run the rows across the slopes and around the hills, not up and down the hillsides. This will help to conserve both soil and water.

In the north the pruning of fruit trees should be completed very soon before the sap begins to run.

Many states observe Arbor Day in April. When does your state observe it? Plan for it now.

Write for A1.9:1987, Common Discases of Important Shade Trees, (Superintendent of Documents, 15¢).

ANIMALS.—Are your bird houses ready? They should be put out now at the latest in most states, except those farthest north.

Robins and bluebirds are finding their way north again. Watch for their migrations.

Keep a bird list all this month and during April and May. List the birds that pass through your country and those that stay with you for the summer.

Prepare to observe Bird Day. This will be a good project for your Bird Club to plan and direct. The following bulletin from the Fish and Wildlife Service, Department of Interior, will help:

CB12, Improving Farm Environment for Wild Life.

Write to Biological Survey, Department of Agriculture, for copy of laws relating to bird migration.

Begin again your war on harmful insects. Swat the fly. Why? Write to the Superintendent of Documents for the following bulletins: 182L, Housefly Control; 145L, Clothes Moths; 186L, Domestic Mosquito (Department of Agriculture).

Oil on the surface of stagnant water pools will reduce the number of mosquitoes.

Remember cats are natural enemies of birds. Prevent your pets from killing birds, and take stray cats to the Animal Rescue League or Humane Society.

If you live on a farm, look for woodchuck holes. If in a field, they may cause a horse to break a leg. Kill the woodchuck and fill the hole.

Another animal to keep account of is the common meadow mole. SPECIAL ITEM.—Science and Engineering Fair. Have your club members completed their exhibits for the Science and Engineering Fair? Be sure your exhibit is neatly arranged and labeled, and as perfect mechanically as you can make it. No exhibit is too simple to be worth entering in the Fair.

WATER STORAGE —Spring is the time of floods. Now is a good time for your class to make a special investigation of floods in your locality. What damage usually results? What steps are being taken to prevent flood damage?

In connection with your study, look up one of the great flood control projects and find out what was done and how worth while it is.

Now is a good time to plan your soil conservation projects.

April Observations

STARS -- Keep a record this month of time of sunrise and sunset. Compare with previous records.

Determine the differences in the sunlight and in the shadow, other things being the same. Explain any differences you discover.

PLANETS --- What planet is brightest now? Where is it located among the stars? Is it a "morning" or an "evening" star?

WEATHER - "April showers bring May flowers." How accurate is this statement? Why?

Observe and record wind directions and velocity, temperatures, kind of preepitation, and kinds of clouds. Keep trying your hand at weather forecasting. Watch out for the "cold buz."

What weather factors are related to spring foods? What can be done about it? Write for Miscellaneous Publication 556, U S Department of Agriculture. Write also to your State Conservation Commission. All out for conservation.

PLANTS - Observe the buds of trees and shrubs Are they showing signs of opening? Are they located at the ends of twigs or along the sides? What difference does their location make in pruning?

In the latitude of New York, red maples and shad bush are in bloom What are the early spring blossoms where you live?

Remember to do all that you can to protect the wild flowers.

Outdoor planting can begin for some seeds even in the north-

Harden up seedings by exposing them to cool air for gradually increasing periods before transplanting them out of doors-

Clean up around the stems of trees and shrubs Even in the north such seeds as asters, calendulas, cosmos, snapdragons, verbenas, and rinnias can be statted safely out of doors.

As soon as you can get at your spring garden work, pull or dig up all weeds. That will save work later on.

Write for No A1.9 2007, Mixing Fertilizers on the Farm, (Superintendent of Documents, 56), and IS-18, How Much Fertilizer Shall I User (Department of Agriculture).

Look for early wild flowers, but do not pick them. Many localities where wild flowers grew are no longer suitable for wild things because of storage dams, draining swamps, and clearing woods for crops and buildings. Therefore wild flowers are precious. Learn how to protect those you have. If there are laws to protect wild flowers in your state, learn them and do what you can to have them obeyed.

Organize a Wild Flower Protective Club. If there is an adult nature club or garden club where you live, ask its members to help you. If there is none, perhaps your teacher and parents will want to organize for conservation of the wild plants.

Do something to observe Arbor Day. Plant a tree, plant a shrub, or take steps to protect plants you have against damage. Send to Department of Agriculture for F1567, Propagation of Trees and Shrubs.

Make a record of the dates when different kinds of trees and shrubs blossom. Do the leaves or blossoms appear first? If you have cold frames or hot beds, remember to ventilate and water them.

Send to the Department of Agriculture for No. 161L. Eastern Tent Caterpillars, if your trees are likely to be troubled with this insect.

ANIMALS.—Spring migration of birds has started, so start your bird lists.

When migration is under way, nesting time for some birds is near. Do they need nesting material and nest boxes where you live? If so, your Chief Bird Observer should be on the alert. Be prepared for your bird guests.

Are your trees likely to be harmed by white marked tussock moths? You can help protect your trees by tying cotton gunny sacks or sticky flypaper around the stem.

Your trees may need to be sprayed to protect them against insects and disease. Be sure to get the advice of tree experts.

Remember to kill every fly you can, and so help to prevent the spread of certain diseases. What diseases do scientists tell us are spread by flies? Mosquitoes? Plan to control mosquito breeding places.

See DDT for Control of Household Pests (A77.302: D33/5, Superintendent of Documents, 5¢).

This month has Be Kind to Animals Week. Why not be kind to animals all the time? If you observe cases of cruelty to animals, report them or try to prevent them.

SPECIAL ITEMS.—Make a study of some local industry. Are its processes mainly physical, chemical, or biological? In how many ways is the industry important to you? How does it affect the wild life in your community? STARS -- What constellations are visible these nights that were not visible during the winter? Can you account for the changes?

PLANETS -- Do the planets or the moon have anything to do with the time for planting? What evidence ean you give to help prove your ideas?

WEATHER -- Have the planets or the moon any effect on the weather' What evidence can you give to help prove your ideas?

What weather factors do you need to observe to forecast the weather? What instruments are needed?

Continue your weather records and your forecasting Compare the weather with your forecasts and with official forecasts to test their accuracy

Plasms—Care for your garden It will be interesting for you to keep an account of the cost of seeds, and the value of your garden products Is a garden worth while? Consider not only the value of the vegetables and flowers, but also the value of the exercise to your health and the satisfaction you get from the accomplishment.

If you have a camera in which you can use color film, try your skill at photographing flowers. Be sure to make a note of the name of each flower and the date Try to show leaves as well as flowers.

Make a collection of different kands of woods II possible, cut out a pace that will include the bark II you start with green wood, it muve be diried out very showly. When the piece is dry, sandpaper and polish the surface so the grain will show. If you have a magmifer, examine a cross section, and make a drawing to show what it is like

 $\mathbf{Ax}_{\mathrm{MALS}} - \mathbf{Baby-bird}$ time is here in many localities. Watch the cats,

Plan early bird hikes Learn to know the birds by their "calls" and songs as well as by their looks If you have patience and proper camera equipment, try to photograph the birds.

Have you insect enemies in your graden? If so, write to the U S. Department of Agnoulture for help. The following bulletins are useful 2L, Cuttorms in the Garden; 620M, Handbook on Insect Emenus of Flowers and Shrine 356). See also A Vegetable Gardent's Handbook on Insects and Diseases (Superintendent of Documents, 156)

Earthworms are garden helpers. Observe the earthworm to learn its habits and how it is helpful

SPECIAL ITEM ---What kind of transportation is most important to your community? Make a study of it and its importance What

scientific principles are especially related to it? Try to make a model of some kind to illustrate important things about the industry.

June Observations

Are you busy at this time reviewing the year's school work, taking examinations, going to school picnics, and generally rounding out another successful school year? As you look back over the year's work in science, what important things stand out? How has science helped you?

Let us now plan our science adventures for the summer so that everyone may have interesting experiences and interesting treasures of science to exhibit when school opens again in September.

What to Do in the Summer

Many of you will have jobs of one kind or another to earn money or to get experience. Your work may be caring for city lawns and gardens, or helping a farmer with his work. Perhaps you will take an auto trip to our parks or spend time in a summer camp. Whatever you do or wherever you are, you will have the great outdoors with all its treasures on land, in the water and soil, and in the air. Use every opportunity to know something better than before through your own effort.

Summer adventures will be much more valuable and interesting if you carry a pocket notebook with you for immediate records of what you observe or experience. Whenever you collect a specimen, no matter what it is, always make a note telling exactly when and where you found it and any interesting things about it that you can discover at the time. All specimens collected should be accurately identified and labeled.

Summer clubs might be formed, such as the "Fruit Tree Club," the "Broad Leaf Club," or the "Evergreen Club." Each club would study the particular trees or shrubs represented by its name. The members would learn the shape of the leaf, the bark, the way the tree branches, and other facts about each tree or shrub. All leaves collected should be mounted and labeled. With an ink pad and a roller you can make ink prints of leaves in your books.

Other clubs might be the "Garden Club," the "Vegetable Club," the "Flower Club," or the "Weed Collectors' Club." In these clubs samples of plants, flowers, and even seeds might be collected and visits made to different gardens. Garden insects, butterflies, and moths also present interesting opportunities for adventure in the

The "Mineral Collectors' Club" represents a hobby that a great many people enjoy. The Boy Scont Book on Minerals or books from the puble hibrary will help you to identify minerals. Be sure to hade each one as you find it, telling where you found it, and all about it Many munerals occur as little crystals in rocks such as limestone. Watch for such crystals as well as for farger samples.

A "Brd Club," like all science clubs, is most successful if its work continues all through the year. Summer records, of course, should continue to give the name of the bird, the date and place seen, what the bird was doing, its song, and any special information.

Finally, a "Science Readers' Club" is suggested Perhaps we should think of this as a "Rainy Day Club," because it is on rainy days that you may feel inclined to go to the library to read about science things you have seen or collected. Rainy days are good days for putting your records and collections in order.

Appendix

Table of Relative Humidity in Per Cent

Locate the dry-bulb temperature in the column at the left marked t, and opposite this, in the column headed by the number of degrees difference in temperature between your wet- and dry-bulb readings, you will find the number of per cent of humidity.

t		DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE DRI- AND WET-BULB THERMOMETERS									1						
	1°	2°	32	4°	5°	6°	72	8°	9°	10°	110	12*	15"	14	; 15°	16°	1
55 56 57 58 59	94 94 94 94 94 94	88 88 88 89 89	82 82 83 83 83	76 77 77 78 78	70 71 71 72 72	65 65 66 67 67	59 60 61 61 62	54 55 55 56 57	49 50 50 51 52	43 44 45 46 47	39 40 40 42 43	34 35 36 37 38	29 30 32 33 34	24 25 27 28 29	19 21 22 24 25	15 16 18 19 21	55 56 57 58 59
60 61 62 63 64	94 94 95 95 95	89 89 89 89 89 90	84 84 84 84 85	78 78 79 79 79	73 73 74 74 74 74	68 68 69 69 70	63 63 64 64 65	58 58 59 60 60	53 54 54 55 55 56	48 49 50 51 51	44 44 45 46 47	39 40 41 42 43	34 35 37 38 38	30 32 32 33 34	26 27 28 29 30	22 23 24 26 27	60 61 62 63 64
65 66 67 68 69	95 95 95 95 95 95	90 90 90 90 90 90	85 85 85 85 85 86	80 80 80 81 81	75 75 76 76 76 76	70 71 71 71 71 72	65 66 66 67 67	61 61 62 63 63	56 57 58 58 58 59	52 53 53 54 55	48 49 49 50 51	44 45 45 46 47	39 40 41 42 43	35 36 37 38 39	31 32 33 34 35	28 29 30 31 32	65 66 67 68 69
70 71 72 73 74	95 95 95 95 95 95	90 91 91 91 91 91	86 86 86 86 86	81 81 82 82 82 82	77 77 77 78 78	72 72 73 73 74	68 68 69 69 70	64 64 65 65 66	60 60 61 61 62	55 56 57 57 58	52 52 53 53 54	48 48 49 50 50	44 45 45 46 47	40 41 42 42 43	36 37 38 39 40	33 34 35 35 35 36	70 71 72 73 74
75 76 77 78 79	95 95 95 96 96	91 91 91 91 91 91	87 87 87 87 87 87	82 82 83 83 83 83	78 78 78 79 79	74 74 74 75 75	70 70 71 71 71 71	66 66 67 67 68	62 63 63 63 64	58 59 59 60 60	55 55 56 56 57	51 52 52 53 53	47 48 49 49 50	44 45 45 46 47	40 41 42 42 43	37 38 39 39 40	75 76 77 78 79

The following solution contains the necessary minerals for plant growth For testing, make three solutions as follows:

1 Containing all minerals

2 Containing all minerals except potassium nitrate

3 Containing all minerals except calcium sulfate Compare growth of seedlings in each of the three solutions and in distilled water.

Water (distilled)									2 quarts
Sodium chioride (table salt)				-	•				32 OZ
Caluum sulfate				•	•	•	٠	•	32 DZ.
Magnesium sulfate	•	•	•	•	•	•	٠		32 OZ.
Calcium phosphate .									32 02
Pota-sium nitrate (saltpeter)	÷		•						18 02.

Add one drop of a dilute solution of iron chloride.

See also references for "Soilless gardening" and use of hormones and vitamuns for stimulating plant growth

Comparison of Boiling Points of Water, Atmospheric Pressure, and Altitude

BOILING POINTS OF WATER	BABOMETER READINGS INCHES OF MERCERT	APPROXIMATE ALTITUDES IN FEFT			
200° F.	23.45	6650			
201° F	23 94	6070			
202° F.	2144	5510			
203° F.	24 95	4950			
204° F.	25 46	4390			
205° F.	25 09	3830			
206° F.	26 53	3280			
207° F.	27.06	2730			
208° F.	27.62	2170			
209° F.	28 18	1620			
210° F.	28.75	1080			
211° F	29 33	530			
212° F.	29 92	Sea Level 0			
213 F.	30.52				

(Taylor Instrument Co calculations)

Millibars and Inches of Air Pressure

(U.S. Department of Agriculture, Weather Bureau calculations)

MB. INCHES	MB. INCHES	MB. INCHES	MB. INCHES	MB. INCHES	MB. INCHES
Mb. INCIRES 940 27.76 941 27.79 942 27.82 943 27.85 944 27.85 945 27.91 946 27.94 947 27.96 948 27.99 949 28.02 950 28.05 951 28.08 952 28.11 953 28.14 954 28.17 955 28.20	MB. INCIDES 960 28.35 961 28.38 962 28.41 963 28.44 964 28.47 965 28.50 966 28.53 967 28.56 968 28.58 969 28.61 970 28.64 971 28.67 972 28.70 973 28.73 974 28.76 975 28.70	Mb. INCUES 980 28.94 981 28.97 982 29.00 983 29.03 984 29.06 985 29.09 986 29.12 987 29.15 988 29.18 989 29.21 990 29.23 991 29.26 992 29.29 993 29.32 994 29.35 995 29.34	Mn. INCHES 1000 29.53 1001 29.56 1002 29.59 1003 29.62 1004 29.65 1005 29.68 1006 29.71 1007 29.74 1008 29.77 1009 29.80 1010 29.83 1011 29.85 1012 29.88 1013 29.91 1014 29.94 1015 29.97	Mp. INCRES 1020 30.12 1021 30.15 1022 30.18 1023 30.21 1024 30.24 1025 30.27 1026 30.30 1027 30.33 1028 30.36 1029 30.39 1030 30.42 1031 30.45 1032 30.47 1033 30.50 1034 30.53 1035 30.56 1036 30.59	Mb. INCRES 1040 30.71 1041 30.74 1042 30.77 1043 30.80 1044 30.83 1045 30.86 1046 30.89 1047 30.92 1048 30.95 1049 30.98 1050 31.01 1051 31.04 1052 31.07 1053 31.10 1054 31.12 1055 31.15 1056 31.18
956 28.23 957 28.26 958 28.29 959 28.32	976 28.82 977 28.85 978 28.88 979 28.91	996 29.41 997 29.44 998 29.47 999 29.50	1016 30.00 1017 30.03 1018 30.06 1019 30.09	1036 30.59 1037 30.62 1038 30.65 1039 30.65	1056 31.18 1057 31.21 1058 31.24 1059 31.27

Table of Melting and Boiling Points

(Approximate)

SUBSTANCE	MELTING POINT	BOILING POINT
	1709 1	172° F
Alcohol (ethyl)	-179° f.	112 1.
Butter fat	100°-107° F.	0149 1
Carbon tetrachlorido	-10° F.	214 F.
Crisco	71°87° F.	
Lard	104°-116° F.	
Paraffin	102°-131° F	
	100° 114° F	
1a110 ff	109 -114 1.	
A 11	10459 1	4698° F.
Gold.	1945 F.	4442° F.
Iron	2786° F.	9777° F
Lead	620° F.	2/// I.
Mercury	- 37° F.	070 1.
Phosphore (W. ii	111° F.	554 F.
Sulfu-	235° F.	S33° F.
Woter	32° F	212° F.
"ater	04 1.	

Control of Insect and Fungus Plant Diseases

(For detailed information as to best time to spray or dust, and which preparations to use, write to your State Experimental Station. See also MP 605. A Vigitable Gordener's Handbook on Insects and Discusses (Department of Agrouldure, Washington 25, D.C.)

INSECT CONTROL

Calcium arsenate enrau:	calcium arsenate	5 tablespoons			
7-5-	hydrated lune	3 ounces			
	water	1 gallon			
U-e for eabhage cater	pillars (before cabbage h	earls form).			
Nucotune sulfate spray:	Nicotine sulfate (40*	(7) 1 tablespoon			
	soap	2 tablespoons of flakes			
Use for aphids.	water	1 gallon			
Roltnone spray.	eube root powder water	3 tablespoons 1 gallon			
Use for Meucan bear	a beetle, spotied cucumb	er beetle.			
Cryolite dust	cryolite	2 pounds			
	tale (Do not add lime or i	1 pound release mixture)			
Use for cabbage cate fruits form), potate	pillars (before heads fo beetle, flea beetles, fom	rm), melon worm (before ato fruitworm			
Nucotune sulfate dust:	nicotine sulfate (40;	c) 5 teaspoons			
Use for aphids.	hydrated lime	1 pound			
Rotenone dust:	Dust pasture sold by	y dealer.			
Use for Mexican be: (after fruit is form	an beetle, spotted cucum ed), measuring worms, E	iber beetle, melon worms uropean com borer.			
Pyrethrum dust	Dust mexture sold by	y dealer.			
Use for measuring we	ams, nea weevil.				

CONTROL OF FUNGUS DISEASES

Bordow: Muture is used to control Early Blight and Late Blight of potators, Celery Blight, and Tomato Leaf Spot. It will also control Cherry Leaf Spot, and such dressers as Black Spot on roces. For some plants with tender foliage, such as peaches and Japanese plum, sulfur should be used instead of Bordeaux Muture.

Note .- Bordeaux Mixture may be used as a spray or a dust. Spray should be directed so as to reach the underside of leaves. It is important to use proper quantities for various plants. Be sure to follow directions on the container.

Sulfur is used to control such diseases as apple scab and brown rot on peaches, plums, and cherries. It is often used as a spray in combination with arsenate of lead. Sulfur should not be used on squashes, melons, or cucumbers.

Bordcaux mixture for spraying:

copper sulfate (bluestone)	4 ounces
hydrated lime	4 ounces
water	3 gallons

Dissolve the copper sulfate in half the water first. Make a paste of the lime in a small amount of water. Then add the rest of the water to the paste. Pour the solutions together and mix. Never mix in metal containers. Make a fresh solution each time used. Wash sprayer thoroughly after use.

Some Rules for Weather Forecasting

1. The storm areas (cycles) move across the United States from west to east. They usually pass over the St. Lawrence River region. Or the path goes from the southwest to the northeast and out the St. Lawrence River region. (See map on page 101.)

2. On a weather map, the direction of the wind in the storm area (low) is somewhat circular and opposite to the motion of the hands of a clock. The general direction is along the isobars, crossing them slightly toward the center.

3. Facing the wind, the right hand stretched out at the side will indicate roughly the direction of the storm center.

4. The direction of the wind, together with the position of the storm center, will determine in which of the four quadrants (quarters) of the cyclone the observer is located. The weather conditions of each of the four quadrants of a storm area are somewhat constant.

5. The barometer reading will indicate the nearness or remoteness of the storm center, if the observer refers to the isobars on the weather map.

6. A changing air pressure indicates the approach or passing of a storm area. For example, if your town happens to be in the southeast quarter and the storm is moving so as to bring the northwest quarter to you (draw this on your paper), you can predict weather conditions similar to those prevailing in the northwest quarter. If the storm center has not reached you, you should be able to predict whether the storm center will pass north or south of You and hence what weather you will have. If you know by study of the map how fast the storm is moving, you can predict when it will reach you.

7 A very slowly falling pressure indicates warmer temperatures. A very slowly rising pressure indicates cooler temperatures

8 Generally, winds from the east quadrants with falling barometer indicate stormy weather. Winds changing to the west quadrants indicate fur weather

9 Weather map pressures are eea-level pressures, therefore the borometer reading of a given locably bulked be converted to sea-level reading to compute with the weather map dyta. Since the pressure decreases as the altitude intraves, comething must be added to convert a local pressure to sea-level pressure Practically I meh should be added for each 900 feet altitude or fraction or multiple thereof. A change of 900 feet m altitude would be equal to about 34 multibars

The Morse Code

A		1		6	
		3		9	•••
в		ĸ		т	-
(.		L		U	••-
D		М		v	•••-
c	•	N		W	
F		0	• •	х	
G		Р		Y	
н	••••	Q		z	
I	••	R	• ••		
1		4		8	
2	••=••	5		9	- •• -
3	••••	6		0	-
		7			

Glossary

acid-A substance which has a sour taste and turns blue litmus red.

ACTH-A fluid produced by a gland at the base of the brain; has been used successfully in the treatment of severe burns and in diseases of the joints.

adaptation-Fitness to live in a particular place or to do a certain thing.

aeration-The process of putting air into water or soil.

- air mass-A volume of air extending many miles over the earth's surface and up to several thousand feet in height. It is made up of air of approximately the same temperature, pressure, and moisture content. It moves as a unit.
- air pressure (atmospheric)-The pressure exerted by air against objects due to its weight.
- alcohol (grain)-A liquid having narcotic properties. It is used in some thermometers, and as a solvent.
- algae-Simple forms of plant life sometimes found in water.
- alkali-A substance which has a slippery feeling and a bitter taste, and turns red litmus blue.
- altitude-Distance above sea level; in astronomy, the angular distance of a star above the horizon.
- ammonia (household)-A solution of ammonium hydroxide in water.
- anemometer-An instrument used to measure the speed of the wind.
- annuals-Plants that complete their life cycle of growth, reproduction, and death within a single year or season.
- anther-Small knob at end of stamen of flower. Inside anther are the pollen grains.
- anticyclone-As seen from above in the northern hemisphere, a clockwisewhirling mass of air of high pressure.
- area of high pressure-An anticyclone area.

area of low pressure-The center portion of a cyclonic storm.

armature-A coil of wire wound around a soft iron core.

- almosphere-The gases surrounding the earth.
- almospheric pressure-Air pressure: 14.7 lbs. to the square inch at sca level. adomic energy (more correctly called nuclear energy)-A form of energy re-
- leased when the nuclei of certain elements split.

aris-A line about which a body turns.

bacteria-One-celled, non-green plants invisible to naked eye.

balance-An instrument for accurate weighing.

barometer-An instrument which measures changes in atmospheric pressureaneroid-A harometer without liquid.

mercurial-A barometer in which mercury is used

beetles-Insects having armor-like wing covers

Big Dipper—A portion of the constellation Ursa Major, in the form of s dipper, in the northern sky. It is called Big to distinguish it from a similar but smaller constellation

blue curvel.-Copper sulfate, a solution sometimes used to kill algae in water, and as an ingredient of spray materials for the control of fungus discases of plants.

boiling point-The temperature to which a liquid must be heated to cause it to change rapidly to a gas (This temperature is constant for each pure liquid)

borar-A white alkaline powder often used for softening water

budding-Propagating plants by inserting a bud into the growing part of the stem of another plant.

bulb-A special stem structure in which food is stored by a plant to start the growth the next season.

burdock-A weed

capillarity-The lifting of certain liquids by means of small, tube-like spaces

carbohydrates-Sugar, starch, and cellulose compounds made of carbon, hydrogen, and ovygen

carbon letrachloride-A non-combustible liquid commonly used for cleaning cloth and putting out fire. It is sold under various trade names.

Cassiopera-A constellation forming a "W" in the northern sky. In certain positions it appears inverted,

cause and effect-A cause is a happening that always precedes another happening (the effect) and without which the second happening could not occur

causic soda-Sodium hydroxide; an alkaline substance used in making sosp celevial-Referring to the heavens, the apparent sky sphere.

centigrade-A thermometer scale divided into one hundred divisions between the freezing temperature and the boiling temperature of water.

cesspool-An underground tank with drain, for the disposal of sewage.

chain reaction-A process by which products given off in a change of state cause more of the original material to change.

characteristics-The features which distinguish one substance from another

chemically pure-The condition of a substance when it contains no foreign material.

chloride of lime-A white powder containing chlorine and used both to kill germs and as a deodorizer

chlorination-Putting chlorine into a water supply for the purpose of killing bacteria,

chlorine--A greenish-yellow gas or liquid, sometimes used to destroy germs. chlorophyll--Green coloring matter of leaves and bark.

chronometer-A ship's clock.

dinical thermometer-A fever thermometer.

doud-Visible fog mass some distance above earth's surface.

cirrus-A feathery cloud, high above the earth.

cumulus-A eloud having a rounded or dome-shaped top.

nimbostratus-Usual rain clouds. Low-lying stratus clouds heavy with moisture which gives them dark eolor.

nimbus-A storm eloud.

storm-Rain- or snow-bringing clouds of dark gray aspect.

stratocumulus-Combination cloud, part stratus, part eumulus. Usually formed when eumulus clouds begin to spread out.

thunder-Dark eumulus elouds which give rise to thunder storms.

cocoon-Nest-like case in which larva rests while changing form.

codling moth-An insect whose larva is best known as the "worm" in the apple. cold front-The advancing boundary of a large mass of cold air.

cold wave-A period of continued eold weather.

compass-A magnetic needle free to swing above a dial with the directions marked on it.

compost-A heap of decomposing (decaying) vegetable matter.

compound-A substance composed of two or more elements chemically combined.

condensation-The process by which a gas is changed to the liquid form. condenser-A piece of apparatus used to cool a gas and so change it to a liquid. conduction-The transfer of heat through solids from particle to particle. conductor (clectrical)-A metal rod or wire that transmits electricity efficiently.

conduit-A pipe used to conduct water from its source to a reservoir.

conservation-The eareful and scientific method of using and, where possible, replacing natural resources.

constellation-A group (eonfiguration) of prominent stars.

contamination-Making food or water unfit to be taken into the body.

contour planting-A scientific method of tilling the soil whereby rows are planted horizontally around hills rather than up and down.

contract-To draw together; to occupy less space because of cooling.

conrection-The transfer of heat by the movement of gases and liquids.

corona-A ring of colored light appearing close around the sun or moon.

cortisone-A chemical produced by the outer layer of the adrenal glands; has been used with dramatic results in treatment of arthritis (a painful stif-

fening of the joints).

- colyledon-The part of a seed which contains the food needed to start the new plant.
- cross-pollination-The transfer of pollen from one flower to the pistil of another.

current electricity-A flow of electrons.

•

cutting-A part of the stem of a plant which can be made to develop roots. cutworm-An insect larva which cats stems of young plants.

cyclone-As seen from above in the northern hemisphere, a counter-clockwisewhirling mass of air having a low air pressure at the center.

DDT-A chemical which kills insects on touching their bodies.

decompose-To break up by decay or chemical action.

dcore-One three-hundred-sixtieth of a circle; also intensity of heat.

density-The closeness or compactness of the particles composing a substance.

dentine-Bone-like substance of a tooth just inside the enamel

deposit-Sediment

detergent-A soap substituie, contains no soap, but produces more suds in hard water than does soap.

dew-Moisture which collects on the surface of cool bodies.

diameter-The distance through the center of a circle or sphere

dilution-The addition of large quantities of a liquid such as water to a solution to make it more dilute

diphtheria-A contagious bacterial disease attacking the throat, appendix

dumfectant--A chemical substance used to kill germs or to render them harmless

duposal—Getting rid of material such as wastes of various kinds, e.g., sewage, garbage

dussifie—To cause a substance to be equally distributed throughout a liquid, so that it will not settle out and cannot be separated by filtering, eq. oxygen, sugar, or sait devolved in water.

drainage area -- All land drained by a river system.

earth-Tho third planet from the sun in the solar system

echose-The cutting off of the light from a lighted body

electric charge-A quantity of electricity on a body

electricity-A form of energy.

electromagnet-A temporary magnet deriving its magnetism from the flow of electricity through a coil of wire.

electron-A negative charge of electricity

element-A substance which cannot be separated into simpler substances by ordinary chemical means.

ellipse-An oval figure with both ends abke

elliptical-Shaped like an ellipse

emulsion-A liquid mixture containing small fat particles equally distributed throughout

enamel-The hard outer covering of the teeth.

- energy-The ability to do work; manifest as heat, light, electricity; atomic, mechanical, and chemical energy
- epidermis-The outer layer of the skin.
- equator-An imaginary great circle about the earth, midway between the poles

equinor-Time of equal day and might all over the earth

eroporation--To change from liquid to gas The process by which a liquid is changed to a gas

erpand-To grow larger in volume or size, to take up more space

Fahrenheit-A thermometer scale divided into 180 divisions between the freezing temperature and boiling temperature of water.

fal-A greasy, easily melted or liquid compound, found in animal and vegetable tissues.

faucet-The part of the plumbing that controls the flow of water from pipes. fertilization-A part of the reproduction process in many plants and animals.

It consists of the union of a sperm nucleus with an egg nucleus.

fertilizer-A substance used to enrich the soil to improve plant growth.

filter-Device for straining out undissolved materials from liquids.

flats-Shallow boxes filled with soil for starting seeds indoors.

fluoride-Poisonous chemical. Combined with certain other chemicals, it forms a compound which seems to help prevent tooth decay.

flushing-Washing out waste by means of a flow of water.

fog-Fine drops of water visible in the atmosphere near the earth.

freeze-To change from a liquid to a solid state.

freezing point—The temperature at which a liquid changes to the solid state. frost-Frozen water vapor; minute crystals on grass, window panes, and other objects, formed by the freezing of moisture as it is deposited from the air.

fungus-A kind of plant which gets its food from other organic material. Because it contains no chlorophyll, it cannot make its own food as do the green plants.

galaxy-An astronomical system made up of vast numbers of suns.

galranometer-An instrument used to detect the flow of an electric current. garbage—Food waste from the kitchen.

gas-A form of matter which has no definite shape and no definite volume; e.g., air, hydrogen.

sewer-Gas arising from the decaying matter in a sewer.

gasoline-An inflammable, volatile liquid used as fuel and as a solvent.

germ-A one-celled plant or animal.

germinate-To start to grow.

gills-Organs needed to enable fish, tadpoles, and similar animals to get oxygen from water.

glands, sweat-Glands in the skin which secrete sweat (perspiration).

glycerine-A by-product of soap making.

grafting-To propagate plants by inserting a piece of the stem of one plant into the growing layer of another plant.

gravitation—The attraction that every body has for every other body in the universe.

gravity, force of-The attraction or pull between the earth and other objects.

ravity pressure—The pressure exerted by any substance due to its weight (or to the force of gravity).

gravity system—A method of obtaining a water supply from a higher source by means of the force of gravity.

grease-Fats and oils.

Greenwich-A borough of London, England; the prime meridian passes through it.

grubs-Larvae of some insects.

hast-Ice globules built up of ice layers deposited on a frozen raindrop halo-A ring of light similar to a corona but appearing farther away from the sun or moon hardness, permanent-Hardness of water due to the presence of dissolved minerals that cannot be removed by boiling. hardness, temporary-Hardness of water due to the presence of dusolied minerals that may be removed by boiling hard water-Contains minerals in solution which combine with soap and retard the formation of suds. heat capacity-The quantity of heat which a definite quantity of a given substance can absorb before it changes its temperature one degree hemisphere-Half a sphere. hibernale-To pass the winter season in a state of sleep or near sleep. horizon-The line where the sky and earth seem to meet. hot ware-A period of continuing hot weather. house fly-The fly most common in and about houses humuduy-The invisible gaseous moisture in the air. relative-The ratio of the amount of mojeture in the air to the amount needed to saturate the air at a given temperature. hydrogen-The lightest known gas; a comhustible gas hyprometer-An instrument for measuring the relative humidity of the aurschneumon fly-A useful insect ulluminate-To light up or make visible by reflected light. unpurdues-Substances not belonging in (foreign to) the substance where they occur, e g, minerals dissolved in water, insoluble-Impurities which are not dissolved soluble-Impurities found in a dissolved state incinerator-A special firebox or oven in which to burn garbage and rubbish inclination - The tipping of the earth's axis toward the plane of its orbit. msect-A small animal that lives in various stages and has six legs at the final stage insect pests-Insects of such habits and occurring in such abundance that they are harmful to man insoluble-Not capable of being dissolved in a particular liquid (No substance is absolutely involuble. The terms soluble and insoluble are relative) insulate-To prevent the transfer of heat (or electricity). tron, galranized-Iron (sheet or wire) coated with zinc. prigation-Artificial watering of land by means of ditches, sprinkling pipes, etc isobar-A line drawn on a weather map through places having the same harometric reading (air pressure) at a given time. isotherm-A line drawn on a weather map through places having the same thermometer reading (temperature) at a given time. Jupiter-The fifth and largest planet 558GLOSSARY

- lady-bird bcelle (sometimes called lady-bug)-A useful insect which helps to control the cottony-cushion scale of California.
- land breeze-A breeze moving from the land toward the water.
- larra-The second stage of development in many insects; e.g., caterpillar, grub, maggot.
- latitude-Distance in degrees north or south of the equator.
- life history-The history of any organism (living thing) from the beginning to the end of its life.
- lightning-A discharge of electricity between two or more clouds or between clouds and objects on the carth.
- lightning rod-A metal rod that attracts and conducts to the ground any lightning charges which may strike in the near vicinity of the building to which it is attached.
- light year-The distance that light travels in a year (about six trillion miles).
- lime-A common name for substances (calcium bicarbonate or calcium sulfate) that cause hardness in water.
- liquid-A substance which takes the form of the containing vessel and fills a definite part of it. One of the three states of matter, e.g., water, mercury.
- litmus-A chemical substance used for detecting acids and alkalies; it turns red in acid and blue in alkali.
- lodestone-A form of iron ore which is magnetic.
- longitude-Distance in degrees east or west of the prime meridian.
- magnel-A piece of iron that can attract other iron.
- magnetic field-The area around a magnet through which magnetic force is acting.
- magnitude-In the astronomical sense magnitude means relative brightness of the stars.
- Mars-The fourth planet; earth's second nearest planet neighbor.
- matter, inorganic-That which has never had life.
- maller, organic—That which forms a part of, or has come from, living things. melling point—The temperature at which a solid changes to the liquid state. mercury (quicksilver)-A heavy, silver-white, liquid metal.
- Mercury-The smallest planct and nearest the sun.
- meridian-Any great imaginary circle about the earth which passes through both poles.
- migrate-To move from one locality or place of living to another.
- mildew-A varicty of fungus.

•

•

ś

ì

- Milky Way-A luminous band encircling the heavens, composed of many stars so distant that they are separately invisible to the naked eyc. The galaxy to which our solar system belongs.
- millibar-A unit of measurement of atmospheric pressure; one inch of mercury equals 34 millibars.
- mineral-Inorganic matter of which rocks and soil arc composed, usually occurring as crystals.
- molar—A tooth adapted for grinding, located at the back of the jaw. mold (bread)-A variety of fungus.

molecule-A very tiny particle of matter.

moon-A satellite of the earth.

- mulching-Covering surface soil with a layer of dust, humus, dead leaves, straw or paper, in order to break up capillary spaces or to protect plant roote
- . Neptune-The planet second farthest from the sun; not visible to the naked eve

nutrify—To produce nitrogen compounds as in the case of certain bacteria on plants

- node-The part of a stem from which a bud grows
- non-conductor -- A substance that prevents to a considerable extent the transfer of heat (or electricity).
- noon -The exact time at which the sun passes across the zenith mendian of a given place.
- North Star (pole star) -- The star toward which the north end of the avis of the earth points

nucleus-The center of development of a cell; the central, heavy part of an

- orl-A liquid fat usually of vegetable origin.
- oil, keroseno-An inflammable liquid sometimes used as fuel, obtained fmm petroleum by distillation
- orbu-The path of a planet or other body around the sun or other heavenly body.
- organism-Any living thing
- Orion-A constellation
- asmosts-The process by which liquids or gases pass through a membrane and become mixed
- overy-The seed case of a flower.
- eaving-To combine with ovygen as in burning, rusting, decaying
- oxygen-The active gas which makes up about 21% by volume of the ar.
- parallels-Imaginary circles about the earth running east and west, parallel with the earth's equator.
- parasite-An organism which get its food from other living things, living within or upon it
- pasteurize-To heat a food (milk) to 143° F. for thirty minutes to destroy
- pencellin-One of several antibiotics, a drug obtained from mold which grows in the ground. controls many diseases
- perennials-Plants that form flowers and seeds year after year.
- perspiration (sweat)-Water, containing other substances, given out by sweat
- phases of the moon-The different forms that the lighted half of the moon appears to have during each month
- photoelectric cell-A device which produces an electric current when light falls pistil-The part of a flower which receives the polien.

3

plane-A level surface...

planet-A heavenly body shining by reflected light and revolving about the sun.

plumbing-The pipes, traps, etc., which carry fresh water into a house and waste water out.

Pluto-Farthest known planet from the sun.

Pointers-Two stars of the Big Dipper that are in line with the North Star. Polar Front Theory-A theory which explains how cyclones are formed where masses of cold air and warm air meet.

polar regions---Regions near the north pole and the south pole.

pollen-Cells formed in the anthers of flowers and necessary for fertilization. polluted-Made impure: capable of producing sickness.

precipitation-Moisture falling from the clouds or separating from the air; e.g., rain, snow, sleet, hail, fog, frost, dcw; or solids separating from solution.

predict-To foretell; to tell what is likely to happen.

preservative-A substance added in small quantities to food to keep it from spoiling for a time.

pressure (air)-See atmospheric pressure.

prime meridian-The meridian which passes through Greenwich.

propagation-Producing new plants or animals.

property—A characteristic of a substance which helps one to recognize it.

pumping system-The method of obtaining a water supply from a source by means of force pumps.

pupa-The resting stage of an insect before it becomes an adult.

pure-Containing no foreign or other material.

radar-An electronic device which locates the distance and direction of objects by means of certain types of radio waves.

radiant-Energy as heat or light, given off in all directions from a highly heated body.

radiation-Sending out energy in all directions from a body.

rain-Drops of water falling from clouds.

rainbow-An arch of light, showing the colors of the spectrum.

rain gauge-An instrument to measure the amount of rainfall or snowfall. rainmaking-A process of seeding clouds with small particles of dry ice or

other chemicals to produce rainfall.

rays-Imaginary lines representing the direction or motion of energy (heat or light).

reduce-To separate certain parts of a compound in order to obtain some desired product; e.g., fertilizer from garbage by removal of fats.

reflect-To turn something back, as a body turns back, reflects, light or heat

directed against it. reproduction-The process by which plants and animals produce offspring. reservoir-A large tank or basin where water or other material is stored.

revolution-The movement of a body in its orbit traveling around another

body.

rotation-The turning of the earth or some other body on its axis.

- sanilation-The scientific control of conditions required to produce healthful surroundings
- saturated—The condition of a substance when it can hold or absorb no more of another substance; eg, a sponge filled with water; air filled with mosture
- Saturn-The sixth planet, the planet with rings

sea breeze-A breeze moving from the sea towards the land.

- season-A division of the year, as determined by the earth's position with respect to the sun.
- seed—A rupened oxule which will produce a new plant if placed under suitable conditions

septs tank-A tank containing senage in which bacteria are allowed to decompose the organic matter.

sequence-Events or happenings following one another in a regular order, as cause and effect

serum—A preparation which counteracts the effects of poisons produced by disease germs, is immediate in its action; does not produce immunity

- sewage-Water containing wastes from the body
- sextant-An instrument used to determine the altitude of the sun at erscinoon
- sket-Very «mall, frozen raindrops.
- sludge -Sedument from sewage
- snow-Ice crystals formed from frozen water vapor
- soap-A chemical compound made from an alkali and a fat.

sodium hydroxide - See causic soda

- eolar system --- The sun and the planets as well as about one thousand smaller, invisible bodies
- solar time-Time measured by reference to the sun.

solid-A form of matter that holds its shape under ordinary conditions

soluble-Capable of being desolved in water or other liquids.

- solute-A dissolved substance
- solution-A clear even muture of a soluble substance and its solvent. (See dissolve.)
- solvent-A liquid or gas which is able to dissolve another substance, <9, alcohol is a solvent
- sounder-The part of a telegraph instrument which produces the sounds of the code.
- sperm cell-Male reproduction cell

sphere—A solid object on whose surface all points are at equal distance from the center.

spring—The season between winter and summer; underground water appearing in a stream at the surface

stars-Other suns like ours generating (producing) their own light.

static electricity-Electricity that remains on an object; stationary electricity.

- storm—An atmospheric disturbance, usually accompanied by rain, or snow, or hail, and wind.
- storm area-Cyclone area-a "low."
- storm paths-The route followed by a storm area, cyclone.
- strip planting—A scientific method of tilling the soil whereby strips of soilbinding crops are planted alongside crops which have little ability to hold soil.

sucking insects—A class of insects whose mouth parts are adapted for sucking liquids from plants or animals.

- sulfa drugs—A large group of drugs, all of which contain sulfur; valuable for certain types of infections.
- suns-Stars.
- sun spot—A dark area appearing on the surface of the sun; believed to be storms in the sun's atmosphere.
- superstition--Belief based on supernatural explanations, or coincident relations instead of scientific cause and effect.
- taconite—A plentiful ore containing about 25% iron; can now be used as a source of iron.
- telegraph—An instrument for sending messages by means of code. The sending key controls the flow of electricity through the wires. The electric current operates the sounder.
- telephoto (telephotography)—A process of reproducing photographs by means of electrical impulses.
- telescope—An instrument for magnifying distant objects such as ships at sea, or stars.
- teletype-the teletypewriter; an application of telegraphy to operate typewriting machines at distant points.
- television—An electron system for sending pictures over a distance by means of radio waves.
- temperature-The degree of heat of a substance.
- thermometer-An instrument to measure the temperature.
- thunder-The report following a lightning discharge.
- tide—The raising and lowering of ocean water due to the attraction between the earth and the sun and moon.
- time, standard-The clock time for a time zone.
- time zone—A belt (region) of the earth, running north and south, using the same clock time throughout.
- toad-A small animal having a warty skin and living on insects found in gardens and fields.
- tornado-A storm with very high wind.
- torrid (tropical) zone-The part of the earth between the tropics of Cancer and Capricorn.
- transplanting-Transfer of a plant from one place to another.
- trap—A U or S bend in a waste pipe of a plumbing system. It prevents entrance of sewer gases into the room from which the pipe serves as a waste outlet.

turbine-A type of wheel made to spin by the force of expanding gases (such as steam) or by moving water.

turlight-Diffused light between sundown and darkness,

typhoid freer-A contagious disease attacking the digestive system (intestmes) It is commonly spread through water or milk, or by the housefly.

universe-The great system of gularies.

unsanulary-Not healthful.

I range-The seventh planet; not visible to the naked eye

recome-A preparation containing dead or weakened disease germs; when moculated into the body, produces immunity to the disease.

telority-Speed

Vinue-The second planet in distance from the sun; the earth's sister planet. vernal-Belonging to springtume.

tolatile-Easily changing to a gas when exposed to the atmosphere.

colume-The size of anything, the space (room) it occupies.

warm front-The advancing boundary of a large mass of warm air.

wart+-Small growths formed on and rooted in the skin

washing soila-Sodium earbonate-used to soften water for household and industrial uses.

water-A compound of hydrogen and oxygen

uster cycle-The circulation of water in nature through the processes of evaporation, condensation, and precipitation.

water, distilled-Fure water obtained by the process of distillation (eraporation and condensation)

- water, hard-Water containing a large amount of dissolved minerals such as suilates and bicarbonates of calcium and marnesium.
- water pressure-The force of water everted against objects due to its weight, or pressure of water caused by mechanical means.

water, coft-Water containing little hardness-causing minerals.

water table-The level or surface of underground water.

weather--The condition of the atmosphere for any part of the country at a given time.

- weather factors-Conditions which make up the weather; i.e., precipitsion, temperature, humidity, wind velocity and direction, condition of the sky, and atmospheric pressure.
- treather map-A map upon which weather factors at United States Weather Stations are indicated for a given hour of the day.
- weather rane-An instrument for indicating the direction from which the wind is blowing

well-A hole dug deep enough to obtain water, oil, or gas.

wind-Air in motion.

sensh-The point in the sky directly overhead

sine -A bluish-white metal, used to coat iron to prevent rusting.

564 GLOSSART

Bibliography

- ATHEY, L. C. Along Nature's Trails. American Book Co.
- BAER, M. E. Pandora's Box. The Story of Conservation. Farrar and Rinehart.
- BAKER, R. H. When the Stars Come Out. Viking Press.
- BALTHIS, F. K. Plants in the Home. American Museum of Natural History.
- BARTON, W. H. and JOSEPH, J. M. Starcraft. McGraw-Hill.
- BAYNES, E. H. Wild Bird Guests. Dutton.
- BEARD, D. American Boys' Book of Bugs, Butterflies, and Beetles. Lippincott. BENDICK, J. Electronics for Boys and Girls. McGraw-Hill.
- BENDICK, J. and BENDICK, R. Television Works Like This. McGraw-Hill.
- BENNETT, H. and PRYOR, W. This Land We Defend. Longmans, Green.
- BENNETT, I. The Vegetable Garden. Doubleday, Doran.
- Better Vision Institute. Why We See Like Human Beings.
- BLANCHAN, N. How to Attract the Birds. Doubleday, Doran.
- BOGEN, E. and HISEY, L. What About Alcohol? Angeles Press, Los Angeles, California.
- BROADHURST, J. Home and Community Hygiene. Lippincott.
- BROOKS, C. Why the Weather? Harcourt, Brace.
- BRUERE, M. Your Forests. Lippincott.
- CHAMBERS, G. F. The Story of Eclipses. Appleton-Century.
- COLLINS, F. Inventing for Boys. Thomas Nelson and Sons.
- COLLINS, F. The Boys' Book of Model Airplanes. Appleton-Century.
- COMPTON and NETTLES. Conquests of Science. Harcourt, Brace.
- COMSTOCK, A. B. Handbook of Nature Study. Comstock Publishing Co.
- CONANT and BRIDGES. What Snake is That? American Museum of Natural History.
- DARROW, F. Thinkers and Doers. Silver Burdett.
- DARROW, F. Masters of Science and Invention. Harcourt, Brace.
- DOWNING, E. Our Living World. Longmans, Green.
- DOWNING, E. Science in the Service of Health. Longmans, Green.
- EBERLE, I. Modern Medical Discoveries. Crowell.
- EMERSON, H. Alcohol: Its Effects on Man (Student's edition). Appleton-Century.
- FLOHERTY, J. J. Television Story. Lippincott.
- FLOHERTY, J. J. Youth at the Wheel. Lippincott.
- FREEMAN, M. and FREEMAN, I. Fun With Science. Random House.
- FREUND, G. American Garden Flowers. Random House.

BIBLIOGRAPHY 565

- FRETIND, G. Wonders of the Sea Random House.
- GAER J Fair and Warmer Harcourt, Brace.
- GAUL A Puture Book of Insects Lothrop, Lee, and Shepard.
- GEORGIA, A Manual of Weeds Macmillan.
- GRAHAM E and VAN DERSAL W. Land Renewed: The Story of Soil Conservation Oxford University Press
- GRAHAM E and VAN DERSAL W. Wildlife for America Oxford University Press
- HARDING, T. Two Blades of Grass University of Oklahoma Press.
- HARPSTER, H Insect World Viking Press.
- HARTZELL, K Opportunities in Atomic Energy. Vocational Guidance Manuals 45 W 45th St., New York 10, New York.
- HEADSTROM, R. Adventures With a Microscone. Stokes.
- HEYERDARL, T Kon-Taki Rand McNally.
- HICKEY, J. Introducing the Universe. Dodd. Mead.
- HOWARD, L O The House Fly Henry Holt.
- HUEL E What Males the Wheels Go 'Round, Revnal and Hitchcock.
- HUMPHRENS, and HOSEY Romance of the Air, Ginn.
- Kuns, M. Adventures in Gardening for Boys and Girls, Garden City.
- KELLOGG, C Soils That Support Us. Macmillan
- KENLI, J. Voices from the Grass. Appleton-Century.
- LAMONTE, F and WELCH, H. Vanishing Wilderness Liveright
- LAWRENCE and BIDOUD The Pond World, American Museum of Natural Hetory.
- LESTER, R. Weather Preduction, Chennes!
- LEWELLEN, J You and Atomic Energy Children's Press.
- LONGSTRETH, T Knowing the Weather, Macmillan,
- Loosns, F What Rock Is That? American Museum of Natural History.
- LORD, E. Experimenting At Home With the Wonders of Science, Appleton-Century.
- LOUNSBERRY, A Southern Wild Flowers and Trees Stokes.
- LULL, R. Fossils. The University Society.
- LANDE, C Science Experiments with Ten-Cent Store Equipment, International. MANN, P. and HASTING, G. Out of Doors. Henry Holt.
- MATHEWS, F Fueld Book of American Wild Flowers Doubleday, Doran.
- MATHEWS, F Field Book of Wild Birds and Their Music. Putnam.
- MCKREADY, K. What Star Is That? American Museum of Natural History.
- MELSO, I. Our Country's National Parks. Vols. I and II. Bobbs Merrill.
- MORGAN, A Boys' Home Book of Science and Construction. Lothrop, Lee, and Shepard.
- MORGAN, A First Electrical Book for Boys Scribners
- MORGAN, A. Simple Chemical Experiments. Appleton-Century.
- NEEDRAM, J Introducing Insects. Cattell,
- POPE, C. Snakes Alice. Viking
- REEDS, C. The Earth. The University Society.
- ROCEWELL, F. Around the Year in the Gorden. Doubledsy, Doran.
 - 566 BIBLIOGRAPHY

ROCKWELL, F. Gardening Under Glass. Doubleday, Doran.

- Ross, F. Young People's Book of Jet Propulsion. Longmans, Green.
- SILVERMAN, M. Magic in a Bottle. Macmillan.
- SOKOLOFF, B. Miracle Drugs. Prentice-Hall.
- SPITZ, A. A Start in Mcteorology. W. Henley Publishing Co.
- STEVENS, B. How Miracles Abound. John Day.
- TEALE, E. Byways to Adventure. Dodd, Mead.
- TEALE, E. The Lost Woods: Adventures for a Naturalist. Dodd, Mead.
- VERBILL, A. Young Collector's Handbook. McBride Co.
- WYLIE, C. Our Starland. Lyons and Carnahan.
- ZIM, H. Birds: A Guide to the Most Familiar American Birds. Simon and Schuster.
- ZIM, H. Micc, Men, and Elephants. Harcourt, Brace.
- ZIM, H. Rockets and Jets. Harcourt Brace.

General References

- Bulletins. Division of Publications, U.S. Department of Agriculture.
- Bulletins. U.S. National Park Service.
- Compton's Pictured Encyclopedia. F. E. Compton Co.
- Current Science. American Education Press.
- Natural History. The American Muscum of Natural History.
- Nature Magazine. American Nature Association.
- The Book of Popular Science. The Grolier Society.
- Popular Science Monthly. 353 Fourth Ave., New York, New York.
- Safeguarding America Against Fire. National Board of Fire Underwriters. Science Newsletter. Science Service, Inc., 1719 N St., N.W., Washington, 6, D.C.
- Scientific American. 24 West 40th St., New York 18, New York.
- Sky and Telescope. Sky Publication Corporation, 91 Huguenot St., New Rochelle, New York.
- World Book Encyclopedia. Field Enterprises.
- The Progress of Science (Published each year). The Grolier Society.

Index

INDEX

References in parentheses refer to diagrams. References in italics refer to half-tone illustrations. References in bold-faced type refer to whole sections or chapters.

A

Accidents, first aid for, 398-401; kinds of, 396-397, 402; prevention of, 397-398

Acids, 366

ACTH, 395-396

- Aeration, 314, 332, 470
- Air, 158; and altitude, 36, 37-39; circulation of, 82, 85; components of, 40; cooling of, 38; currents, 39, 105-107, (106), (107) (See also Wind); around the earth (See Atmosphere); expansion of, 37-38, 62; for food storage, 483-486; fronts (See masses); heat capacity of, 105; as heat conductor, 497; humidity in, 51-52 (See also moisture in); Kennelly-Heaviside layer of, 153; and light diffusion, 157-158; masses, 45-49, (46), 80-86; moisture in, 21, 39, 40, 51, 55, 62; motion (See Wind): sound waves, 77, 158, 293-294, 297, 300-301; velocity, 49-50; weight (See Air pressure)

Air mass thunderstorms, 70, (71)

- Air pressure, 21, 37-38, 40-41; and altitude, 40, 41; measurement of, 40-44; S1-86; symbols for (98)
- Air temperature, 21, 51, (103); and altitude, 37-39; differences in,

36-39; and land, 104; and latitude, 36; regulators of, 36; and water, 39, 105; and wind, 37

- Airway Forecast Centers, 94
- Alcohol, boiling point of, 26, 34; freezing point of, 26, 35; as a narcotic, 115, 503; uses of, 26; and weather, 114-115

Alkalies, 366

Alpha. See Stars

Alpha Centauri. See Stars

Alternating current. See Electricity

Altitude, and air, 40; and air pressure, 40, 41; and air temperature, 36, 37-39

Altocumulus clouds, 10, 14

Aluminum, 519

Andromeda. See Constellations

Aneroid barometer, 41, 43-44, 43

- Animal oils. See Fats
- Annuals, 415
- Antenna. See Radar; Radio; Television

Anther, 471

Antibiotics, 395

Anticyclones, 81-86

Aphid, 449

Archimedes, 195

Arctic regions, 84, 243

Arcturus. See Stars

Armature. See Electric motors

Asphyxiation, 400

Atlantic Standard Time zone, 237

index 571

Atmosphere, 37–33, 40, 62 Atmosphere pressure. See Air pressure Atomic bomb, 250 Atomic expert, 275–231, (251) Atoms, 73, 272–230 Aurora Borealis, 153, 153 Aurora Borealis, 153, 153 Autumal equinor, 221–222 Axis See Livth, Moon; Rotation

B

Bacteria, 344-345, 385-386, 433-434 Bar magnet. Set Magnets Barometers, 41, aneroid, 41: mercurial (41) Beaufort wind scale, 49, 50 Beetles, 447-448, (447), 448, 450 Bell, Alexander Graham, 29S Bentley, Wilson A., 63 Beta, See Stars Betelzeuse, See Stars **Big Dipper.** See Constellations Bird baths, 462 Bird lunch counters, 462-463 Birds, 457-464, crow, 438; feeding station for, 462-463, 462, flycatchers, 457-458, grub- and worm-eaters, 458; hawks, 461, 468, insect-eaters, 458-459, Lingbird, 457, migration of, S; phoebe, 457; protection of, 463-464, seedeaters, 460, sparrow, English, 461 Bleaching agents, 376 Blight, 464, 470 Bolung points of liquids, 28-30 Boues. See Broken bones Bread mold, 467 Breezes, land and sea, 44-45 Broadcasting. See Radio Broken bones, first aid for, 399 Brown creeper, 458 Bruises, 398 Budding, 428-429 Bugs. See Insects Bulbs (plant), 427-438 Burdock, 440 572 INDEX

Burns, 399-400 Butter, 393 Butterflies, 444, 445 C "Camera tube." See Television Canning industry, 109, 110 Capillaries, 380, 430 Canillary action, 430 Cathon dioxide, 40, 359 Carbonic arid, 359 Carnivorous insects. 450 Cassiopeia. See Constellations Caustic soda, 343 Centiorsde scale, 31 Central Standard Time zone, 236-237 Centrifugal force, 195-196, (195), 378 Cesspool, 342, (344) Chain lightning, 76 "Chain reaction," 2SO, (2S2) Cheese, 393 Chemical preservation, 492-493 Chemical toilet, 343-344 Chemically pure water, 336-338 Chloride of lime, 346 Chlorophyll, 467 Chronometer, 215-246 Cirrostratus clouds, 10 Cirrus clouds, 13, 16 Clay soll, 409 Climate, S1, adaptation to, 107-117, definition of, S4, and health, 112-115; and water, 102-106 See also Air temperature; Weather Chnical thermometer, 33-34 Clothing, 112-114, 112 Clouds, 10, 12, 13-18, 39, 51, 55, 57, 58, 148, altocumulus, 10, 14, cirrostratus, 10, cirrus, 13, 15, 16. cumulonimbus, 71, 81; cumulus, 13, 14, 15, 16, 62, 70, 71, 81; factors in formation of, 13, 21; "fair-weather," 13, nimbostratus, 15, 16; and rain prevention, 60;
stratocumulus, 15; stratus, 10, 15; symbols for, 98; thunderhead, 13. 15. 70, 75 Coal, 523-524 Cold frames, 422, 424 Cold front, S3 Cold storage, 484-485, 485. See also Food conservation Cold waves, 83 Columbia Basin Project (Washington), 111, (510) Communication. Sec Telegraph; Telephone; Teletype Community garbage disposal, 349-351, 350, (351) Community health, 315-355 Community sanitation. See Sanitation: Water Compass, 257-259, 257, 263-264 Compost, 412 Condensation, 55, 148 Conduction, 495. Sec also Electricity; Heat Conductors, 79-80, 495 Conservation, 481-528; enemies of, 515-517, 517: home methods of, 487; of natural resources, 482, 509-528. See also Food; Natural resources; Plants; Soil Androm-Constellations, 127-131; eda, 130, 191 (Sce also Galaxies); Big Dipper, 126-129, 127, (130); Cassiopeia, 127, (130); Cygnus (Northern Cross), 127, 130; Little Dipper, 131; map of, (136), (137), Orion, 127, (128), 131, 140, 192; Pegasus, 127, 130; Pleiades (Seven Sisters), 131, 131; Tanrus the Bull, 128, 131; Virgo, 192 Continental polar air masses, 45 Continental tropical air masses, 46 Contour planting, 417, 510, 514 Convection, 112-114, 496 Cooper's hawk. Sce Birds Copper chloride, 343; sulfate (blue vitriol), 343

Corn borer, 448 Corona, 12, 165 Corrosion, 521 Cortisone, 395-396 Cotton (fabric), 112, 114 Cotyledons, 419-421, (421) Craters of moon. See Moon Crickets, 469 Crop dusting, 442, 448, 465 Crop rotation, 432-435, 483, 470 Crops, green cover, 412; growing season of, 107, (108), 109; and related industries, 109; and weather, 109-111 Crow, 458 Crown (tooth), 384 Cultivation. See Soil Cumulonimbus clouds, 71, 81 Cumulus clouds. See Clouds Currents. See Air Cuts, first aid for, 401 Cutworm, 445 Cyclones, 49, 81, 82-86 Cyclotron, 280 Cygnus. Scc Constellations

D

Dams, 510. Scc also under names of dams Dandelion, 440 Date line, 238-239, (239) Day, 204-210, (206), (220), 243 Daylight saving time, 237-238 Deciduous trees, 426 Degree, 229; thermometer, 29-30 Dehydration (food), 491, 492 Deneb. See Stars Dentine, 384 Dew, 55, 58 Diaphragm. See Radio; Telephone Diesel engines, 277, 279, (279) Diffusion of light, 157-158 Direct current. See Electricity Disease, prevention and treatment of, 391-396. See also Food; Garbage; Milk; Sewage; Teeth: Water

Fumgation, 470

- Fungi, 467-470
- G
- Galaxies, 194; Andromeda, 190, 191, 198, ellipse, 190, globular, 190, Milky Way, 126, 189, 191; other, 190–192, spiral, 190, 194
- Galileo, 41, 180, 195
- Galvanometer, (275), 285
- Garbage, 343-350, community disposal of, 349-351, 350, (351); private disposal of, 348-349, receptacles for, 345-347, 347, reduction plant, 349-350, 350, (351)
- Garden pests. See Birds; Insects; Weeds
- Garden tools, 415-419
- Gardens, chemical, 434; planning, 411-418; planting, 414, 415, 413-429
- Garter snake, 455, 456
- Gases, 23, compression and exparation of, 61-62; see also Temperature, and molecular motion; convection of, 112-114, 490, around stars, 191-192, around sun, 150-153. See also under individual names of rasses.
- General Forecast Center, 94
- Generators, 250, 254, 255, 274–278, (275), 276, 277, (280)
- Geraniums, 439
- Gipsy moth, 446
- Government Weather Bureau. See U.S. Weather Bureau
- Grafting, 428-429, (429)
- Grand Coulee Dam (Columbis River), 254, 276-277, 510, 511
- Grand Naponal Park (Colorado), 11 Gravel, 410
- Gravitation. universal, 194-196, (195)
- Gravity, force of, 146, 316-317; pressure, 319, 323
- Gravity system of water snpply, 317, 322, (324), 332
 - 576 INDEX

- Green snake, 456
- Greenwich, 230; mean time, 237; observatory, 226, 245; prime meridian, 230, 237
- Growing season, 107-109, (108)
- Grah, 447, 458
- Grubeaters, 458
- Call Stream, 39
- Gunshot wound, 400

Ħ

- Hail, 55, 64
- Hale telescope, 188, 193
- Halos, 12
- Hawks, 461, 468
- Health, 315-353, 259-404; and chmate, 112-114; community, 315-353; department, 503; food and, 353; 501-504, regulations, 802-603, and asfegurating milk, 301-302, 489-491, 501-502; sanitation, see Sanitation; and teeth, 382; and water, 502
- Heat rays, 213
- Heavens, 121-250
- Helium, 150, 151
- Hemispheres, 219, 238, 231
- Highs, 49, 81-86
- Home conservation methods, 487-494, by chemicals, 492-493; by cold, 493-494; by drying, 491; by heat, 487, principles of, 487
- Homogenized milk, 373, 393
- Hoover Dam (Colorado River), 255, 276-277
- Hot waves, 83
- Hotheds, 422-424, (424)

Housefly, 347–348, 347 Humidity, 51–52, 83. See also Air, moisture Humus, 409, 411 Hydroelectric power, 276–277 Hydrogen, 40, 150, 151, 165 Hygrometer, 51

I

Ice box, 498 Ichneumon fly, 452-453 Incinerators, 349, 353 Industries, 109-111. Sec also Crops; Weather Infections and antibiotics, 395 Inoculations, 394-395, 394 Inorganic substances, 332 Insects, 443-454, 452; heetles, 447-448, (447), 448, 450; caterpillars, 444, 445, 446, 469; eontrol of, 442, 445, 445, 446, 447, 448, 449, 465; corn borer, 448; cutworm, 445; damage by, 443-444; harmful, 443-449, 469; helpful, 450-454; iclineumon, 452-153; juicesuckers, 448-449; kinds of, 444-454, 450; locusts, 448; moths, 446; and pollination, 474-475, (475); praying mantis, 451; root maggots, 444-445 Insoluble material, 334-335 Insulation, 497-498 International date line, 238-239, (239)Iron, 151, 518 Irrigation, 111, 116, 431-432 Isobars, 97 J Juice-suckers, 448-449 Jupiter. Sce Planets K Kennelly-Heaviside layer, 153 Key Statements: conservation, 526-

527; day, night, seasons, 223;

earth measurements, 247-248; electricity and communication, 310; food conservation, 505; garden friends and enemics, 477; gardening, 435-436; health and safety. 403-404; health and sanitation. 354-355; heavens, 199; magnetism and electricity, 283-284; star study, 141; storm areas. 86; sun and moon, 173; weather factors, 65; weather forecasting, 117; weather signs, 18

Key Words: conservation, 526; day, night, seasons, 223; earth measurements, 247; electricity and communication, 309; food conservation, 504; garden friends and enemies, 476; gardening, 435; health and safety, 403; health and sanitation, 354; heavens, 199; magnetism and electricity, 283; star study. 141; storm areas, 86; sun and moon, 172; weather factors, 65; weather forecasting, 115; weather signs, 17-18 Kinghird, 457 Kingfisher, 459 Kinglet, 459

L

Lacey Act, 464 Lady-bird beetles, 448, 450-451 Land, conservation of, see Soil: heat capacity of, 103-105; temperature of, 105 Land and sea breezes, 105-106, (107) Landscaping, 414-418 Larvae, 444, 445, 446, 447 Latitude, 230; and air temperature, 36; and navigation, 240, 246; and sun, 245 Laundering fabrics, 375 Law of universal attraction, 194-196, (195)Leaf-eaters, 444-446 INDEX 577

268, 297; poles of, 255-256; tem-Library research: Burbank, Luther, 426, constellations' names, 129; porary, 267-268 Manure, 423-424. 433 echpses, 165; Fahrenheit, the scientist, 31. Franklin's kite ex-Man study, longitude and latitude, periment, 73, metric system, 31: 232 migration of birds 8. ocean cur-Marconi, Guglielmo, 298 rents, 40, water percentage in "Mare's tails." 13 Maritime polar air masses, 46 soap, 363 Maritime tropical air masses, 46 Lice, 449 Mars. See Planets Light, diffusion of, 157-158; rays, Measurements, of air pressure, 40-213: speed of 133 44, 81-86; of earth, 227-249; Light year, 133-134 of light speed, 133; of star dis-Lightning, 73-79, 73, 76, (77), 78, tances, see Stars; of temperature, 79. chain, 76. danger from, 75see Thermometers: units of, 133 79; rods, 79-80. 80 Medicines, regulation of, 503 Lime, 359 Mercurial barometer, (41) Limestone cavco, 360 Mercury (element), 26: bolung Liquids, boiling temperatures of. point of, 26; freezing point of, 26 34-35, capillary action in 430; Mercury. See Planets condensation of, 55, 148; con-Meridians, 228-229, (228), (229); vection in, 112-114, 496, dis-180th meridian (international date tillation of, see Distillation, evapline), 238-239. (239): prime, 230, oration of, 111, evpansion of, 26, 28 237 Metallic thermometers, 21-25 Little Bear, See Constellations Metals, expansion of, 24-25; as Loam, 409 heat conductors, 494-497; in sun, Locusts, 416 150-151. See also Conduction; Lodestones, 253, 256 under names of individual metals; Longitude, 230-231, and navigation, 240, 245-246 See also Time; Munerals International date bne Meteorites, 139 Meteors, 138-139, 140 Lows, 46-49, (47), 81, 82-86 Metric system, 31 Mexican bean beetle, 450 м Microphone. See Radio Maggots, 347 Migratory Bird Treaty Act, 464 Magnesium, 151, 519-520 Migratory Birds Conservation Act, Magnetic lines of force, 259-261, 260 Magnetic poles. See Magnets 164 Milk, bacteria in, 391; components Magnetism and electricity, 263-278, of, 393, dietary importance of, (265), (275); law of, 256-257, 259 393; an emulsion, 373; homog-Magnetite, 253, 256 enized, 373, 393; pasteurization Magnets, 251-274; bar, 255, 260, of, 391-392, 392, 489-491; prod-263, 267-208; electro-, 265-274, ucts, 393; raw, 391; safeguarding (265), 268, (270), 273, 287-304. of, 391-392, 489-491, 501-502 276, 295, making, 260-261, 264-267; permanent, 256, 260, 267- Milkweed, 440, 473 578 INDEX

Milky Way. See Stars Millibar, 44 Milling Industry, 110 Minerals, conservation of, 520-522; resources, 519-520; use of, 518 Minutes, 230 Moisture. See Air, moisture Molars, 384 Molds, 395, 467-469 Molecules, 22-23, 41, 73, 294, 495. See also Air temperature, and altitude; Temperature, and molecular motion Moon, 153-175, 166, 167; atmosphere on, 157, 158; axis of, 156; craters of, 155, 156; dark of, 167; diameter of, 153; distance from earth of, 155; eclipse of, 157, 159, (159), 160; gravity on, 155; light of, 155, 207; light on, 157; orbit of, 171-172; phases of, 166-171, (170); revolution of, 156; ring around, 8, 11, 12; rising of, 187; rotation of, 156-157; shadows on, 15S; sound on, 15S; temperature of, 156-157; and tides, 196, (197); and weather, 9 Morning Star. See Planets: Venus Morse code, 288-289; appendix, 552 Morse, Samuel F. B., 287 Mosquito, 448 Moths, 445-446 Mount Palomar Observatory (California), 188, 189, 193 Mount Wilson Observatory (California), 138, 149, 188 Mountain Standard Time zone, 237 Muck, 409 Mulch, 430-431 Mullein, 440 Mushrooms, 467 Mustard plant, 440, 473 N

Narcotics, 503 Natural gas, 525 Natural laws, 193 Natural resources, conservation of, 509-528 Navigation, 240-241 Nearsightedness, 388 Nebulae, 131, 192, 194; around Orion, 192; around Pleiades, 131; "ring" or planetary, 190; spiral, 190, 192; around Virgo, 192 Neck (of tooth), 474 Neptune. See Planets Neutral substances, 366 Neutrons, 280 Newspaper weather reports, 90-91 Newton, Sir Isaac, 195 Newton's law of universal attraction, 195 Niagara Falls, 276-277 Night, 204-210. (206), (220) Nimbostratus clonds, 15, 16 Nitrates, 410-411 Nitrogen, 40; compounds in soil 433-434 Node, 429 North magnetic pole. See Magnets Norih Pole, 207, 210 North Star (Pole Star). See Stars Northern Cross. See Constellations Northern Hemisphere, 206, 207, 209, 218, 228 Northern lights. See Aurora Borealis Nucleus, 279-280 Nuthatch, 458

0

Observatories: Flagstaff, 184; Greenwich, 226, 245; Mt. Palomar, 188, 189, 193; Mt. Wilson, 138, 149, 188 Ocean currents, 39 Oil conservation, 524-525 Oils, 365-366 "Operation Haylift," 5-6 Orbit, of earth, 171-172, (205); of moon, 171-172; of planets, 177-178, 203-204

Organic impurities, 332 Orion. See Constellations Osmosis, 493 Orary, 471 Orule, 471, 474 Oridation, 423 Oxygen, 40, 151 Ozone, 40

P

Pacific Standard Time zone, 237 Palomar Mountain Observatory (California), 120 Parallels, 228, (228), 229, (229) Parasites, 452-453, 452, 470 Pasteurization, 391-392, 392, 489-491 Peat moss, 431 Pegasus. See Constellations Penicillin, 395. 397 Perennials, 415 Perspiration, 52, 381 Pests, garden. See Insects Petals, 471 Phoebe, 457 Photoelectric cell, 291-292, (292), 294 Pickhng, 493 Picture tube, See Television Pigweed, 440 Pistil, 471, 474, (475) Planetolds, 178 Planets, 177-186, in galaxy, 189-192, Jupiter, 179-181, 204; Mars ("Red Planet"), 178-179, 179. 204. Mercury, 182-183, 203-204; Neptune, 184-185, 204; orbits of, 177-178, 203-204, paths of, 181, 186. Pluto, 184, 184, 185, 204; revolution of, 178, 203-204; rotation of, 204; Saturn, 176, 183, 204; temperature of, 178, Uranus, 179, 184-185, Venus (Morning

and Evening Star), 181-182, 181, 203-204; visibility of, 178 Planting, contour, 417, 510, 514; plan, 414-418; strp, 515 Plants. 414-417. 414. annual, 415; cutting, 427, diseases of 419, 464-470; growth of, 422, 423, hee on, 449, nitrogen-adding, 433-434; perennials, 415, propaention of, 428-429, (429), 470, shpping, 427, starting, 421-427; thunning, 426, watering, 432 Pleiades, See Constellations: Neb-ทโละ Plawing, 410, 412 Pluto. See Planets Plutonium, 280-281 Poison ivy, 441 Poisoning, 400 Polar front, 83 Polar regions. See Arctic regions Polaris. See Stars Pole Stars See Stars Poles. See Magnets, North Fole; South Pole Pollen, 471-475 Pollination, 471-478, (475) Pores, 381-381 Power plants. See Generators Praying mantis, 451, 451 Precipitation, 55-67 Preservation of food. See Food conservation Preservatives, chemical, 492-493 Pressure. See Air, pressure, Gravity: Water Pressure cookers, 488-489 Prime meridian, 230, 237 Projects. See Science Discovery Book Propagation. See Plants Protons, 75 Proximus Centauri. See Stars Ptolemy, 123-124 Ptolemy's systems, (124) Public health. See Community health Puff balls, 467 Pumping system, 317, 324, (325) Pupae, 347, 445, 447

Pure Food and Drug Acts, 502-503 | Rosin, 371 Purification. See Water Rotation, of crops, 432-434; of earth, 203; of moon, 156-157; Q of planets, 204 Questions. See Thought Questions Rubbish, disposal plant for, 351 Quick-freezing method. See Food conservation S RSaliva, 386 Sandy soil, 409, 410 Radar, 93, 163, 298, 301-304, (301), Sanitation, 315-316, 327, 329-355; 302, (304) and community health, 315-357; Radiation, 112, 157, 281, 496-497 Radio, 298-300, (300); broadcastand milk, 391-393; and waste disposal, 339-345; and water ing, 299; directional, 92; recepsources, 331-332; and water systion, 300-301; transmission, 153; tem. 327-330 waves, 299-301; and weather reports, 90-91 Saturn. See Planets Scalds, 399-400 Radio proximity fuse, 303 Ragweed, 440, 473 Schmidt telescope, 189 Science Discovery Book, projects Rain, 16, 51, 55-59, 61-62, 83, 148. 16, 17-18; conservation, for: See also Rain-making; Rain preconstellations' stories, 527-528; vention 128-129; day, night, seasons, Rain prevention, 59, 60-61 earth measurements, Rain water, 360 223-224; 248-249; electricity and com-Rainbows, 11, 12 munication, 311; food conserva-Rain-making, 59-61, 432, 511, 514 tion, 506-507; garden friends and Rattlesnake, 455-456 enemies, 478-479; health and Rays (sun), 211-213; direct, 213; safety, 405; health and sanitation, slanting, 213, (213) 356-357; heavens, 200; mag-"Red Planet." See Planets: Mars netism and electricity, 281-285; Red-tailed hawk, 461 star study, 142; storms, 87; sun Reforestation, 514 and moon, 174; weather, 19; Refrigerators, 494-501, 499; care weather factors, 66-67; weather of, 500; construction of, 497-498; forecasting, 118-119 heat removal from, 49S-500; scien-Scouring powder, 371 tific principles of, 494-497 Sea breezes, (100) Repulsion. See Electricity Seasons, cause of, 211-225 Research, library. See Library Re-Seconds, 230-231 search Sedimentation, 332-333 Reservoirs, 316, 327, 332 Seedbox, 421, 425 Revolution, 203; of earth, see Earth; Seedeaters, 460 of moon, 156; of planets, 178, 203-"Seeding" clouds, 60, 432 204Seeds, 416, 419-422, 422; growth Rings. See Moon; Saturn; Sun of, 422, 423; parts of, 419-421, Roosevelt Dam, 276-277 (421); planting, 412, 419-427; pre-Root maggots, 444-445 paring soil for, 412; testing, 419 Root (tooth), 384 581INDEX

- Sepals, 471 Septic tank, 344-345, (344) Serum, 394-395 Sewage, disposal of, 339-345 Sextant, 245, 246
- Shasta Dam, 276-277
- Shasta Dam, 270-277 Shock, first aid for, 400
- Shoek, just and for, 400 Shooting stars. See Meteors
- Short waves. See Radar. Radio
- Silicon, 151
- Silver indide, 60
- Sinks, 339-340
- Siphon-jet toilet, 341. (341)
- Skin, care of, 380-382. structure and functions of, 380-381
- Sleet, 55, 63-64, 65
- Slipping (plants), 427
- Studge, 311-315
- Snakes, 455-457, 455, 472
- Snow, 55, 63-64, 83, 148
- Snowflakes, 59, 62, 63-64
- Soap, 363-378; and capilları action, 373-375, as cleanser, 375, fillers in, 371, kınds ol, 363, makıng of, 285-370, 566; (567), 370, raw maternals for, 365-360; spectal, 370-371; substitutes for, 372
- Sodium, 151, hydrovide, 343
- Soil, 409-413, aeration of, 470; bacteria in, 410-411, 431: composition of, 410-412, conservation of, 509-515, 514, 515; cultivation of, 430-432, 431, erosion, 509-514, 512, fertilization of, 412, heat-absorbing capacity. (103); irrigation of, 431-432, kinds of, 109; minerals m, 409, 411: mulching, 430-431, origin of, 409; preparation of, for planting. 412-413. temperature. 424. testing, 411, 412, 417; water in. 430-431 Solar system, 145, (180) Solute, 334-336
 - Solution, definition of, 334
 - Solvent, 334-335
 - 5S2 INDEX

- Sound waves, 77, 158, 293-294, 297. 300-301 South magnetic pole. See Magnets South Pole, 207, 210 Southern hemisphere, 219, 228 Sparrows, 461 Spectroscope, 149 Speed, of light, 78; of sound, 78 Sperm, 454 Sprains, 399 Spring, 220-221 Stains, removal of, 378-379 Stantens, 471, 474, (475) Standard time zones, 235-237 Stars, 123-138, 194; Alpha, 131; Alpha Centauri, 133-134, 197-198; Arcturus, 137-138; Beta, 131; Betelgeuse, 125, 131; colors of, 135-136; in constellations, see Constellations: Deneb, 130, detance between, 133-135, (135); of first magnitude, 125, 133-134, "fixed," 177; our galaxy, 126, 189-190, see also Galaxies, -gazing, 124; groups, see Constellations; hight from, 125-126; lors of, 123-124; maps of, (136), (137); Milky Way, 126, 189, 191, see also Galaxies; Morning and Evening, see Planets; motion of, 136; pointers, 129, Polaris or Pole Star, 123-124, 127, 129, (130), 131, 198, 240-241, (241), 246, Proximus Centaun, 134; rising of, 187, shooting, see Meteors; as suns, 125, 126, 135-136; superstitions about, 132-133; temperature of, 135-136, and time, 246, trails, 156 Steam, 23 Steam pressure, for generators, 275-276, 277 Stem-eaters, 441-446
 - Storage, food, 484. See also Food conservation
 - Storm areas, 13, 46, 69-87; centers, 46; clouds, 15, 15, 70, 75, c5-

clones, 49, 81, 82-86; electric, 71; general areas, 80-89; local, 69-80; paths of, 12, 100, (101) Strains, 399 Stratocumulus clouds, 15 Stratosphere, 15, 38-39 Stratus clouds, 10, 12 Substances, organic, inorganic, 332 Sulfa drugs, 395 Summer, (39), 218, 219-220, (220) Sun, 145-153, 162-175, 149; altitude, 245; atmosphere of, 151-153; distance of, from earth, 146; distance of, from planets, 145; eclipse of, 144, 162-165, (162), (163), 165; elements of, 149-151; gases on, 145; gravity on, 146; heat from, 102, 147-149, (147), (148), 211-213, (213); latitude from, 245; light from, 148; and moon phases, 166-171, (170); ring around, 11, 12; size of, 145-146; spots, 151-153, 151; in summer, (39); temperature, 145; and tides, 196; and weather, sce Temperature; Weather Sun spots. See Sun Sunshine, heat of, 36, 37 Sweat glands, 380-381

T

Taconite, 519-520

Tadpoles, 454

Tank, flush, 341, (341); septic, 344-345, (344)

Taurus. See Constellations

- Teeth, 382-386; care of, 382-383; cavities in, 382-383, 385-386; food requirements of, 383; structure and growth of, 383-385, 385
- Telegraph, 287-293, 288, 289, 298; sending pictures by, 291-293, (292)
- Telephone, 293–297, (295), 298

Telescope, 163; radio, 122

Teletype, 290-291

- Television, 91, 298, 304-309, 306, 507; and weather reports, 91
- Temperature, air, see Air; body, 33; boiling, 28-30; definition, 22; freezing, 28-30; land, 103-104; measurement of, 23-35; and molecular motion, 22-23, 26, 61, 151-153; of moon, 156-157; scales, (30); of sun, 145, 151-153; of water, 102-104; zones, 36
- Tent caterpillar, 449
- Thermometers, 24-35, (35); Centigrade scale, 31; clinical (doctor's), 33-34; Fahrenheit scale, 28-30, 31; fixed points on, 29-30, 31; house, (34); liquid-containing, 25, 26-35; metallic, 24-25; special, 33-35. See also Hygrometer
- Thermostats, 26
- Thought Questions: conservation, 527; day, night, seasons, 224; earth measurements, 248; electricity and communication, 310-311; food conservation, 505-506; garden friends and enemies, 477-478; gardening, 436; health and safety, 404; health and sanitation, 355-356; heavens, 200; magnetism and electricity, 284; star study, 141; storm areas, 86-87; sun and moon, 174; weather factors, 66; weather forecasting, 117; weather signs, 18-19
- Thunder, 77
- Thunderheads, 13, 15, 70
- Thunderstorms, 44-45; air mass, 70, (71); frontal, 70-71

Tides, 196, (197), 198

Time, Atlantic Standard, 237; Central Standard, 236–237; daylightsaving, 237–238; Eastern Standard, 235–236; and longitude, 233– 239; Mountain Standard, 237; Pacific Standard, 237; zones, 234, 235–237, (236)

Toadflax, 440

Toad stools, 467 Toads, 452, 458, 454-455 Toilets, 340-341, (341); chemical. 343. siphon-jet, 341. (341) Tomato worm, 452 Tools, garden, 418-419 Torricelli, 41-43 Tornado, 2, 44, 45 Tourniquet, 401 Tractor, 491 Transformers, 250 Transmission lines, 256 Transmitter. See Radio, Telephone. Television Transplanting, 403, 426, 428 Traps, 339-340, (340) Trees, hlight on, 464, hudding, 428-429, convervation of, (522), 523; deciduous, 426; grafting, 428-429. (429), transplanting, 408, 426, 428, as windbreakers, 514 Trichinosis, 491 Tropic of Cancer, (39) Tropical climate, 84 Tropical front, 83 Tropical zones, 36, 39 Tropasphere, 15, 39 Turbines. See Generatory Twilight, 207, 209-210 Typhoid fever, 339, 348, 394, 501

U

U. S. Navy weather stations, 83 U. S. Pure Pool and Drug Acts, 502-603U. S. Weather Burean, 90, 93, 95, 99, 100 Universal gravitation, See Gravitation Universe, theory of formation of, 192-194Uranum, 380-281 Uranum, 380-281 Uranum, 580-281 Uranus, 548-535, 594

Vegetable oils, 366

584 INDEX

Vegetarian insects, 450 Vegetarian insects, 450 Vegetarian, conservation of, 515 Veteoity, eloud, 15; light, 78, sound, 78; wind, 49, 50, table, 50 Verms. Sce Plimets Vermal equinor, 220-221 Vitamins, 383, 392-393 Volt, 76

w

Warblers, 459, 468

- Warm front, 83
- Washing machines, 376, 377-378, 377, powders, 376, temperature, 376
- Waste. See Sewage
- Water, aeration, 514, 332, in sir, see Air; and air temperatures, 35, 39, boiling, 330-331; chemically pure, 336-335, cistern, 325, as cleansing agent, 359-363; conservation of, 509-514, cycle, 148, distillation of, 336-338, distribution of, to homes, 327-329, to reservoirs, 316-327, 332, evaporation, 102, for generators, 275, and health, 329-331; heat capacity of, 102-103, impurities in, 332, purification of, 314, 332-333, (333), 554, rain, 360, relation of, to climate, 102-106, reservoir, see Reservoirs; safe, 329-330, and senage, 330-331, 342-343, soft, 359-360, softeners, 361-363; in soil, 430-431, as solvent, 334, sources, 316, storage, 316, 327, systems' community, 332, gravity, 317, 322, 327, home, 327, pumping, 317, 324-325, (325), 327; temperature of, (103), 104, 105; vapor, 57, see also Condensation, wells, 330-331, (330) Water glass, 371, 493 Waves. See Air, Radio, Sound Weather, 5-119: adaptations to, 107-117, 110, 118, 116; and al-

cohol, 114-115; and animals, 7; and birds, 8; clouds, scc Clouds; factors, 17, 21-67, 69-70; and food, 5-6, 109-111; and health, 112-115; and industries, 109-111; local, 69-70; -makers, 21; and moon, \mathcal{S} , 9, 11; and radio, scc Radio; and rainbows, 12; signs, 5-18, 11, 89-90; and sun spots, 153; superstitions, 5-18; vanes, 4; and water, 102-106. Scc also Air; Key statements; Sun

Weather forecasting, 17, 89-119; accuracy of, 101-102; Airway Forecast Centers. 94; factors in. 49, 92, 102; Forecast Center (Washington), 97-98; forecasts. long range, 97-98; General Forecast Center, 94, 96; maps, 44, 45, 82, 94-97, (96), (97), 100; observation stations, 88, 92, 93, 94; reports, 90, 94; as a science. 100-101; symbols, (96), (98); thirtyday forecasts, 99; value of, 99-100

- Weathermen, 17, 88
- Weeds, 412, 439; control of, 440-442; injurious to health, 441
- Wells, 330–331, (330)
- Western hemisphere, (228), 231
- Wheat, 110. 113
- Wild life, conservation of, 515-517
- Wind, 21. 44-50, 83; cyclones, 49, S1, S2-S6; definition of, 44; direction, 36, 49; effect on air temperature, 37; kinds of, 44-45; or land and sea breezes, 105-106, (107): pressure, 49; scale, 50; tornado, 44, 45; velocity of, 49, 50
 Woodpeckers, 459, 468
- Wool (fabric), 112, 114

Z

Zones, frigid, 36; temperate, 36, (39); time, 234, 235, (236), 237; tropical, 36, 39